
Page 1 of 5 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, JUNE 20, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of June 5, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on a proposed amendment to the Future Land Use Map by changing the designation 
from Low Density Residential to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use, and on the proposed 
rezoning from C-1, Commercial Zoning District to PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District of 
property located at 702 LeClair Street.  
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 06/09/2023) 
 
b) Written communications on file with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving an amendment to the Future Land Use Map by changing the designation 
from Low Density Residential to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use of property located at 
702 LeClair Street. 

3. Pass an ordinance amending the Zoning Map by removing approximately 2.26 acres of property 
located at 702 LeClair Street from the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and placing the same in the 
PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District, upon its first consideration. (contingent upon approval of 
previous item) 

4. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to allowance of vinyl siding on certain residential buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages within the 
CD-DT, Downtown Character District. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 06/09/2023) 
 

1



Page 2 of 5 

b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowance 
of vinyl siding on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages 
within the CD-DT, Downtown Character District, upon its first consideration. (5 aye votes required 
due to denial by the Planning & Zoning Commission) 

OR 

5. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowance of 
vinyl siding on single-unit and two-unit residential buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages within the 
CD-DT, Downtown Character District, upon its first consideration. 

OR 

6. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowance of 
vinyl siding on single-unit residential buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages within the CD-DT, 
Downtown Character District, upon its first consideration. 

Old Business 

7. Pass Ordinance #3030, vacating certain public right-of-way along Hudson Road, upon its third & final 
consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

8. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of June 5, 2023 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Council Policy on Official City Proclamations. 
b) Green Space Policies within Subdivisions. 
c) Parking Permits for Downtown Municipal Lots. 
d) FY2024 Cash Management Report. 

9. Receive and file the following resignation of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) Anne Bonsall Hoekstra, Art & Culture Board. 

10. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Gina Weekley, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2026. 
b) Jason Droste, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2026. 
c) Madeleine Seymour, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2024. 
d) Tyler Ingham, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2024. 

11. Approve the following proclamations: 
a) Recognizing June 19, 2023 as Juneteenth Freedom Day. 
b) Recognizing July 2023 as Disability Pride Month. 
c) Recognizing July 11, 2023 as 1-133d Infantry Regiment-Ironman Battalion Day. 

12. Receive and file the Bi-Annual Report of the College Hill Partnership relative to FY23 Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) funds and an FY23 Economic Development Grant. 

13. Approve an Order Accepting Acknowledgment Settlement Agreement with Baba Fareed LLC, d/b/a 
Great Wall China, 2125 College Street, for a second tobacco violation. 

14. Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Great Wall, 2125 College St, Suite D. 

2



Page 3 of 5 

b) Greenleaf Tobacco & Vapor, 502 Brandilynn Boulevard. 
c) Mini Mart, 1420 West 1st Street. 
d) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street. 
e) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street. 

15. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol- renewal. 
c) George’s Local, 108 E. 4th Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – renewal. 
d) Mulligan's Brick Oven Grill & Pub, 205 East 18th Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
e) Starbeck’s Smokehouse, 6607 University Ave, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – renewal. 
f) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
g) Target, 214 Viking Plaza Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
h) Walgreens, 2509 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol – change in ownership. 
i) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class F retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary expansion of 
outdoor service area. 
j) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class F retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service. 
k) Deringer’s Public Parlor, 6027 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 5-day 
permit. 
l) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 
m) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 
n) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class B retail alcohol – new. 
o) Cooper’s Taproom, 2002 College Street, Class C retail alcohol – new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

17. Resolution rescinding CFD 1127.22, Council Policy – Official City Proclamations. 

18. Resolution approving and adopting the City’s FY2024 Appropriations Resolution. 

19. Resolution amending an inter-fund loan from the Capital Projects Fund to the Sewer Enterprise Fund 
relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities 
Improvements Project and the Bluff Street Lift Station. 

20. Resolution amending an inter-fund loan (#1) from the Health Trust Fund to the Sewer Enterprise 
Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities 
Improvements Project. 

21. Resolution amending an inter-fund loan (#2) from the Health Trust Fund to the Sewer Enterprise 
Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities 
Improvements Project. 

22. Resolution amending an inter-fund loan (#3) from the Health Trust Fund to the Sewer Enterprise 
Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities 
Improvements Project. 

23. Resolution amending an inter-fund loan (#4) from the Health Trust Fund to the Sewer Enterprise 
Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handing Facilities 
Improvements Project, Bluff Street Lift Station and the Park Drive Lift Station. 

24. Resolution approving and adopting the City’s FY2024 Payroll Resolution. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Administrative Services Agreement with 
Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa relative to the City’s FY2024 Employee Health Plan. 

3



Page 4 of 5 

26. Resolution approving a Stop Loss Policy with Wellmark, Inc. relative to the City’s FY2024 Employee 
Health Plan. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Business Associate Agreement with Pedersen, 
Dowie, Clabby & McCausland (PDCM) Insurance Inc., in conjunction with the Benefits Consultant 
Agreement relative to the City's benefit plans. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Client Authorization to Bind Coverage relative to 
renewal of the City’s Public Entity Insurance for FY2024. 

29. Resolution approving and adopting amendments to the City's Finance Policies (f/n/a Accounting 
Policies and Procedures and Purchasing Manual). 

30. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Merchant Card Processing Agreement with 
Professional Solutions Financial Services. 

31. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Engagement Letter with Eide Bailly, LLP to 
perform the FY2023 Audit. 

32. Resolution approving and adopting the City’s FY2024 Fee Schedule. 

33. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the replacement of network 
switches relative to updating the city's network hardware. 

34. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Consolidated Public Safety Communications 
28E Agreement with participating government agencies in Black Hawk County relative to providing 
consolidated dispatch and communications services. 

35. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for Swimming Pool Use, 
Operation and Maintenance, and City funding with the Cedar Falls Community School District. 

36. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Atlantic Bottling Company 
relative to providing vending services for The Falls Aquatic Center, Birdsall Park, Pfeiffer Park and 
the Recreation Center. 

37. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with The Sherwin-Williams 
Company for flooring replacement in the multi-purpose room of the Recreation Center. 

38. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of three Red House Studio Lease Extensions 
relative to the use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists' studio space, in conjunction with the 
Hearst Center's Visiting Artist Program. 

39. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Moxie, a division of VGM 
Group Inc., relative to digital advertising for the Tourism & Visitors Bureau. 

40. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the College Hill 
Partnership (CHP) relative to FY2024 Tourism Activities & Economic Development Services 
Funding. 

41. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of Cedar Falls 
Community Main Street (CMS) relative to FY2024 Tourism Activities & Economic Development 
Services Funding. 

42. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed, in conjunction with the expansion of the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park. 

43. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a makeup air unit 
(MAU) for the 17th Street Lift Station. 

44. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Vieth Construction Corp. for the 2023 
Alley Reconstruction Project. 

4



Page 5 of 5 

45. Resolution setting July 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the proposed FY2024 (FFY2023) 
Annual Action Plan for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium. 

46. Resolution setting July 17, 2023 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into an Agreement 
for Private Development, and to consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Ryan 
Companies US, Inc. 

Ordinances 

47. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salaries for elected officials, upon its first consideration. 

48. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to removal of snow and ice, upon its first consideration. 

49. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Bluebell Road, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

50. Allow Bills and Claims for June 20, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Adjournment 

5



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JUNE 5, 2023 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:36 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

54321 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Dunn that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of May 15, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54322 - Police Chief Mark Howard accepted a plaque on behalf of Cedar Falls Public 

Safety from Ferizaj, Kosovo Director of Police and presented by Mayor Green in 
recognition of friendship between cities. 

 
54323 - Mayor requested and City Council agreed by consensus to only require the name 

and city of speakers. 
 
  Rosemary Beach, Cedar Falls, commented on the need for public restrooms. 
 
  Pastor Jeff Ream, 815 Orchard Drive, introduced his church as non-

denominational and commented on their desire to partner with the city on 
community projects. 

  
54324 -     Public Works Director Schrage announced QR codes that include links to parking 

and public restroom locations downtown, have been placed on the municipal lot 
parking signs. 

    
54325 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of May 19, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing to consider entering into an 
Agreement for Private Development, and to consider conveyance of certain city-
owned real estate to Technology Pkwy Properties, LLC. It was then moved by 
Ganfield and seconded by deBuhr that the proof of publication of notice of 
hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54326 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposal. Upon being advised that there were no written communications on file, 
the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic Development Coordinator 
Graham provided a summary of the proposal. There being no one else present 
wishing to speak about the proposal, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
54327 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,187, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development; 
and approving and authorizing execution of a Deed Without Warranty, conveying 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

certain city-owned real estate to Technology Pkwy Properties, LLC, be adopted. 
Following comments and questions by Councilmembers Sires, Ganfield and 
Schultz, and Mayor Green, and responses by Economic Development 
Coordinator Graham and Developer Adam Haynes, the Mayor put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,187 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
54328 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of May 19, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2023 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project - Zone 1. It was then moved by Ganfield and seconded by 
deBuhr that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54329 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there was one written communication 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided a 
summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present wishing to 
speak about the project the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
54330 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,188, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 1, be adopted. Following 
questions and comments by Councilmembers Ganfield, Harding, Kruse and 
deBuhr, and Mayor Green, and responses by City Engineer Wicke, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,188 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
54331 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn that Ordinance #3030, vacating 

certain public right-of-way along Hudson Road, be passed upon its second 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54332 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Harding that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of May 15, 2023 
relative to the following items: 
a) Presentation on potential Emeritus Program for former city elected officials. 
b) Request for no parking on portion of Bluebell Road. 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 Receive and file the Mayor's communication relative to an Agreement Between 
the Sister Cities, the City of Ferizaj (Republic of Kosovo) and the City of Cedar 
Falls. 

 Receive and file the following resignation of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Kendra Wohlert, Art & Culture Board. 

 Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Donna Mallin, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2026. 
b) Julie Kliegl, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2026. 
c) Alan Stalnaker, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2026. 
d) Erik Blanchard, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2026. 

 Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
the following certified lists: 
a) Maintenance Worker. 
b) Water Reclamation Supervisor. 

 Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of April 2023. 

 Approve a request by Cedar Falls Utilities for a temporary variance from Section 
15-83 of the Code of Ordinances, Prohibited noises generally, to allow painting of 
a water tower to occur on Sundays. 

 Receive and file Dismissal of a third tobacco violation for Cedar Sky, Inc., d/b/a 
Bani’s, 2128 College Street. 

 Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) B&B West, 3105 Hudson Road. 
b) Bani’s, 2128 College Street. 
c) Cypress Lounge, 209 State Street, Suite A. 
d) Dollar General #14412, 2921 Center Street. 
e) Dollar General #21239, 1922 Valley Park Drive. 
f) Posh Smoke and Vape, 6322 University Avenue, Suite L. 
g) Suds, 2223 1/2 College Street. 
h) The Landmark, 107 Main Street. 
i) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive. 
j) Up in Smoke, 2218 College Street. 
k) Walgreens #10557, 2509 Whitetail Drive. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class F retail alcohol & 
outdoor service – renewal. 
b) Harry’s Five and Dime, 123 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol – renewal. 
c) Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant, 112-114 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service – renewal. 
d) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
renewal. 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

e) The Other Place, 209 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol – renewal. 
f) Casey’s General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol – 
renewal. 
g) Prime Mart, 2323 Main Street, Class E retail alcohol – renewal. 
h) The Other Place, 209 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol – change in 
ownership. 
i) Casey’s General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol – 
change in ownership. 
j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service – temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (August 26, 
2023) 
k) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service – sidewalk cafe. 
l) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – sidewalk 
cafe. 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54333 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #23,189, approving and authorizing execution of a Banking Services 

Agreement with Farmers State Bank. 

 Resolution #23,190, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
remove snow and ice from the sidewalks abutting the property located at 603 
Fireside Drive. 

 Resolution #23,191, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
remove snow and ice from the sidewalks abutting the property located at 1322 
Franklin Street. 

 Resolution #23,192, approving and authorizing execution of an Easement 
Agreement, in conjunction with a sidewalk café at 118 Main Street. 

 Resolution #23,193, approving and authorizing execution of a Service Order 
Form with USCC Services, LLC (Uscellular) relative to cellular service for city-
owned tablets. 

 Resolution #23,194, approving and authorizing execution of an Infrastructure 
Development Agreement and Intercreditor Agreement, and approving and 
accepting a Real Estate Mortgage from Panther Farms, LLC relative to 
construction of street connections in the vicinity of Aldrich Elementary School. 

 Resolution #23,195, approving and authorizing expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of foam densifying recycling equipment for the Refuse Section. 

 Resolution #23,196, approving and authorizing expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a mini excavator for the Street Section. 

 Resolution #23,197, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Regarding Light Pole Relocation at 4923 Hudson Road, in conjunction with the 
Ashworth Drive Extension Project. 

 Resolution #23,198, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Dave 
Schmitt Construction Co. Inc. for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction 
Project – Phase 1A. 

 Resolution #23,199, approving and accepting three Warranty Deeds, in 
conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project. 

 Resolution #23,200, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Strand Associates, Inc. relative to development of the 
2023 Stormwater Master Plan. 

 Resolution #23,201, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for design services relative to 
the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,202, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with KL Iowa 01, LLC, relative to a post-
construction stormwater management plan for 6313 Production Drive. 

 Resolution #23,203, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the bid of Blacktop Service Co., in the amount of $191,607.50, being the only bid 
received for the 2023 Seal Coat Project. 

 Resolution #23,204, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the bid of Vieth Construction Corp., in the amount of $255,451.50, being the 
lowest bid received for the 2023 Alley Reconstruction Project. 

 Resolution #23,205, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in 
Support of the Cedar Falls Historical Society for FY2024 Tourism Activities & 
Economic Development Services Funding. 

 Resolution #23,206, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Peters Construction Corporation to repair a damaged wall at Pheasant Ridge 
Golf Course Pro Shop. 

 Resolution #23,207, approving and authorizing execution of a Land Maintenance 
Agreement with Thomas Greiner relative to maintaining undeveloped land 
recently acquired by the City. 

 Resolution #23,208, approving a Cedar Falls Utilities Communications Utility 
Installation or Relocation Project in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 
Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,209, approving a Cedar Falls Utilities Electric Utility Installation or 
Relocation Project in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban 
Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,210, approving a Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Utility Installation or 

10

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Relocation Project in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban 
Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,211, approving and authorizing execution of a Forgivable Loan 
Agreement relative to a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Rental 
Rehabilitation Project at 1009 West 3rd Street. 

 Resolution #23,212, approving and authorizing execution of a Repair Contract 
with Daniels Home Improvement relative to a Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Rental Rehabilitation Project at 1009 West 3rd Street. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,189 through #23,212 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54334 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Dunn that Resolution #23,213, 
approving the recommendation and appointment of Fire Chief, be adopted. 
Following supportive comments by Councilmembers Schultz, Ganfield and Sires, 
Mayor Green, and Cedar Falls resident Josh Wilson, and response by Acting Fire 
Chief Zolondek, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #23,213 duly passed and adopted. 

54335 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

   
  Resolution #23,214, setting June 19, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the 

proposed rezoning from C-1, Commercial District to PC-2, Planned Commercial 
District of property located at 702 LeClair Street; and also on an associated 
amendment to the Land Use Map by changing the designation from Low Density 
Residential to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use. 
 
Resolution #23,215, setting June 19, 2023 as the date of public hearing on 
proposed amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning, relative to allowance of vinyl 
siding on certain residential structures in the Neighborhood Frontages within the 
CD-DT, Downtown Character District. 

It was then moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz to amend the motions to 
reschedule the hearings to June 20th due to the Juneteenth holiday. Motion 
carried unanimously. The Mayor then put the question on the original motions as 
amended, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,214 and #23,215 duly passed 
and adopted. 

 

11

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

54336 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of 
June 5, 2023 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
54337 - Community Development Director Sheetz responded to a question by 

Councilmember Ganfield regarding an update on restrooms downtown. 
   
54338 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Kruse that the meeting be adjourned at 

8:18 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  ________________________________ 
    Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

12

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request for property at 702 LeClair Street (RZ23-002) 
  Land Use Map Amendment (LU23-001) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Amend Future Land Use Map to reflect commercial use of the property. 
Rezone property from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2: Planned Commercial 
District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Randy Howe, Owner; Bradley Best, Applicant  
 

LOCATION: 
 

702 LeClair Street  

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone a 2.26-acre (94,446 SF) parcel owned by Randy Howe from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is Lot 21 of the Star View subdivision platted in 1950. The first building on 
the subject property was a 1-story office building built in 1965, located on the north portion of 
the parcel. The owner has operated a wholesale business, Advanced Technical Services, on 
the site for several decades. Wholesale businesses are not allowed in the C-1 Zone, so the 
current business is a nonconforming use.  In 2011, a 3,600 sq. ft. warehouse/storage building 
was added on site, southwest of the office building. 
 
With changes ongoing in the business including general supply chain issues in the market, and 
the associated need for pre-ordering and warehousing of materials and equipment for clients, 
the applicant would like to add another approximately 7000 square foot storage building on site 
that will help in operation of the business. However, The C-1 district has restrictions on the 
amount of storage allowed on the site and with the current storage building the site already 
exceeds that limit.    
 
 

13

Item 2.



Therefore, Mr. Howe has requested a rezoning of the property from C-1 Commercial to the 
PC-2 Planned Commercial District to continue the ongoing business on the property at 702 Le 
Clair Street. A master plan for the site has been submitted for review along with supplemental 
materials for the project. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The purpose of the C-1 Commercial District is to provide commercial uses to nearby residence 
districts which support the daily needs of the nearby residents. The subject property and two 
properties east of LeClair Street are zoned C-1, one of which has a business/professional 
office allowed in the district and the other is vacant. 
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial District Zone 
will allow the applicant to add a 6,900 square 
foot, one-story building to expand his 
business. The purpose of the PC-2 Planned 
Commercial district is to facilitate imaginative 
and comprehensively planned commercial 
developments that are harmoniously 
designed to complement the surrounding 
community. As per the PC-2 district 
guidelines, smaller tracts are eligible for such 
zoning if the site is amenable to long-term 
planning and in cases where careful site 
planning is needed. As part of the process, 
the PC-2 district requires the preparation of a 
master plan and a developmental 
procedures agreement that will allow more 
controlled development on the site, keeping 
in mind the adjacent uses. The 
developmental procedures agreement 
establishes the anticipated use of the site 
and any specific requirements, restrictions, 
or limitations to guide development of the 
site.  
 
The PC-2 zone allows any use that is allowed in any commercial zone with some limitations. 
Looking at the uses allowed in other commercial zones, “wholesale warehouse or business” is 
an allowed use in the C-3 Commercial District, so would also be allowed in PC-2.  However, 
staff also notes that the PC-2 Zone prohibits “any use with physical and operational 
characteristics or requirements that generate substantial truck traffic, noise, odor, dust, glare, 
heat or vibrations, or of a character not compatible with the high aesthetic standards of the 
district.” One of the examples of prohibited uses is “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight 
terminal.” The applicant has provided information about the operation of the site and limited 
amount of truck traffic, so staff finds that the proposed use is reasonable and does not have 
the same intensive industrial characteristics of a warehousing and freight terminal, so could be 
an allowed in the PC-2 Zone, provided the master plan and developmental procedures 
agreement notes conditions and limitations to ensure that it remains compatible with its 

14

Item 2.



adjacency to residential areas.  
 
The proposed master plan (image above) includes the existing and proposed buildings located 
on the site, the driveways used to access the site, the stormwater detention basin, and 
landscaping. The master plan also shows a future trail extension with a bench to provide a bike 
path amenity for the public. The applicant has no plans currently for the area south of the 
proposed new storage building, so will maintain this as landscaped greenspace.   
 
The master plan has been well thought out and includes elements like landscape screening, 
stormwater detention basin, and greater setback from adjacent residential uses to the west of 
the property, which all align well with PC-2 district regulations. In addition, the applicant has 
presented renderings of the proposed building (see below), to give an idea about the scale of 
the building and its proportion to the existing site and immediate surroundings. The proposed 
renderings don’t show any details about the building materials, openings, and other 
architectural details, which all will be reviewed when the site plan for the new building is 
submitted to ensure its compliance with the PC-2 district regulations.

 
 
Staff also took some existing site pictures 
(See images to right and below) that show the 
buildings on site with existing landscaping 
around them, just to give an idea about the 
proposed project and existing site context. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The applicant held a neighborhood meeting on April 5th, 2023 to discuss the proposed project 
and has included several suggestions from the neighbors in the proposal including reducing 
the height of the building, adjusting security lighting to eliminate glare, adding a bike path 
amenity, and will also be offering neighbors to have some input about landscaping plan along 
the west side of the property. These items are stated in the letter of intent submitted as part of 

Existing Site 

Existing Site Existing Site 

15

Item 2.



the rezoning application. Staff notes that some of the site plan level details including building 
design, architectural characteristics, landscaping plan, etc. will be reviewed in detail when the 
site plan for the proposed building is submitted for review, to ensure its compliance with the 
PC-2 district regulations. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
The Future Land Use Map identifies the subject parcel as low density residential with typical 
densities of 1 to 4 units per acre. In this case, both the current zoning C-1 Commercial Zoning 
district and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning district are not consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map.  
 
The subject property, in addition to two properties east of LeClair Street, are currently zoned 
C-1 and two have commercial uses and the other is an undeveloped parcel. These properties 
are designated as low-density residential on the Future Land Use map. To align with the C-1 
Commercial District and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial District, the entire area 
outlined in blue, inclusive of the subject property (marked by hatched area and a star), will 
need to be amended to “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use” designated by pink color on 
the future land use map. See attached “Exhibit A” for more reference. 

 
A proposal to amend the Future Land Use Map concurrent with the rezoning consideration will 
make the current and proposed zoning of these properties and the Future Land Use Map 
consistent. The “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation includes a range of low-
impact commercial uses, providing a variety of neighborhood services. As per the 
comprehensive plan, the “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation should be 
located along major streets, promotes buffering to eliminate negative effects on surrounding 
residential areas, and have good landscaping for enhancement of the site as well as provide a 
visual buffer. With the proposal of the master plan that aligns with the intent of the 
“Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation and keeping in mind the uses in the 
immediate surroundings of the site, this change will be a more appropriate land use 

16

Item 2.



designation for the site and the area east of LeClair Street currently zoned C-1.   
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The property is in a developed area of the city and has access to all utilities and public 
services on site. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The property is located on the NW corner of LeClair Street and W. 1st Street. The property 
currently has access from LeClair Street.  
 
To eliminate any traffic concerns, the applicant has provided a traffic summary of how the site 
is used currently, with local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three times per week and 
about two to three semis per week. With the proposal for a new building, the applicant is 
expecting the traffic volume to remain unchanged. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the rezoning 
request on May 2, 2023.  
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was published in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier on May 16, 2023 and notice of Council’s hearing was published in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on June 9, 2023. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
The City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities, have no concerns about the proposed 
rezoning request. The PC-2 Planned Commercial District requires the submittal and adoption 
of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 
conditions pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other 
details as necessary.  
 
For this case, staff recommends including the following conditions in the developmental 
procedures agreement: 

1. To restrict the allowed uses to only those uses allowed in the C-1, Commercial District 
and additionally allow one “wholesale business use with associated warehouse space”, 
with a limitation of warehouse space not to exceed 11,000 square feet in total. 

2. To construct a 4-foot-wide public sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage of the subject 
property and connect it to the 1st Street trail if the undeveloped area south of the 
proposed storage building is developed in the future. 

3. Noting that no access drive will be granted off W. 1st Street for the subject property. 
4. Ensure that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale business use with associated 

warehouse space” may not increase to a level that the use of the subject property 
changes to “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight terminal,” which is a prohibited use in 
the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 

With these conditions, any future use of the property would be of an intensity consistent with its 
current C-1 zoning and adjacency to residential but will allow a long-time business to continue 
in its existing location. See attached development agreement for more reference. This 
development agreement must be finalized prior to the public hearing at the City Council.  
 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning District requires all site plans in the district to be 

17

Item 2.



approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. If the rezoning is 
approved, the applicant will submit a site plan application that that is consistent with the 
submitted master plan and developmental procedures agreement and that meets all PC-2 
District regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted land use map 
amendment (LU23-001) and the request to rezone the property at 702 LeClair Street from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District (RZ23-002) as per staff’s 
recommendation at their regular meeting on 24th May 2023 with a vote of 7 ayes and 0 nays. 
Staff also recommends approval of the case LU23-001 and RZ23-002 subject to compliance 
with submitted master plan and a development procedures agreement that includes the 
conditions noted in the staff report above.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
5/10/2023 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provide background  
information. He explained that the property is located on SE corner of West 1st  

Street and LeClair Street, but has access only from LeClair Street. It is  
proposed to amend the Future Land Use Map to reflect commercial use of the  
property and to rezone the property from C-1 Commercial to PC-2 Planned  
Commercial District. He provided the background of the uses of the property  
from 1950 until now, and explained that the existing storage building on the site  
exceeds the required limit and the property owner is requesting to rezone the  
property to allow continued ongoing business and growth on the property. He  
also discussed the Master Plan for the property and the uses allowed in that  
area. The submittal provides for limited truck traffic and staff feels that the use  
is reasonable. Renderings were displayed to give an idea of the scale of the  
building and its proportion to the existing site and its surroundings. Site plan  
details, including building design, architectural characteristics, landscaping  
plan, etc. will be reviewed with a site plan for the proposed building is  
submitted. 

 
Mr. Atodaria discussed the need for compliance with the Comprehensive Plan 
and Future Land Use Map, explaining that the entire area would need to be 
amended to “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use to align with the C-1 and 
PC-2 zoning. The amendment will make the current and proposed zoning of 
these properties consistent with the Future Land Use Map. He also noted that 
there is access to public services on the site as well as access to an adequate 
street network. At the time of rezoning, a development agreement will be 
required that will spell out any condition or agreement about the proposed 
master plan and the anticipated land use. Staff recommends adding language 
to restrict the uses to only those allowed in the C-1 District plus the whole sale 
use and associated warehouse space. The development agreement will need 
to be finalized prior to the public hearing at City Council. He explained that all 
site plans in the PC-2 district require approval by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council and the applicant will need to submit a site plan 
application that is consistent with the submitted master plan and PC-2 district 
regulations. 

 
Staff recommends setting a date of public hearing for May 24, 2023 to discuss 
amending the Future Land Use Map to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed 
Use as noted in the staff report, and to rezone the property at 702 LeClair 
Street from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 

18

Item 2.



 
Brad Best, Peters Construction and Randy Howe, 2314 Sunset Boulevard  
came forward to speak regarding the project and make themselves available for  
any questions. 
 
Ms. Moser addressed the fact that there was a neighborhood meeting and feels 
that was very helpful. 
 
Mr. Larson asked why it was decided to rezone to PC-2 instead of C-3. Ms. 
Howard explained that C-3 is a specific zone for a downtown setting. This is not 
in a downtown setting and it’s just for this particular business. C-3 zoning would 
not be consistent as it has R-1 zoning next to it.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the items. Ms. Crisman 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes 
(Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
Discussion 
& Vote   

5/24/2023 

Chair Lynch introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background  
information. He explained that the property is located on the corner of West 1st   
and LeClair Streets and covered background that was discussed at the last 
meeting. He provided a rendering of the location that showed existing and 
proposed building locations on the site, as well as landscaping and bike plan. 
He also showed the future land use map and discussed the proposed changes, 
speaking about current access from LeClair Street and traffic volume on site. 
Mr. Atodaria also went over the technical comments that have been brought 
forward. PC-2 districts require that all site plans in the district be approved by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission. The applicant will need to submit a site 
plan application that is consistent with the submitted master plan and district 
regulations. A development agreement will also be needed at the same time to 
ensure that all conditions are followed. Staff recommends restricting allowed 
uses to those uses allowed in the C-1 District and additionally allow one 
“wholesale business use with associated warehouse space” with a limitation of 
warehouse space to not exceed 11,000 square feet total. If the undeveloped 
area south of the proposed storage building is developed in the future, a public 
sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage should be constructed that connects 
to the 1st Street Trail. An access drive will not be granted off West 1st Street and 
the developer must ensure that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale 
business use with associated warehouse space” may not increase to a level 
that the use of the subject property becomes a “wholesaling/warehousing motor 
freight terminal,” which is prohibited in the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
With these stipulations, staff recommends approval of the land use map 
amendment and rezoning.  
Ms. Grybovych made a motion to approve the land use map amendment. Mr. 
Leeper seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 7 
ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), 
and 0 nays. 
 
Ms. Grybovych made a motion to approve the rezoning request subject to staff 
recommendations. Mr. Larson seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, 
Lynch and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 
 

 
  

19

Item 2.



  
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

20

Item 2.



1st St Trail

Sta
nle

y S
t

LeC
lair

 St

W 1st St ®¬57

R-1

R-1

C-1

R-5

A-1

702

612

626

619

704

611

703

625

701 713707

605

331
5

351
2

Cedar Falls City Council
June 20, 2023

Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2
702 LeClair Street
(RZ23-002)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^

Location
Map

¯

21

Item 2.



1st St Trail

N Ridge Cir

Sta
nle

y S
t

Sh
irle

y S
t

Windi ng Ridge Rd

LeC
lair

 St

Lakeshore Dr

W 1st St®¬57

R-1

R-1

C-1

R-5 R-1

A-1

Cedar Falls City Council
June 20, 2023

Updating Future Land Use Map from
 "Low Density Residential" to
"Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed Use"
(LU23-001) "Exhibit A"

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^
Location

Map

¯

22

Item 2.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

23

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRIL 6, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-11x17 Exhibit

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 4/6/234/6/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE TRAIL LANDSCAPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 115' X 60'; 6900 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PCC DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED STORM WATER DETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16 WILLIAM PENDRY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17 MARK DEGROOTE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18 SCOTT GILROY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19 DOUGLAS WIDEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20 MELODY KING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN  LOT 21, STAR VIEW ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GRASS UNDEVELOPED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONING: PC-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED TREE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY



24

Item 2.



1 

PC-2, PLANNED COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES AGREEMENT 

 

This Developmental Procedures Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

____ day of______________, 2023, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) 

and Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 2007 (“Owner”) for the 

purpose of outlining procedures and conditions to be followed for the development of certain real 

estate (the “Property”) located within certain portions of Star View Subdivision, containing 2.26 

acres, being owned by the Owner, which is legally described as follows: 

 

LOT NO. TWENTY-ONE (21) IN STAR VIEW, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT 

THE SOUTH TWENTY-SEVEN (27) FEET THEREOF; AND EXCEPT BEGINNING AT 

THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 21; THENCE NORTH 00° (DEGREES) 

57' (MINUTES) 40" (SECONDS) WEST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, 

ALSO BEING THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 27.00 

FEET TO THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 

BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 89°04'09" WEST ON THE 

PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 10.50 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 44°08'07" EAST, 14.83 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 

21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR 

STREET; THENCE SOUTH 00°57'40" EAST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, 

ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 

10.47 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 55 SQUARE FEET. THE 

EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR NORTH 00°57'40" WEST FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF THE DESCRIPTION, ALL IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK 

HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Owner to rezone the Property from C-1 Commercial 

District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District in Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, the PC-2 Planned Commercial District requires the submittal and approval 

of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific conditions 

pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other details as 

necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the 

provisions of the PC-2 Planned Commercial District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the PC-2 Planned Commercial District allows a wide range of uses, which 

may not be appropriate for all properties, requiring instead that the developer define the allowed 

use(s), as appropriate for the subject property in a development agreement;  

 

25

Item 2.



2 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended approval of the 

rezoning subject to the submitted master plan and a developmental procedures agreement;   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the 

City, and Owner agree as follows: 

 

1.  The Property will be developed according to the Master Plan, attached hereto, and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit A. In addition to the existing buildings on the site, the 

development will include  a new, approximately 7000 square foot storage building that is 

associated with  the existing wholesale business, “Advanced Technical Services, Inc.”, as 

shown on Exhibit A. Prior to any construction on the site, the Owner shall submit a detailed 

site plan, including a landscaping plan and architectural drawings of all proposed buildings, 

which will be reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the City 

Council according to the submitted Master Plan (Exhibit A) and the standards of the PC-2 

Planned Commercial zoning district and all applicable requirements of the Cedar Falls 

Code of Ordinances. 

 

2. Owner agrees to restrict the allowed uses for the Property to only those uses allowed in 

the C-1 Commercial District but additionally allowing one “wholesale business use with 

associated warehouse space,” said warehouse space not to exceed 11,000 square feet in 

total. No other uses will be permitted on the Property. 

 

3.  Owner agrees that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale business use with associated 

warehouse space” may not increase to a level that the use of the Property becomes a 

“wholesaling/warehousing motor freight terminal,” which is a prohibited use in the PC-2 

Planned Commercial District. Evidence of such a change may include but is not limited to 

increased truck traffic beyond what has been characterized in the traffic analysis submitted 

with the application.  

 

4. If the undeveloped area south of the proposed storage building, as shown on Exhibit A, is 

proposed for further development, Owner agrees to construct a 4-foot-wide public 

sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage of the Property and connect it to the 1st Street 

trail in accordance with City engineering standards.  

 

5. Owner agrees that no access drive will be granted off W. 1st Street.  

 

6. Owner agrees that the signage within the development will be in accordance with the PC-

2 Planned Commercial zoning district regulations, and any new signage will be reviewed 

at the time a detailed site plan is submitted for approval.   

 

7.      In connection with all aspects of the development of the Property, whether specifically 

described in this Agreement, or otherwise, the Owner shall fully comply with all applicable 

provisions and requirements of the Code of Ordinances, policies and practices of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and, to the extent applicable, with all provisions of local, state and 

federal laws and regulations. 

26

Item 2.



3 

8. The foregoing conditions shall be binding upon the Owner, and their successors and 

assigns and shall apply to the Property and shall run with the land. 

 

9. This Agreement is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of 

the State of Iowa. 

10.   Any litigation arising out of the provisions of this Agreement shall be commenced in the 

Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, which shall be the exclusive jurisdiction and 

venue for such litigation. 

11.   If any portion of this Agreement is for any reason held invalid, such holding shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement. 

12.   The action, inaction or delay of either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement 

shall not constitute a waiver or release. 

13.  Any amendment to this Agreement shall be in writing, signed by both parties, and is 

subject to approval by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 

Signature page to follow 

  

27

Item 2.



4 

 

      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

Owner: 

Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 2007 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Randy W. Howe, Trustee  

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

                       )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2023, 

by Randy W. Howe, Trustee of the Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 

2007; 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

28

Item 2.



Advanced Technical Services – South Storage Building Exterior Site Perspectives – 4/7/23 
 

 

 
 

29

Item 2.



30

Item 2.



Traffic Summary 
Advanced Technical Services, 703 LeClair Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

Exis�ng Site 

Advanced Technical Services has operated from this loca�on (702 LeClair Street) for several 
decades with the most recent site improvements made in 2011.  The site consists of an 
office building with outdoor and indoor equipment storage areas.  Currently, six employees 
work at this loca�on.  Traffic to this property can be summarized as follows: 

• UPS delivery in morning and a�ernoon, daily
• FedEx delivery approximately three �mes per week
• Local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three �mes per week
• Approximately one customer per day to the office
• Typical employee traffic for lunch, errands, etc..
• Mowing service one �me per week during warm weather months
• Two to three semis per week

Altogether, approximately fi�een vehicles per day visit this loca�on. 

Two driveways exist on the site.  These were sized to allow a semi to enter, exit and work 
well – see atached exhibit indica�ng a vehicle path.  Equipment/materials are 
loaded/unloaded from the driveway area and moved to either indoor or outdoor storage 
areas.  There are parking spaces for nine plus vehicles (employees and customers).  This has 
proven to be an adequate amount for the current opera�on. 

Proposed Improvements 

The proposed project will construct a storage building to protect some of the materials and 
equipment currently stored outside.  A driveway will connect the exis�ng driveway, interior 
to the lot, to the exis�ng paved driveway area. No new street access is proposed. 

The number of employees is not changing with this project nor is the type of work.  There 
will be no manufacturing taking place.  Delivery and employee/customer traffic are 
expected to remain the same as exis�ng, with approximately fi�een vehicles per day. 

Conclusion 

Traffic volume and type of traffic to 702 LeClair Street are expected to be unchanged with 
the proposed project.  The driveway and parking infrastructure are sa�sfactory for the 
current and proposed use. 

31

Item 2.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 32

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-8.5x11

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 3/28/233/28/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION  SEMI PULLS INTO NORTH DRIVEWAY, TURNS INTO SOUTH DRIVEWAY TO BACK INTO LOADING AREA, WHERE THEY CAN THEN EXIT SOUTH DRIVE. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 120' X 60'; 7200 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC SUMMARY EXHIBIT 702 LECLAIR STREET



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA FOR APPROXIMATELY 2.26 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, 

REMOVING SAID AREA FROM THE C-1, COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT AND 

ADDING IT TO THE PC-2, PLANNED COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 2.26 acres of property from C-1, Commercial Zoning 

District to PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District, more specifically described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the 

provision of the PC-2 Planned Commercial District; and 

 

WHEREAS, said PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District requires the submittal and 

adoption of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 

conditions pertaining to the development, timing and phasing of the project, and other 

development details as necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a PC-2 master plan has been submitted with the rezoning application (case 

#RZ23-002), the principles and provisions of which will be incorporated into a developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and owners of the property, which will be considered for 

adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent with this rezoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, said developmental procedures agreement restricts the use(s) allowed, sets 

expectation for future development, limits the traffic to maintain neighborhood character; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the PC-2 Master Plan and finds that said rezoning and master plan is 

consistent with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the PC-2, Planned 

Commercial Zoning District and therefore recommends approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

33

Item 2.



the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and added to the PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning 

District: 
 

Legal Description: 

 

LOT NO. TWENTY-ONE (21) IN STAR VIEW, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THE 
SOUTH TWENTY-SEVEN (27) FEET THEREOF; AND EXCEPT BEGINNING AT THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 21; THENCE NORTH 00° (DEGREES) 57' 
(MINUTES) 40" (SECONDS) WEST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING 
THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 27.00 FEET TO THE PRESENT 
NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, BEING THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 89°04'09" WEST ON THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 10.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°08'07" EAST, 14.83 FEET 
TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET; THENCE SOUTH 00°57'40" EAST ON THE EASTERLY LINE 
OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR 
STREET, 10.47 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 55 SQUARE FEET. THE 
EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR NORTH 00°57'40" WEST FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF THE DESCRIPTION.   

Containing 94,446 Square Feet or 2.26 Acre.  
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the PC-2, Planned 

Commercial Zoning District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

  

INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

34

Item 2.



 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

35

Item 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

FOR APPROXIMATELY 2.26 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, REMOVING SAID 

AREA FROM THE C-1, COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT AND ADDING IT TO THE PC-2, 

PLANNED COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 

to rezone approximately 2.26 acres of property from C-1, Commercial Zoning District to PC-2, 

Planned Commercial Zoning District, more specifically described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an orderly 

manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the provision of the 

PC-2 Planned Commercial District; and 

 

WHEREAS, said PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District requires the submittal and 

adoption of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 

conditions pertaining to the development, timing and phasing of the project, and other development 

details as necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a PC-2 master plan has been submitted with the rezoning application (case 

#RZ23-002), the principles and provisions of which will be incorporated into a developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and owners of the property, which will be considered for 

adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent with this rezoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, said developmental procedures agreement restricts the use(s) allowed, sets 

expectation for future development, limits the traffic to maintain neighborhood character; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the PC-2 Master Plan and finds that said rezoning and master plan is consistent 

with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the PC-2, Planned Commercial 

Zoning District and therefore recommends approval; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
36

Item 3.



 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and added to the PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District: 

 

Legal Description: 

 

LOT NO. TWENTY-ONE (21) IN STAR VIEW, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THE 
SOUTH TWENTY-SEVEN (27) FEET THEREOF; AND EXCEPT BEGINNING AT THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 21; THENCE NORTH 00° (DEGREES) 57' (MINUTES) 
40" (SECONDS) WEST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE WESTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 27.00 FEET TO THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 
89°04'09" WEST ON THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 
10.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°08'07" EAST, 14.83 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 
21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET; THENCE 
SOUTH 00°57'40" EAST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT 
WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 10.47 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; CONTAINING 55 SQUARE FEET. THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21 IS 
ASSUMED TO BEAR NORTH 00°57'40" WEST FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE DESCRIPTION.   

Containing 94,446 Square Feet or 2.26 Acre.  

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the PC-2, Planned 

Commercial Zoning District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

  

INTRODUCED:     June 20, 2023    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

37

Item 3.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: June 19, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Petition from City Council to amend the Downtown Character District (TA23-003) 

 

 
In 2022 City Council made several referrals to the Planning and Zoning Commission requesting 
consideration for various changes to the Downtown Character District Code. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission has been systematically working through each of those referrals over the last 
year. This memo is related to the petition from the City Council to consider amending the building 
materials standards in the code to allow vinyl siding on small residential buildings in the 
Neighborhood Frontage Areas.  
 
Background 
The previous Central Business District (CBD) Overlay had building materials standards for new 
buildings that did not include an allowance for vinyl siding for commercial, mixed-use and multi-
unit residential buildings containing more than 6 units. In neighborhood areas surrounding 
downtown that were not in the CBD Overlay, there were previously no standards for exterior 
building materials.  
 
The adopted Downtown Character District Code prohibits vinyl siding in the Urban General, Urban 
General 2, and Storefront Areas, which generally encompasses the area previously subject to the 
CBD Overlay. During public review of the new code prior to adoption, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission had several discussions about allowance for vinyl siding in the Neighborhood 
Frontage Areas and considered the pros and cons (see attached excerpt of the decision matrix).  
At that time, the Commission decided not to allow vinyl siding on any new buildings. However, the 
Commission decided that vinyl siding should be allowed on any existing single-unit dwelling, even 
if it is not currently clad in vinyl siding. For example, a homeowner could replace or cover the 
wood siding on their existing house with vinyl siding. In addition, for any existing building that is 
currently clad with vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with vinyl siding and any 
addition(s) may be clad with vinyl siding.      
 
Council Petition 
The Council indicated they would like to maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding in the downtown 
core areas – Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontage areas in the Downtown 
Character District similar to what was disallowed in the previous CBD Overlay.  However, the 
Council indicated that they would like the Commission to consider allowing vinyl siding in the 

38

Item 4.



 
 

Neighborhood Frontage Areas on any new single unit dwelling and also to consider allowing it for 
new construction of other small residential buildings, such as duplexes, townhomes, and small 
apartment buildings up to 6 units.  
 
At the Commission’s May 10th meeting, there was a request for a link to the video recording of 
the April 14, 2021 meeting where the Commission specifically discussed allowing the use of 
vinyl siding in the Neighborhood Frontages. Here is the link to that P&Z meeting with the 
discussion about vinyl siding starting at about 1:56: 
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446
593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e4
59d9b1245971e00a4e8 
   
P&Z Recommendation 
At their May 24 meeting, after a public hearing, the Commission discussed the two petitions from 
City Council. 
 
On a vote of 6-1, the Commission recommends approval of the following:  
 

1. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on new single-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, as follows:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

On a vote of 5-2, the Commission, also recommends approval of the following alternative, which 
would allow vinyl siding on new duplexes as well as single-unit dwellings:  
 

2. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on new single-unit and two-unit residential 
buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages.  

 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit and two -

unit residential buildings only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

A motion was made to approve vinyl siding on new residential buildings with six or fewer units but 
was subsequently rescinded in favor of a motion to allow vinyl siding on single-unit and duplex 
units only.  Therefore, the Council petition to amend the ordinance as follows was disapproved 
and will take a 2/3 majority vote of Council to approve.   
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings with six or fewer dwelling units only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  

39

Item 4.

https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8


 
 

(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 
vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Introduction 

05/10/23 
 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code Text 
Amendment regarding vinyl siding allowance in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained 
that the City Council has petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 
allowing vinyl siding on any new single unit dwelling and to consider allowing vinyl 
siding for new construction of other small residential buildings with six or fewer 
dwelling units (duplexes, townhomes, small apartment buildings, etc.). As most of the 
Commissioners were not on the Commission when this was originally brought for 
consideration, Ms. Howard gave background on what was discussed previously by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and the decisions that were made with regard 
to vinyl siding. She provided a map of the Downtown Character District Regulating 
Plan and discussed the neighborhood areas that the proposed changes would apply 
to, including the Neighborhood Small and Neighborhood Medium areas. She noted 
that the 2021 Decision Matrix that was used by the Commission when the decision 
was made was included in the packet, which list the pros and cons of vinyl siding 
considered at the time.  
 
Mr. Larson feels that the suggestions from Council are clear and make sense to him, 
and this change doesn’t affect anything as far as architectural compliance or 
compatibility set up in the zoning code. He feels that vinyl siding provides an 
affordable option in the housing market today. 
 
Ms. Grybovych asked if it was worthwhile for Commissioners to go back and view the 
video of the previous conversations with regard to this matter. Ms. Howard stated that 
staff could find the dates of the discussions so that the conversation would be 
available. 
 
Acting Chair Hartley stated that he supports the change. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked if there have been any applicants that have come forward that fall 
into this category of change. Ms. Howard stated that the only new construction that 
has come through has been the Cottage Court project. Ms. Crisman feels that 
environmental concerns should be kept in mind.  
  
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the item. Ms. Crisman seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

  
   

Public hearing and 

Vote 

5/24/2023 

 
The next item for consideration by the Commission was a zoning code text 
amendment regarding allowance of vinyl siding in the Downtown Character District. 
Chair Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. 
She explained that the item stems from a referral from City Council to consider 
allowing vinyl siding on any new single-unit dwelling and on new construction of other 
small residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units (i.e. duplexes, townhomes, 
small apartment buildings) in the Neighborhood frontage areas of the Downtown 
Character District. Previously vinyl siding was not allowed in the Central Business 

40

Item 4.



 
 

District Overlay, but residential neighborhoods outside of the CBD previously had no 
standards for exterior cladding. The Downtown Character District prohibits the use of 
vinyl siding in the Urban General, Urban General 2 and Storefront areas. In 
Neighborhood Frontage areas, vinyl siding is allowed on existing single-family 
dwellings, even if it is not currently clad in vinyl siding. Existing buildings with vinyl 
siding can be replaced with the same, and any additions can also be clad with vinyl 
siding. Ms. Howard displayed the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan that 
shows where these specific neighborhoods are located. She discussed the options 
that the Commission has at this time. They may: recommend no change to the 
current ordinance; amend to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings in the 
Neighborhood Frontages; amend to allow vinyl siding on residential buildings with six 
or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages, or any other combination as 
recommended by the Commission.  
 
Ms. Crisman noted that it is interesting that in the initial conversation it was opted for 
new builds to require old materials but the old structures could use the newer 
materials. In driving around the Downtown Character District there’s a definite 
difference between the older and newer buildings and feels that the older materials 
maintain the character of the district. Mr. Larson stated that he feels that if someone 
were following that design idea, people might be using asbestos siding. He stated 
that, with the issue of housing affordability, requiring more expensive siding materials 
is not a good idea.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to approve vinyl siding for single-unit dwellings and 
residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages. 
Ms. Lynch seconded the motion.  
 
After further discussion and concerns expressed by other Commissioners about 
allowing vinyl siding on new construction of larger buildings, Mr. Larson agreed and 
withdrew his motion and made a new motion to amend the code to allow vinyl siding 
on single-unit dwellings and to amend the code to allow vinyl siding on two-unit 
dwellings as well. Mr. Leeper seconded the motions.  
 
Commission members discussed further comments and concerns with the items. 
 
The motion was approved to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings with 6 ayes 
(Alberhasky, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 1 nay (Crisman). 
 
The motion was approved to allow vinyl siding on two-unit dwellings (duplexes) with 5 
ayes (Alberhasky, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 2 nays (Crisman and 
Grybovych). 
 

 

41

Item 4.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5169 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 26-194C. ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS: BUILDING WALLS, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, 
OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 
26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA TO ALLOW VINYL SIDING AS A PRIMARY FAÇADE 
MATERIAL ON RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS WITH SIX OR FEWER 
DWELLING UNITS IN THE NEIGHBORHOOD FRONTAGES OF THE 
DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT.  

 
WHEREAS, Subsection 26-194C of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, sets forth the 

regulations regarding the types of building materials allowed on exterior walls of buildings in 
the Downtown Character District; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to environmental and durability concerns, vinyl siding has been listed as 

a prohibited exterior building material, except for certain exceptions in the Neighborhood 
Frontage areas; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 

amending the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings and other residential 
buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages as it is a commonly 
used exterior material for small residential buildings in the community; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission considered a motion, but 
said motion was withdrawn before a vote was taken and therefore did not recommend 
approval of an amendment to the zoning code to allow vinyl siding on multi-unit residential 
buildings with six or fewer dwelling units and therefore a 2/3 majority of Council is required to 
approve this ordinance;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Subsection 26-194C., Architectural Standards: Building Walls, within Division 2, 
Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended, deleting 
paragraph 3b, related to primary building materials standards in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, and in lieu thereof replacing it with the following paragraph:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units only, 

except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired 

with vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

42

Item 4.



 
 

 
INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

43

Item 4.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5169 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 26-194C. ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS: BUILDING WALLS, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, 
OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 
26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA TO ALLOW VINYL SIDING AS A PRIMARY FAÇADE 
MATERIAL ON SINGLE-UNIT AND TWO-UNIT RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS IN 
THE NEIGHBORHOOD FRONTAGES OF THE DOWNTOWN CHARACTER 
DISTRICT.  

 
WHEREAS, Subsection 26-194C of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, sets forth the 

regulations regarding the types of building materials allowed on exterior walls of buildings in 
the Downtown Character District; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to environmental and durability concerns, vinyl siding has been listed as 

a prohibited exterior building material, except for certain exceptions in the Neighborhood 
Frontage areas; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 

amending the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings and other small 
residential buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages as it is a commonly used exterior 
material for small residential buildings in the community; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission on a vote of 5-2 
recommended approval of (TA23-003), a petition to amend the zoning code to allow vinyl 
siding on single-unit and two-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood Frontages;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Subsection 26-194C., Architectural Standards: Building Walls, within Division 2, 
Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended, deleting 
paragraph 3b, related to primary building materials standards in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, and in lieu thereof replacing it with the following paragraph:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used on single-unit and two-unit residential buildings only, 

except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or 

repaired with vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  

 
 

 

44

Item 5.



INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

45

Item 5.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5169 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 26-194C. ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS: BUILDING WALLS, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, 
OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 
26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA TO ALLOW VINYL SIDING AS A PRIMARY FAÇADE 
MATERIAL ON SINGLE-UNIT RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS IN THE 
NEIGHBORHOOD FRONTAGES OF THE DOWNTOWN CHARACTER 
DISTRICT.  

 
WHEREAS, Subsection 26-194C of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, sets forth the 

regulations regarding the types of building materials allowed on exterior walls of buildings in 
the Downtown Character District; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to environmental and durability concerns, vinyl siding has been listed as 

a prohibited exterior building material, except for certain exceptions in the Neighborhood 
Frontage areas; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 

amending the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood 
Frontages as it is a commonly used exterior material for single-unit homes in the community; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission on a vote of 6-1 
recommended approval of (TA23-003), a petition to amend the zoning code to allow vinyl 
siding on single-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood Frontages;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Subsection 26-194C., Architectural Standards: Building Walls, within Division 2, 
Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended, deleting 
paragraph 3b, related to primary building materials standards in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, and in lieu thereof replacing it with the following paragraph:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used on single-unit residential buildings only, except as 

noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or 

repaired with vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  

 
 

 

46

Item 6.



INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

47

Item 6.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor, Robert M. Green, and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: May 15, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Right-of-Way Vacation Request – Hudson Road  
 

 
REQUEST: Street Right-of-Way (ROW) Vacation for a portion of Hudson Road 

(VAC23-001) 
 

PETITIONER: David A. Nicol 
 

LOCATION: 
 

1,728 sq. ft. of public right-of-way located on the west side of 
Hudson Road approximately 200 feet north of the intersection of 
Hudson Road and Ashworth Drive.  
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
David A. Nicol has requested a vacation of 1,728 sq. ft. (parcel 1) of the public right-of-way 
located on the west side of Hudson Road approximately 200 feet north of the Ashworth 
Drive intersection (see attached ROW exhibit). As you are aware, Mr. Nicol is in the 
process of rezoning the property adjacent to Hudson Road and Ashworth Drive, extended, 
to R-1, Residence District. If the rezoning is approved, he intends to submit a preliminary 
and final plat for the property. The proposed vacation will allow for a more typical 
rectangular home lot along the eastern edge of the property. In addition, the City would like 
to obtain an additional 2785 sq. ft. (parcel 2) of right-of-way for the construction of the 
Ashworth Drive extension. Mr. Nicol will provide the additional right-of-way at the time of 
final platting of his subdivision. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In 1988, the right-of-way along the west side of Hudson Road was conveyed to the City as 
part of the plans to expand Hudson Road to four lanes. In 2022, the City purchased a 0.89 
acre portion of the property, including the former residential structure, to build an extension 
of Ashworth Drive from Hudson Road to Ashworth Drive in Prairie Winds 4th Addition.  Mr. 

48

Item 7.



Nicol has provided a concept layout for the subdivision of the property into seven (7) lots. 
Mr. Nicol is proposing to plat lots similar in width and area to the adjoining lots in Prairie 
Winds 4th Addition. The proposed Lot 7 (see lot exhibit with lot layout proposal) is a corner 
lot and is required by Section 26-127 to have a street side yard of 30 feet as measured 
from the right-of-way line along Hudson Road. Because of the irregular shape of the right-
of-way on Hudson Road in this location, the placement of a dwelling on Lot 7 would be 
difficult. As shown in the illustration below, because of the required 30’ setback from 
Hudson Road, the buildable area of this lot is quite small, despite the fact that it is larger in 
area than the other lots.   
 

 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
In considering a right-of-way vacation, City staff analyzes several factors: 
  

1. Is the right-of-way needed for public use?  
As shown in the image above, there is a public sidewalk located along both sides of 
Hudson Road that provides for pedestrian and bicycle movement along the corridor. 
If vacated, the sidewalk along the west side of Hudson Road will still be greater than 

49

Item 7.



5 feet from the proposed lot line of the parcel. The area to be vacated is not needed 
for traffic, pedestrian, or bicycle movement.  
 

2. Is the right-of-way needed for access to private property? 
Vacating this portion of the right-of-way will not impact any future anticipated access 
to Hudson Road. Access to any new lots proposed in this area will be from Ashworth 
Drive, extended.  No additional driveways will be allowed to Hudson Road, which is 
a limited access arterial street. in this area.  
   

3. Are there any utilities within the right-of-way that will need to be retained?  
CFU has a 20” water main that runs in part of that proposed vacation area.  CFU is 
accepting of the vacation, provided a utility easement is established on the proposed 
vacation parcel. If the vacation is approved and land conveyed to the Nicols, an 
easement must be established to protect these utilities. Mr. Nicol has a request to 
rezone the adjacent property to R-1 and if granted, Mr. Nicol will be following up with 
a Preliminary and Final Plat.  If the City Council approves the vacation and Mr. Nicol 
purchases the vacated right-of-way, it will be incorporated into the plat and an 
easement will be established for the water line.    
 

TECHNICAL COMMENTS 

 
The City’s Technical Review Committee does not have any concerns or objections with the 
proposed right-of-way vacation, provided an easement is established to protect the public 
utilities along the street corridor as noted in the staff report.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the proposed right-of-
way vacation, subject to the following conditions: 

 
An appropriately sized easement satisfying CFU is established along Hudson Road in 
the area subject to the vacation.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
4/12/2023 

 
Chair Lynch introduced the item and Mr. Weintraut provided background 
information. He explained that there is a request by the owner, Mr. Nicol, to 
vacate a portion of right-of-way on Hudson Road. In 2022 the City purchased a 
portion of Nicol’s property for a new street. Mr. Nicol is in the process of rezoning 
the property to R-1 and has provided a concept layout for a subdivision. If the 
vacation of the right-of-way is approved, the area will become part of Lot 7, which 
would make it less difficult to place a house on the lot. As part of the vacation, 
the City would like to work with Mr. Nicol and obtain a portion of the proposed Lot 
7 to help widen the right-of-way, making it easier to install infrastructure and 
construct an extension of Ashworth Lane. There could be considered of a trade 
when the subdivision takes place. There is a sidewalk on the west side of 
Hudson Road that provides pedestrian and bicycle movement. If vacated, the 
sidewalk will still be on public right-of-way and located at least five feet from the 
property. The vacation of public right-of-way will not affect access to private 

50

Item 7.



property as the new street construction has provided access. Staff recommends 
approval of the request to vacate the right-of-way with the condition that an 
appropriately sized easement is established along Hudson Road in the area 
subject to the vacation. 
 
Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Grybovych seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Leeper, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 

 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Right of Way Vacation Exhibit 
   

 

51

Item 7.



â

â
â

â

Ashworth Dr

Ashworth Dr

Ka
ra 

Dr

Reese Rd

Vera Way

Hu
dso

n R
d

R-1

MU
A-1

A-1

161
6

161
7

1609

1722

4923

1716

171
0

1709

1715

1817

1825

1728

1833

1809

1715

1714

172
2

180
4181

0

181
6

182
2

4906

5008

5014

5022

4826

4912

4926

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
April 12, 2023

Nicol Right-of-Way Vacation
(VAC23-001)
Hudson Road

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

52

Item 7.



Area to be 
Vacated

1728 Sq. Ft.

H
u
d
so
n
R
o
ad

Hudson Road Right-of-Way Vacation 53

Item 7.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by:  Thomas Weintraut, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319)273-8600 
After Recording, Return to: City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3030 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING A PORTION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY ABUTTING 
HUDSON ROAD, 200 FEET NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF HUDSON ROAD AND 

ASHWORTH DRIVE, IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (VAC23-001) 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission has considered a request to vacate 
1,728 square feet of public right-of-way located along the western edge of Hudson Road; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission has determined that there is an excess amount of land 

in the aforementioned location that is not currently used for right-of-way purposes nor will it 
be used in the future for such purpose; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission recommends that it is in the best interest of the City to 

vacate the subject portion of right-of-way, retaining perpetual easements for utilities, with 
the intent to make said area of land available for purchase according to Section 306.23, 
Iowa Code. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa: 
 
 SECTION 1. A portion of the public right-of-way located along the western edge of 
Hudson Road north of the intersection with Ashworth Lane, hereinafter described, is hereby 
vacated: 
 

A PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 

NO. 26, TOWNSHIP NO. 89, RANGE NO. 14 WEST OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA. 

 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE 

SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 13 OF PRAIRIE WINDS 4TH ADDITION, ALSO 

BEING THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY OF HUDSON ROAD, THENCE S89⁰52’43”E 

21.60’; THENCE S00⁰19’59”W 80.31’; THENCE N89⁰55’21” 21.42’ ALONG THE 

54

Item 7.



SAID RIGHT OF WAY OF HUDSON ROAD; THENCE N00⁰12’25”E 80.33’ 

ALONG THE SAID RIGHT OF WAY OF HUDSON ROAD TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.04 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 
 

SECTION 2. All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with the provisions of 
this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     May 15, 2023__________ 
 
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   May 15, 2023__________ 
 
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   June 5, 2023___________ 
 
PASSED  3RD CONSIDERATION:   _________________ 
 
ADOPTED:      _________________ 
 

 
 

       ______________________  
        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

  

55

Item 7.



  
 

MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

June 5, 2023 
 

The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:35 p.m. on June 5, 2023, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon 
Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires. Staff members from all City 
Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Committee of the Whole: 
Chair Harding called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Committee of the 
Whole Agenda, Council Policy on Official City Proclamations and introduced Mayor Green. Mayor 
Green turned the discussion over to Councilmembers. Councilmembers discussed the previous 
proclamation process that included proclamation approval by Mayor during the Special 
Presentations portion of the City Council agenda, what proclamation processes do other cities use, 
emergency proclamations and incorporating special presentations in lieu of proclamations with 
each presentation limited to 5 minutes. Mayor stated he would only issue emergency 
proclamations.  It was motioned by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse to have staff amend CFD 
1127: Council Policy – Official City Proclamations to remove City Council approval of proclamation. 
The motion was put to vote. Aye: deBuhr, Dunn, Harding, Kruse, Ganfield, Schultz, and Sires. Nay: 
None. Motion passed. 
 
Community Development Committee:  
Chair Harding called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Community 
Development Committee, Open Space Policies within Subdivisions and introduced Karen Howard, 
Planning & Community Services Manager. Ms. Howard gave an overview of the City’s 
requirements for open space for new subdivisions, code requirements, and legal limitations. Ms. 
Howard explained that staff references the Cedar Falls Parks Plan from 1996 and the 
Comprehensive Plan from 2012. Ms. Howard stated that staff would request to develop a new Park 
& Public Lands Master Plan in FY25 & FY26. Councilmembers discussed hiring a consultant for 
the Park & Public Lands Master Plan, playground equipment in open spaces, City purchase of land 
to develop the open space, HOA fees, and space for celebrations in open spaces. 
Councilmembers decided to continue discussion at goal setting.    
 
Finance & Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee, Parking Permits for Downtown Municipal Lots and introduced Marcie 
Breitbach, Administrative & Parking Supervisor. Ms. Breitbach presented the reasons for 48-hour 
parking, how 48-hour parking is enforced, and possible options. Ms. Breitbach included three 
options for Councilmembers to review that included the pros and cons. Option 1: No enforcement 
of 48-hour parking limit in downtown municipal lots for permit holders. Option 2: Continue to 
enforce 48-hour parking time limit in municipal lots regardless of parking permit status or residency. 
Option 3: Continue enforcing the 48-hour limit for regular parking permit holders with an option to 
apply for temporary long-term parking when needed and paying an additional cost per day through 
a separate application process. Staff recommended option 2. Councilmembers discussed the 
courtesy warning, parking permit cost, including residential long-term parking with a higher fee and 
proof of residency (Driver’s license, rental lease, owner of building, car registration), residential 
spaces needed, percentage of spaces sold, and how many spaces remain for customer parking. 
Chair Dunn called for public comment. Julie Shimek, Cedar Falls, spoke in favor of a long-term 
permit and the inconvenience of relocating vehicles. Dawn Wilson, Cedar Falls, agrees with 
residential long-term parking permits. Josh Wilson, Cedar Falls, agrees with residential long-term 
parking permits, and supports a courtesy call before towing a vehicle. Gabe Groothuis, Cedar 
Falls, agrees with residential long-term parking permits. Brian Heath, Operations & Maintenance 
Division Manager, explained the plowing process in the downtown parking lots and the newer 
obstacles in the lots.  
It was motioned by Kruse and seconded by Harding to implement long-term residential parking 
permits in the downtown city parking lots. After discussion, it was moved to amend the motion by 

56

Item 8.



Harding and seconded by Schultz to bring options for implementation of residential parking permits 
in the downtown city parking lots to the committee. The motion was put to vote. Aye: Sires, 
Harding, Kruse, Schultz. Nay: Dunn, Ganfield, and deBuhr. Motion passed. 
 
Finance & Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the second item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee, FY2024 Cash Management Report and introduced Lisa Roeding, 
Controller/City Treasurer. Ms. Roeding reviewed the investments and rates of return, operating 
cash reserves and provided an outline of our financial position, and capital expenditures. Ms. 
Roeding stated that in FY2024 we will watch cash reserves that include the rollback and state 
backfill, national and local economies and any state legislature action. It was motioned by Ganfield 
and seconded by Kruse to recommend approval of the FY2024 Cash Management Report. The 
motion was put to vote. Aye: deBuhr, Dunn, Harding, Kruse, Ganfield, and Schultz. Nay: Sires. 
Motion passed. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:26 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

57

Item 8.



From: Anne Bonsall Hoekstra <  
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2023 8:44 PM 
To: boards <boards@cedarfalls.com> 
Cc: Cory Hurless <Cory.Hurless@cedarfalls.com> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Resignation 
 

CAUTION: This email originated outside the City of Cedar Falls email system. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

 

To Whom it May Concern:  
 
Please consider this my official notice of resignation from the City of Cedar Falls’ Arts and Culture 
Board.  I have thoroughly enjoyed serving on this board and hope to continue to remain actively 
involved in the arts in the Cedar Valley. 
 
With gratitude, 
 
Anne Hoekstra  
--  
Anne Bonsall Hoekstra 
 

58

Item 9.

mailto:boards@cedarfalls.com
mailto:Cory.Hurless@cedarfalls.com


 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  

  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 

 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

 PHONE 319-273-8600 

 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 

 
  

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 TO: City Council  

 DATE: June 12, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Appointment of Human Rights Commissioners 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §12-27: Human Rights Commission  

(b) Iowa Code §69.16A: Gender Balance 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a), I hereby 

nominate the following citizens for appointment to the Human Rights Commission to fill 

current vacancies: 

 Ms. Gina Weekley – Full Term ending 7/1/2026 

 Mr. Jason Droste – Full Term ending 7/1/2026 

 Ms. Madeleine Seymour – Remainder of Term ending 7/1/2024 

 Mr. Tyler W. Ingham – Remainder of Term ending 7/1/2024 

 

2. General Applications and Candidate Questionnaires are attached for your consideration. 

3. These appointments comply with the provisions of reference (b). 

4. My thanks go to the selection panel, chaired by City Councilor Kelly Dunn, for their excellent 

work in vetting these excellent candidates for your consideration. 

 

Encl:    (1) General Application & Candidate Questionnaires for Weekley, Seymour, Droste, Ingham 

 

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Director, Finance and Business Operations 

  Chair, Human Rights Commission 

  Human Rights Commission Staff Liaison 

 

 
 

### 
 

59

Item 10.



60

Item 10.



61

Item 10.



62

Item 10.



63

Item 10.



64

Item 10.



65

Item 10.



66

Item 10.



67

Item 10.



68

Item 10.



69

Item 10.



70

Item 10.



71

Item 10.



72

Item 10.



73

Item 10.



74

Item 10.



75

Item 10.



76

Item 10.



77

Item 10.



   ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 M E M O R A N D U M 
Office of the Mayor 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 TO: City Council  

 DATE: June 14, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Proclamation Requests for City Council Approval 

 REF: (a) CFD 1117.22: Council Policy – Official City Proclamations 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I am enclosing the following proclamation request(s) 

for Council consideration and approval:  

a. Juneteenth Freedom Day – June 19th 2023 (backdated, due to my scheduling 

mistake; I still believe it is important to formally recognize the day, as we have 

done in past years).  

b. Disability Pride Month – July 2023. 

c. Ironman Battalion Day – July 11, 2023. 

 

2. Based on the direction of the Committee of the Whole on June 5th, I understand that 

this may be the last instance where council would be in a position to approve 

proclamations, but given that reference (a) is still in effect at this time, I believe it is 

proper and appropriate for me to forward these three proclamations for your 

consideration. 

  

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Communications Specialist 

### 

 

78

Item 11.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
                              

WHEREAS, the President and Congress of the United States have declared a 
national holiday to commemorate the day (June 19, 1865) when Union General 
Gordon Granger and a contingent of Union soldiers brought news of 
emancipation to Galveston, Texas; and 

WHEREAS, this was two and a half years after President Abraham Lincoln’s 
Emancipation Proclamation which became official January 1, 1863; and 

WHEREAS, today, Juneteenth Freedom Day celebrates African American 
freedom and achievement, while encouraging continuous self-development and 
respect for all cultures, as it takes on a more national, symbolic and even global 
perspective, to ensure the events of 1865 are not forgotten; and 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth is the oldest known celebration commemorating the 
abolition of slavery in the United States, dating back to June 19, 1865 when 
Union soldiers led by Major General Gordon Granger arrived in Galveston, 
Texas with news that the war was ended, freeing the enslaved; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls wishes to join the national government in 
setting aside a day for the commemoration of liberty and equality for all 
citizens; and 

WHEREAS, embracing Juneteenth as a holiday encourages community 
reflection on unity and the promotion of racial understanding and healing; 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Mayor Robert M. Green, acting in the name of the Cedar 
Falls City Council and the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission, do hereby 
proclaim June 19, 2023 as Juneteenth Freedom Day in Cedar Falls, and I and 
encourage all citizens to actively recognize and celebrate this national 
commemoration which honors the history, legacy and culture of African 
Americans. 

Signed this 19th day of June, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                              
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

 
79

Item 11.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
                              

WHEREAS, Disability Pride Month is celebrated in July to acknowledge 
that the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) was signed into 
law on July 26, 1990; and 

WHEREAS, Nearly one in four people have a disability, and people with 
disabilities make tremendous contributions to Cedar Falls’ art, culture, 
and economy; and 

WHEREAS, People with disabilities are valued and vibrant members of 
Cedar Falls; and 

WHEREAS, People with disabilities are diverse and have intersectional 
identities, as well as sharing a community and culture that is built around 
their lived experiences; and 

WHEREAS, Cedar Falls acknowledges the long history of isolation and 
discrimination against citizens with disabilities and recognizes the 
decades of activism and advocacy by the disability community; and 

WHEREAS, Cedar Falls acknowledges that celebrating culture, 
community, and the ADA is only a starting point, and there remains 
significant room for progress toward full and equitable access and 
inclusion for all citizens with disabilities. 

NOW, THEREFORE I, Mayor Robert M. Green, acting in the name of the 
Cedar Falls City Council and the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission, 
do hereby proclaim the month of July 2023 in Cedar Falls, Iowa as 
Disability Pride Month. 

Signed this 20th day of June, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                              
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

 

80

Item 11.



 

CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 
  

 
                              

WHEREAS, the Iowa National Guard’s 133d Infantry Regiment, a component of the 34th Infantry 
Division, has continuously operated in Northeast Iowa since July 11th, 1921; and  

WHEREAS, the 1st Battalion of the 133d Infantry Regiment is proudly known as the Ironman 
Battalion, a distinction earned during World War II for a record 611 consecutive days in combat, 
and then re-affirmed during a nearly 22-month mobilization supporting Operation Iraqi 
Freedom from 2005 to 2007; and 

WHEREAS, the National Guard’s federal mission is to provide properly trained and equipped 
units for prompt mobilization for war, National emergency or as otherwise needed, and its state 
mission is to provide trained and disciplined forces for domestic emergencies or as otherwise 
provided by state law; and 

WHEREAS, more than 550 Northeast Iowans have volunteered for service in the Iowa National 
Guard and drill monthly at readiness centers in Waterloo, Dubuque, Davenport, Oelwein, Iowa 
City, Iowa Falls, and Charles City; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls is committed to maintain a close relationship with our Iowa 
National Guard as well as to honor our soldiers, their families, and veterans through the Home 
Base Iowa program and numerous other veterans care and support activities; 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Mayor Robert M. Green, acting of the name of the Cedar Falls City Council, 
do hereby designate July 11th, 2023 as: 

 
 
in the City of Cedar Falls, in recognition of the vital role played by our neighbors in the Ironman 
Battalion for our nation’s protection, and I encourage residents to seek ways to support our 
Northeast Iowa National Guard soldiers and families as they answer their Nation’s call in 
uniformed military service in Iowa and across the globe. 

Signed this 20th day of June, 2023. 

 

______________________________________                                                                              
MAYOR ROBERT M.  GRE EN  

 

1-133d Infantry Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day 

81

Item 11.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 6, 2023 

SUBJECT:      FY23 Report by College Hill Partnership 
    
 
As you may recall, starting in FY09 we signed formal agreements with those outside 
agencies that receive funding from the City of Cedar Falls. As part of those agreements, 
these agencies were required to submit reports and documentation on how those funds 
were used. 
 
Attached is the bi-annual report for FY23 filed by College Hill Partnership. The second 
½ payment for their SSMID funding and the second ½ payment for their economic 
development grant are therefore listed on the council bills to be processed. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
 Cathy Niebergall, Financial Technician 
      

82

Item 12.



College Hill Partnership
2304 College Street
Po Box 974
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Phone: 319-273-6882
collegehillpartnership@gmail.com
www.collegehillpartnership.org

ㅡ

2022-2023

Board of Directors
Hannah Crisman, President
ChrisMartin, Vice President
Angela Johnson, Treasurer
AdamBolander
Frank Darrah
AmandaWalters
David Grant
Ryan Kriener
Rebecca Kauten

15 April 2023

Mayor Green &Members of Cedar Falls City Council
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

RE: Economic Development and SSMID Funds

Attached please find the Biannual Report formCollege Hill Partnership

detailing our organization’s current status and progress in promoting and
revitalizing College Hill.

In this report youwill find the following information:

● Accomplishments of the last 6Months

● List of Current Board of Directors
● Financial Statements
● 2022-2023 Budget (included on Financial Statement)

We are thankful for the support and collaboration that the City of Cedar

Falls has given our organization.

With the submission of this report, we respectfully ask for the

disbursement of the SSMID funds and Economic Development funds, to
the College Hill Partnership. Please notify us if there is any additional
information as needed as wewould be happy to provide it.

Regards,

Hannah Crisman

Hannah Crisman, President
On behalf of the College Hill Partnership Board of Directors

83

Item 12.



Economic Development Fund, SSMID &
Community Development Fund

EVALUATION FY22

Name of Organization: College Hill Partnership

Project Description:
SSMID
The College Hill Partnership received approval for our business district as a Self
Supported Municipal Improvement District. The objective of the College Hill
Partnership SSMID is to help further our organization by representing and advocating
for the interests of College Hill. We have worked to do this through economic
development, tourism, and quality of life in the College Hill area. We have also worked
to improve the administration's performance, redevelopment, and revitalization of the
district. These funds specifically aid us in our mission of revival and promotion of the
College Hill area.

Economic Development
The College Hill Partnership received approval for an Economic Development Grant. The
objective of the Economic Development Grant is to further our mission to remain a leader in the
revitalization and promotion of the College Hill Overlay District. These funds support efforts of
aesthetic caretaking, including cleaning and caring for The Hill.

Community Betterment Grant
The College Hill Partnership received approval for the Community Betterment Grant. The
objective of the Community Betterment Grants is to further our mission to remain a leader in the
revitalization of The Hill. Funds are used in conjunction with our College Hill Farmers Market
partners to purchase street banners to facilitate placemaking and encourage customers and visitors
to come to the area.

What is the mission of your organization?:
College Hill Partnership (CHP) is a non-profit organization that serves as the leader in the
revitalization and promotion of the College Hill area, an urban neighborhood community. The

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

84

Item 12.



scope of its mission includes promoting healthy neighborhood businesses and housing
enhancement, strengthening collaboration and pride, developing public/private partnerships, and
serving as an advocate for addressing area concerns.

Grant Amount:
● SSMID $32,970+ (Approximation)
● Economic Development Grant $2250.00
● Community Betterment Grant $600

Address of Organization or person completing this application:
2304 College Street
Po Box 974
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
Email: collegehillpartnership@gmail.com

1. Do you consider your organization/projects a success from October 2022 through March
2023? Why?
Over the last six months our organization has run solely on volunteer hours, a change from the
previous five years and a first for our organization while receiving SSMID funding. Our
volunteers have made numerous advancements to the mission and vision of the College Hill
Partnership (CHP) and we consider the last six months to be a success.

The CHP has established four committees to aid in the mission and vision of our organization.
These committees are Economic Development, Neighborhood Engagement, Strategic
Partnerships, and Communication and Marketing. Each committee is chaired by a board member
and allows us to continue the work done by our previous Executive Director, including projects
such as the Seerley Park Improvement Project, the Imagine College Hill Vision Plan and code
update. Additionally these committees continue to foster relationships with the City of Cedar
Falls, the University of Northern Iowa, and other community stakeholders.

The Economic Development Committee has worked to develop strategies to attract new
businesses to College Hill. The committee serves as a place for business owners to connect with
one another and allows us to provide any resources they may need. They are working on creating
a social media strategy to attract more patrons to The Hill.

In collaboration with the City of Cedar Falls, our Neighborhood Engagement Committee has
continued to focus on updating Seerley Park. We have a well established group of volunteers who
have worked closely with City staff and the landscape architects to create a more accessible and
functional park. In support of our fundraising efforts we have established a College Hill
Partnership fund at the Cedar Falls Community Foundation.

The Strategic Partnership Committee has established new relationships with the University of
Northern Iowa, which we hope will be mutually beneficial to both the University and the City of
Cedar Falls.

The CHP has continued to fund clean-up efforts in the area. We have worked with several
organizations, including the University of Northern Iowa, GreenAmericorps, and ThreeHouse to

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

85

Item 12.



facilitate volunteer clean-ups of the College Hill Business District and College Hill
Neighborhood.

After many hours of work were put in by the CHP to create the Imagine College Hill! Vision
Plan, our organization looks forward to the upcoming code changes to the College Hill overlay.
Using our resources, we will continue to advocate for The Hill, and we look forward to seeing
new entrepreneurs head to The Hill to open new businesses.

2. Does the outcome of this grant funding to your operation/project align with the Economic
Development Fund/SSMID/Façade/Community Betterment goals of complementing Cedar
Falls economic development efforts? Explain.

The College Hill Partnership’s use of the SSMID and City funding aligns with Cedar Falls’
economic development efforts. In the last six months we have seen the opening of one new
business, Astro E-Sports Lounge.

The College Hill Partnership continues to foster its unique connection between the business
district and the University. By funding the CHP, a multifaceted organization with a diverse
demographic, the City of Cedar Falls ensures that customers connect to businesses and
vice-versa. Through this connection, College Hill businesses can supply offerings in demand. For
example, several years ago, a study supported by the CHP helped neighbors voice their support
for a coffee shop on The Hill. Because of this study, the College Hill Business District was able to
gain Sidecar Coffee, now a staple of The Hill.

Currently, there are several vacant storefronts. College Hill continues to face challenges caused by
the current economic crisis, changes in purchasing and dining habits, and decreased enrollment at
the University of Northern Iowa. These issues tell us that the CHP's mission to promote and
encourage revitalization is still critical to the health and vitality of The Hill.

3. Did receipt of an Economic Development Fund, Community Betterment grant, and
SSMID enable your organization/project to provide a new service to promote economic
development or the creation of quality employment opportunities in Cedar Falls? How?

Our services fall into several key areas including; encouraging cooperative business strategies,
developing awareness of the neighborhood and business district, collaborative opportunities for
marketing through events and partnerships, improving the physical appearance of College Hill,
and sponsoring cultural events that promote the district.

We continue to see that the nature of College Hill is ever-changing. It is a district that requires our
organization’s continual focus. Funding helps the College Hill Partnership provide services that
promote economic development, community growth, and stronger relationships with our
stakeholders.

Through funding we have been able to increase awareness of the business district and
neighborhood through both physical and digital media. We have been able to offer our community
several cultural events free of charge, including but not limited to a monthly event in Seerley Park
with free coffee and pastries. This event allows neighbors to connect, for the CHP to recruit new

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

86

Item 12.



members, and for the CHP to get a gauge on what community members are looking for from The
Hill.

The Economic Development Grant has helped to keep The Hill vibrant and looking beautiful.
This funding supports our one part time employee as an aesthetic care taker to help in the
maintenance of garden beds, and removal of unwanted trash from The Hill. This funding also
helps pay for supplies such as perennial and annual flowers, hoses, etc.

4. Please provide a summary of activities completed from October 2022 through March
2023 by your organization/project.

The College Hill Partnership provides services aimed at promoting economic development
throughout College Hill. Through funding we were able to undertake many new projects during
the year while maintaining our core mission and vision.

Encouraging cooperative business strategies
The College Hill Partnership understands the challenges the College Hill area faces. We work
together with merchants, residents, landlords, the University of Northern Iowa, and Cedar Falls
to make improvements and promote the district. We have been at the forefront in facilitating
growth through better communication and connecting relevant parties. In the past we have
helped business growth by establishing a College Hill TIF District, a College Hill Urban
Revitalization Program (CHURP), and participation in the Façade Grant Program.

We have been working on compiling information about residents within our district. Knowing
each segment of our community will help ensure we provide the necessary services to the area
that we serve. This data helps inform our business decisions and support the local business
environment.

The CHP works with city staff to get the community involved in several public input
opportunities, from the Pettersen Plaza Expansion to Imagine College Hill Visioning. We use our
communication channels to promote events and projects the City works on, such as the
Halloweek, or the partnership between the University and Cedar Falls Public Safety as UNI
welcomed students back to campus.

In the near future the CHP will host a variety of events allowing community members to share
their input on the future Seerley Park Improvement project. Many community members have
helped us voice specific challenges that College Hill faces, including; safety, connectivity,
accessibility, and aesthetic care.

Promoting College Hill
In the last six months the CHP has been particularly focused on building lasting relationships
with our stakeholders to support the promotion of College Hill. Through frequent face-to-face
meetings with staff at UNI, we hope to establish ways to support UNI and vice versa. In turn, we
hope these interactions will lead to creating a more vibrant community for future UNI students.

Additionally, we are working on new partnerships with groups like the Cedar Falls Economic
Development Corporation. In November we hosted our first College Hill Partnership sponsored

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

87

Item 12.



social hour. This event allowed various stakeholders to connect and start new conversations that
will lead to the growth of College Hill.

The College Hill Partnership is promoting the Hill through regular face-to-face meetings,
frequent email communication, our website (www.collegehillpartnership.org) and blog. Over
the last six months we have seen:

● Facebook page reach: 8,726, a 405% increase
● Facebook page likes: 129 new likes, a 416% increase
● Instagram page reach: 2,514, a 73.1% increase
● Instagram page likes: 86 new likes, a 104.8% increase
● Linkedin followers: 83 new followers

While social media helps to keep our members and interested groups connected and up-to-date
with what's happening on College Hill and how we can collaborate on its improvement, we can
use other media to connect with visitors. We have purchased a full page ad in the Cedar Falls
Visitor and Tourism Guide. This guide helps attract visitors to Cedar Falls and especially to the
University aware of services in our area

Sponsoring and Fostering Cultural Events
Since our organization was established in 2008, the CHP has sponsored many events. Each year
we host an annual meeting for members where they can enjoy a meal and vote on new board
members. This year we felt it was important to establish new traditions for our entire
community.

The CHP, along with UNI’s Center for Energy and Environmental Education, helped establish
the College Hill Farmers which takes place weekly on Wednesdays from June to October. This
year we have supported relocating the farmers market to W 22nd Street to encourage more
vendors and customers to participate. Along with moving the location of the market to, we also
supported market management in their decision to move from Thursdays to Wednesdays. The
market management and vendors believe this will spread the time between the Cedar Falls
Farmers Market and draw more market goers to The Hill.

In April the CHP facilitates the College Hill Neighborhood Garage Sales. We encouraged
neighborhood participation through social media, posters at area businesses, and through
advertising in The Currents. We gathered addresses of participants, provided signs for their yards,
created a map of sales, and advertised the sales on social media. This year we will be adding CHP
branded signs that are posted throughout Cedar Falls and at each sale.

In 2021 the CHP began hosting Saturday in Seerley, a monthly event on the second Saturday of
each month. We continued this event beginning in May through October. We provide coffee and
pastries, both from College Hill business, and gather together with our neighbors and friends.

An idea sparked from one Saturday in Seerley was our Jazz in Seerley Park concert. In late
August over 200 attendees gathered in Seerley Park for a jazz concert featuring three local jazz
groups. At this event the College Hill Partnership was able to promote the upcoming Seerley Park
Improvement project. This year we hope to add more music, more food, and local vendors selling

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

88

Item 12.



handmade arts and crafts.

Activities on the Hill such as these are an important way to appeal to a substantial, diverse
demographic our neighborhood serves. Public events and activities bring significant revenue to
College Hill and the City of Cedar Falls. They also promote the vitality of College Hill, drive
interest in spending time on the Hill, and aid economic development within our local district
and the City of Cedar Falls.

Improving the physical appearance of College Hill
One of CHP's charges is to create an inviting environment where people want to live, work, and
visit. The College Hill district is a gateway to Cedar Falls from UNI. It is one of the first places
to create an impression on future students and their parents. The CHP has overseen the
maintenance of flower beds in Pettersen Plaza and College and 23rd Streets, and the parking lots
on the Hill. The flower beds on the Hill were highlighted on several Master Gardener websites
highlighting public garden spaces and maintaining them successfully. Continually, the College
Hill Partnership has worked with the Black Hawk County Master Gardeners to aid our
organization in the area's beautification. Their volunteers have continued to donate countless
hours to help put the plant beds to bed for the winter season.

A collaboration between the College Hill Partnership, BHCo Master Gardeners, and Friends of
Pettersen Plaza has spent countless hours providing an aesthetically pleasing, event-friendly
space at the bottom of the Hill that reflects the Namesake of the Plaza, Hugh Pettersen. To date,
we have raised over $17,000 in private donations to go towards the improvements of Pettersen
Plaza. With the recent approval of Olive Street Box Culvert project, we expect some additional
private donations to complete the Pettersen Plaza project.

Many board members and CHP volunteers spend free time picking up trash and debris left
behind in highly used areas like the College Hill neighborhood. Another proud partnership we
have is with Green Iowa Americorps and TreeHouse Collaborative Campus Ministries. Through
this partnership we facilitate clean-ups. These days featured an opportunity for UNI Students to
help us clean up The Hill.

Our largest current project which will greatly improve both the appearance of College Hill and
create a new opportunity for neighborhood and community members alike is our Seerley Park
Improvement Project. Again, in partnership with the City, we are working to make Seerley Park
a more accessible, functional, and welcoming City.

As the City focuses on making park improvements citywide, we hope Seerley Park will serve as
inspiration for other projects. We have established a committee to help determine what facilities
are needed in the park. We are working with the landscape architect and the Cedar Falls
Community Foundation to select more accessible play equipment. We are also hoping to be the
first city park to offer free Wi-Fi so that students can enjoy the park while studying or attending
online classes.

The College Hill Partnership has committed to helping fundraise 15% of the total project. This is
a considerable sum of money, so the CHP has established an account at the Cedar Falls
Community Foundation. This account not only allows us to have an online platform for

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

89

Item 12.



donations, but sets us up for financial success in the future including but not limited to
endowments and corporate donations.

Usage of Economic Development Fund Monies
The College Hill Partnership was awarded the Economic Development Fund. All funds have
been allocated to aesthetic caretaking. These funds have allowed us to fill a position to help care
for the College Hill Business District. This caretaker is an excellent addition to our staff and has
kept The Hill clean. They have also helped us keep our garden beds along College Street and
West 23rd Street watered and weeded.

In-kind donations (Hours): 90 x $29.95* = $2695.50
Salary: $394.80
Beautification: $1,362.01
Total Project Cost from April 2022: $4452.31

*“The Current Estimated National Value of Each Volunteer Hour is $29.95 Updated April 2022
Volunteers in the United States hold up the foundation of civil society. They help their
neighbors, serve their communities, and provide their expertise. No matter what kind of
volunteer work they do, they are contributing in invaluable ways.” Information obtained from
https://independentsector.org/.

Usage of Community Betterment Grant Monies
The College Hill Partnership has been working closely with the College Hill Farmers
Market and serves the local community by bringing local vendors to the urban area of
College Hill. This organization has been working hard over the last six months to promote
the farmers' market and businesses and events on The Hill. The College Hill Farmers
Market relocated to W 22nd Street this year, as well as moving the event from Thursday to
Wednesday. To ease some confusion about the differences, the CHP worked with the
market to purchase additional street banners. The banners were ordered and hung on the
light poles. This project fostered a sense of place and encouraged the community to come
to The Hill and shop for local farm-fresh goods and hopefully venture into College Hill
Businesses to support local businesses.

Fostering Partnership with City of Cedar Falls
The College Hill Partnership values the working relationship with the City of Cedar Falls.
This includes but is not limited to:

● Regularly communicating with City staff
○ City staff liaison at CHP board meetings
○ Monthly meetings with Mayor Green
○ City council members at CHP board meetings
○ A volunteer representative on the Parking Tech Committee
○ Attending City Council meetings

● Working to help promote activities and important issues the City is working on
○ Parking
○ Annual City Wide Clean Up
○ Olive Street Box Culvert
○ Halloweek

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

90

Item 12.



○ Public Safety as students return to campus
○ Seerley Park Improvement

● Participating in joint media communications
○ Interviews with local press
○ Social media

5. Do you have suggestions for improvement of this grant process?

We do not have any suggestions at this time.

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

91

Item 12.



Board of Directors
2022-2023

Resident: Angela Johnson (2021-2023) – angelaj1932@gmail.com
Resident: David Grant (2022-2024) – david.grant@uni.edu
Landlord: Chris Martin (2022-2024) – christopher.martin@uni.edu
Landlord: Ryan Kreiner (2022-2024) – rkriener@msn.com
Business: Andrea Geary (2021-2023) – milkboxbakery@gmail.com
Business: Barb Schilf (2022-2024) - barb.mohairpear@gmail.com
At Large: Amanda Walter (2019-2022) – walteaae@gmail.com
At Large: Hannah Crisman (2021-2023) – hannahcrisman10@gmail.com
At Large: Rebecca Kauten (2022-2024) – rebecca-kauten@uiowa.edu
At Large: Frank Darrah (2021-2023) – wfd@cfu.net

Non-Voting Board Members
UNI Liaison: Heather Harback – heather.harbach@uni.edu
City of Cedar Falls Liaison: Karen Howard – Karen.howard@cedarfalls.com
City Council Representative: Kelly Dunn – citizens4kellydunn@outlook.com and Simon
Harding – simonharding.cf4@gmail.com
Cedar Falls Public Safety Liaison: Jeff Sitzmann – jeff.sitzmann@cedarfalls.com
Master Gardener: Vaughn Griffith – vjgriff@forbin.net
College Hill Arts Festival Liaison: Doug Johnson –doug.johnson@uni.edu
Community Main Street Liaison: Kim Bear -director@communitymainstreet.org

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

92

Item 12.



Supporting Documents

Financial Statement & Budget
See Attached Document

Total Volunteer Hours
See Attached Document

April 15, 2023 UPDATE

93

Item 12.



College Hill Partnership Budget Financial Statement

5/31/2023

Budgeted Revenue Sources
 Anticipated 
Budgeted 
Revenue 

 July August September October November December January  February  March  April  May  June  Anticipated 
Revenue Due 

 Total 
Recieved 

4010 Memberships/Donations ($ 1,500.00)   ($ -  )         ($ 23.97)      ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 25.00)      ($ 50.00)      ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 1,401.03)   ($ 98.97)        
4020 SSMID ($ 26,000.00) ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 12,674.13) ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 13,325.87) ($ 12,674.13) 
4030 Community Betterment Grant 
Funds ($ 600.00)      ($ 600.00)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )            ($ 600.00)      
4040 Economic Development 
Grant: City of Cedar Falls ($ 2,250.00)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 2,250.00)   ($ -  )            
4050 Facade Grant ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )            ($ -  )            
4060 Tree Fund ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )            ($ -  )            
4080 Pettersen Plaza Fund ($ -  )            ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 1,877.39) ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (1,877.39)  ($ 1,877.39)   
5060 Seerley Park Improvement 
Fund * ($ -  )            ($ -  )         ($ 403.07)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 116.45)    ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 519.52)      
7000 Interest Income ($ -  )            ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )            ($ -  )            
Other ($ 23.97)      ($ 235.01)   ($ 258.98)      
Total Revenue ($ 30,350.00) ($ 600.00)   ($ 427.04)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 12,674.13) ($ 1,993.84) ($ 48.97)      ($ 285.01)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ 15,099.51) ($ 16,028.99) 

Expenses  Budgeted 
Amount  July August September October November December January  February  March  April  May  June  Total 

Expenses 
 Total 

Available or 
Deficiency 

5025 Administrative Expenses ($ 500.00)      ($ (112.85)   ($ (91.20)    ($ (252.20)  ($ (96.20)    ($ (96.20)    ($ (180.58)  ($ (248.69)  ($ (91.20)    ($ (283.78)  ($ (1,452.90)  ($ (952.90)     
5015 Insurance ($ 1,500.00)   ($ 28.00)      ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (309.00)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (598.00)  ($ (879.00)     ($ 621.00)      
5030 Salaries ($ 2,000.00)   ($ (166.23)  ($ (277.05)  ($ (187.01)  ($ (48.48)    ($ (83.11)    ($ (69.27)    ($ (55.41)    ($ (886.56)     ($ 1,113.44)   
5031 Taxes ($ 2,000.00)   ($ (40.16)    ($ (45.90)    ($ (39.02)    ($ (13.78)    ($ (138.86)     ($ 1,861.14)   
5045 Economic Development 
Committee ($ 1,000.00)   ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )            ($ 1,000.00)   
5065 Beautification Committee ($ 1,000.00)   ($ (861.31)  ($ -  )         ($ (500.70)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (1,362.01)  ($ (362.01)     
5050 Strategic Partnerships 
Committee ($ 400.00)      ($ (146.14)  ($ (738.18)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (884.32)     ($ (484.32)     
5070 Farmers Market ($ 700.00)      ($ (548.38)  ($ -  )         ($ (151.87)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (700.25)     ($ (0.25)         
5060 Neighborhood Engagement 
Committee ($ 5,000.00)   ($ (399.96)  ($ (1,701.50) ($ (27.78)    ($ (134.16)  ($ -  )         ($ (225.00)  ($ (45.00)    ($ (16.06)    ($ -  )         ($ (2,549.46)  ($ 2,450.54)   
5075 Communication & 
Recruitment Committee ($ 2,000.00)   ($ (1,532.24) ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (701.00)  ($ (567.50)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (2,800.74)  ($ (800.74)     
5090 General Fund ($ 10,000.00) ($ (500.00)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (500.00)     ($ 9,500.00)   
Total Expenses ($ 26,100.00) ($ (4,092.97) ($ (2,256.05) ($ (512.89)  ($ (1,240.41) ($ (956.51)  ($ (263.63)  ($ (1,174.69) ($ (703.70)  ($ (953.25)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ (12,154.10) ($ 13,945.90) 

Balance (Income vs. Expenses) ($ 4,250.00)   ($ (3,492.97) ($ (1,829.01) ($ (512.89)  ($ (1,240.41) ($ (956.51)  ($ 12,410.50) ($ 819.15)   ($ (654.73)  ($ (668.24)  ($ -  )         ($ -  )         ($ -  )         
Check Accounts Ending Balance ($ 54,999.12) ($ 51,506.15) $49,677.14 $49,164.25 $47,923.84 ($ 46,967.33) $59,377.83 $60,196.98 ($ 59,542.25) ($ 58,874.01)

Date of Balance 6/27/2022 7/27/2022 8/31/2022 9/30/2022 10/31/2022 11/28/2022 12/29/2022 1/31/2023 2/24/2023 3/31/2023

Earmarked Funds 
4080 Pettersen Plaza Fund 
balance $1,877.39
4060 Tree Fund
4050 Facade Fund Balance ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) ($ 2,250.00) 

94

Item 12.



CHP Volunteer Hours November 22 - March 23
Opportunity Date Number of People Number of Hours Total Hours
Social Hour Event 11/3 4 3 12
City Council Meeting 11/7 1 2 2
CMS Meeting 11/9 1 1 1
Communications Committee 11/9 4 2 8
Board Meeting 11/16 11 1 11
Meeting with CFCF 11/29 1 1 1
Visiting Sick Neighbors 12/18 2 1 2
City Council Work Session 12/19 1 2 2
Economic Development Meeting 1/5 4 1 4
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 1/10 1 1 1
City Council Work Session 1/17 1 2 2
Meeting with Mayor Green 1/18 1 1 1
Board Meeting 1/18 11 1 11
Meeting with CFCF 1/24 2 1 2
Communications Committee 1/24 4 1 4
Strategic Partnerships Committee Meeting 2/1 3 1 3
Seerley Park Committee 2/6 7 1 7
Strategic Partnerships Committee Meeting 1/9 3 1 3
Communications Committee 2/13 1 1 1
Meeting with Mayor Green 2/15 1 1 1
Board Meeting 2/15 10 1 10
Beautification Meeting 2/18 4 1 4
Meeting with CFCF 3/9 2 1 2
Meeting with Mayor Green 3/22 1 1 1
Communications Committee 3/23 1 1 1
Strategic Partnerships Committee Meeting 3/30 2 1 2
Admin Hours November - April 1 40 40

Total Hours 139

95

Item 12.



BEFORE THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

IN RE:       ORDER ACCEPTING 

Baba Fareed LLC d/b/a Great Wall China  ACKNOWLEDGMENT/ 

2125 College Street, Suite D    SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 ON this ______ day of _______________, 202__, in lieu of a public hearing on 

the matter, the Cedar Falls City Council approves the attached Acknowledgment/ 

Settlement Agreement between the above-captioned permittee and the City of Cedar 

Falls. 

 Pursuant to the Agreement, IT IS THERFORE ORDERED that  a civil penalty 

of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) or  a thirty (30) day cigarette 

permit suspension be assessed against the above-captioned permittee effective 

______________, 2023 [Future Date].  This sanction will count as a second violation of 

Iowa Code Section 453A.2(1), pursuant to Iowa Code Section 453A.22(2)(b). 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

      City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

 

96

Item 13.



97

Item 13.



98

Item 13.



99

Item 13.



100

Item 13.



101

Item 13.



102

Item 14.



103

Item 14.



104

Item 14.



105

Item 14.



106

Item 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  June 12, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would prohibit 
these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol- renewal. 

c) George’s Local, 108 E. 4th Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – renewal. 

d) Mulligan's Brick Oven Grill & Pub, 205 East 18th Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

e) Starbeck’s Smokehouse, 6607 University Ave, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – renewal. 

f) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

g) Target, 214 Viking Plaza Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

h) Walgreens, 2509 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol – change in ownership. 

i) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class F retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary expansion of outdoor 
service area. 

j) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class F retail alcohol & outdoor service – temporary 
expansion of outdoor service. 

k) Deringer’s Public Parlor, 6027 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 5-day 
permit. 

l) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

m) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

n) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class B retail alcohol – new. 

o) Cooper’s Taproom, 2002 College Street, Class C retail alcohol – new. 
 

107

Item 15.



RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 

RESOLUTION RESCINDING CFD 1127.22, 
COUNCIL POLICY – OFFICIAL CITY PROCLAMATIONS 

 
 

       WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, adopted Resolution 

No. 23,000 on December 19, 2022, approving CFD 1127.22, City Council Policy on 

Official City Proclamations; and 

       WHEREAS, CFD 1127.22 provides in part that proclamation requests shall be 

considered for Council approval as part of the regular Council meeting consent 

calendar; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that there are better avenues for 

recognition and announcements related to important civic and cultural events affecting 

the City of Cedar Falls than consideration and approval by Council of proclamations 

during Council meetings; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has determined therefore that it should not be 

involved in the proclamation process, nor should it approve or disapprove requested 

proclamations. 

       NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       CFPD 1127.22, Council Policy – Official City Proclamations, should be and is 

hereby fully rescinded and shall be of no further force or effect as of the date of 

adoption of this Resolution as stated herein.  

       ADOPTED this _____ day of ________________________, 2023. 

 

 

        __________________________ 
        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
                                                                                                        
_______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

108

Item 17.



109

Item 18.



110

Item 18.



111

Item 18.



112

Item 18.



113

Item 18.



114

Item 18.



115

Item 18.



116

Item 18.



117

Item 18.



118

Item 18.



119

Item 18.



120

Item 18.



121

Item 18.



122

Item 18.



123

Item 18.



124

Item 18.



125

Item 18.



126

Item 18.



127

Item 18.



128

Item 18.



129

Item 18.



130

Item 18.



131

Item 18.



132

Item 18.



133

Item 18.



134

Item 18.



135

Item 18.



136

Item 18.



137

Item 18.



138

Item 18.



139

Item 18.



140

Item 18.



141

Item 18.



142

Item 18.



143

Item 18.



144

Item 18.



145

Item 18.



146

Item 18.



147

Item 18.



148

Item 18.



149

Item 18.



150

Item 18.



151

Item 18.



152

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: June 6, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Sewer Fund Internal Loans – Amended Interest Rate 

 
Attached are five resolutions amending the interest rate on the internal loans to the 
Sewer Fund from 1.50% to 2.70%.  Due to the current higher interest rate market, staff 
reviewed the interest rates on the City’s internal loans.  The City’s bond financial advisor 
noted that in comparing to sewer revenue bonds that have been sold on the market with 
a similar rating from Moody’s and similar maturity dates, rates range from 2.62%-2.79%.  
Based on this information, it seemed appropriate that the City should increase the 
interest rate on the internal loans from the Capital Projects Fund and the Health Trust 
Fund to be consistent with a true market rate. Therefore we are recommending 
adjusting the rate on the loans from 1.50% to 2.70% 
  
As additional information, when the City sold bonds in 2022, the interest rate on the 
bonds was 2.83% so comparable to the 2.70%.   
 
If you have questions regarding the resolutions, please feel free to contact me.   

153

Item 19.



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING AN INTER-FUND LOAN 
FROM THE CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

TO THE SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, was in 

need of funds to assist in completing the disinfection project at the treatment facility in 

accordance with EPA standards and the Bluff Street Lift Station; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council passed Resolution No. 18,074 on May 29, 2012 

approving a loan agreement with the Capital Projects Fund of the City of Cedar Falls for 

an amount not to exceed Four Million, Three Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($4,300,000.00) to meet these requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the outstanding balance of the loan as of June 1, 2023 is One 

Million, Nine Hundred, and Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($1,935,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, the original resolution stated that the interest rate may be adjusted 

annually based on current market rates and the rate was adjusted in 2016, 2018, and 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in light of prevailing interest rates, the City Council believes that the 

interest rate on the loan agreement should be amended from its current rate of 1.50%; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering interest rates available on long-term loans or 

bonds from other sources, without the additional cost of issuing new revenue debt, the 

City Council as owner of the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls has 

determined that a loan from the Capital Projects Fund of the City of Cedar Falls at the 

rate of 2.70% per annum is favorable and in the best interest of said Fund;  

 

 

 
154

Item 19.



NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the interest rate on the loan agreement be amended to 2.70% per annum, 

effective June 1, 2023, is hereby approved and authorized in accordance with the 

criteria stated above; and  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms of the loan repayment set forth in 

the original resolution, excluding the amended interest rate, are hereby approved to 

continue.  

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June 2023. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                   Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

155

Item 19.



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING AN INTER-FUND LOAN 
FROM THE HEALTH TRUST FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

TO THE SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, was in 

need of funds to assist in completing the disinfection project at the treatment facility in 

accordance with EPA standards; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council passed Resolution No. 18,075 on May 29, 2012 

approving a loan agreement with the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls for an 

amount not to exceed Three Million, Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,900,000.00) to 

meet these requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the outstanding balance of the loan as of June 1, 2023 is One 

Million, Seven Hundred, and Fifty-Five Thousand Dollars ($1,755,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, the original resolution stated that the interest rate may be adjusted 

annually based on current market rates and the rate was adjusted in 2016, 2018, and 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in light of prevailing interest rates, the City Council believes that the 

interest rate on the loan agreement should be amended from its current rate of 1.50%; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering interest rates available on long-term loans or 

bonds from other sources, without the additional cost of issuing new revenue debt, the 

City Council as owner of the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls has 

determined that a loan from the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls at the rate 

of 2.70% per annum is favorable and in the best interest of said Fund;  

 

 

 
156

Item 20.



NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the interest rate on the loan agreement be amended to 2.70% per annum, 

effective June 1, 2023, is hereby approved and authorized in accordance with the 

criteria stated above; and  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms of the loan repayment set forth in 

the original resolution, excluding the amended interest rate, are hereby approved to 

continue.  

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June 2023. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

157

Item 20.



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING AN INTER-FUND LOAN 
FROM THE HEALTH TRUST FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

TO THE SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, was in 

need of funds to assist in completing the disinfection project at the treatment facility in 

accordance with EPA standards; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council passed Resolution No. 18,359 on November 26, 

2012 approving a loan agreement with the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls 

for an amount not to exceed Three Million, Dollars ($3,000,000.00) to meet these 

requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the current outstanding balance of the loan as of June 1, 2023 is 

One Million, Three Hundred, and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($1,350,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, the original resolution stated that the interest rate may be adjusted 

annually based on current market rates and the rate was adjusted in 2016, 2018, and 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in light of prevailing interest rates, the City Council believes that the 

interest rate on the loan agreement should be amended from its current rate of 1.50%; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering interest rates available on long-term loans or 

bonds from other sources, without the additional cost of issuing new revenue debt, the 

City Council as owner of the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls has 

determined that a loan from the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls at the rate 

of 2.70% per annum is favorable and in the best interest of said Fund;  

 

 

 
158

Item 21.



NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the interest rate on the loan agreement be amended to 2.70% per annum, 

effective June 1, 2023, is hereby approved and authorized in accordance with the 

criteria stated above; and  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms of the loan repayment set forth in 

the original resolution, excluding the amended interest rate, are hereby approved to 

continue.  

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June 2023. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                   Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

159

Item 21.



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING AN INTER-FUND LOAN 
FROM THE HEALTH TRUST FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

TO THE SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, was in 

need of funds to assist in completing the disinfection project at the treatment facility in 

accordance with EPA standards; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council passed Resolution No. 18,734 on August 12, 2013 

approving a loan agreement with the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls for an 

amount not to exceed Four Million, Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,700,000.00) 

to meet these requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the current outstanding balance of the loan as of June 1, 2023 is 

Two Million, Three Hundred, and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, the original resolution stated that the interest rate may be adjusted 

annually based on current market rates and the rate was adjusted in 2016, 2018, and 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in light of prevailing interest rates, the City Council believes that the 

interest rate on the loan agreement should be amended from its current rate of 1.50%; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering interest rates available on long-term loans or 

bonds from other sources, without the additional cost of issuing new revenue debt, the 

City Council as owner of the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls has 

determined that a loan from the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls at the rate 

of 2.70% per annum is favorable and in the best interest of said Fund;  

 

 

 
160

Item 22.



NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the interest rate on the loan agreement be amended to 2.70% per annum, 

effective June 1, 2023, is hereby approved and authorized in accordance with the 

criteria stated above; and  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms of the loan repayment set forth in 

the original resolution, excluding the amended interest rate, are hereby approved to 

continue.  

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June 2023. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                   Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

161

Item 22.



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING AN INTER-FUND LOAN 
FROM THE HEALTH TRUST FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

TO THE SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, was in 

need of funds to assist in completing the disinfection project at the treatment facility in 

accordance with EPA standards, the Bluff Street Lift Station, and the Park Drive Lift 

Station; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council passed Resolution No. 19,623 on July 20, 2015 

approving a loan agreement with the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls for an 

amount not to exceed One Million, Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,200,000.00) to 

meet these requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the current outstanding balance of the loan as of June 1, 2023 is 

Seven Hundred and Twenty Thousand Dollars ($720,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, the original resolution stated that the interest rate may be adjusted 

annually based on current market rates and the rate was adjusted in 2016, 2018, and 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in light of prevailing interest rates, the City Council believes that the 

interest rate on the loan agreement should be amended from its current rate of 1.50%; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering interest rates available on long-term loans or 

bonds from other sources, without the additional cost of issuing new revenue debt, the 

City Council as owner of the Sewer Enterprise Fund of the City of Cedar Falls has 

determined that a loan from the Health Trust Fund of the City of Cedar Falls at the rate 

of 2.70% per annum is favorable and in the best interest of said Fund;  

 

 
162

Item 23.



 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the interest rate on the loan agreement be amended to 2.70% per annum, 

effective June 1, 2023, is hereby approved and authorized in accordance with the 

criteria stated above; and  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms of the loan repayment set forth in 

the original resolution, excluding the amended interest rate, are hereby approved to 

continue.  

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June 2023. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                   Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

163

Item 23.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: June 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT:  FY2024 Payroll Resolution 

 
Please find attached the following items that cover the period from June 24, 2023 to 
July 5, 2024: 

 FY2024 Payroll Resolution 

 FY2024 Pay Plan and Pay Grade Schedules 

 FY2024 Workshop/Session/Event/Seasonal Pay Plan 

 The pay schedules for the union groups   
 
The payroll resolution implements the 3.00% across the board increase for the second 
year of the 5-year contract as negotiated with the Parks/Public Works Union and the 
.50/hour adjustment for each step plus 3.5% across the board increase for the second 
year of the 5-year contract as negotiated with the Police/Public Safety Union.   
 
The resolution also implements the merit awards for the non-union group.  These 
increases are based on a pool that is equivalent to the weighted average of the 
bargaining groups, each employee’s performance evaluation, their respective pay band 
classification, and the merit increase adjustment recommended by Carlson Dettman. 
The pay bands were adjusted by 3.5% which is consistent with the information provided 
to us by Carlson Dettman.    Lastly, the resolution also authorizes the pay for the Paid-
On-Call (POC’s) not covered under union contract.    

 
 

 
 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 

164

Item 24.



165

Item 24.



166

Item 24.



167

Item 24.



168

Item 24.



169

Item 24.



170

Item 24.



171

Item 24.



172

Item 24.



173

Item 24.



174

Item 24.



175

Item 24.



176

Item 24.



177

Item 24.



178

Item 24.



179

Item 24.



180

Item 24.



181

Item 24.



182

Item 24.



183

Item 24.



184

Item 24.



185

Item 24.



186

Item 24.



187

Item 24.



188

Item 24.



189

Item 24.



190

Item 24.



191

Item 24.



192

Item 24.



193

Item 24.



194

Item 24.



195

Item 24.



196

Item 24.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Bailey Schindel, Human Resources Manager 

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY24 Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield Health Plan                                            
  Administrative Services Agreement 
 

Attached for your approval is the health plan Administrative Services Agreement for FY24 
with Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield. Wellmark is proposing a 3.1% increase per 
plan member per month to their total Administrative Fee which consists of a Medical 
Administrative Fee, Pharmacy Coordination Fee, and Network Access Fee. City staff 
recommends approval. If you have questions regarding the attached, please contact me 
at 268-5531 or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 
Attachment 
 

197

Item 25.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Agreement Effective Date:  July 1, 2023 
 
Form Number: IA WBCBSI LG SF – Custom 06/01/23 Version: 09/22 
 

 
 
 

A D M I N I S T R A T I V E  S E R V I C E S  A G R E E M E N T  
 
 
 
 
 

WELLMARK BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF IOWA 
 
 

and 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
 

198

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 1 Version: 09/22 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered 
into effective as of the first day of July, 2023 ("Effective Date"), by and between Wellmark, Inc., 
doing business as Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa, an Iowa mutual insurance 
company, (herein “Wellmark”), and City of Cedar Falls, an Iowa public entity with its principal 
location in Iowa (herein “Account”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
1. Account is the plan sponsor and plan administrator of a self-funded group health plan 

within the meaning of and in accordance with applicable federal or state law for its common 
law employees and other eligible individuals and this Agreement is issued to Account as 
the "group policyholder". 

 
2. The group health plan is sponsored, funded and designed by Account. Account wishes to 

enter into a financial arrangement with Wellmark under which Account is solely 
responsible for the Claims Paid for Covered Services provided to its Members. Wellmark 
does not assume any financial risk or obligation with respect to the Claims Paid for 
Covered Services provided to Members of the Plan. 

 
3. Account desires that Wellmark provide administrative services for its self-funded group 

health plan and Wellmark agrees to provide such services subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth herein. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1 
AGREEMENT DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1 “Accountable Care Organization” or “ACO” means a group of health care providers who 

agree to deliver coordinated care and meet performance benchmarks for quality and 
affordability to manage the total cost of care for their member populations. 

 
1.2 “Administrative Fee” means the amount per Plan Member that Wellmark charges the 

Account for Administrative Services and which includes allocations for Wellmark’s cost of 
administering the Plan, general operating costs, and profit margin. The monthly 
Administrative Fee is shown on Exhibit “A”, Administrative Fees, Network Access Fees, 
Other Fees, attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference. 

 
1.3 “Administrative Services” means those services to be performed by Wellmark for 

Account or for the Plan under this Agreement, as specifically described in Article 3 of this 
Agreement. Administrative Services expressly exclude any services for the administration 
of continuation health coverage under the plan pursuant to COBRA or similar applicable 
law, except as may be specified in a COBRA Administrative Services Agreement or 
Addendum. 

 
1.4 “Affordable Care Act” or “ACA” means the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 

enacted March 23, 2010, and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, as 
amended, (collectively, “ACA”), including implementing regulations. 

199

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 2 Version: 09/22 

 
1.5 “Agreement” means this Administrative Services Agreement, including all Exhibits, 

Benefits Document(s), amendments, Plan Member enrollment form(s), and any COBRA 
Administrative Services Agreement or Addendum. This Agreement also incorporates by 
this reference the terms of the HIPAA Business Associate Agreement entered into 
between Wellmark and the Plan. 

 
1.6 “Amounts Not Covered” means the amounts that are the liability of the Member under 

the Plan. These include charges for services that are not covered by the Plan, charges for 
services that are determined to be not medically necessary, reductions in benefits for the 
Member's failure to follow the Plan's notification requirements, and charges for services 
that have reached a Plan maximum. Amounts Not Covered does not include amounts that 
are the responsibility of a health care provider in accordance with the terms of the 
provider’s services contract with Wellmark. 

 
1.7 “Benefits Document” means the written document(s) available to Members that describe 

and define the terms, benefits, and limitations of the Plan and may be titled Benefits 
Certificate, Coverage Manual, or something similar. Account may at its option incorporate 
the Benefits Document into its ERISA Summary Plan Description.  

 
1.8 “Care Coordinator Fee” means a fixed amount paid by a Host Blue to providers 

periodically for Care Coordination under a Value-Based Program. “Care Coordination” is 
organized, information-driven patient care activities intended to facilitate the appropriate 
responses to a Member’s health care needs across the continuum of care. 

 
1.9 “Claims Paid” means the dollar amount of Wellmark’s payment on behalf of the Account 

for Incurred Claims. 
 
1.10 “COBRA” means the group health coverage continuation provisions of the Consolidated 

Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, including implementing 
regulations and similar state or federal laws. 

 
1.11 “Confidential Information” means all non-public confidential or proprietary information, 

in any form, delivered or made available or otherwise accessed, collected, processed, 
stored, or transmitted (whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise) by one party or 
its affiliates, directors, officers, employees and agents (the “Disclosing Party”) to the 
other party, its affiliates, directors, officers, employees and agents (the “Receiving 
Party”). Confidential Information shall include, but not be limited to, Member information 
(including names, addresses and Social Security numbers), Protected Health Information, 
personally identifiable information, medical records, Plan claims data, payment data, and 
Wellmark Confidential Information. Confidential Information shall not include information 
which (a), at the time of disclosure, is available to the general public; (b) becomes at a 
later date available to the general public through no fault of Receiving Party and then only 
after such later date; (c) Receiving Party can demonstrate was in its possession before 
receipt from Disclosing Party; (d) Receiving Party can demonstrate was independently 
developed; or (e) is disclosed to Receiving Party without restriction on disclosure by a third 
party who has the lawful right to disclose such information. 

 
1.12 “Covered Charges” means the dollar amount a health care provider bills a Member or 

Wellmark for Covered Services in accordance with the terms of the Benefits Document. 
 

200

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 3 Version: 09/22 

1.13 “Covered Services” means the medically necessary health care services provided to a 
Member as described in and covered by the applicable Benefits Document. 

 
1.14 “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, 

including implementing regulations. 
 
1.15 “Global Payment/Total Cost of Care” means a payment methodology that is defined at 

the patient level and accounts for either all patient care or for a specific group of services 
delivered to the patient such as outpatient, physician, ancillary, hospital services, and 
prescription drugs. 

 
1.16 “Grandfathered Health Plan” or “Non-Grandfathered Health Plan” mean the same as 

such terms are used in the ACA. 
 
1.17 “Health Services” means educational and informational care management services 

Wellmark may provide to Members designed to encourage Members’ good health and 
help them make better health care decisions. Health Services are not clinical services. 
These services may include, but are not limited to, BeWell 24/7, pregnancy support, care 
management, or other programs. 

 
1.18 “HIPAA” means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as 

amended, including implementing regulations. 
 
1.19 “Host Blue” means the local Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield plan or licensee in a 

geographic area outside of the Wellmark service area. 
 
1.20 “Incurred Claims” means claims for payment of health care services that are provided to 

Members pursuant to the Plan with a date of service during the Rating Period. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Incurred Claims shall not include any claims for payment 
of health care services for which Account has separately negotiated coverage and/or 
payment arrangements directly with providers, unless Wellmark has agreed to and is a 
party to such coverage/payment arrangement. 

 
1.21 “Incurred Date” means the date health care services are provided to Members. With 

regard to inpatient hospital or facility services, the date of the Member's admission to the 
facility is considered as the Incurred Date. 

 
1.22 “Maximum Allowable Fee” means a dollar amount Wellmark establishes using various 

methodologies for Covered Services and supplies. For medical services, this amount is 
developed from various sources, such as charges billed for the same service or supply by 
most health care providers within Iowa, economic indicators, or relative value indices 
developed or approved by Wellmark, and is based on the simplicity or complexity of the 
service provided. For medical services received outside of Iowa or South Dakota, the 
Maximum Allowable Fee is either determined in accordance with the section of this 
Agreement entitled Out-of-Area Services or is the amount as described in the preceding 
sentence. 

 
For all dental procedures covered under this Agreement, the fee schedule is developed 
based on Wellmark’s contracts with dentists, input from its dental consultants, and the 
charges billed for the same procedure by dentists in Iowa. 

 

201

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 4 Version: 09/22 

1.23 “Member” means a person, including a Plan Member’s spouse or eligible dependent 
children, who is eligible and enrolled to receive health benefits under the terms of the Plan 
as determined and identified by Account. 

 
1.24 “Network Access Fee” means the amount charged to Account to gain the collective 

advantages of the network of providers with which Wellmark, a Host Blue, or any 
subcontractor of either, has contracted for the provision of Covered Services. The fee is a 
monthly amount as shown on Exhibit “A”, and may include funding for provider incentives. 
There shall be no Network Access Fee for dental benefits. A portion of the Network Access 
Fee may include an allocation for administrative expenses above the Administrative Fee. 

 
1.25 “Network Savings” means the amount saved due to payment arrangements between 

Wellmark or a Host Blue and health care providers. It is generally calculated as the 
difference between the Covered Charge and the Maximum Allowable Fee. This result is 
then added to any other reductions in the liability to a provider pursuant to a contract 
between Wellmark and the provider, including, but not limited to, reductions for failure to 
satisfy any notification requirements and medical necessity determinations. If the amount 
paid to a provider on any claim exceeds the Covered Charges, the Network Savings may 
be reflected as a negative dollar amount on Account’s bill. 

 
1.26 “Patient-Centered Medical Home” or “PCMH” means a model of care in which each 

patient has an ongoing relationship with a primary care physician who coordinates a team 
to take collective responsibility for patient care and, when appropriate, arranges for care 
with other qualified physicians. 

 
1.27 “Plan” means the group health plan or plans established, sponsored and maintained by 

Account, the terms of which are described in the applicable Benefits Document. 
 
1.28 “Plan Member” means a common law employee or other individual identified by Account 

as a person eligible and enrolled to receive health benefits under the Plan subject to the 
terms, conditions, and limitations described in the Plan documents and who is the 
applicant on a completed enrollment form that has been provided to and accepted by 
Wellmark. 

 
1.29 “Plan Year” means the year designated by the plan sponsor as the plan year in the plan 

document or as set forth on Exhibit “A”. 
 
1.30 “Protected Health Information” or “PHI” means the same as the term “protected health 

information” in 45 CFR §160.103. 
 
1.31 “Provider Incentive” means an additional amount of compensation paid to a health care 

provider, based on the provider’s compliance with agreed-upon procedural and/or 
outcome measures for a particular population of covered persons. 

 
1.32 “Rating Period” means the period of time set forth on Exhibit “A” or the most recent 

revision to Exhibit “A”. 
 
1.33 “Shared Savings” means a payment mechanism in which the provider and payer share 

cost savings achieved against a target cost budget based upon agreed upon terms and 
may include downside risk. 

 

202

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 5 Version: 09/22 

1.34 “Value-Based Program” means an outcomes-based payment arrangement and/or a 
coordinated care model facilitated with one or more local providers that is evaluated 
against cost and quality metrics/factors and is reflected in provider payment. 

 
1.35 “Wellmark Confidential Information” means any information with respect to Wellmark’s 

systems, procedures, methodologies and practices used by Wellmark in connection with 
claims processing, claims payment or utilization management, together with the fees, 
terms, payment arrangements, discounts with providers, and related information, as well 
as any strategic and competitively sensitive information and trade secrets, policies, 
procedures, and processes of Wellmark, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and its 
licensees. 

 
 

ARTICLE 2 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF ACCOUNT 

 
2.1 Group Health Plan Compliance. Account is the plan administrator and plan sponsor of 

the Plan for purposes of this Agreement and applicable law, and is responsible for group 
health plan design, eligibility, and compliance. Account will exercise its responsibilities in 
the time required by law and has full responsibility for all of the following: 

 
a. Maintaining the Plan, determining Plan design, and funding payment of Claims 

Paid; 
 

b. Determining eligibility criteria for Members subject to certain Wellmark enrollment 
guidelines, including the requirements for locations or Members located outside of 
Iowa; Account is responsible for enrolling and canceling individuals in the Plan in 
accordance with such criteria and agrees to terminate coverage promptly for 
ineligible individuals; 

 
c. Designating the Plan Year for the Plan; 

 
d. Complying with all applicable laws, reporting and disclosure requirements related 

to this Agreement and applicable to Account as sponsor of a group health plan, 
including compliance with any applicable non-discrimination laws in connection 
with the plan, including but not limited to the following: furnishing Members with 
Plan documents or notices as may be required by law, including the summary of 
benefits and coverage (“SBC”), any notice of material modification, employer 
notice of the availability of coverage options under the health insurance 
marketplace, and applicable HIPAA notices relating to health coverage portability 
such as the Special Enrollment Notice. Account will also: (i) make available to 
Members on request the uniform glossary of insurance-related terms; (ii) comply 
with any applicable non-discrimination laws in the design and administration of the 
Plan; and (iii) furnish all notices and fulfill all requirements with regard to COBRA 
continuation coverage for the Plan, except to the extent any COBRA administration 
requirements have been expressly delegated to and agreed upon with Wellmark 
in a COBRA Administrative Services Agreement or Addendum;  

 
e. Reviewing and approving promptly templates or drafts of Benefits Document(s) 

reflecting the Plan design, eligibility and benefit information Account provides to 
Wellmark. Account is responsible for reviewing the draft Benefits Document(s) 

203

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 6 Version: 09/22 

promptly, typically within thirty (30) days of receiving the draft document(s), and 
determining to Account’s satisfaction that the document(s) meet all of Account’s 
legal and business obligations and advising Wellmark of any necessary revisions 
or approval. The absence of Account’s express timely approval of any Benefits 
Document(s) provided by Wellmark will be considered Account’s approval that the 
draft documents are consistent with benefit information provided by Account, and 
Wellmark will administer the benefits in accordance with the proposed documents. 
Once in final form, Account will make the Benefits Document(s) available to Plan 
Members; 

 
f. Making final determinations regarding claims, claims internal appeals, or claims 

exceptions, except to the extent expressly delegated to, and accepted by, 
Wellmark in Sections 3.1 and 3.6 of this Agreement; 

 
g. Providing to Wellmark written notice of benefit selections, limitations, and 

exclusions, changes in the benefits at renewal, or material modifications at any 
time during the Rating Period. Account shall provide such notice(s) in the time and 
manner required by Wellmark to fulfill the issuance of SBCs, preparation of 
Benefits Document templates, or the issuance of other required notices within the 
time required by law; 

 
h. If the coverage of any Member is terminated retroactively, Account represents that 

it either has not collected any premium contribution from the retroactively 
terminated Member, or has refunded any premium contribution to the retroactively 
terminated Member, for the period following the effective date of the termination; 

 
i. Payment of any state premium tax, use tax, or similar tax, or any similar benefit or 

Plan-related charge, tax, surcharge or assessment, however denominated, that 
may be assessed on the Plan or related to the administration of the Plan, including 
any penalties and interest payable with respect thereto; 

 
j. Compliance with any income and employment tax withholding, depositing, and 

reporting obligations (including state or federal income tax withholding, FICA tax 
withholding, employer, FUTA taxes, and Form W-2 wage reporting) applicable to 
rewards incentives or value-added benefits that may be provided under this 
employer-sponsored group health plan to Members covered under the Plan. 
Account is responsible for including the value of any such incentives or value-
added benefits as reported by Wellmark to Account in the applicable employees’ 
wages for federal or state income tax, employment tax, and Form W-2 reporting 
purposes; 

 
k. Account shall maintain a process for external review of final internal adverse 

benefit determinations as required by ACA, except to the extent expressly 
delegated to, and accepted by, Wellmark in this Agreement; and 

 
l. Calculating, reporting, and payment of any fees and assessments, however 

denominated, required for all group health plans under ACA. 
 
2.2 Enrollment Information; Social Security Number Reporting; Information 

Requirements. Account agrees to furnish Wellmark with reports, data, and information, 
including but not limited to, eligibility, enrollment information, physical home address, and 

204

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 7 Version: 09/22 

Social Security number for each Member, benefit selection or benefit changes for the Plan, 
claims history, and information necessary for the administration of the Plan. Account shall 
provide all such information in a time, form, format, and manner required by Wellmark and 
is responsible for the timeliness, integrity, retention, and accuracy of information and 
records provided to Wellmark. Wellmark shall be entitled to rely upon such information in 
determining any person’s rights to benefits under the Plan, in making required filings with 
state or federal government agencies, and in discharging its responsibilities under this 
Agreement. Account recognizes that its timely, accurate, and complete reporting of the 
information set forth in this section is necessary for Wellmark to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement and that should reporting be inaccurate, untimely, or incomplete, 
Wellmark shall be excused from the performance of the Administrative Services affected 
by such inaccuracy or delay. 

 
Account shall provide Wellmark with eligibility or enrollment information in a standard 
medium and layout using Wellmark’s proprietary format, the HIPAA ANSI 834 standard 
format, or an application such as BluesEnroll, unless the parties agree in writing to a non-
standard format or application. Account acknowledges that it may be responsible for 
additional fees if it uses a non-standard format or if Wellmark is required to perform a 
comparison study of the full eligibility file. 

 
2.3 Account Representation Regarding Eligibility; Notice of Persons Eligible for 

Coverage; Changes in Eligibility. Account represents to Wellmark that the terms of any 
eligibility criteria, conditions, and/or waiting period imposed under the Plan are, and shall 
be for so long as this Agreement is in effect, in compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations, including specifically, the prohibition on excessive waiting periods. Account 
shall enroll persons eligible for coverage in the Plan in advance of each person’s effective 
date of coverage and shall provide Wellmark with each person’s name, Plan selection, 
Social Security number, and other required identifying information. Account shall provide 
all initial enrollment information in advance of the Effective Date of this Agreement. As 
new persons become eligible, or as eligibility changes occur, including any special 
enrollment events that require a person to be offered coverage or changed to a different 
enrollment status such as COBRA, Account shall provide Wellmark with updated required 
information as such changes occur. Account shall provide Wellmark with enrollment 
updates no less often than weekly and in advance of the effective date of the change if 
possible. No requested eligibility, enrollment or coverage change shall be effective any 
earlier than three (3) months prior to the date Wellmark receives the required notice from 
Account. 

 
2.4 Notice of Persons Terminated or No Longer Eligible for Coverage; Account’s 

Liability for Claims Paid. Account shall notify Wellmark of any person’s termination or 
ineligibility for coverage under the Plan in advance of the effective date of the change if 
possible, but in no event no later than three (3) months following the requested date of 
coverage termination. No requested coverage termination shall be effective any earlier 
than three (3) months prior to the date Wellmark receives the required notice from 
Account. If Incurred Claims prior to the date Wellmark is notified of the coverage 
termination have been paid and are not or cannot be recouped, Account shall be 
responsible for the Claims Paid prior to the date Wellmark is notified of the coverage 
termination. 

 
2.5 Medicare Secondary Payer (“MSP”). Federal law mandates coordination of health care 

benefits in certain instances where a Member is covered under both a group health plan 

205

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 8 Version: 09/22 

and Medicare. Proper coordination of benefits in this context depends on obtaining and 
maintaining accurate and timely information regarding such dual health coverage. 
Pursuant to contract and applicable law, Wellmark provides information to Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) regarding such dual health coverage for 
Members and Account’s enrollment on a quarterly or more frequent basis. 

 
Account is solely responsible for compliance with MSP laws and other requirements and 
shall gather and timely provide information to Wellmark regarding Account’s size and 
status and Employer Identification Number (“EIN”)(s), or concerning the Medicare 
enrollment of Members, Plan enrollment, and related information (including, without 
limitation, Member Social Security numbers), or such other information as requested by 
Wellmark for inclusion on the Confirmation of MSP form submissions and other 
disclosures. Wellmark shall use all such information provided by Account to properly 
coordinate medical and pharmacy benefits administered by Wellmark or a Wellmark-
contracted vendor on behalf of Account with Medicare as required by law. In the event 
Account does not timely provide such information to Wellmark, Account shall be solely 
responsible for its non-compliance with MSP laws and other requirements, including, 
without limitation, any damages, losses, taxes, interest charges, and administrative 
penalties (including, without limitation, any civil money penalties) that may be assessed 
or otherwise result in connection therewith (including, without limitation, any claims by 
Members, providers or other claimants), and mistaken payments to CMS on behalf of 
Medicare enrolled Members. Wellmark will not coordinate with Medicare with respect to 
benefits that are administered by a third-party vendor other than Wellmark or a Wellmark-
contracted vendor, and Account is solely responsible for coordinating benefits 
administered by such outside services vendor(s) with Medicare as required by law. 

 
2.6 Stop Loss Insurance Coverage. Account is solely responsible for the Claims Paid for 

Members of the Plan. Account may at its option separately purchase stop loss insurance 
coverage, which shall be reflected in a separate policy. If Account purchases stop loss 
insurance coverage from a carrier other than Wellmark, Inc., Account shall advise 
Wellmark of the terms of such coverage and Account shall be solely responsible for all 
reporting, submission of claims, payment of premiums, and any other obligation required 
by its stop loss policy with the other carrier. If Account purchases stop loss insurance 
coverage from a carrier other than Wellmark, Inc., Account is also solely responsible for 
ensuring that such stop loss coverage is consistent with Account’s benefits documents 
and Wellmark’s administration thereof. Upon request Wellmark will provide Account with 
standard stop loss reports necessary for Account to file stop loss insurance claims with its 
stop loss carrier. 

 
2.7 Outside Services Vendor(s) to the Plan. If Account arranges for health plan 

administration services for the Plan from vendor(s) other than Wellmark or a Wellmark-
contracted vendor, such as, for example, pharmacy benefits management services or 
telehealth management services, Account shall be responsible for compliance with laws, 
the accuracy and submission of reports, claims data reporting, payments, and for any 
other obligation required by its vendor agreements. If Account requires its vendor to submit 
claims for Covered Services to Wellmark, such vendor shall also enter into an agreement 
with Wellmark that requires vendor to comply with Wellmark’s claims procedures. If 
Account or the Plan requires coordination or health plan accumulations between its third 
party vendor's administration and the health plan administration provided by Wellmark, 
Account shall be responsible for providing Wellmark with all enrollment information and 

206

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 9 Version: 09/22 

claims or payment data reasonably necessary for Wellmark to provide Administrative 
Services under this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 3 

WELLMARK’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3.1 Determination of Claims; Administrative Services. During the Term of this Agreement 

and subject to Account’s payment to Wellmark, when due, of the charges for Claims Paid 
and other fees specified in this Agreement, Wellmark shall provide Administrative Services 
as specified in this section as follows: 

 
a. Wellmark shall provide Account with a written draft of Benefits Document(s) with 

the plan design and Member eligibility criteria information determined by Account 
and communicated to Wellmark, for Account’s review and approval as required by 
Section 2.1(e), setting forth the benefits, terms and conditions of the Plan; 

 
b. Wellmark shall provide access to a network(s) of health care providers and shall 

make information about the network and network providers available to Members; 
 

c. Wellmark shall prepare, print, and deliver identification cards to Plan Members; 
 

d. Wellmark will perform its Administrative Services specified in this Agreement in 
compliance with applicable laws, including, but not limited to, compliance with 
retention of records, and compliance with applicable provisions on non-
discrimination in health plan administration; 

 
e. Wellmark shall make available to Account forms of ACA or HIPAA required notices, 

including the summary of benefits and coverage (“SBC”) and applicable HIPAA 
notices relating to health coverage portability such as the Special Enrollment 
Notice. Wellmark shall make available the uniform glossary of insurance-related 
terms; 

 
f. Subject to Section 6.1(c), Wellmark shall administer benefits and process Incurred 

Claims for health care services furnished Members in accordance with the terms, 
limitations and conditions set forth in the Plan, the Benefits Document(s), this 
Agreement, applicable laws and regulations, the terms of the applicable provider 
agreements, and the claims administration and medical policies of Wellmark, all of 
which may be revised from time to time. Processing of claims may include payment 
by Wellmark on behalf of Account; reporting of benefits to providers or Members, 
coordination of benefits, participation in the negotiation and Independent Dispute 
Resolution process under the federal No Surprises Act on behalf of Account and 
in consultation with Account where Wellmark recommends a higher offer amount 
on a claim in IDR than the initial payment amount, and may include monitoring, 
detection, investigation, and recovery (including recovery based on extrapolation 
of claims) of potentially wasteful, abusive or fraudulent Incurred Claims submitted 
by providers or Members. Processing of claims may require, from time to time, and 
as Wellmark determines is necessary and appropriate, the adjustment of 
previously paid or denied claims resulting in either recovery of Claims Paid or 
additional payment of benefits. Adjustments to processed claims are generally not 
initiated by Wellmark more than eighteen (18) months after the Incurred Claim was 
first processed. If a Claim Paid adjustment results in a recovery of a prior payment, 

207

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 10 Version: 09/22 

Wellmark shall credit Account for such adjustments to the extent of the amount 
recovered. Notwithstanding the preceding three sentences and except as provided 
in Sections 2.3 and 2.4 of this Agreement, Wellmark shall not be required to 
reprocess claims as a result of any changes made to information relating to a 
Member or the Member's benefits unless (i) in addition to submitting changes to 
Wellmark, Account expressly requests in writing that Wellmark reprocess specific 
Member claims; and (ii) such reprocessing does not extend beyond eighteen (18) 
months prior to the date Wellmark receives Account's request; 

 
g. Wellmark shall maintain a single-level internal appeal procedure for Members to 

appeal adverse benefit determinations in accordance with the requirements of the 
Plan and applicable law. Wellmark shall also maintain a procedure for processing 
external review requests of final internal adverse benefit determinations with 
appropriate independent review organizations (“IROs”), pursuant to the 
requirements of the Plan and applicable law. All fees and costs for external review 
billed by IROs will be billed to Account in the amounts billed by the IRO; and 

 
h. To the extent that Account has delegated discretionary authority to Wellmark, 

Wellmark shall exercise its discretion to make determinations in connection with 
the administration of this Agreement and the Plan including, without limitation, 
determinations regarding whether health care services are medically necessary in 
accordance with Plan terms or whether charges for health care services are 
reasonable. Wellmark shall make determinations that are not arbitrary or 
capricious and such determinations shall be final and conclusive to the extent 
permitted by this Agreement, the terms of the Benefits Document, any direction 
given by Account, and by law. 

 
3.2 Health Services. Wellmark may, at its sole discretion, offer or arrange for various 

proprietary Health Services to be available to Members or purchased by Account for its 
Members. Such services that may be offered include those services, if any, specifically 
selected or purchased by Account for a fee as shown on Exhibit “A” attached to this 
Agreement. Health Services and their content are proprietary to Wellmark or its vendors, 
and may not be duplicated, modified or used for the benefit of any third party. Account 
does not have any right, title or interest in or to the Health Services or the intellectual 
property underlying such Health Services. Wellmark reserves the right to change, replace, 
or discontinue Health Services from time to time without notice or amendment of this 
Agreement. 

 
3.3 Value-Added Services; Identity Protection. Wellmark, at its sole discretion, may offer 

or arrange for value-added services or benefits for Account and its Members, including, 
for example, Member Identity Protection services from a third-party vendor. Identity 
Protection services are offered at no additional charge to Account or Members. Account 
may at its option accept or reject Identity Protection services for its Members. 

 
3.4 IRS Form 1095-C Reporting. At the written request of Account, Wellmark will provide 

certain coverage information for purposes of Account’s Form 1095-C reporting to the 
Internal Revenue Service. Wellmark does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
the information provided, and expressly disclaims any liability for any penalties or costs 
that may be incurred due to alleged or actual inaccuracy or incompleteness, including but 
not limited to information reporting or other penalties that may be imposed if such 
information is relied upon or used in conjunction with any tax or other regulatory filing. 

208

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 11 Version: 09/22 

Wellmark does not provide federal or state legal or tax advice, and does not prepare or 
otherwise assist in preparing, in any way, any federal or state tax returns or reports on 
behalf of its customers, including but not limited to IRS Form 1095-C. Account assumes 
all liability in connection with the preparation of such documents and has the responsibility 
to consult with its own legal or tax advisors for information or assistance. 

 
3.5 Third Party Liability Recovery Services. Wellmark shall provide Account with 

subrogation and third-party liability recovery services for Claims Paid while this Agreement 
is in force, and for a period of twelve (12) months following termination of the Agreement. 
Wellmark has no obligation to initiate subrogation or third-party liability recovery services 
after the twelve (12) month run-out period described in Section 8.6. Following such run-
out period, Wellmark will forward any open recovery file information to Account upon 
request, if Account has not purchased stop loss insurance coverage applicable to the 
Claims Paid from Wellmark, Inc. 

 
 The nature and extent of efforts to pursue subrogation and third-party liability recovery are 

within the sole discretion of Wellmark. Such recovery services may include all steps 
necessary to recover Claims Paid that may be found to be the liability of a third party or 
other insurance carrier. The Account shall be responsible for all fees or costs, including 
the fees and costs of any third party utilized by Wellmark to perform third-party liability 
recovery services, incurred in the recovery process, with those costs and fees first paid 
from any funds recovered and the net amount only credited to Account’s Claims Paid 
amounts. The fees for Wellmark’s primary vendor providing third-party liability recovery 
services are described on Exhibit “A” to this Agreement. Account acknowledges that its 
stop loss carrier, if applicable, has priority of any recovery in the event the Claims Paid 
exceed the stop loss attachment or deductible level and there is insufficient recovery to 
reimburse the stop loss carrier and Account in full. Account shall accept any such 
recoveries as negotiated by Wellmark as payment in full and the determination of the 
recovery amount is within the sole discretion of Wellmark. 

 
In the event retention of counsel is necessary to pursue recovery, Account shall be 
responsible for all attorney's fees. Wellmark has sole discretion with regard to the choice 
of counsel to pursue third-party liability recovery. Wellmark may choose to allow a 
Member’s counsel to represent the Account’s recovery interest. However, if the fee 
charged for collection of the recovery interest by legal counsel retained by the Member 
exceeds the prevalent fees for such services, Wellmark shall not authorize pursuit or 
settlement of the claim by said Member’s attorney or payment of that attorney’s fee without 
Account’s written authorization. Further, if in the opinion of Wellmark, recovery of funds 
shall not offset the costs associated with such recovery, or recovery of the funds is not 
otherwise practicable, Wellmark shall inform the Account in writing of its opinion. 
Thereafter, unless the Account directs otherwise, Wellmark shall not further pursue the 
claim. In the event Account directs Wellmark to pursue Account’s interest notwithstanding 
Wellmark’s notice to Account of its opinion that the recovery shall not offset the involved 
costs, Account shall be responsible for all attorney’s fees and costs incurred by Wellmark 
to pursue recovery, including the reasonable cost of Wellmark’s staff time as determined 
by Wellmark. 

 
Wellmark does not guarantee the recovery of funds and nothing in this section or 
Agreement obligates Wellmark to participate in or initiate any third-party liability recovery 
efforts or litigation to recover Claims Paid. 

 

209

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 12 Version: 09/22 

3.6 Discretionary Authority. Wellmark is delegated the authority to determine claims for 
benefits and to determine internal appeals of adverse benefit determinations of Members, 
provided such determinations are consistent with the terms of the Plan as provided by 
Account, this Agreement, the applicable Benefits Document, and applicable law, unless 
otherwise directed in writing by the Account. In making decisions regarding claims for 
benefits and appeals of denied claims, Wellmark shall have discretionary authority only to 
the limited extent necessary to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and to 
determine whether a claim is properly payable under the Plan. Notwithstanding anything 
in this Agreement to the contrary, Account shall have full responsibility for Plan design, for 
making any and all determinations whether an individual has satisfied the Account's 
requirements to be an eligible Member, and for making any determination regarding an 
individual’s eligibility for continued coverage pursuant to COBRA. 

 
ARTICLE 4 

BILLING AND PAYMENT 
 
4.1 Billing; Account’s Payment to Wellmark. Account authorizes Wellmark and Wellmark 

agrees to process Incurred Claims as received, subject to the limitations, conditions, and 
exclusions stated in the Benefits Document. 

 
Wellmark shall bill Account for Claims Paid, Network Access Fee, Administrative Fee, and 
other fees, based on the billing and payment method and fees set forth on Exhibit “A”, 
attached to this Agreement. Any adjustments in fees due to membership or eligibility 
changes shall be reflected on the billing for the month in which the membership or eligibility 
change is made. Adjustments to Network Access Fee, Administrative Fee, and other fees, 
billed on a per Plan Member or per Member basis, shall be limited to a period of three (3) 
months prior to the date Wellmark processes the Member eligibility change. Wellmark 
shall provide a bill to Account that shows the amounts due and, if applicable, the amounts 
of any weekly payments received by Wellmark and other credits during the preceding 
month. Account shall promptly pay Wellmark at Wellmark’s office, the total amount due, 
no later than the due date on the bill. Such payment may be made by wire transfer, 
electronic (ebilling) payment, or automatic funds withdrawal. If Account elects automatic 
funds withdrawal, it shall execute the necessary authorization. 

 
If Account elects to authorize automatic funds withdrawal from a deposit account, the 
automatic withdrawal will change to correspond with the applicable billing, including 
applicable taxes or fees. Account’s authorization for automatic funds withdrawal shall 
include authorization for automatic withdrawal of any changed amount unless Account 
calls or provides its bank with written notice not less than three (3) business days before 
a scheduled withdrawal to stop the payment. If Account calls its bank to stop payment, 
Account may be required to provide a written request within fourteen (14) days after the 
call. Account will be responsible for any fee assessed by its bank for stop-payment orders 
made by Account. 

 
4.2 Late Payments; Interest Charge. All payments from Account to Wellmark must be paid 

on time and when due in accordance with Section 4.1. If the Account fails to make 
payments in full when due, Wellmark may in its discretion do any or all of the following: 
impose interest or late fees; setoff late payments from other amounts that may be due to 
Account under the Agreement; stop the payment of all Incurred Claims for Members, 
regardless of the Incurred Date; require an alternative billing and payment method; or 
require an alternative financial arrangement. Payments not made when due shall include 

210

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 13 Version: 09/22 

an interest charge on the outstanding amount from the due date until payment is made in 
full at the then current prime rate as published in the Midwest edition of The Wall Street 
Journal plus two percent (2%) per annum. The acceptance by Wellmark of any late 
payments or partial payments shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this 
Agreement. If Account fails to make payments when due for two or more consecutive 
months, Wellmark may impose additional late fees of up to eighteen percent (18%) per 
annum. 

 
ARTICLE 5 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; REPORTING; EXAMINATION OF RECORDS 
 
5.1 Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information and Protected Health Information. 

The rights and responsibilities of the parties and permitted uses and disclosures with 
respect to Protected Health Information shall be set forth in the separately executed 
Business Associate Agreement. If Account desires access to a Member’s mental health 
information, Account shall file an applicable statement with the Iowa Insurance Division or 
have its employees or agents sign a statement indicating awareness that Members’ 
mental health information shall not be used or disclosed, except in accordance with the 
provisions of Iowa Code Section 228.7. If Account utilizes third-party vendors to provide 
any administrative services to the Plan and directs Wellmark to provide or exchange any 
Confidential Information or PHI with such vendors, Account agrees to the following 
additional provisions: (a) Account represents it has the legally required business associate 
and data security agreements in place with such third-party vendors, and (b) Account 
agrees that third party must enter into a confidentiality and data use agreement with 
Wellmark, which identifies the purpose for which the Wellmark Confidential Information is 
disclosed, limits the use and disclosure of that data to the specific purpose stated in the 
data use agreement, and requires third party to return or remove the Wellmark 
Confidential Information from third-party’s systems or database when Account’s 
relationship with Wellmark terminates or when Account’s relationship with third-party 
vendor terminates. 

 
5.2 Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information. 
 

a. Subject to the terms of the Business Associate Agreement and Section 5.1 and as 
permitted by applicable law, the Receiving Party will: (i) not disclose Confidential 
Information to any third party that is not an agent, consultant or business associate 
to Receiving Party without the written authorization of the Disclosing Party; (ii) 
restrict disclosure of Confidential Information only to those employees, agents or 
consultants who have a need to know the Confidential Information for purposes 
related to this Agreement or the administration of the Plan and who are bound by 
confidentiality terms substantially similar to those in this Agreement; (iii) use the 
same degree of care as for its own information of like importance, but at least use 
reasonable care, in safeguarding against disclosure of Confidential Information; 
and (iv) without unreasonable delay and in accordance with applicable law notify 
the Disclosing Party of any unauthorized use or disclosure of the Confidential 
Information and take reasonable steps to regain possession of the Confidential 
Information and prevent further unauthorized actions or other breach of this 
Agreement. 

 
b. If the Receiving Party is required to disclose Confidential Information pursuant to 

applicable law, statute, or regulation, or court order, for a purpose other than 

211

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 14 Version: 09/22 

contemplated in this Agreement, the Receiving Party will give to the Disclosing 
Party prompt written notice of the request and a reasonable opportunity to object 
to such disclosure and seek a protective order or appropriate remedy. If, in the 
absence of a protective order, the Receiving Party determines, upon the advice of 
counsel, that it is required to disclose such information, it may disclose only 
Confidential Information specifically required and only to the extent compelled to 
do so. 

 
c. All Confidential Information remains the property of the Disclosing Party and will 

not be copied or reproduced without the express written permission of the 
Disclosing Party, except for copies that are necessary to fulfill the confidentiality 
obligations contained in this Agreement, to render the services under this 
Agreement, or as otherwise allowed under the Business Associate Agreement or 
applicable law. A party may retain Confidential Information when obligated to do 
so as a matter of law, and may also retain any Protected Health Information as set 
forth in the Business Associate Agreement. 

 
d. Wellmark Confidential Information that is released by Wellmark to Account or to a 

third-party at Account’s request may only be used strictly for the purpose of claims 
administration or Account Servicing, which is defined as Account-specific reporting 
and analytics, benchmarking, development of benefit designs, Wellmark 
performance/experience, pre-sales/retention, and audits. Account, and/or third 
party, as recipients of Wellmark Confidential Information, are prohibited from 
reselling Wellmark Confidential Information. To the extent Wellmark Confidential 
Information is disclosed in an aggregated format to Account and/or its third party, 
Account and third party are prohibited from de-aggregating the data to identify 
Wellmark, the Account and/or individual Members. Wellmark Confidential 
Information disclosed to Account and/or third party shall be limited to the minimum 
necessary information to fulfill the purpose for which it is being disclosed. Wellmark 
Confidential Information shall not be comingled by Account or third party with data 
from other sources. Wellmark may audit the Account or third party to ensure 
compliance with the limitations on data use and disclosure that are set forth in this 
section. Account or third party shall return or securely destroy the Wellmark 
Confidential Information it receives upon conclusion of the purpose for which it was 
disclosed. 

 
5.3 Wellmark’s Right to Use Confidential Information. Wellmark shall have the right to de-

identify or remove direct identifiers from the Confidential Information so that it no longer 
constitutes Protected Health Information, and so that such Confidential Information is no 
longer identifiable with respect to Account, and to aggregate such de-identified 
Confidential Information for any purpose whatsoever; provided that such use is in 
accordance with all applicable laws, including but not limited to HIPAA. Such Confidential 
Information, after it is de-identified or limited pursuant to HIPAA, shall no longer be subject 
to Section 5.2 and shall thereafter be Wellmark’s property.  

 
5.4 Right to Examine Records; Audit. Wellmark or its authorized representative may at its 

own expense examine or audit the financial, enrollment, eligibility, and claims records of 
Account reasonably related to the administration of this Agreement, as reasonably often 
as Wellmark deems appropriate, to reconcile eligibility and enrollment information and 
records, to determine whether Account can make the payments required by this 
Agreement, or to determine payment of benefits under the Plan. Such examination if at 

212

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 15 Version: 09/22 

Account’s location, shall be conducted during regular business hours, upon reasonable 
advance written notice. The examination period will be limited to information relating to the 
most recent twenty-four (24) months only, if applicable. Upon completion of the 
examination, Wellmark shall share its examination findings with Account and conduct an 
exit conference with Account. Any third party conducting such audit on Wellmark's behalf 
must agree in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Business Associate 
Agreement between Account and Wellmark. 

 
Account's third-party authorized representative or auditor may, at Account's own expense, 
examine Wellmark’s records reasonably and necessarily related to Wellmark’s discharge 
of its responsibilities under this Agreement no more frequently than once annually. 
Account shall provide Wellmark with written authorization specifying the Account or Plan 
information that Wellmark may disclose to the auditor and Account represents that it will 
have entered into a business associate agreement with its auditor prior to the date of 
requesting disclosure of Confidential Information. The auditor must be acceptable to 
Wellmark, must not compete directly or indirectly with Wellmark, and must execute a non-
disclosure agreement with Wellmark prior to receiving any Protected Health Information 
or Wellmark Confidential Information. Such examination shall be conducted during regular 
business hours, upon advance written notice reasonable under the circumstances and 
shall include the following Wellmark records: claims records (but not including individually 
identifiable sensitive diagnosis information unless Account specifically authorizes such 
disclosure), third-party explanations of health care benefits, enrollment records, and 
coordination of benefits procedures. Any other audit or examination request must be 
coordinated with Wellmark. The examination period will be limited to information relating 
to the most recent twenty-four (24) months only, notwithstanding the period for claim 
adjustments as may be specified in Section 3.1. Upon completion of the examination, 
Account shall share its examination findings with Wellmark and conduct an exit conference 
with Wellmark. Audits conducted by auditors or consultants compensated on a 
contingency fee basis are not permitted by Wellmark as such compensation arrangements 
are not consistent with professional auditing standards. Such standards consider these 
compensation arrangements to impair the auditor's or consultant's independence and 
objectivity. Audit scope, methodology, and procedure under this Agreement will conform 
to generally accepted professional auditing standards, including statistically valid random 
sample (as applicable) or other acceptable audit technique as reasonably agreed to by 
Wellmark. 

 
5.5 Website Access and Reporting. Wellmark may provide Account while this Agreement is 

in force with secured access to Wellmark’s website, web-based applications, or other 
electronic databases with respect to the Plan and Members for the purpose of Plan 
administration and health care operations, reporting, billing, or for self-service. Web-based 
applications or databases with Member and Plan specific Confidential Information may be 
hosted or supported by third parties on Wellmark's behalf. If Account or a third party acting 
on Account's behalf accesses such websites or information, Account is subject to and 
agrees to all of the terms and conditions, including the confidentiality requirements of this 
Agreement, and security restrictions and user requirements as established by Wellmark 
with respect to such access, as such terms are set forth in a data use agreement and in 
the applicable Terms and Conditions posted at Wellmark's website (Wellmark.com). 

 
5.6 Survival. Any obligations of either party to the other under this Article of the Agreement 

survive any termination of this Agreement. 
 

213

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 16 Version: 09/22 

ARTICLE 6 
PROVIDER PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS; LAWSUIT RECOVERIES; VALUE-BASED 

PROGRAMS; DISCLOSURE OF COMPENSATION 
 
6.1 Provider Payment Arrangements. Wellmark will be responsible for negotiating and 

entering into separate payment arrangements with health care providers. Such provider 
payment arrangements and agreements shall apply to services by such providers for all 
Members entitled to benefits under plans insured or administered by Wellmark, including 
Members under this Plan. 

 
Wellmark shall determine, in its sole discretion, the payment arrangements with health 
care providers including, without limitation, the Maximum Allowable Fees for Incurred 
Claims. Without limiting the foregoing, Wellmark may compensate providers pursuant to 
a variety of payment arrangements, including the following: 

 
a. Fee for service arrangements, including, without limitation, per diem and percent 

of charge arrangements; 
 

b. Fixed fee or other payment methodology that is based on pre-determined criteria; 
or 

 
c. Episode of care arrangements under which payment is based on a pre-established 

rate for a health care encounter, including, without limitation, a hospital stay or 
outpatient visit. In the event such an arrangement is utilized, consistent with the 
methodology established by Wellmark for such arrangement, Wellmark is not 
required to impose cost share responsibility on Members for each Covered Service 
Members receive. An episode of care arrangement payment may cover both 
Covered Services and non-Covered Services that are incidental to the Covered 
Services. 

 
6.2 Network Savings Allocations. Any Network Savings amounts allocated to the Account 

shall be reflected in the amount of Claims Paid. Based on Wellmark’s payment 
arrangements with health care providers, and in accordance with Section 6.1, the amount 
paid on an individual claim may be more or less than the Covered Charge minus any 
applicable Amounts Not Covered, deductible, copayment, and coinsurance amounts. If 
the amount paid to a provider on any claim exceeds the Covered Charge, the Network 
Savings is reflected as a negative dollar amount. Any Network Savings amounts allocated 
to Plan Members shall be reflected in the calculation of coinsurance, where applicable. 
The calculation of coinsurance depends on the type and location of the services provided 
and the contracting status of the health care provider. The calculation of coinsurance is 
further described in the applicable Benefits Document. 

 
6.3 Non-Contracting or Non-Network Providers. If the applicable Benefits Document 

provides benefits for Covered Services rendered by health care providers that have not 
contracted with Wellmark or another Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plan (“Non-Contracting 
Providers”), Members may be liable to Non-Contracting Providers for any difference 
between the Covered Charges and the Maximum Allowable Fee and Members are 
responsible for paying the provider in full, except to the extent prohibited by applicable 
law, including the federal No Surprises Act. 

 

214

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 17 Version: 09/22 

6.4 Lawsuit Recoveries. From time to time, Wellmark, Account, or Plan may receive notice 
of a pending or potential lawsuit being pursued by another entity (including, without 
limitation, a class action lawsuit) that seeks recovery of health care claims expenses on 
behalf of one or more group health plans or payers and that may include Wellmark, 
Account, or the Plan as a potential party or potential class member (a “Lawsuit”). 
Wellmark shall not participate in such a Lawsuit on behalf of Account or the Plan unless 
Wellmark and Account enter into a separate written agreement relating to participation, 
recovery, and expenses in such Lawsuit. Wellmark has no duty to notify Account or Plan 
of Wellmark’s receipt of any notices in connection with any Lawsuit and each party is free 
to make its own determination whether to initiate or participate in any Lawsuit on its own 
behalf. 

 
6.5 Value-Based Programs. Wellmark or Host Blues may enter into collaborative 

arrangements with Value-Based Programs under which the health care organizations 
participating in such programs are eligible for financial incentives relating to quality and 
cost-effective care of Wellmark members. Identifiable Data regarding Account's Members 
may be included in information Wellmark or Host Blues provide to Value-Based Programs 
and used by the Value-Based Program and its providers. Regardless whether Account 
elects to participate in the Value-Based Program, known as Total Care, Account’s 
Members may access Covered Services from providers that participate in a Host Blue’s 
Value-Based Program as described in Section 9.3, Special Cases: Value-Based 
Programs. If Account has elected to participate in the Value-Based Program, a separate 
Value-Based Program Exhibit is attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this 
reference. 

 
6.6 Disclosure of Compensation. Wellmark shall comply with Department of Labor 

requirements regarding the disclosure of compensation received from all sources in 
connection with this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 7 

LIABILITY OF THE PARTIES 
 
7.1 Account’s Responsibility for Claims Paid. Account is solely responsible for all Claims 

Paid for its Members, including, without limitation, an individual added or deleted as a 
result of a retroactive eligibility change, or any Claims Paid at Account’s direction to 
Wellmark to make payment regardless of Plan limitations or exclusions. Wellmark 
provides Administrative Services and network access only and does not assume any 
financial risk or obligation with respect to claims, including, without limitation, any Claims 
Paid. Wellmark has no obligation to pay Incurred Claims if Account fails to pay or 
reimburse Wellmark timely in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

 
7.2 No Duty to Defend. Wellmark shall have no duty or obligation to defend against any action 

or proceeding brought against Account or the Plan to recover a claim for benefits. 
Wellmark shall, however, make available to Account and its counsel, such evidence 
relevant to such action or proceeding as Wellmark may have as a result of its 
administration of the contested benefit determination. 

 
7.3 Account’s Liability. Except as otherwise explicitly provided in this Agreement, Account 

shall accept the tender of defense and have the liability for all Plan benefit claims and all 
expenses incident to the Plan, and agrees to release, hold harmless, and indemnify 
Wellmark and its employees, officers, and directors against any and all amounts, 

215

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 18 Version: 09/22 

expenses, losses, liability, claims, lawsuits, injuries, damages, taxes, interest charges, 
administrative penalties, and other costs or obligations, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees and court costs, for which Wellmark may become liable: 

 
a. due to any state premium tax, use tax, or similar tax, or any similar benefit or plan-

related charge, surcharge or assessment, federal tax, excise tax, or fee imposed 
on group health plans or plan sponsors under ACA, however denominated, 
including any penalties and interest payable with respect thereto, assessed against 
Wellmark on the basis of and/or measured by the amount of Plan benefits 
administered by Wellmark pursuant to this Agreement; 

 
b. due to any action or proceeding brought by a Member or a third party to recover 

benefits under the Plan; 
 

c. due to any action or proceeding brought by a Member or a third party alleging 
Wellmark provided significant assistance to Account to aid or perpetuate any 
discrimination activity; 

 
d. due to a release of Confidential Information to Account, the Plan, or a third party 

at Account’s direction or arising out of any alleged improper use of Confidential 
Information by Account or such third party; 

 
e. due to Account’s failure to timely provide requested information to Wellmark for 

inclusion on the Confirmation of MSP form submissions and other disclosures that 
relate to Account’s size and status, EIN(s), the Medicare enrollment of Members, 
Account enrollment, and related information (including, without limitation, Member 
Social Security numbers), or such other information requested by Wellmark 
resulting in processing of claims not in compliance with MSP laws and other 
requirements in accordance with Section 2.5; 

 
f. due to Account’s failure to comply with applicable law relating to issuing or failing 

to issue the required notices in accordance with Section 2.1(d); 
 

g. due to Account’s failure or delay in providing accurate reports, data, and 
information regarding eligibility, enrollment, and Social Security numbers for each 
Member, benefit selection, limitations, exclusions, or benefit changes for the Plan, 
claims history, and other information necessary for Wellmark to administer the 
terms, coordination of benefits, limitations, and exclusions contained in the Plan; 

 
h. due to the Account’s or its employees’ or agents’ negligence or material breach of 

their obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent that any such losses 
are caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Wellmark; 

 
i. arising from any other acts or omissions of Account that constitute a material 

breach of an obligation hereunder or which, in the aggregate, constitute a failure 
on the part of Account to perform its obligations under this Agreement in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; or 

 
j. due to or arising out of Wellmark’s adherence with any direction from Account or 

decision made by Account with regard to the Plan design, benefits, or eligibility 

216

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 19 Version: 09/22 

provisions in the Benefits Document, or the Administrative Services provided under 
this Agreement. 

 
7.4 Selection of Counsel. In the event litigation is instituted by a Member or third party 

against the Account and/or Wellmark concerning any matter under the Plan, including a 
suit for Plan benefits, each party to this Agreement shall, to the extent possible, advise 
the other of the legal action, and shall have sole authority to select legal counsel of its 
choice. 

 
7.5 Wellmark’s Liability. In performing its obligations under this Agreement, Wellmark shall 

use reasonable diligence and that degree of skill and judgment possessed by one 
experienced in furnishing claim administration services to group health plans of similar 
size and characteristics as the Plan. Wellmark agrees to release, hold harmless, and 
indemnify Account and its employees, officers, and directors against any and all amounts, 
expenses, losses, liability, claims, lawsuits, injuries, damages, taxes, interest charges, 
administrative penalties, and other costs or obligations, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees and court costs, for which Account may become liable: 

 
a. arising from any acts or omission of Wellmark which constitute a material breach 

of an obligation hereunder or which, in the aggregate, constitute a failure on the 
part of Wellmark to perform its obligations under this Agreement in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement; and 

 
b. arising from any allegation of a breach of confidentiality arising out of the release 

of Confidential Information to Wellmark or a third party at Wellmark’s direction or 
arising out of any improper use of Confidential Information by Wellmark or such 
third party. 

 
7.6 Disclaimer of Warranties; Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET 

FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, WELLMARK DOES NOT MAKE AND HEREBY 
DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, INCLUDING IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS 
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, REGARDING ANY OF THE SERVICES WELLMARK 
PROVIDES OR ARRANGES TO PROVIDE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. IN NO EVENT 
SHALL ANY PARTY BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
PUNITIVE, OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, LOSS OF DATA OR LOST PROFITS, EVEN IF 
THAT PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THE 
FOREGOING LIMITATION OF LIABILITY REPRESENTS THE ALLOCATION OF RISK 
BETWEEN THE PARTIES AS REFLECTED IN THE PRICING HEREUNDER AND IS AN 
ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN BETWEEN THE PARTIES.  

 
THE HEALTH SERVICES ARE EDUCATIONAL AND INFORMATIONAL TOOLS ONLY 
AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE CLINICAL SERVICES. HEALTH INFORMATION 
PROVIDED BY WELLMARK OR VENDORS OR THEIR AFFILIATES IS BASED ON 
MEDICAL LITERATURE. HOWEVER, USE OF SUCH INFORMATION IS NOT 
INTENDED TO REPLACE PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL ADVICE AND CARE FROM A 
HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL. THE HEALTH INFORMATION IS INTENDED TO 
HELP PEOPLE MAKE BETTER HEALTH CARE DECISIONS AND TAKE GREATER 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR OWN HEALTH, BUT MAY NOT RESULT IN ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT OF THESE GOALS. ACCOUNT EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES AND 
AGREES THAT WELLMARK IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE RESULTS OF ITS 

217

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 20 Version: 09/22 

MEMBERS' USE OF SUCH INFORMATION INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
MEMBERS CHOOSING TO SEEK OR NOT TO SEEK PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL 
CARE, OR MEMBERS CHOOSING OR NOT CHOOSING SPECIFIC TREATMENT. 
WELLMARK DOES NOT MAKE AND HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATION 
OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE, REGARDING THE HEALTH SERVICES, THEIR ABILITY TO REDUCE 
COSTS, OR IMPROVE OUTCOMES. 

 
7.7 Grandfathered Health Plan Disclaimer. Account has the sole obligation to determine the 

status of its Plan as either a Grandfathered Health Plan or a Non-Grandfathered Health 
Plan and has advised that its Plan is Non-Grandfathered. 

 
7.8 No Nondiscrimination Testing for Health Plans. Wellmark will not determine whether 

coverage is discriminatory or otherwise in violation of nondiscrimination requirements of 
the ACA, Internal Revenue Code Section 105(h), or other applicable state or federal law. 
Wellmark also will not provide any testing for compliance with the ACA, Internal Revenue 
Code Section 105(h) nondiscrimination requirements, or other applicable state or federal 
law and will not be held liable for any penalties or other losses resulting from Account 
offering coverage in violation of any such provision. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Wellmark performs federal Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act (MHPAEA) 
financial requirement testing (“substantially all” test / “predominant” test) for group health 
plans, unless Account has notified Wellmark in writing of its opt out of such testing. 

 
7.9 Survival. The indemnities set forth in this Article, including any liability of either party to 

the other for indemnification, shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 8 
TERM AND TERMINATION 

 
8.1 Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date and 

shall continue in force for the Rating Period (the “Term”). Certain guarantees and 
programs as more fully described in the Exhibits to this Agreement may be modified or 
terminated on an earlier date as specified in the applicable Exhibit without termination of 
the entire Agreement. 

 
8.2 Renewal Terms. Upon expiration of the Term, this Agreement shall continue in force from 

year to year upon Wellmark’s receipt of written documentation of Account’s renewal in 
advance of the termination date, until replaced by a subsequently executed Agreement, 
or as amended or terminated as provided in this Agreement. Wellmark shall have the right 
to change any of the Administrative Fees or other fees for any Rating Period or any 
renewal term upon not less than thirty (30) days advance written notice. Any such changes 
shall be reflected on a revised or new Exhibit “A” issued by Wellmark, to be attached to 
this Agreement and incorporated by this reference. 

 
8.3 Termination Notice. Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving 

written notice of termination delivered to the other party at least thirty (30) days in advance 
of the effective date of termination. If Wellmark has not received Account’s documented 
intent to renew at least ten (10) business days prior to the end of the Term, the Agreement 
may not be renewed. 

 

218

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 21 Version: 09/22 

8.4 Termination for Nonpayment. Wellmark may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon 
ten (10) days written notice to Account, if Account fails to make complete payments, 
including late fees, when due in accordance with this Agreement or Wellmark determines 
that Account has inadequate funds to make payments required by this Agreement and, in 
either case, Account fails to cure such non-payments or cure the inadequacy of funds 
within the ten (10) day notice period. Account is solely responsible for notifying its Plan 
Members of the termination of this Agreement for nonpayment or for any other reason. 
Wellmark, in its sole discretion, may permit Account to reinstate this Agreement upon 
payment of a reinstatement fee and all other outstanding amounts due. 

 
8.5 Effects of Termination for Nonpayment. If Wellmark terminates this Agreement for 

nonpayment, Wellmark shall not pay on behalf of Account any Incurred Claims beyond 
the effective date of the termination and Wellmark reserves all rights to recoup any Paid 
Claims for which Account has not paid Wellmark, regardless of when services were 
received. 

 
8.6 Claims Administration Following Termination. If, following termination of this 

Agreement for reasons other than Account’s nonpayment, and either Claims Paid are 
adjusted to revise a payment amount, or Incurred Claims with Incurred Dates prior to the 
date of termination are submitted to Wellmark in the period specified in the Benefits 
Document for timely filing of claims, Wellmark shall pay these claims on behalf of Account 
in accordance with this Agreement and submit bills to Account for the payment of Claims 
Paid for a period of twelve (12) months following termination. Any credits due to Account 
for recoveries, e.g., Claims Paid adjustments or recoveries other than third party liability 
recoveries, shall be applied during this same twelve (12) month period. The bills shall 
include a Network Access Fee amount when Account makes retroactive changes to add 
a Plan Member to coverage during the Rating Period. Account shall pay all bills in 
accordance with the time and procedures set forth in Section 4.1 and in Exhibit “A”. 
Wellmark shall not, on behalf of Account, pay Incurred Claims with dates of service 
following the date of termination. Unless Account and Wellmark otherwise agree in writing, 
Wellmark shall not continue any other services for Account after the effective date of 
termination. 

 
8.7 Availability of Records. Upon written request by the Account, Wellmark will make 

available to any successor benefit services administrator, designated by the Account, 
standard reports and materials in its possession at the time of termination that are 
reasonably necessary to continue the administration of the Plan. Wellmark shall provide 
such materials in its standard format and Account shall pay a reasonable fee for such 
services. 

 
8.8 Survival. Any liability of either party to the other for amounts owed or owing under this 

Agreement, unless such amounts are de minimus, shall not be extinguished by the 
termination of this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 9 

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD DISCLOSURES AND INTER-PLAN ARRANGEMENTS 
 
9.1 Blue Cross and Blue Shield Disclosure Statement. Account on behalf of itself and its 

Members, hereby expressly acknowledges its understanding this Agreement constitutes 
a contract solely between Account and Wellmark, which is an independent corporation 
operating under licenses from the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, an association of 

219

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 22 Version: 09/22 

independent Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans (the "Association"), permitting Wellmark 
to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Service Marks in the state of Iowa, and that 
Wellmark is not contracting as the agent of the Association. Account on behalf of itself and 
its Members, further acknowledges and agrees that it has not entered into this Agreement 
based upon representations by any person other than Wellmark and that no person, entity, 
or organization other than Wellmark shall be accountable or liable to Account for any of 
Wellmark’s obligations to Account created under this Agreement. This section shall not 
create any additional obligations whatsoever on the part of Wellmark other than those 
obligations created under other provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9.2 Account Locations or Members Outside of Iowa. Account understands and agrees that 

Wellmark defines a National Account as a company headquartered and located in Iowa 
that also has employees in other states whose claims are processed through Inter-Plan 
Arrangements. If Account is headquartered in Iowa, any employees or persons associated 
with Account are eligible for coverage under the Account’s Plan, including those employed 
or working at Account locations outside Iowa. If Account is not headquartered in Iowa, 
only those employees or individuals associated with the Iowa business locations are 
eligible for coverage under the Account’s Plan, and coverage will be void for any persons 
associated with Account locations outside of Iowa. Eligibility of persons located outside of 
Iowa, or associated with Account locations outside of Iowa, is subject to applicable law 
and Association guidelines. 

 
9.3 Out-of-Area Services. Wellmark has a variety of relationships with other Blue Cross 

and/or Blue Shield Licensees referred to generally as “Inter-Plan Arrangements.” These 
Inter-Plan Arrangements operate under rules and procedures issued by the Association. 
Whenever Members access health care services outside the geographic area Wellmark 
serves, the claim for those services may be processed through one of these Inter-Plan 
Arrangements. The Inter-Plan Arrangements are described generally below. 

 
Typically, when accessing care outside the geographic area Wellmark serves, Members 
obtain care from health care providers that have a contractual agreement (“participating 
providers”) with the local Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield Licensee in that other geographic 
area (“Host Blue”). In some instances, Members may obtain care from health care 
providers in the Host Blue geographic area that do not have a contractual agreement 
(“nonparticipating providers”) with the Host Blue. Wellmark remains responsible for 
fulfilling its contractual obligations to Account and Wellmark’s payment practices in both 
instances are described below. 

 
This disclosure describes how claims are administered for Inter-Plan Arrangements and 
the fees that are charged in connection with Inter-Plan Arrangements.  

 
a. BlueCard® Program. The BlueCard® Program is an Inter-Plan Arrangement. 

Under this Arrangement, when Members access Covered Services within the 
geographic area served by a Host Blue, the Host Blue will be responsible for 
contracting and handling all interactions with its participating providers. The 
financial terms of the BlueCard® Program are described generally below. 

 
i. Member Liability Calculation Method Per Claim. Unless subject to a 

fixed dollar copayment, the calculation of the Member liability on claims for 
Covered Services processed through the BlueCard® Program will be based 
on the lower of the participating provider’s billed charges for Covered 

220

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 23 Version: 09/22 

Services or the negotiated price made available to Wellmark by the Host 
Blue. 

 
ii. Account Liability Calculation Method Per Claim. The calculation of 

Account’s liability on claims for Covered Services processed through the 
BlueCard® Program will be based on the negotiated price made available 
to Wellmark by the Host Blue under the contract between the Host Blue 
and the provider. Sometimes, this negotiated price may be greater for a 
given service or services than the billed charge in accordance with how the 
Host Blue has negotiated with its participating provider(s) for specific health 
care services. In cases where negotiated price exceeds the billed charge, 
Account may be liable for the excess amount even when the Member’s 
deductible has not been satisfied. This excess amount reflects an amount 
that may be necessary to secure (a) the provider’s participation in the 
network and/or (b) the overall discount negotiated by the Host Blue. In such 
a case, the entire contracted price is paid to the provider, even when the 
contracted price is greater than the billed charge. 

 
iii. Claims Pricing. Host Blues determine a negotiated price, which is 

reflected in the terms of each Host Blue’s provider contracts. The 
negotiated price made available to Wellmark by the Host Blue may be 
represented by one of the following: 

 
a) An actual price. An actual price is a negotiated rate of payment in 

effect at the time a claim is processed without any other increases 
or decreases; or 

 
b) An estimated price. An estimated price is a negotiated rate of 

payment in effect at the time a claim is processed, reduced or 
increased by a percentage to take into account certain payments 
negotiated with the provider and other claim- and non-claim-related 
transactions. Such transactions may include, but are not limited to, 
anti-fraud and abuse recoveries, provider refunds not applied on a 
claim-specific basis, retrospective settlements, and performance-
related bonuses or incentives; or 

 
c) An average price. An average price is a percentage of billed 

charges for Covered Services in effect at the time a claim is 
processed representing the aggregate payments negotiated by the 
Host Blue with all of its health care providers or a similar 
classification of its providers and other claim- and non-claim-related 
transactions. Such transactions may include the same ones as 
noted above for an estimated price. 

 
The Host Blue determines whether it will use an actual, estimated, or 
average price. The use of estimated or average pricing may result in a 
difference (positive or negative), between the price Account pays on a 
specific claim and the actual amount the Host Blue pays to the provider. 
However, the BlueCard® Program requires that the amount paid by the 
Member and Account is a final price; no future price adjustment will result 
in increases or decreases to the pricing of past claims.  

221

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 24 Version: 09/22 

 
In some instances federal or state laws or regulations may impose a 
surcharge, tax or other fee. If applicable, Wellmark will disclose any such 
surcharge, tax or other fee to Account, which will be Account’s liability. 

 
Any positive or negative differences in estimated or average pricing are 
accounted for through variance accounts maintained by the Host Blue and 
incorporated into future claim prices. As a result, the amounts charged to 
Account will be adjusted in a following year, as necessary, to account for 
over- or underestimation of the past years’ prices. The Host Blue will not 
receive compensation from how the estimated price or average price 
methods, described above, are calculated. Because all amounts paid are 
final, neither positive variance account amounts (funds available to be paid 
in the following year), nor negative variance amounts (the funds needed to 
be received in the following year), are due to or from Account. If Account 
terminates, Account will not receive a refund or charge from the variance 
account.  
 
Variance account balances are small amounts relative to the overall paid 
claims amounts and will be liquidated over time. The timeframe for their 
liquidation depends on variables, including, but not limited to, overall 
volume/number of claims processed and variance account balance. 
Variance account balances may earn interest. Host Blues may retain 
interest earned, if any, on funds held in variance accounts. 

 
iv. BlueCard® Program Fees and Compensation. Account understands and 

agrees to reimburse Wellmark for certain fees and compensation which 
Wellmark is obligated under the BlueCard® Program to pay to the Host 
Blues, to the Association, and/or to vendors of BlueCard® Program-related 
services. The specific BlueCard® Program fees and compensation that are 
charged to Account, if any, are set forth in Exhibit “A”. BlueCard® Program 
Fees and compensation may be revised from time to time as described in 
subsection f below. All BlueCard® Program-related fees, including any 
Access Fees paid to Host Blues, and Administrative Expense Allowance 
(“AEA”) Fees, are included in Wellmark's general Administrative Fee as set 
forth in Exhibit “A”. Wellmark has elected to not separately charge any 
Inter-Plan Arrangement-related fees to Account. 

 
b.  Special Cases: Value-Based Programs. Account’s Members may access 

Covered Services from providers that participate in Wellmark’s or a Host Blue’s 
Value-Based Program. Value-Based Programs may be delivered through the 
BlueCard® Program. These Value-Based Programs may include, but are not 
limited to, Accountable Care Organizations, Global Payment/Total Cost of Care 
arrangements, Patient Centered Medical Homes, and Shared Savings 
arrangements. 
 
i. Value-Based Programs under Wellmark and/or the BlueCard® 

Program; Program Administration. Under Value-Based Programs, 
Wellmark or a Host Blue may pay providers for reaching agreed-upon 
cost/quality goals in the following ways: retrospective settlements, Provider 
Incentives, share of target savings, Care Coordinator Fees and/or other 

222

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 25 Version: 09/22 

allowed amounts. The Host Blue may pass these provider payments to 
Wellmark, which Wellmark will pass directly on to Account as either an 
amount included in the price of the claim or an amount charged separately 
in addition to the claim. 
 
When such amounts are included in the price of the claim, the claim may 
be billed using one of the following pricing methods, as determined by the 
Host Blue: 
 
a) Actual Pricing: The charge to accounts for Value-Based Programs 

incentives/Shared Savings settlements is part of the claim. These 
charges are passed to Account via an enhanced provider fee 
schedule. 
 

b) Supplemental Factor: The charge to accounts for non-attributed 
Value-Based Programs incentives/Shared Savings settlements is a 
supplemental amount that is included in the claim as an amount 
based on a specified supplemental factor (e.g., a small percentage 
increase in the claim amount). The supplemental factor may be 
adjusted from time to time. 

 
When such amounts are billed separately from the price of the claim, they 
may be billed as follows: 
 
c) Per Member Per Month (“PMPM”) billings for Value-Based 

Programs incentives/Shared Savings settlements to accounts are 
outside of the claim system. Wellmark will pass these Host Blue 
charges (and any Wellmark Value-Based Program charges) directly 
through to Account as a separately identified amount on Account’s 
bill.  

 
 The amounts used to calculate either the supplemental factors for 

estimated pricing or PMPM billings are fixed amounts that are estimated to 
be necessary to finance the cost of a particular Value-Based Program. 
Because amounts are estimates, there may be positive or negative 
differences based on actual experience and such differences will be 
accounted for in a variance account maintained by the Host Blue (in the 
same manner as described in the BlueCard® claim pricing section above) 
until the end of the applicable Value-Based Program payment and/or 
reconciliation measurement period. The amounts needed to fund a Value-
Based Program may be changed before the end of the measurement 
period if it is determined that amounts being collected are projected to 
exceed the amount necessary to fund the programs or if they are projected 
to be insufficient to fund the program. 
 
At the end of the Value-Based Program payment and/or reconciliation 
measurement period for these arrangements, Wellmark and/or Host Blues 
will take one of the following actions: 
 

223

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 26 Version: 09/22 

a) Use any surplus in funds in the variance account to fund Value-
Based Program payments or reconciliation amounts in the next 
measurement period. 
 

b) Address any deficit in funds in the variance account through an 
adjustment to the PMPM billing amount or the reconciliation billing 
amount for the next measurement period. 

 
Wellmark and the Host Blue will not receive compensation resulting from 
how estimated, average, or PMPM price methods, described above, are 
calculated. If Account terminates, Account will not receive a refund or 
charge from the variance account. This is because any resulting surpluses 
or deficits would be eventually exhausted through prospective adjustment 
to the settlement billings in the case of Value-Based Programs. The 
measurement period for determining these surpluses or deficits may differ 
from the term of this Agreement. 
 
Variance account balances are small amounts relative to the overall paid 
claims amounts and will be liquidated over time. The timeframe for their 
liquidation depends on variables, including, but not limited to, overall 
volume/number of claims processed and variance account balance. 
Variance account balances may earn interest. Host Blues may retain 
interest earned, if any, on funds held in variance accounts. 
 
Note: Members will not bear any portion of the cost of Value-Based 
Programs except when a Host Blue uses either average pricing or actual 
pricing to pay providers under Value-Based Programs. 
 

ii. Care Coordinator Fees. Host Blues may also bill Wellmark for Care 
Coordinator Fees for provider services which Wellmark will pass on to 
Account as follows:  
 
a) PMPM billings; or 
 
b) Individual claim billings through applicable care coordination codes 

from the most current edition of either Current Procedural 
Terminology (“CPT”) published by the American Medical 
Association (“AMA”) or Healthcare Common Procedure Coding 
System (“HCPCS”) published by the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (“CMS”). 

 
As part of this Agreement, Wellmark and Account will not impose Member 
cost sharing for Care Coordinator Fees. 

 
c. Return of Overpayments. Recoveries of overpayments from a Host Blue or its 

participating providers can arise in several ways including, but not limited to, anti-
fraud and abuse recoveries, health care provider/hospital bill audits, credit balance 
audits, utilization review refunds, and unsolicited refunds. Recoveries will be 
applied in general, on either a claim-by-claim or prospective basis. If recovery 
amounts are passed on a claim-by-claim basis from a Host Blue to Wellmark they 
will be credited to Account. In some cases, the Host Blue will engage a third party 

224

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 27 Version: 09/22 

to assist in identification or collection of overpayments. The fees of such a third 
party may be charged to Account as a percentage of the recovery of its claims.  

 
d. Nonparticipating Providers Outside Wellmark’s Service Area.  

 
i. Member Liability Calculation. 

 
a) In General. When Covered Services are provided outside of 

Wellmark’s service area by nonparticipating providers, the 
amount(s) a Member pays for such services will be based on either 
the Host Blue’s nonparticipating provider local payment or the 
pricing arrangements required by applicable state law. In these 
situations, the Member may be responsible for the difference 
between the amount that the nonparticipating provider bills and the 
payment Wellmark will make for the Covered Services as set forth 
in this paragraph. Payments for out-of-network emergency services 
will be governed by applicable federal and state law. 

 
b) Exceptions. In some exception cases, Wellmark may pay claims 

from nonparticipating providers for Covered Services outside of 
Wellmark's service area based on the provider’s billed charge. This 
may occur in situations where a Member did not have reasonable 
access to a participating provider, as determined by Wellmark or by 
applicable law. In other exception cases, Wellmark may pay such 
claims based on the payment Wellmark would make if Wellmark 
were paying a nonparticipating provider for the same Covered 
Services inside of Wellmark’s service area. This may occur where 
the Host Blue’s corresponding payment would be more than 
Wellmark’s in-service area nonparticipating provider payment. 
Wellmark may choose to negotiate a payment with such a provider 
on an exception basis. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, in any of these exception situations, the 
Member may be responsible for the difference between the amount 
that the nonparticipating provider bills and the payment Wellmark 
will make for the Covered Services as set forth in this paragraph. 

 
ii. Fees and Compensation. Account understands and agrees to reimburse 

Wellmark for certain fees and compensation which Wellmark is obligated 
under applicable Inter-Plan Arrangement requirements to pay to the Host 
Blues, to the Association, and/or to vendors of Inter-Plan Arrangement-
related services. The specific fees charged to Account, if any, are set forth 
in Exhibit “A”. 

 
e. Blue Cross Blue Shield Global® Core.  

 
i. General Information. If Members are outside the United States, the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands (hereinafter: 
“BlueCard® service area”), they may be able to take advantage of the Blue 
Cross Blue Shield Global® Core when accessing Covered Services. The 
Blue Cross Blue Shield Global® Core is not served by a Host Blue.  

225

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 28 Version: 09/22 

 
Inpatient Services. In most cases, if Members contact the Blue Cross Blue 
Shield Global® Core Service Center for assistance, hospitals will not 
require Members to pay for covered inpatient services, except for their cost-
share amounts. In such cases, the hospital will submit Member claims to 
the Blue Cross Blue Shield Global® Core Service Center to initiate claims 
processing. However, if the Member paid in full at the time of service, the 
Member must submit a claim to obtain reimbursement for Covered 
Services. Members must contact Wellmark to obtain precertification 
for non-emergency inpatient services. 

 
ii. Blue Cross Blue Shield Global® Core Related Fees. Account 

understands and agrees to reimburse Wellmark for certain fees and 
compensation which Wellmark is obligated under applicable Inter-Plan 
Arrangement requirements to pay to the Host Blues, to the Association, 
and/or to vendors of Inter-Plan Arrangement-related services. The specific 
fees charged to Account under Blue Cross Blue Shield Global® Core, if 
any, are set forth in Exhibit “A”. 

 
f. Modifications or Changes to Inter-Plan Arrangement Fees or Compensation. 

Modifications or changes to Inter-Plan Arrangement fees are generally made 
effective January 1 of the calendar year but they may occur at any time during the 
year. In the case of any such modifications or changes, Wellmark shall provide 
Account with at least thirty (30) days’ advance written notice of any modification or 
change to such Inter-Plan Arrangement fees or compensation describing the 
change and the effective date thereof and Account’s right to terminate this 
Agreement without penalty by giving written notice of termination before the 
effective date of the change. If Account fails to respond to the notice and does not 
terminate this Agreement during the notice period, Account will be deemed to have 
approved the proposed changes, and Wellmark will then allow such modifications 
to become part of this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 10 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
10.1 Change of Agreement. If Account makes changes in the Plan or Benefits Document, 

Account shall give Wellmark sufficient advance notice of such changes. If Account makes 
any material changes in the Plan, or if material changes are required by law, including the 
addition or deletion of benefits, a material change in group composition or membership or 
eligibility requirements, such as a change in the number of eligible or enrolled individuals 
of ten percent (10%) or more, percentage of individuals enrolled, types of coverage 
offered, business entities covered, or offerings of other health insurers’ coverage to eligible 
individuals, Wellmark shall have the right at its option to amend this Agreement, including 
an adjustment to the financial terms shown on Exhibit “A”, or to terminate this Agreement 
in accordance with Section 8.3. 

 
10.2 Iowa Code Chapter 509A Compliance; No Actuarial Certification. Nothing contained 

in this Agreement or on Exhibit “A” shall be construed or considered to be an actuarial 
opinion or certification by Wellmark in connection with Iowa Code Chapter 509A regarding 
the adequacy of reserves, rates, or financial condition of Account or the Plan. Account is 
solely responsible for compliance with all provisions of Iowa Code Chapter 509A and 

226

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 29 Version: 09/22 

implementing regulations and, if applicable, is responsible for reporting any paid losses 
for the Account’s self-funded operation of the Plan, as required by Iowa Code Section 
513C.10, and for paying any assessment related to those paid losses. 

 
10.3 Use of Trademarks and Names. Wellmark and Account reserve the right to control the 

use of their respective corporate names and any other respective symbols, assumed 
names, trademarks, and service marks, presently existing or subsequently established. 
Wellmark and Account agree not to use the corporate name, symbol, assumed names, 
trademarks, or service marks of the other in advertising, promotional materials, or 
otherwise without the prior written consent of the other. Any previously approved usage 
shall cease immediately upon the termination of this Agreement and any materials using 
such names or marks are the property of the appropriate namesake and shall be returned 
to the appropriate property owner upon request or at the termination of this Agreement. 

 
10.4 Complete Agreement; Amendments. The parties agree that this Agreement, including, 

without limitation, all Exhibits or amendments hereto, applicable Business Associate 
Agreement, and COBRA Administrative Services Agreement or Addendum, if any, 
constitute the complete and exclusive agreement and statement of the relationship 
between the parties with regard to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes 
all related discussions, understandings, proposals, exhibits, amendments, prior and 
concurrent agreements, representations and warranties, whether oral or written, and any 
other communications between the parties in regard to the subject matter hereof. This 
Agreement, including, without limitation, any Exhibits hereto, may be amended from time 
to time by the parties. Any amendment to this Agreement, or change, modification, or 
waiver of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be effective only when 
made in writing and signed by an authorized representative of each party and delivered in 
accordance with Section 10.11. This Agreement shall take precedence over any other 
documents that may be in conflict with it. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Agreement supersedes a prior Agreement, health 
services with an Incurred Date prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement shall be 
processed pursuant to the terms of the applicable superseded Agreement. 

 
10.5 Force Majeure. The parties to this Agreement shall be excused from any performance 

under this Agreement, other than payment of amounts due, for any period and to the extent 
they are delayed, restricted, or prevented from performing under this Agreement as a 
result of an act of God, war, civil disturbance, legislative enactment, court order, labor 
dispute, act of terrorism, or other cause beyond their reasonable control. 

 
10.6 Effectiveness of Agreement. This Agreement shall be deemed to be effective and in full 

force as of the Effective Date upon the affixation of Wellmark’s authorized signature below 
and the Account’s payment to Wellmark of the premium, Network Access Fee, 
Administrative Fee, or other fees as billed by Wellmark required by this Agreement. 

 
10.7 Assignment. The Agreement shall be binding on the parties and their respective 

successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign this Agreement to any third 
party, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other; provided, however, 
Wellmark may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, to any entity that controls, is 
controlled by, or is under common control with Wellmark. Further, Wellmark may, in its 
sole and unfettered discretion, contract with a third party to perform some Administrative 
Services or other of Wellmark’s duties under this Agreement, including, without limitation, 

227

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 30 Version: 09/22 

the subrogation recovery services for Claims Paid. To the extent Wellmark contracts with 
a third party to perform any such services or duties, the term “Wellmark” as used in this 
Agreement shall be deemed to include the contracted third party, as the context so 
requires. 

 
10.8 Waiver. The failure of any party to enforce any terms or provisions of the Agreement shall 

not be deemed or construed to be a waiver of the enforceability of such provision. 
Similarly, the failure to enforce any remedy arising from a default under the terms of the 
Agreement shall not be deemed or construed to be a waiver of such default. Any waiver 
of any provision of this Agreement, and any consent to any departure from the terms of 
any provision of this Agreement, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the 
specific purpose for which made or given. 

 
10.9 Nature of Relationship; Authority of Parties. Nothing contained in this Agreement and 

no action taken or omitted to be taken by Account or Wellmark pursuant hereto shall be 
deemed to constitute Account and Wellmark a partnership, an association, a joint venture 
or other entity whatsoever. Wellmark shall at all times be acting as an independent 
contractor under this Agreement. No party has the authority to bind the other in any respect 
whatsoever. 

 
10.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is for the benefit of Account and Wellmark 

and not for any other person. It shall not create any legal relationship between Wellmark 
and any employee, Member, or any other party claiming any right, whether legal or 
equitable, under the terms of this Agreement or of the Plan. 

 
10.11 Notices and Communication. The parties shall be entitled to rely upon any 

communication or notice from the other in connection with this Agreement to be genuine, 
truthful, and accurate, and to have been authorized, signed, or issued by an officer or 
agent of such entity empowered to make such representation on behalf of the entity. 

 
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed given when delivered personally, placed in the U.S. mail (postage 
prepaid), delivered to a recognized courier service for delivery (delivery charges prepaid), 
or sent by electronic means and addressed to the last address furnished in writing. Until 
another address is furnished in writing, notice to Account may be addressed to the address 
shown on Exhibit "A" attached to this Agreement. 

 
Notice to Wellmark may be addressed: 

 
Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa 
Attention: Procurement and Contracts 
1331 Grand Avenue 
Des Moines, Iowa  50309-2901 

 
10.12 State of Issue; Applicable Law. This Agreement is issued and delivered in the state of 

Iowa and is performed in Des Moines, Iowa. To the extent not superseded by the laws of 
the United States and without regard to any conflict of law rule, this Agreement shall be 
construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the state of Iowa.  

 
ARTICLE 11 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

228

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 31 Version: 09/22 

 
11.1 Dispute Resolution; Mandatory Arbitration. 
 

a. In the event of any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, 
or the breach hereof (each a “Dispute”), prior to proceeding with arbitration under 
the further provisions of this Section, a party shall give notice (a “Dispute Notice”) 
to the other party setting out, in writing and in detail, the nature and specifics of the 
Dispute and a good faith estimated value of the Dispute. A meeting (which may be 
via teleconference or other electronic communications) between representatives 
of the parties must take place within 30 days after the date of delivery of the 
Dispute Notice in an attempt to resolve the Dispute through direct negotiations. 
The provisions of this paragraph and the remaining provisions of this Section are 
the sole and exclusive method of resolving any Disputes, and arbitration under this 
Section shall be mandatory except in the limited circumstances provided under 
paragraphs (j), (k) and (o) below and Section 11.2. 

 
b. If the Dispute has not been resolved by direct negotiations within 30 days after the 

date of delivery of the Dispute Notice, or such further time as the parties may 
mutually agree in writing, then either party may commence, and the Dispute shall 
be finally resolved by, binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration 
Association (“AAA”) in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules in effect 
at the time of the commencement of the arbitration (the “Rules”). The parties agree 
that the arbitrator(s), and not a court, will decide in the first instance all questions 
of substantive arbitrability, including without limitation the validity of this Section. 
The parties do not consent to the incorporation of the AAA Supplementary 
Rules for Class Arbitration into the rules governing the arbitration of any 
Dispute (any such arbitration is referred to in this Section as the 
“Arbitration”), and hereby voluntarily and irrevocably waive any right to 
arbitrate any Disputes through representative or class arbitration. All 
Disputes will proceed in arbitration solely on an individual basis, and the 
authority of the arbitrator(s) to resolve any Dispute and to make written 
awards will be limited to the individual Disputes under this Agreement. 

 
c. A party shall have the right to withdraw without prejudice a Dispute that it submitted 

to Arbitration prior to the appointment of the arbitrator(s) for the Arbitration. In such 
event, all of the provisions of this Section shall again apply with respect to such 
Dispute. 

 
d. This Agreement concerns matters in interstate commerce. The Arbitration shall be 

governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, to the exclusion of any state laws 
inconsistent therewith, and the Rules. In the event of a conflict, the Rules shall 
govern. 

 
e. No demand for arbitration of a Dispute may be made more than two (2) years after 

the Dispute arose. 
 

f. The Arbitration shall be conducted in English and shall take place in Des Moines, 
Iowa, unless the parties mutually agree in writing to an alternate location. 

 

229

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 32 Version: 09/22 

g. If the monetary value of the Dispute as described in the Demand for Arbitration, or 
as the parties may otherwise mutually agree in writing, is equal to or less than 
$1,000,000, then the number of arbitrators shall be one (1). The arbitrator shall be 
selected from the AAA’s National Roster of Arbitrators in accordance with Rule R-
12 of the Rules. 

 
h. If the monetary value of the Dispute as described in the Demand for Arbitration, or 

as the parties may otherwise mutually agree in writing, is greater than $1,000,000, 
then either party may elect to have the tribunal consist of three arbitrators by 
notifying the AAA in writing of its election within seven (7) days after receiving the 
list of arbitrators from the AAA under Rule R-12(a). Each party shall have twenty 
(20) days after delivery of the foregoing notice of election to submit to the AAA the 
name of its co-arbitrator. If either party fails to timely nominate an arbitrator, the 
AAA shall make the appointment. The co-arbitrators shall have thirty (30) days, or 
such further period of time as the parties may mutually agree in writing, to nominate 
a chairperson of the tribunal. If the co-arbitrators fail to timely nominate a 
chairperson, the AAA shall appoint the chairperson from the National Roster of 
Arbitrators. 

 
i. Pursuant to Rule R-1 of the Rules, the parties agree that the Expedited Procedures 

under the Rules shall apply if the monetary value of the Dispute as described in 
the Demand for Arbitration is equal to or less than $250,000. 

 
j. The parties shall not be precluded from seeking remedies in small claims court for 

Disputes within the scope of that court’s jurisdiction. 
 

k. Prior to the appointment of the arbitrator(s), a party may elect either to make 
recourse to emergency relief under the Rules, or to seek from any court of 
competent jurisdiction, emergency, temporary, or preliminary injunctive relief, or 
an order in aid of arbitration; provided, however, that once a party has filed or 
served papers to seek recourse for emergency, temporary, or preliminary 
injunctive relief in either the arbitral or judicial forum, no party can seek or oppose 
any such relief from or in the other forum. The foregoing types of relief may only 
be sought within the Arbitration after the appointment of the arbitrator(s).  

 
l. A party may make a motion for summary adjudication of one or more particular 

claims or issues to be decided by the arbitrator(s). 
 

m. The arbitrator(s) must render a reasoned award, in writing, and judgment on the 
award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

 
n. The parties waive any claim for, and the arbitrator(s) shall not have any 

power to award, any punitive or exemplary damages, and each party hereby 
waives any right to seek or recover such damages with respect to any 
Dispute. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses of legal representation, 
including attorneys’ fees, witness expenses, and costs associated with preparation 
and presentation of its case. All arbitration and administration fees and expenses, 
and all arbitrator costs and expenses shall be paid equally, regardless of which 
party prevails. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party who fails or refuses to 

230

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 33 Version: 09/22 

submit to arbitration following a demand by any other party shall bear all costs and 
expenses incurred by such other party in compelling arbitration of any Dispute. 

 
o. The existence and content of the Arbitration proceedings, documents produced 

during the Arbitration, submissions to the tribunal, including testimony and exhibits, 
and any rulings or award shall be kept confidential by the parties and members of 
the arbitral tribunal except (i) to the extent that disclosure may be required of a 
party to fulfill a legal duty, protect or pursue a legal right, or enforce or challenge 
an award in legal proceedings before a court or other judicial authority, (ii) with the 
written consent of all of the parties, (iii) where such information is already in the 
public domain other than as a result of a breach of this paragraph, (iv) as is 
necessary in communications with auditors or accountants retained by any party, 
or federal or state regulators, or (v) by order of the arbitral tribunal upon application 
of a party. The breach or threatened breach of this paragraph will cause immediate 
and irreparable harm to the non-breaching party and an adequate remedy at law 
for such harm may not exist. Accordingly, in the event of such breach or threatened 
breach, the non-breaching party shall have the right to seek specific performance 
by, or obtain injunctive or other equitable relief against, the breaching party as a 
remedy for any such breach or threatened breach. If the breach or threatened 
breach of this paragraph occurs prior to the conclusion of the Arbitration, the 
foregoing relief may only be sought within the Arbitration. If the breach or 
threatened breach of this paragraph occurs after the conclusion of the Arbitration, 
the foregoing relief may only be sought within any court of competent jurisdiction. 

 
p. The provisions of this Section 11.1 shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

 
11.2 Jurisdiction and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial and Punitive and Exemplary Damages. 
 

a. If an arbitrator determines a particular Dispute is excluded from mandatory 
arbitration for any reason (including, but not limited to, by applicable federal or 
state law), the parties agree that the terms in this Section 11.2 will apply to any 
legal or equitable action brought in court because of such Dispute. Each of the 
parties submits to the jurisdiction and venue of the state or federal courts sitting in 
Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa, for any action or proceeding arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement, and each of the parties waives any defense of 
inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding in the state or 
federal courts sitting in Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa. ACCOUNT AND 
WELLMARK HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY 
IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR 
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY INSTRUMENT OR DOCUMENT IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH. THE PARTIES ALSO WAIVE ANY CLAIM FOR 
AND ANY RIGHT TO SEEK OR RECOVER ANY PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY 
DAMAGES WITH RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE. 

 
b. Notwithstanding Sections 5.6, 7.9, and 8.8, no legal or equitable action or claim 

may be brought against the parties for an action or claim arising under or relating 
to this Agreement more than two (2) years after the cause of action arose. 

 
c. The provisions of this Section 11.2 shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

231

Item 25.



 

IA WBCBSI LG SF 34 Version: 09/22 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first 
stated above. 
 
City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
 
By:  ____________________________ 
 
Print Name:  _____________________ 
 
Title:  ___________________________ 
 

Wellmark, Inc., doing business as 
Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa 
 
 
By:  ______________________________ 
 
David S. Brown 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Treasurer 
 

 

232

Item 25.



Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa

Administrative Services Agreement

Exhibit A

Administrative Fees, Network Access Fees, Other Fees

Account Full Name and Address:

City of Cedar Falls

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA  50613-2726

Benefit Plan(s) Administered By:

Rating Period:

The Rating Period begins on 7/01/2023 and ends on 6/30/2024. 

Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa

The Plan Year begins on 07/01 and ends on 06/30. 

Plan Year:

Administrative Fee:

Health: $45.63 per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on 

last day of billing month (subject to limitations listed under Billing 

and Payment Method below).

Pharmacy Vendor Admin Fee:

per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on 

last day of billing month (subject to limitations listed under 

Billing and Payment Method below).

          $2.00     

Network Access Fee: per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on 

last day of billing month (subject to limitations listed under Billing 

and Payment Method below).

$7.66

External Review:

External review fees for Independent Review Organizations (IROs), if applicable, will be on a per case 

or per external review basis and all such fees attributable to Members under the Plan shall be billed to 

Account in the amount billed to Wellmark by the IRO.

Third Party Liability Vendor Fees:

The third party liability recovery vendor(s) retain a service fee calculated as a percentage of the recovered 

amount after deductions for attorneys’ fees and costs .The recovery vendor’s service fee is 19.5% of the 

recovered amount.  This fee is subject to change. The final amount recovered as a result of the actions of 

the vendor (less the vendor's service fee) is credited to Account. Wellmark’s agreement with the recovery 

vendor may from time to time allow for the application of no vendor service fees to amounts recovered 

during that period of time.  Any recovery amount obtained by the vendor on behalf of the Account during 

such time period will be provided to Account without application of the vendor service fee .

379Page 1 of 2
Confidential & Proprietary – Confidential Treatment Requested - Iowa Code § 22.7

233

Item 25.



Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa

Administrative Services Agreement

Exhibit A

Administrative Fees, Network Access Fees, Other Fees

Account Full Name and Address:

City of Cedar Falls

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA  50613-2726

BlueCard Program-related Fees: 

All BlueCard Program-related fees, including any Access Fees paid to Host Blues and Administrative 

Expense Allowance (“AEA”) Fee, are included in Wellmark’s general Administrative Fee stated above . 

Wellmark has elected to not separately charge any Inter -Plan Arrangement-related fees to Account. The 

general Administrative Fee encompasses fees Wellmark charges to Account for administering Account’s 

benefit plan.  Fees may include both local and Inter-Plan fees. Other BlueCard Program-related fees 

included in the general Administrative Fee include the Central Financial Agency Fee , ITS Transaction Fee, 

Toll-Free Number Fee, PPO Provider Directory Fee, and the Blue Cross Blue Shield Global Coverage 

Fees, if applicable.

Billing and Payment Method:

Wellmark shall notify Account weekly of the total Claims Paid amount for the week .  Account shall 

make payment to Wellmark within forty-eight hours of receipt of the notification.  Wellmark shall bill 

Account monthly for Claims Paid (if any), Administrative Fee, other fees, and reflect the 

payments/credits received.

Limitations:  Any adjustments to Administrative Fee, Network Access Fee, and other fees due to 

membership or eligibility changes shall be reflected on the billing for the month in which the 

membership or eligibility change is made and shall be limited to a period of three (3) months prior to

the date Wellmark processes the Member eligibility change.

Exhibit A Issue Date: 5/17/2023

379Page 2 of 2
Confidential & Proprietary – Confidential Treatment Requested - Iowa Code § 22.7

234

Item 25.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Bailey Schindel, Human Resources Manager  

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY24 Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield Health Plan  
  Stop Loss Policy 

 

Attached for your approval is a Stop Loss Policy and rate exhibit for FY24 with Wellmark 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield related to the City’s health plan. The individual stop loss 
deductible has been increased to $110,000 per member from $100,000 per member. The 
rate exhibit shows a $22.53 increase in the per plan member per month individual stop 
loss premium for FY24 which is projected to increase the fixed costs of the City’s health 
insurance plan by approximately $58,668 during FY24 based on current enrollment. If the 
City had kept the individual stop loss deductible at $100,000 as it was in the prior year, 
the premium would have increased $45.98 per plan member per month resulting in an 
increase in fixed costs of $119,732 based on current enrollment. The premium increase 
is due to a continued high number of large health claims incurred by plan members. There 
is no proposed increase from the prior year to the City’s aggregate stop loss premium per 
plan member per month. City staff recommends approval.  
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5531 or Jennifer 
Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 
 
Attachment 
 

235

Item 26.



 

 
 

Stop Loss Policy Effective Date: July 1, 2023 
Stop Loss Period: July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 
 
Form Number: IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP Version: 09/22 

 
 
 
 
 

S T O P  L O S S  P O L I C Y  
 
 
 
 
 

WELLMARK, INC. 
 
 

issued to 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
 

 
 

236

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 1 Version: 09/22 
 

 
STOP LOSS POLICY 

 
 
 THIS STOP LOSS POLICY (herein “Policy”) is issued by Wellmark, Inc., doing business 
as Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa, an Iowa mutual insurance company (herein 
“Wellmark”), effective as of the first day of July, 2023 (“Effective Date”), to City of Cedar Falls, 
an Iowa public entity, with its principal location in Iowa (herein “Account”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
1. Account is the plan sponsor of a self-funded group health plan (herein called “the Plan”) 

within the meaning of and in accordance with applicable federal or state law for its common 
law employees and other eligible individuals. The Plan is designed, maintained and funded 
by Account and Account is solely responsible for making Member eligibility determinations 
and for Claims. 

 
2. Account desires that Wellmark reimburse it for Claims Eligible for Reimbursement that 

satisfy the amounts and terms specified in this Policy. Account acknowledges this Policy 
provides it with reimbursement only for Claims Eligible for Reimbursement meeting the 
terms and conditions specified in this Policy and Wellmark provides no insurance 
coverage for the Plan or for any Member. Wellmark assumes no financial risk or 
obligations with respect to Claims except as expressly specified in this Policy. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1 
POLICY DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1 “Aggregate Deductible” means the percentage of expected Claims Eligible for 

Reimbursement for all Members during the Stop Loss Period that is Account’s liability 
before any reimbursement is made under the aggregate stop loss coverage of this Policy. 
The Aggregate Deductible amount is shown on Exhibit “A”, Stop Loss Premiums and 
Financial Terms, which is attached to this Policy and incorporated by this reference. 

 
1.2 “Attachment Point” means the amount of expected Claims Eligible for Reimbursement 

per Plan Member for each benefit classification. The Attachment Point is used to 
determine Account’s Aggregate Deductible and Minimum Aggregate Deductible and is 
shown on Exhibit “A”, Stop Loss Premiums and Financial Terms, which is attached to 
this Policy and incorporated by this reference. 

 
1.3 “Benefit Services Administrator” means the company or companies specified on 

Exhibit “A”, Stop Loss Premiums and Financial Terms, which provides health benefit 
plan administration services to Account pursuant to a separately executed administrative 
services agreement in effect during the Stop Loss Period. If Account arranges for health 
plan administration services for the Plan from vendor(s) other than Wellmark or a 
Wellmark-contracted vendor but obtains stop loss coverage from Wellmark for such 
services (e.g., pharmacy benefits management services), Account shall be responsible 
for ensuring that such third-party vendor is specified on Exhibit “A” as a Benefit Services 
Administrator. 

237

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 2 Version: 09/22 
 

 
1.4 “Benefits Document” means the written document(s) Account makes available to 

Members that describe and define the terms, benefits, and limitations of the Plan and may 
be titled Benefits Certificate, Coverage Manual, or something similar. 

 
1.5 “Claims” means the dollar amount of the Benefit Services Administrator’s payment on 

behalf of the Account for covered health care services provided to Members under the 
terms of the Plan administered by the Benefit Services Administrator. Claims do not 
include any: (a) amounts paid for health care services as a Plan exception made at the 
direction of Account; (b) amounts paid for health care services determined by the Benefits 
Services Administrator to be investigational or experimental as defined under the terms of 
the Plan; (c) amounts paid at the direction of the Plan for health care services that Benefits 
Services Administrator deems to be investigational or experimental, but for which Account 
has waived the general limitation or exclusion for investigational or experimental 
procedures, (d) amounts paid for health care services determined by the Benefits Services 
Administrator to be not medically necessary as defined under the terms of the Plan; (e) 
amounts paid for health care services for an individual not eligible for coverage under the 
terms of the Plan; or (f) amounts paid that are not for covered health care services under 
the terms of the Plan. With regard to pharmacy services, “Claims” includes any 
adjustments or reversals after the Incurred Date. 

 
1.6 “Claims Eligible for Reimbursement” means Claims that have both an Incurred Date 

within the Run-in Period or Stop Loss Period and a Paid Date within the Stop Loss Period 
specified on Exhibit “A”. 

 
1.7 “Incurred Date” means the date health care services are provided to Members. With 

regard to inpatient hospital or facility services, the date of the Member's admission to the 
facility is considered as the Incurred Date. With regard to pharmacy services, the date on 
which a prescription drug is dispensed by a pharmacy (the “fill date”) is considered as the 
Incurred Date. 

 
1.8 “Individual Deductible” means the fixed dollar amount of Claims Eligible for 

Reimbursement per Member as specified on Exhibit “A”, which is the Account’s liability 
before any reimbursement is made under the individual stop loss coverage of this Policy. 

 
1.9 “Member” means a person, including a Plan Member’s spouse or eligible dependent 

children, who is eligible and enrolled to receive health benefits in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan, specifically including the Plan’s eligibility criteria, as determined and 
identified by Account. The Member must be eligible and enrolled in the Plan on the 
Incurred Date of the Claims. 

 
1.10 “Minimum Aggregate Deductible” means an amount that is the Account's minimum 

liability under the aggregate stop loss coverage of this Policy. The Minimum Aggregate 
Deductible is the product of the number of Plan Members in effect for each Attachment 
Point, multiplied by each Attachment Point shown on Exhibit "A", multiplied by 90%. The 
results of the calculations shall be added together each month during the Stop Loss Period 
resulting in the year-to-date (“YTD”) Minimum Aggregate Deductible. The Minimum 
Aggregate Deductible is calculated at the beginning of the Stop Loss Period, based on the 
enrollment under each Attachment Point and may be recalculated during the Stop Loss 
Period due to a benefit change. 

238

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 3 Version: 09/22 
 

 
1.11 “Paid Date” means the date on which a Claim payment is made by the Benefit Services 

Administrator. The Benefit Services Administrator may adjust Claims for a period of up to 
eighteen (18) months after the Claim is first processed. If a Claim is subsequently 
adjusted, the date of the final adjustment is considered the Paid Date, provided, however, 
that if a Claim is adjusted in accordance with a decision of an Independent Review 
Organization (IRO) making an external review determination under applicable law, the 
date of the Benefit Services Administrator's internal adverse benefit determination is 
considered the Paid Date for purposes of this Policy. With regard to pharmacy services, 
the Paid Date is the later of: (i) the date on which a prescription drug is dispensed by a 
pharmacy (the “fill date”), or (ii) the date on which a prescription drug claim was adjusted 
or reversed. 

 
1.12 “Plan” means the self-funded group health plan or plans established, sponsored and 

maintained by Account, the terms of which are described in the applicable Benefits 
Document. 

 
1.13 “Plan Member” means a common law employee or other individual identified by Account 

as a person eligible and enrolled to receive health benefits under the Plan subject to the 
terms, conditions, and limitations described in the Plan documents as administered by the 
Benefit Services Administrator. 

 
1.14 “Protected Health Information” or “PHI” means the same as the term “protected health 

information” in 45 CFR §160.103. 
 
1.15 “Run-In Period” means the period of time set forth on Exhibit “A” prior to beginning of the 

Stop Loss Period, during which Claims may have Incurred Dates. 
 
1.16 “Stop Loss Claims” mean dollar amounts for Claims Eligible for Reimbursement that 

exceed the applicable Individual Deductible under this Policy. 
 
1.17 “Stop Loss Period” means the period of time set forth on Exhibit “A” or the most recent 

revision to Exhibit “A” issued to Account and attached to this Policy and incorporated by 
this reference. 

 
1.18 “Stop Loss Premium” means the amount Wellmark charges Account for stop loss 

coverage. The Stop Loss Premium may include broker fees or commissions and is shown 
on Exhibit “A”. 

 
ARTICLE 2 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF ACCOUNT 
 
2.1 Payment of Stop Loss Premiums. Wellmark shall bill Account monthly and Account 

agrees to pay Wellmark the amount of the Stop Loss Premiums and any applicable taxes 
or fees billed for the preceding month. Such payment may be made by wire transfer, 
electronic (ebilling) payment, or automatic funds withdrawal. If Account elects automatic 
funds withdrawal, it shall execute the necessary authorization, including an authorization 
for automatic withdrawal of any changed amount as reflected on Account's bill. Any 
adjustments due to membership or eligibility changes shall be reflected on the billing for 
the month in which the membership or eligibility change is made. Adjustments to Stop 
Loss Premiums shall be limited to a period of three (3) months prior to the date the Benefit 

239

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 4 Version: 09/22 
 

Services Administrator processes the Member eligibility change. The bill will show the 
amounts due and will also show any credits during the preceding month. Account shall 
promptly pay Wellmark at Wellmark’s office, the total amount due, no later than the due 
date on the bill. 

 
Account also agrees to pay Wellmark the Stop Loss Premiums set forth on Exhibit “A”, for 
aggregate terminal stop loss coverage in a lump sum at the date of termination of this 
Policy. 

 
2.2 Late Payments. All payments due from Account to Wellmark must be paid on time and 

when due in accordance with Section 2.1. If the Account fails to make payments in full 
when due, Wellmark may discontinue the reimbursement of all Stop Loss Claims for the 
Account, impose interest or late fees, or may setoff or recoup late payments from other 
amounts that may be due to Account. Payments not made when due shall include an 
interest charge on the outstanding amounts from the due date until payment is made in 
full at the then current prime rate as published periodically in the Midwest edition of The 
Wall Street Journal plus two percent (2%) per annum. Late fees are calculated on the 
entire amount due regardless of any partial payments. The acceptance by Wellmark of 
any late payments or partial payments shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this 
Policy. If Account fails to make payments when due for two or more consecutive months, 
Wellmark may impose additional late fees of up to eighteen percent (18%) per annum. 

 
2.3 Providing Information; Account Representations. Account shall provide all information 

and representations reasonably necessary and as may be requested by Wellmark during 
the underwriting and issuance of this Policy and to establish loss for which reimbursement 
is claimed under this Policy. Account shall provide such information in a time, form, format, 
and manner required by Wellmark and is responsible for the timeliness, integrity, retention, 
and accuracy of information and records provided to Wellmark. Wellmark shall be entitled 
to rely upon such information in underwriting and issuing this Policy and in discharging its 
responsibilities under this Policy. If Account arranges for health plan administration 
services for the Plan from a Benefit Services Administrator other than Wellmark or a 
Wellmark-contracted vendor but obtains stop loss coverage from Wellmark for such 
services (e.g., pharmacy benefits management services), Account shall be responsible 
for ensuring that its third-party Benefit Services Administrator provides Wellmark with all 
Claims data (including the Incurred Date and the Paid Date) and other information required 
by Wellmark in the form and format that Wellmark requests to process such stop loss 
coverage. Account shall be responsible for ensuring the accuracy of all such reports and 
information provided by any such third-party Benefit Services Administrator. Account’s 
failure or its third-party Benefit Services Administrator’s failure to provide complete and 
timely information may cause Stop Loss Claims to be denied. 

 
2.4 Notice of Persons Eligible for Coverage. Account or its Benefit Services Administrator 

shall notify Wellmark of individuals eligible and enrolled in the Plan and of changes in 
eligibility in accordance with the manner, time, and procedures set forth in the separate 
administrative services agreement entered into between Account and the Benefit Services 
Administrator. Notwithstanding the effective date Account establishes for Member 
eligibility, no eligibility change shall be effective under this stop loss coverage more than 
three (3) months prior to the date the Benefit Services Administrator processes the 
Member eligibility change. 

240

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 5 Version: 09/22 
 

 
2.5 Right of Reimbursement or Recovery. In the event Account receives or is eligible to 

receive a payment or credit from a third-party or the Benefit Services Administrator for any 
portion of Claims, including, but not limited to, pharmaceutical manufacturer rebates, if 
applicable, and Wellmark has previously paid or reimbursed Account for all or any portion 
of such Claims pursuant to this or a prior Stop Loss Policy, Account shall repay Wellmark 
the full amount of the recovery received by Account up to the full extent of Wellmark’s stop 
loss payment(s), regardless of whether this Policy is in force on the date of Account’s 
recovery. To the extent that Account is eligible to receive a payment or credit from the 
Benefit Services Administrator for any portion of Claims, Wellmark may, in its sole 
discretion, retain and apply such payment or credit as reimbursement for Wellmark’s stop 
loss payment(s) under this Section. Such recovery or reimbursement cannot be used to 
satisfy any deductible or attachment point under this Policy. 

 
2.6 Third Party Liability Recovery. Account acknowledges and agrees that Wellmark, as the 

stop loss carrier, has priority of any third-party liability recovery in the event Stop Loss 
Claims for a Member have been credited to Account. Account may delegate responsibility 
for subrogation and third-party liability recovery services to Benefit Services 
Administrator’s subrogation and third-party liability recovery vendor (“Subrogation 
Vendor”) on Account’s behalf, which shall pursue and prosecute any and all subrogation 
interests or other valid claims that Account may have against a third-party or any current 
or former Member who recovers or has a right of recovery from a third-party as a 
consequence of any occurrence resulting in Claims. If Account or Subrogation Vendor 
initiates any action for recovery, Account shall notify Wellmark of such action within ten 
(10) days of filing such action. Account shall cooperate with Wellmark and, upon request 
of Wellmark, Account shall execute and deliver to Wellmark an assignment and any other 
instrument that may be necessary to secure Wellmark’s right of recovery. Account shall 
not waive any rights to pursue recovery from a third-party without Wellmark's written 
consent. 

 
In the event Account recovers all or any portion of Claims from a third-party or from a 
current or former Member, or any Claim is reversed in full or in part due to payment or 
acceptance of responsibility by a third-party, and Wellmark has previously paid or 
reimbursed Account for all or any portion of such Claims pursuant to this or a prior Stop 
Loss Policy, Account shall repay Wellmark the full amount of the recovery received or 
Claim reversed by Account up to the full extent of Wellmark’s stop loss payment(s), 
regardless of whether this Policy is in force on the date of Account’s recovery. Such 
recovery or reimbursement cannot be used to satisfy any deductible or attachment point 
under this Policy. On a case by case basis, and only if Wellmark has agreed in writing and 
in advance, Account may reduce the amount it repays to Wellmark by reasonable and 
necessary expenses incurred directly by Account in obtaining recovery from the third 
party. 

 
ARTICLE 3 

STOP LOSS COVERAGE 
 
3.1 Individual Stop Loss Coverage. Wellmark shall reimburse Account for the amount by 

which the Claims Eligible for Reimbursement for a specific Member exceed the Individual 
Deductible amount for the specific Member shown on Exhibit “A”, subject to any Policy 
limitations set forth on Exhibit “A”. Reimbursement for Stop Loss Claims is generally 
provided as a statement credit on Account's next statement from the Benefit Services 

241

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 6 Version: 09/22 
 

Administrator. All Stop Loss Claims reimbursements shall be subject to audit or review as 
provided in sections 2.3 and 4.3 of this Policy that Wellmark determines in its sole 
discretion may be required to verify a Member’s eligibility and enrollment in the Plan, verify 
the proper payment of Claims, or verify Stop Loss Claims are reimbursed correctly. 

 
3.2 Aggregate Stop Loss Coverage. Wellmark shall determine the aggregate stop loss 

coverage reimbursement as described in this Section.  
 

a. For each month of the Stop Loss Period, the monthly Claims Eligible for 
Reimbursement shall be calculated by accumulating all Claims for that month, less 
any reimbursement made under the individual stop loss coverage during the same 
Stop Loss Period, less any Claims excluded from the aggregate stop loss 
coverage. The monthly Claims Eligible for Reimbursement shall be added together 
for all months during the Stop Loss Period, resulting in the YTD Claims Eligible for 
Reimbursement; 

 
b. For each month of the Stop Loss Period, the number of Plan Members in effect for 

each benefit classification shall be multiplied by the Attachment Point for each 
benefit classification shown on Exhibit “A”. The results of the calculations shall then 
be added together, resulting in the monthly Aggregate Deductible. Each monthly 
Aggregate Deductible shall be added together for all months during the Stop Loss 
Period, resulting in the YTD Aggregate Deductible; and 

 
c. If the YTD Claims Eligible for Reimbursement exceed the greater of the YTD 

Aggregate Deductible or the YTD Minimum Aggregate Deductible, Wellmark shall 
reimburse Account for the excess amount within sixty (60) days after the end of 
the Stop Loss Period. If the YTD Claims Eligible for Reimbursement is less than 
the greater of the YTD Aggregate Deductible or the YTD Minimum Aggregate 
Deductible, no reimbursement by Wellmark will be made. 

 
3.3 Terminal Aggregate Stop Loss Coverage. If this Policy is terminated and not renewed 

or replaced, terminal aggregate stop loss coverage is provided for Claims with an Incurred 
Date during the Stop Loss Period and a Paid Date within the period specified on Exhibit 
“A” following termination (“Terminal Claims”). Wellmark shall reimburse Account if and 
when Terminal Claims exceed the adjusted terminal liability amount, calculated below. 
Individual Members’ Claims are not limited in this terminal aggregate stop loss provision. 

 
The adjusted terminal liability amount is calculated by dividing the terminal liability amount, 
shown on Exhibit “A”, by the number of estimated Plan Members shown on Exhibit “A”. 
The result is then multiplied by the sum of the Plan Members during the Stop Loss Period 
divided by the number of months during the Stop Loss Period. 

 
ARTICLE 4 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; EXAMINATION OF RECORDS 
 
4.1 Protected Health Information. The rights and responsibilities of the parties and permitted 

uses and disclosures with respect to Protected Health Information shall be set forth in the 
separately executed Business Associate Agreement.  

 
4.2 Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information. The rights and responsibilities of the 

parties and permitted uses and disclosures with respect to information and data collected 

242

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 7 Version: 09/22 
 

or developed by Wellmark related to Claims, cost, utilization, outcomes, quality, and 
financial performance of the Plan during the term of this Policy (“Confidential 
Information”) shall be as set forth in the separately executed administrative services 
agreement between Account and the Benefit Services Administrator. 

 
4.3 Right to Examine Records; Record Retention. Wellmark or its authorized 

representative may at its own expense examine the financial, enrollment, eligibility 
standards, and Claims records of Account, its Benefit Services Administrator(s), or other 
third parties providing services to Account, reasonably related to the administration of this 
Policy, as reasonably often as Wellmark deems appropriate, to reconcile eligibility or 
enrollment information and records or to determine appropriate payment of Stop Loss 
Claims under this Policy. Such examination may be conducted either before or after 
reimbursement of Stop Loss Claims and, if at Account's location, shall be conducted 
during regular business hours, upon reasonable advance written notice. Account shall 
provide any information reasonably requested by Wellmark. Account shall ensure that all 
records relating to the matters described in this Section 4.3 will be maintained for at least 
twenty-four (24) months following the end of the Stop Loss Period. The examination period 
may cover the most recent Stop Loss Period and the preceding twenty-four (24) months 
only, if applicable, and may cover Account's prior or third-party Benefit Services 
Administrator. 

 
4.4 Survival. Any obligations of either party to the other under this Article of the Policy survive 

any termination of this Policy. 
 

ARTICLE 5 
TERM AND TERMINATION 

 
5.1 Term; Termination of Plan or Administrative Services Agreement. This Policy shall 

become effective on the Effective Date and shall continue in force for the Stop Loss Period 
as set forth on Exhibit “A”, unless earlier terminated as provided in this Policy. If the Plan 
is terminated, or if Account’s administrative services agreement with the Benefit Services 
Administrator is terminated, this Policy shall terminate as of the date the Plan is terminated 
or as of the date the administrative services agreement is terminated, whichever is 
applicable and whichever date is earlier. 

 
5.2 Renewal Terms; Notice of Non-Renewal. This Policy may be renewed for successive 

Stop Loss Periods only when a new or amended Policy with an updated Exhibit “A” 
specifying a new Stop Loss Period is issued and executed by Wellmark. Except as 
provided on Exhibit A, Wellmark shall have the right to change the Stop Loss Premiums 
for any renewal term as reflected on an updated Exhibit “A”. If Wellmark decides not to 
renew the Policy, it shall provide Account written notice of non-renewal at least forty-five 
(45) days prior to the end of the Stop Loss Period. 

 
5.3 Termination for Nonpayment. Wellmark may terminate this Policy at any time, upon ten 

(10) days written notice to Account, if Account fails to make complete payments, including 
late fees, when due in accordance with this Policy. The notice shall include the reason for 
the termination. Wellmark may recoup or setoff from any Stop Loss Claims any premiums 
or other fees or amounts owed to Wellmark or to Benefit Services Administrator by 
Account. 

243

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 8 Version: 09/22 
 

 
5.4 Effects of Termination. If Wellmark terminates this Policy for nonpayment by the 

Account, Wellmark shall not reimburse Account for Claims Eligible for Reimbursement 
beyond the effective date of the termination regardless of when services were received or 
the Claims were paid. If this Policy terminates other than at the expiration of the Stop Loss 
Period, the effective date of the termination shall become the end of the Stop Loss Period. 

 
5.5 Survival. Any liability of either party to the other for amounts owed or owing under this 

Policy, unless such amounts are de minimus, shall not be extinguished by the termination 
of this Policy. 

 
ARTICLE 6 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
6.1 Complete Policy; Amendment. This Policy, including any exhibits or amendments, 

constitutes the complete and exclusive agreement and statement of relationship between 
the parties with regard to the subject matter of this Policy and supersedes all related 
discussions, proposals, prior policies, agreements, understandings, prior and concurrent 
agreements, representations and warranties, whether oral or written, and any other 
communications between the parties in regard to the subject matter of this Policy. 
Changes or amendments to this Policy shall be effective only when the written amendment 
has been signed by an authorized representative of Wellmark and delivered in accordance 
with Section 6.10. This Policy shall take precedence over any other documents that may 
be in conflict with it. 

 
6.2 Change of Policy. If Account makes changes in the Plan or Benefits Documents, Account 

shall give Wellmark sufficient advance written notice of such changes. If Account makes 
any material changes in the Plan administered by the Benefit Services Administrator, or if 
material changes are required by law, including the addition or deletion of benefits, a 
material change in group composition or membership or eligibility requirements, such as 
an increase in the ratio of family to single contracts of twenty percent (20%) or more, a 
change in the number of eligible individuals of ten percent (10%) or more, percentage of 
individuals enrolled, type of coverage offered, business entities covered, change in Benefit 
Services Administrator, or offerings of other health insurers’ coverage to eligible 
individuals, Wellmark shall have the right at its option to amend this Policy, including an 
adjustment of stop loss premiums or Individual Deductible shown on Exhibit “A”, or 
terminate this Policy. 

 
6.3 Provider Payment Arrangements; Claims Submission. The Benefit Services 

Administrator has entered into payment arrangements or contracts with health care 
providers or other service providers that affect the submission, timing, frequency, and the 
amount of payment of Claims. Not all health care providers participate in or agree to such 
payment arrangements and the Benefit Services Administrator does not determine, direct, 
or control the timing or accuracy of any Claims submissions. Claims do not become Claims 
Eligible for Reimbursement unless both the Incurred Dates and Paid Dates are within the 
required periods set forth in this Policy and Exhibit “A”. 

 
6.4 State of Issue; Applicable Law. The Policy is issued and delivered in the state of Iowa 

and is performed at Wellmark's offices in Des Moines, Iowa. To the extent not superseded 
by the laws of the United States and without regard to any conflict of law rule, this Policy 
shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the state of Iowa. 

244

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 9 Version: 09/22 
 

 
6.5 Force Majeure. The parties to this Policy shall be excused from performance under this 

Policy for any period and to the extent they are delayed, restricted, or prevented from 
performing under this Policy (other than payment) as a result of an act of God, war, civil 
disturbance, court order, labor dispute, acts of terrorism, or other cause beyond their 
reasonable control and such nonperformance shall not be grounds for termination or 
default. 

 
6.6 Effectiveness of Policy. This Policy shall be deemed to be effective and in full force as 

of the Effective Date upon the affixation of Wellmark’s authorized signature below and the 
Account’s payment to Wellmark of the premium required by this Policy. 

 
6.7 Assignment. The Policy shall be binding on the parties and their respective successors 

and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign this Policy, in whole or in part, without 
the prior written consent of the other; provided, however, Wellmark may assign this Policy, 
in whole or in part, to any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control 
with Wellmark. 

 
6.8 Waiver. The failure of any party to enforce any terms or provisions of the Policy shall not 

be deemed or construed to be a waiver of the enforceability of such provision. Similarly, 
the failure to enforce any remedy arising from a default under the terms of the Policy shall 
not be deemed or construed to be a waiver of such default. Any waiver of any provision of 
this Policy, and any consent to any departure from the terms of any provision of this Policy, 
shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which made 
or given. 

 
6.9 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Policy is for the benefit of Account and Wellmark and 

not for any other person. It shall not create any legal relationship between Wellmark and 
any employee, Member, or any other party claiming any right, whether legal or equitable, 
under the terms of this Policy or of the Plan. 

 
6.10 Notices and Communication. The parties shall be entitled to rely upon any 

communication or notice from the other in connection with this Policy to be genuine, 
truthful, and accurate, and to have been authorized, signed, or issued by an officer or 
agent of such entity empowered to make such representation on behalf of the entity. 

 
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Policy shall be in writing and be 
deemed given when delivered personally, placed in the U.S. mail (postage prepaid), 
delivered to a recognized courier service for delivery (delivery charges prepaid) or sent by 
electronic means and addressed to the last address furnished by the respective party. 
Until another address is furnished in writing, notice to Account may be addressed to the 
address shown on Exhibit “A” attached to this Policy. 

 
Notice to Wellmark may be addressed: 

 
Wellmark, Inc. 
Attention: Procurement and Contracts 
1331 Grand Avenue 
Des Moines, Iowa  50309-2901 

 

245

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 10 Version: 09/22 
 

ARTICLE 7 
BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD DISCLOSURE 

 
7.1 Blue Cross and Blue Shield Disclosure Statement. Account hereby expressly 

acknowledges its understanding this Policy constitutes a contract solely between Account 
and Wellmark, which is an independent corporation operating under licenses from the 
Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, an association of independent Blue Cross and Blue 
Shield Plans (the “Association”), permitting Wellmark to use the Blue Cross and Blue 
Shield Service Marks in the state of Iowa, and that Wellmark is not contracting as the 
agent of the Association. Account further acknowledges and agrees that it has not entered 
into this Policy based upon representations by any person other than Wellmark and that 
no person, entity, or organization other than Wellmark shall be accountable or liable to 
Account for any of Wellmark’s obligations to Account created under this Policy. This 
section shall not create any additional obligations whatsoever on the part of Wellmark 
other than those obligations created under other provisions of this Policy. 

 
ARTICLE 8 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
8.1 Dispute Resolution; Mandatory Arbitration. 
 

a. In the event of any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Policy, or 
the breach hereof (each a “Dispute”), prior to proceeding with arbitration under the 
further provisions of this Section, a party shall give notice (a “Dispute Notice”) to 
the other party setting out, in writing and in detail, the nature and specifics of the 
Dispute and a good faith estimated value of the Dispute. A meeting (which may be 
via teleconference or other electronic communications) between representatives 
of the parties must take place within 30 days after the date of delivery of the 
Dispute Notice in an attempt to resolve the Dispute through direct negotiations. 
The provisions of this paragraph and the remaining provisions of this Section are 
the sole and exclusive method of resolving any Disputes, and arbitration under this 
Section shall be mandatory except in the limited circumstances provided under 
paragraphs (j), (k) and (o) below and Section 8.2. 

 
b. If the Dispute has not been resolved by direct negotiations within 30 days after the 

date of delivery of the Dispute Notice, or such further time as the parties may 
mutually agree in writing, then either party may commence, and the Dispute shall 
be finally resolved by, binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration 
Association (“AAA”) in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules in effect 
at the time of the commencement of the arbitration (the “Rules”). The parties agree 
that the arbitrator(s), and not a court, will decide in the first instance all questions 
of substantive arbitrability, including without limitation the validity of this Section. 
The parties do not consent to the incorporation of the AAA Supplementary 
Rules for Class Arbitration into the rules governing the arbitration of any 
Dispute (any such arbitration is referred to in this Section as the 
“Arbitration”), and hereby voluntarily and irrevocably waive any right to 
arbitrate any Disputes through representative or class arbitration. All 
Disputes will proceed in arbitration solely on an individual basis, and the 
authority of the arbitrator(s) to resolve any Dispute and to make written 
awards will be limited to the individual Disputes under this Policy. 

 

246

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 11 Version: 09/22 
 

c. A party shall have the right to withdraw without prejudice a Dispute that it submitted 
to Arbitration prior to the appointment of the arbitrator(s) for the Arbitration. In such 
event, all of the provisions of this Section shall again apply with respect to such 
Dispute. 

 
d. This Policy concerns matters in interstate commerce. The Arbitration shall be 

governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, to the exclusion of any state laws 
inconsistent therewith, and the Rules. In the event of a conflict, the Rules shall 
govern. 

 
e. No demand for arbitration of a Dispute may be made more than two (2) years after 

the Dispute arose. 
 

f. The Arbitration shall be conducted in English and shall take place in Des Moines, 
Iowa, unless the parties mutually agree in writing to an alternate location. 

 
g. If the monetary value of the Dispute as described in the Demand for Arbitration, or 

as the parties may otherwise mutually agree in writing, is equal to or less than 
$1,000,000, then the number of arbitrators shall be one (1). The arbitrator shall be 
selected from the AAA’s National Roster of Arbitrators in accordance with Rule R-
12 of the Rules. 

 
h. If the monetary value of the Dispute as described in the Demand for Arbitration, or 

as the parties may otherwise mutually agree in writing, is greater than $1,000,000, 
then either party may elect to have the tribunal consist of three arbitrators by 
notifying the AAA in writing of its election within seven (7) days after receiving the 
list of arbitrators from the AAA under Rule R-12(a). Each party shall have twenty 
(20) days after delivery of the foregoing notice of election to submit to the AAA the 
name of its co-arbitrator. If either party fails to timely nominate an arbitrator, the 
AAA shall make the appointment. The co-arbitrators shall have thirty (30) days, or 
such further period of time as the parties may mutually agree in writing, to nominate 
a chairperson of the tribunal. If the co-arbitrators fail to timely nominate a 
chairperson, the AAA shall appoint the chairperson from the National Roster of 
Arbitrators. 

 
i. Pursuant to Rule R-1 of the Rules, the parties agree that the Expedited Procedures 

under the Rules shall apply if the monetary value of the Dispute as described in 
the Demand for Arbitration is equal to or less than $250,000. 

 
j. The parties shall not be precluded from seeking remedies in small claims court for 

Disputes within the scope of that court’s jurisdiction. 
 

k. Prior to the appointment of the arbitrator(s), a party may elect either to make 
recourse to emergency relief under the Rules, or to seek from any court of 
competent jurisdiction, emergency, temporary, or preliminary injunctive relief, or 
an order in aid of arbitration; provided, however, that once a party has filed or 
served papers to seek recourse for emergency, temporary, or preliminary 
injunctive relief in either the arbitral or judicial forum, no party can seek or oppose 
any such relief from or in the other forum. The foregoing types of relief may only 
be sought within the Arbitration after the appointment of the arbitrator(s).  

247

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 12 Version: 09/22 
 

 
l. A party may make a motion for summary adjudication of one or more particular 

claims or issues to be decided by the arbitrator(s). 
 

m. The arbitrator(s) must render a reasoned award, in writing, and judgment on the 
award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

 
n. The parties waive any claim for, and the arbitrator(s) shall not have any 

power to award, any punitive or exemplary damages, and each party hereby 
waives any right to seek or recover such damages with respect to any 
Dispute. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses of legal representation, 
including attorneys’ fees, witness expenses, and costs associated with preparation 
and presentation of its case. All arbitration and administration fees and expenses, 
and all arbitrator costs and expenses shall be paid equally, regardless of which 
party prevails. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party who fails or refuses to 
submit to arbitration following a demand by any other party shall bear all costs and 
expenses incurred by such other party in compelling arbitration of any Dispute. 

 
o. The existence and content of the Arbitration proceedings, documents produced 

during the Arbitration, submissions to the tribunal, including testimony and exhibits, 
and any rulings or award shall be kept confidential by the parties and members of 
the arbitral tribunal except (i) to the extent that disclosure may be required of a 
party to fulfill a legal duty, protect or pursue a legal right, or enforce or challenge 
an award in legal proceedings before a court or other judicial authority, (ii) with the 
written consent of all of the parties, (iii) where such information is already in the 
public domain other than as a result of a breach of this paragraph, (iv) as is 
necessary in communications with auditors or accountants retained by any party, 
or federal or state regulators, or (v) by order of the arbitral tribunal upon application 
of a party. The breach or threatened breach of this paragraph will cause immediate 
and irreparable harm to the non-breaching party and an adequate remedy at law 
for such harm may not exist. Accordingly, in the event of such breach or threatened 
breach, the non-breaching party shall have the right to seek specific performance 
by, or obtain injunctive or other equitable relief against, the breaching party as a 
remedy for any such breach or threatened breach. If the breach or threatened 
breach of this paragraph occurs prior to the conclusion of the Arbitration, the 
foregoing relief may only be sought within the Arbitration. If the breach or 
threatened breach of this paragraph occurs after the conclusion of the Arbitration, 
the foregoing relief may only be sought within any court of competent jurisdiction. 

 
p. The provisions of this Section 8.1 shall survive any termination of this Policy. 

 
8.2 Jurisdiction and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial and Punitive and Exemplary Damages. 
 

a. If an arbitrator determines a particular Dispute is excluded from mandatory 
arbitration for any reason (including, but not limited to, by applicable federal or 
state law), the parties agree that the terms in this Section 8.2 will apply to any legal 
or equitable action brought in court because of such Dispute. Each of the parties 
submits to the jurisdiction and venue of the state or federal courts sitting in Des 
Moines, Polk County, Iowa, for any action or proceeding arising out of or relating 

248

Item 26.



 

IA Wellmark, Inc. LG SLP 13 Version: 09/22 
 

to this Policy, and each of the parties waives any defense of inconvenient forum to 
the maintenance of any action or proceeding in the state or federal courts sitting in 
Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa. ACCOUNT AND WELLMARK HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, 
PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO 
THIS POLICY, OR ANY INSTRUMENT OR DOCUMENT IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH. THE PARTIES ALSO WAIVE ANY CLAIM FOR AND ANY RIGHT 
TO SEEK OR RECOVER ANY PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES WITH 
RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE. 

 
b. Notwithstanding Sections 4.4 and 5.5 no legal or equitable action or claim may be 

brought against the parties for an action or claim arising under or relating to this 
Policy more than two (2) years after the cause of action arose. 

 
c. The provisions of this Section 8.2 shall survive any termination of this Policy. 

 
 Wellmark, Inc. 
 
 

 
 
By:   

 

 
 David S. Brown 

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Treasurer 

 
  

 

249

Item 26.



Stop Loss Policy  

Exhibit "A" - Stop Loss Premiums and Financial Terms

Wellmark, Inc.

Account Full Name and Address

City of Cedar Falls

220 Clay Street

Cedar Falls, IA  50613-2726

Benefit Services Administrator(s)

Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Iowa

Express ScriptsPharmacy Benefits Manager:

The Stop Loss Period begins on 7/01/2023 and ends on 6/30/2024. 

Stop Loss Period:

Claims Eligible for Reimbursement. Claims shall be considered for reimbursement under this 

Policy only if all of the following conditions are completely satisfied as determined by Wellmark .

Stop loss coverage is administered with a Run-in Period as a 72/12 arrangement, which means:

- The Claims shall have Incurred Dates within the Stop Loss Period or within 60 months prior to

the beginning of the Stop Loss Period (the Run-in Period); and

- The Claims shall have Paid Dates within the Stop Loss Period.

Claims with Paid Dates following the end of the Stop Loss Period are not Claims Eligible for 

Reimbursement. 

$211.70

Monthly Stop Loss Premium -Health- Individual (subject to any policy limitations listed below):

per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on last day of 

billing month.

$5.36

Monthly Stop Loss Premium -Health- Aggregate (subject to any policy limitations listed below):

per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on last day of 

billing month.

Individual Stop Loss Coverage (subject to any policy limitations  listed below):

Individual Deductible: $110,000 per Member

Covered Benefits: Health PharmacyX X

Aggregate Stop Loss Coverage (subject to any policy limitations  listed below):

Aggregate Deductible:  125 % of expected Paid Claims.

Covered Benefits: Health Dental PharmacyX X

Attachment Point: per Plan Member per month based on active Plan Members on last day of 

billing month.

FamilySingle

$927.85 $2,319.63Plan A

$927.85 $2,319.63Plan B

379Page 1 of 2
Confidential & Proprietary – Confidential Treatment Requested - Iowa Code § 22.7 250

Item 26.



Stop Loss Policy  

Exhibit "A" - Stop Loss Premiums and Financial Terms

Wellmark, Inc.

Policy Limitation(s):

Claims in excess of the Account's Individual Stop Loss deductible level will not be covered 

under the Aggregate Stop Loss coverage. 

Any adjustments to monthly stop loss premiums and attachment points due to membership or 

eligibility changes shall be reflected on the billing for the month in which the membership or eligibility

change is made and shall be limited to a period of three (3) months prior to the date Wellmark

processes the Member eligibility change.

Terminal Stop Loss Coverage:

Claims Eligible for Terminal Aggregate Stop Loss Reimbursement:

The Claim shall have an Incurred Date within the Stop Loss Period and a Paid Date within 12 

months following the end of the Stop Loss Period.

Terminal Liability Amount:     $862,610.00

Estimated Plan Members:     217

Terminal Stop Loss Premiums:     $17,400.00

Exhibit "A" Issue Date: 5/17/2023

379Page 2 of 2
Confidential & Proprietary – Confidential Treatment Requested - Iowa Code § 22.7 251

Item 26.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Bailey Schindel, Human Resources Manager 

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: PDCM Business Associate Agreement  
 

Attached for your approval is the Business Associate Agreement between the City of 
Cedar Falls and PDCM Insurance effective July 1, 2023. The benefits consulting contract 
between PDCM Insurance and the City of Cedar Falls was recently approved by Council 
and this agreement relates to that contract. City staff recommends approval. If you have 
questions regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5531 or Jennifer Rodenbeck 
at 268-5108. 
 
Attachment 
 

252

Item 27.



253

Item 27.



254

Item 27.



255

Item 27.



256

Item 27.



257

Item 27.



258

Item 27.



259

Item 27.



260

Item 27.



261

Item 27.



262

Item 27.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

    M E M O R A N D U M
Human Resources Division

 TO: Mayor and City Council  

 FROM: Colleen Sole, Human Resources Specialist 

 DATE: June 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY24 Insurance Renewal – Public Entity 

 

Arthur J. Gallagher recently presented the renewal proposal to the City of Cedar Falls 

Risk Management Committee.  Based on this year’s numbers Gallagher provided two 

options, one with Travelers and the other with Princeton.  In reviewing the options, the 

Risk Management Committee approved the incumbent carrier, Travelers.  Princeton’s 

premium came in significantly higher with some unfavorable coverages/limits. Per the 

renewal, the City did have increased exposures primarily in the areas of property and 

payroll, and carrier rates increased this year due to on-going economic issues 

throughout the country.  However, the City’s numbers came in very well with only a 

7.7% increase with Travelers, based on the factors noted and the City’s ability to 

manage its risk.  The City was able to maintain its coverages and retentions/deductibles 

with Travelers.  Coverages that saw an increase were the Liability Package, Property, 

Workers’ Compensation, and a minimal increase of the Boiler and Machinery.  In turn, 

Cyber Liability was a flat renewal and Crime remains on a three-year renewal term with 

no increase. The City will continue to process Property and Workers’ Compensation 

claims through EMC Risk Services, and Traveler’s will continue to process the City’s 

Liability claims.  Attached is a copy of the Client Authorization to bind coverage. 

 

The Risk Management Committee respectfully requests your approval of these 

coverages for FY2024.  If you have questions, please contact me at 319-243-2712. 

 

263

Item 28.



264

Item 28.



265

Item 28.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: June 6, 2023 

 SUBJECT:  Updated Finance Policies 

 
Attached are Sections 3110 and 3111 of Finance Policies (f/k/a Accounting Policies and 

Procedures and Purchasing Manual). These sections have been updated to the new 

standard policy template and include the following revisions: 

 

 CFD 3110: committee name change to Finance and Business Operations 

Committee; and the addition of guidelines for Emergency or Exigency 

Procurement under Grant Funding; 

 CFD 3111: updated to adhere to the guidance from a Department of Housing 

and Urban Development site-monitoring visit to include language to 

document if at least two bids aren’t received, the departments must 

substantiate the efforts they took in the process; and the leases item has 

been updated for GASB 87 reporting purposes. 

 

If you have any questions regarding the manual, please feel free to contact me.  

 

CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 

266

Item 29.



CFD 3110.223:  Finance Policy – Emergency and Rapid Need Purchases       CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 1 of 4 

CFD 3110: Finance – Emergency and& Rapid Need Purchases  
Approved August 1, 2022 June 20, 2023, by the Director of Finance and Business OperationsCity 

Council   

DEFINITION:   

 Emergency purchase: A purchase made when a situation or occurrence, which is of a 
serious nature, develops suddenly and unexpectedly and demands immediate action. This 
is applicable only to supplies and/or services whose immediate procurement is essential to 
prevent delays, which may vitally affect the life, safety, and health of citizens, or serious 
loss or injury to the City. 

PROCEDURES: 

1. Emergency Purchases. 

A. Prior Planning: Failure to exercise reasonable diligence and foresight in anticipating 
departmental requirements is not justification for using Emergency Procedures.  

B. Emergency Purchase During Regular Business Hours: Such purchases will be made by the 
requesting department using the following procedures: 

1). Notify the Controller/City Treasurer by telephone that an emergency purchase must be 
made describing the situation and the purchase to be made. 

2). Competitive quotations shall be solicited where possible and deemed appropriate by 
the Controller/City Treasurer. However, the purchase will be made where available in 
emergency situations, with consideration of delivery schedule a paramount 
consideration. 

3). If the purchase is less than the $25,000, the emergency purchase shall be recorded by 
the Controller/City Treasurer, andTreasurer and shall be open to public 
inspectioninspection. 

4). If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $25,000 but less than $50,000, the 
Controller/City Treasurer shall forward all related documents to the Director of Finance 
&and Business Operations. The Director will contact the City Administrator for approval 
to proceed and the documentation shall be open to public inspection. 

5). If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $50,000, the Controller/City Treasurer shall 
forward all related documents to the Director Finance &and Business Operations who 
will forward to the City Administrator. The City Administrator will forward to the Mayor, 
Mayor Pro Tem, or the Administration Finance and Business Operations Committee 
Chair for approval to proceed and the documentation shall be open to public inspection. 

C. Emergency Purchase during other than regular business hours: Emergency purchases may 
be made by a Department Director during other than regular business hours. A Division 
Manager may be authorized in advance by a memo submitted by the Department Director. 

1). A written explanation of the emergency purchase shall be furnished to the Financial 
267

Item 29.



CFD 3110.223:  Finance Policy – Emergency and Rapid Need Purchases       CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 2 of 4 

Services Division no later than the following work dayworkday. Any attempt to solicit 
competitive prices should be included in this statement. 

2). If the purchase is less than $25,000.00, a record of the emergency purchase shall be 
kept on file by the Controller/City Treasurer and shall be open to public inspection. 

3). If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $25,000, but less than $50,000, the 
Controller/City Treasurer shall forward all related documents, including a report from the 
requesting Department Director,from the requesting Department Director to the Director 
of Finance & and Business Operations and to the City Administrator. 

4). If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $50,000, the Controller/City Treasurer shall 
forward all related documents, including a report from the requesting Department 
Director,from the requesting Department Director to the Director of Finance & and 
Business Operations and the City Administrator for presentation to the City Council. 

5). Emergency Repairs of Public Improvements: Emergency repair of public improvements 
shall be in accordance with  the Code of Iowa and in some situations in accordance 
with 2 CFR Part 200 when Federal funding is involved referenced in 2.B. 

2. Rapid Need Purchases.  
 
CAUTION: Rapid need requests will be closely scrutinized to prevent abuse. A rapid need 
purchase is justified when the need for the requested materials and/or services could not have 
been predicted. These materials and/or services must be procured in less than the normal 
allotted time span in order to continue a vital service to the community. 

A. Rapid need purchase procedure: 

1). The request may be telephoned to the Financial Services Division. with a written 
explanation to follow within one (1) workday. 

2). If the situation warrants such action, authorization for purchase may be given by the 
Controller/City Treasurer, at the time of the telephone request, provided the total 
expenditure will not be in excess of $25,000. 

3). The requesting department shall solicit either written or telephone quotations or bids, if 
deemed appropriate. 

4). If the purchase is in excess of $25,000, the Department Director shall forward all related 
documents to the Director of Finance & and Business Operations for presentation to the 
City Council. If the City Council waives the requirement for formal bidding procedures, 
the requesting department shall make the purchase based on quotations or bids 
received. 

B. Emergency or Exigency Procurement Under Grant Funding. 

The City must follow the procurement requirements found at 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.317 – 
200.326. However, Federal regulations allow for noncompetitive procurements under 
certain circumstances, including when the City determines that immediate actions required 

268

Item 29.



CFD 3110.223:  Finance Policy – Emergency and Rapid Need Purchases       CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 3 of 4 

to address the public exigency or emergency cannot be delayed by a competitive 
solicitation. This represents an exception to requirements for full and open competition. 
FEMA approval is not required for use of noncompetitive procurements under the 
emergency or exigency exception; however, the City must document its justification for 
using noncompetitive procurements and must still comply with other procurement 
requirements and ensure that costs are reasonable. 

1). Department must Identify which of the four circumstances listed in 2 C.F.R. § 200.320(f) 
justify a noncompetitive procurement: 

a. The item is available only from a single source; 

b. The public exigency or emergency for the requirement will not permit a delay 
resulting from competitive solicitation; 

c. The Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity expressly authorizes 
noncompetitive proposals in response to a written request from the non-Federal 
entity; or 

d.  After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate. 

2). The Department must provide a brief description of the product or service being 
procured, including the expected amount of the procurement. 

3). The Department must explain why noncompetitive procurement is necessary. If utilizing 
the exigency/emergency exception, the justification should explain the nature of the 
public exigency or emergency, including specific conditions and circumstances that 
clearly illustrate why procurement other than through noncompetitive proposals would 
cause unacceptable delay in addressing the public exigency or emergency. (Failure to 
plan for transition to competitive procurement cannot be the basis for continued use of 
noncompetitive procurement based on public exigency or emergency). 

4). Department must state how long the noncompetitively procured contract will be used for 
the defined scope of work and the impact on that scope of work should the 
noncompetitively procured contract not be available for that amount of time (e.g., how 
long do you anticipate the exigency or emergency circumstances will continue; how 
long will it take to identify your requirements and award a contract that complies with all 
procurement requirements; or how long would it take another contractor to reach the 
same level of competence). 

5). Describe the specific steps taken to determine that full and open competition could not 
have been used, or was not used, for the scope of work (e.g., research conducted to 
determine that there were limited qualified resources available that could meet the 
contract provisions). 

6). The Department must describe any known conflicts of interest and any efforts that were 
made to identify possible conflicts of interest before the noncompetitive procurement 
occurred. If no efforts were made, explain why. If a conflict of interest is unavoidable, 
such as due to exigent/emergency circumstances, explain how it was unavoidable and 
any steps taken to address the impact of that conflict of interest. 

269

Item 29.



CFD 3110.223:  Finance Policy – Emergency and Rapid Need Purchases       CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 4 of 4 

4).7).The Department must include any other information justifying the use of 
noncompetitive procurement in the specific instance. 

3. Payment of Emergency or Rapid Need Purchases. 

A. In all situations the invoice will need to be reviewed and entered following the procedures 
outlined in CFD 3107. 

B. In circumstances where a check in excess of $200 must be written immediately that should 
have Council approval, the Controller/City Treasurer shall contact two members of the 
Cedar Falls City Council (Ordinance No. 2968 Sec. 2.512(b)(7)b). After approval is 
received, the Controller/City Treasurer shall attach a written statement explaining the 
situation and the approvals received. 

270

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 1 of 14 

CFD 3111: Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids  
Approved January 17, 2023 June 20, 2023, by the Director of Finance and Business Operations 

City Council 

PROCEDURES: 

1. Basis for Quotations or Bids. When a department determines a need to purchase an item, that 
department will seek a source of the requested materials and/or services. 

A. Requirements for solicitation of bids and quotations: The material and/or services requested 
and approved for purchase are of significant value and/or of a competitive nature. 

B. Exemptions from competitive quotation and bidding procedures: 

1). Repair parts of a sole source nature shall be exempt from competitive quotation and 
bidding procedures. 

2). Specialized services shall be exempt from the competitive quotation and bidding process, 
as deemed appropriate by the Director of Finance &and Business Operations except as 
required by State Law. 

3). Specialized items of a technical nature shall be exempt from competitive  
quotation and bidding procedures, except as required by State Law. 

4). Utilization of State of Iowa, General Services Administration (GSA), National IPA, 
OMINIA Partners, US Communities, or other state or federal joint purchasing 
cooperation. Competitively bid State of Iowa or other state or federal contracts available 
to political subdivisions may be utilized in lieu of soliciting written bids or verbal quotation 
for the purchase of commodities and services.  

C. Special Conditions: 

1). Proof of insurance: Proof of insurance may be required for public improvement projects, 
services to be performed on City property, or other contracts for equipment or services. 
The amount of coverage required shall be based on risk factors and determined by the 
City’s Risk Management Committee. 

2). Affirmative Action compliance: The City of Cedar Falls adheres to Local, State, and 
Federal Laws which require that businesses providing goods and services to the City of 
Cedar Falls are Equal Opportunity Employers. Any contract entered into by the City of 
Cedar Falls in accordance with this policy ensures that disadvantaged business 
enterprises will be afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to requests for bids. 
They will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in 
consideration of the contract award.  

3). The responsible bid requirement focuses on the bidder, which means the bid is submitted 
by a bidder who has the financial and technical ability to perform and complete the 
required work. The responsive bid requirement focuses on the bid and is a check to 
ensure the bidder agrees to all that is required in the plans, specifications and other 
requirements of the project. 

271

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 2 of 14 

D. Unique Requirements of Government Contracts 

1). All purchases funded through a State or Federal grant must follow all additional 
procedures required by the grantor. All bid specifications for a purchase that is funded 
through a State, or a Federal grant must list all additional specifications for the goods or 
services that are required by the grantor. Any contract funded through a federal grant 
shall comply with 2 CFR 200.318 through 200-326 and Appendix II to Part 200. 

2). Contractors must be evaluated when bids are received on their ability to meet State or 
Federal requirements. The City will not award a federally funded contract to a party listed 
as debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded in the System for Award Management 
(SAM). www.sam.gov . In addition, no purchases to be covered by a grant can be made 
prior to the execution of the grant agreement unless approved by the grantor. 
 

2. Public Improvement (Vertical Infrastructure) Bidding Procedures. Formal bidding 
procedures will be used exclusively for public improvement projects in excess of the minimum 
threshold amount as determined by the State of Iowa and in accordance with Chapter 26 of the 
Code of Iowa. Iowa Code Section 314.1B establishes vertical bid thresholds for city projects.  
These thresholds may be adjusted each year effective January 1. A public improvement project 
is defined as a building or construction work which is contracted under the control of a 
governmental entity and is paid for in whole or in part with funds of the governmental entity, 
including a building or improvement constructed or operated jointly with any other public or 
private agency, but excluding urban renewal demolition and low-rent housing projects, industrial 
aid projects authorized under chapter 419, emergency work or repair or maintenance work 
performed by employees of a governmental entity, and excluding a highway, bridge, or culvert 
project, and excluding construction or repair or maintenance work performed for a city utility 
under chapter 388 by its employees or performed for a rural water district under chapter 357A 
by its employees.  For highway, bridge, and culvert projects please refer to section 11.3 below.  

A. A "Notice of Request for Bids" shall be posted in three separate places (as noted below) not 
less than thirteen (13) nor more than forty-five (45) days before the bid filling deadline. 

1). A relevant contractor plan room service with a statewide circulation. 

2). A relevant construction lead generating service with state wide circulation 

3). An Internet site sponsored by either a governmental entity or a statewide association that 
represents the governmental entity. 

B. The notice shall contain the following information:  

1). The time and place for filing sealed bids. 

2). The time and place sealed bids will be opened and considered on behalf of the City. 

3). The general nature of the public improvement on which bids are requested. 

4). In general terms when the work must be commenced and completed.  

272

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 3 of 14 

5). That each bidder shall accompany the bid with a bid security as defined in section 26.8 
and as specified by the City.  

6). Any further information, which the City deems pertinent. 

C. A public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract, and estimated cost 
has been held in compliance with Chapter 26 of State of Iowa. A notice of the public hearing 
shall be published in one (1) official designated City newspaper not less than four (4) nor 
more than twenty (20) days prior to the date of the hearing.  

D. Preparation of contract documents will include preparation of the Notice to Bidders as 
required by the Code of Iowa. The notice will be furnished to the City Clerk with the 
preliminary plans and specifications and the City Clerk will arrange for the publication of the 
notice.  

E. Unsuccessful bidders shall be entitled to the return of bid bonds. A  
successful bidder shall forfeit any surety required upon failure to enter into a  
contract within the time span specified. 

F. Disposition of Bids and Bid Bonds: 

1). Bids shall be opened at the time and place specified in the "Notice of Request for Bids." 

2). A Tabulation of bids received shall be made and shall be available for public inspection. 

3). A summary of all bids shall be retained in the Financial Services Division. 

4). One (1) copy of the original offer and award form shall be forwarded to the City Clerk 
after the opening of the bids. 

5). The requesting department will consult with the Director of Finance &and Business 
Operations before the final recommendation for award is submitted by the requesting 
department to the City Council if the project is not included in the budget or capital 
improvements program or if the bid received is in excess of the budgeted amount. 

6). The City Council shall award all formal contracts. 

7). The City Attorney shall review the standard contract to be used. If there are modifications 
to the standard contract, the City Attorney will review the contract before it is approved 
by Council.  

8). The City Council shall approve all performance bonds for construction contracts. 

9). Following the City Council's award of contract, and approval of the performance bond 
when required, the requesting department shall award the contract. 

10).The responsible department shall return bid bonds to unsuccessful bidders following the 
award of contract by the City Council, and the approval of the performance bond when 
required. 

11).The City Clerk shall prepare contract documents when necessary and shall forward 
273

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 4 of 14 

completed contract documents to the successful bidder as awarded by the City Council. 

G. If a public improvement is less than the threshold as determined by the State of Iowa 
($196,000 1/1/23) and more than the threshold as determined by the State of Iowa ($81,000 
1/1/23), formal bidding procedures are not necessary. However, competitive quotations must 
be received. When competitive quotations are required, the City shall make a good faith effort 
to obtain quotations for the work from at least two (2) contractors regularly engaged in such 
work prior to the letting of a contract.   

1). The quotes shall be solicited by the appropriate department. 

2). After quotes are received the department determines the lowest bid. 

3). The summary of quotes are to be provided to Financial Services where they will be kept 
on file.  

4). A contract for the improvement shall thanthen be approved by City Council. 

H. If a public improvement falls under the minimum threshold as determined by the State of 
Iowa, neither formal bidding procedures nor competitive quotations are necessary. 

1). The department responsible for the project should make an effort to receive a fair and 
reasonable price for the project. 

2). If a contract is needed for the project, it shall be approved by the City Council. 

I. All public improvements in excess of $25,000 must have a resolution passed by City Council 
authorizing the expenditure of funds. 

3. Highway, Bridge, and Culvert (Horizontal Infrastructure) Bidding Procedures. 

A. If a horizontal infrastructure project is more than the threshold as determined by the State of 
Iowa.  Iowa Code Section 314.1B establishes horizontal bid thresholds for city projects. 
These thresholds may be adjusted each year effective January 1. Formal bidding procedures 
are required as described in section 11.2  

B. If a horizontal infrastructure project is less than the threshold as determined by the State of 
Iowa, formal bidding procedures and competitive quotations are not required. 

1). The department responsible for the project should make an effort to receive a fair and 
reasonable price for the project.  

2). If a contract is needed for the project, it shall be approved by the City Council. 

274

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 5 of 14 

Public Improvement Bidding Procedures

Bidding Procedures
are not necessary

Yes

Formal Bidding
Procedures

are Required

Yes

Only Informal
Bidding

Procedures
are Required

No

Is the Project
Over $65,000 (*1/1/23)?

Yes

Formal Bidding
Procedures

are Required

Yes

Competitive
Quotations

are Required

Yes

Only Informal
Bidding

Procedures
are Required

No

Is the Project
Over $81,000 (*1/1/23)?

No

Is the Project
Over $196,000 (*1/1/23)?

No

Is the Project a
Highway (Street),
Bridge or Culvert?

No

Does the project meet an exception
to bidding procedures

under Chapter 26?

 

 
* Iowa Code Section 314.1B establishes vertical and horizontal bid thresholds for city 
projects. These thresholds may adjust each year effective January 1. See 
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Bid-and-quote-thresholds  
  

275

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 6 of 14 

4. Written Quotations. Requests for the purchase of equipment, commodities and/or services with 
an estimated value of $25,000 or greater shall receive written quotations. All requests in excess 
of $25,000 must have a resolution passed by City Council authorizing the expenditure of funds, 
unless as described in Section 7.04(6) under vehicle purchases that have been programmed as 
a part of the City’s Cash Management Plan. A purchase of equipment, commodities and/or 
services with a total of less than $25,000.00 shall be evaluated by the requesting Department 
Director to determine if the material and/or services requested meet the requirements for 
requesting quotations. 

A. 10-30 days should be allowed from receipt of an approved Requisition and  
any required specifications to award of purchase. 

B. Telephone quotations must be taken by the requesting department on purchases of 
equipment, commodities, and/or services in excess of $5,000 and less than $25,000. 

C. If it is determined to be in the best interest of the City, written quotations will be requested by 
the using department. 

D. Awards of formal or informal bids on the purchase of equipment, commodities, and/or 
services shall be made by the requesting department director. Award shall be based on the 
lowest and best bid as determined by the requesting department.  

E. The bids and quotations shall be filed with the Financial Services Division.  

Purchasing Flow Chart
Equipment, Commodities and/or Services

Quotes Not
Required

Yes

Yes, Telephone
Quotes Required

Note: If Public
Improvement

Public Improvement
Process Must Be Followed

No, Written
Quotes Required

Less Than
$25,000

No

Less Than $5,000

 

  

276

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 7 of 14 

5. Competitive Negotiations. If under $25,000.00 and if deemed appropriate by the Director of 
Finance &and Business Operations, competitive negotiations may be used rather than 
competitive sealed bids or quotations. If over $25,000.00, City Council approval is required prior 
to commencing competitive negotiations. 

A. A Negotiating Team shall be formed consisting of representatives of the Finance &and 
Business Operations Department and the requesting department. Technical advisors may 
also be included if applicable. 

B. Prospective bidders will be supplied with a request for a proposal. This request will state in 
general terms the materials and/or services to be purchased, and will include the evaluation 
criteria. 

C. The Negotiating Team will review the proposals received and will then negotiate with bidders 
to procure the materials and/or services required. 

6. Professional Consultants. These procedures will assist in identifying prospective consultants, 
selecting the most qualified consultant for the project, and developing a consultant contract that 
will best protect the City's interest. These procedures shall not conflict with federal or state rules 
or regulations as they relate to professional consultants. 

A. The following procedures should be utilized whenever consultant work in excess of 
$50,000.00 is required. When consultant work of less than $50,000.00 is required, 
procedures (3) through (9) concerning the need to make a consultant selection from among 
several prospective consultants may be eliminated. Staff may then negotiate a contract with 
a consultant qualified to perform the work desired. If the consultant work is in excess of 
$50,000, however, the work is an extension of an existing or prior project, please see Part 
6.B below. 

1). Establish a selection team consisting of appropriate City staff and other City officials as 
designated. Technical advisors may also be included if applicable. The selection team 
should be involved in all phases of the selection process. 

2). Identify in writing the preconceived needs of the City, including a general statement of 
what City staff perceives the scope of services to be. The City's scope of services may 
be adjusted after the consultant interviews due to information provided by prospective 
consultants in the interviews that results in an alteration of the work plan. 

3). Send out a Request for Proposal to pre-qualified consultants who have been identified 
as performing professional services similar to the needs of the City. It will be the 
responsibility of the selection team to determine who the qualified consultants are. Ideally, 
requests for qualifications should be sent to three to seven consultants depending on the 
number of consultants available to perform the type of work desired. The scope of 
services of the City should be included in the letter sent to prospective consultants. In 
addition, the letter should include a brief community profile, the contact information for 
the selection team, and any other information, which may be useful to prospective 
consultants. In some instances, the request should also contain the information in item 
(7) below. 

277

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 8 of 14 

4). The following should be considered in order to obtain a list of at least three consultants 
from which to send requests for proposals: 

a. Always include all the local consultants that appear to have the expertise necessary 
to perform the desired work. 

b. Contact state and national professional consulting associations and other 
communities who have utilized consultants to perform this type of work in the past. 

c. If it is necessary to reduce the list to a manageable size, preference should be given 
to those consultants which are located in the closest proximity to Cedar Falls along 
with those firms which the City may know are exceptionally qualified to perform the 
desired work. 

5). The request for proposal should ask each candidate to submit: 

a. A general profile of their firm. 

b. The qualifications of the personnel to be used on this project, the projects which the 
consultant and those individuals have performed of a similar nature, and their 
availability to perform the desired work within the time frame specified by the City. 

6). The selection team should meet to review the qualifications of the consultants, which 
submit letters of interest to determine those consultants who appear to be qualified and 
can meet the City's time frame. Check the past work record of those consultants with 
entities who have utilized their services in the past to perform similar projects and 
determine their level of satisfaction with the consultant's work. Based on this review, 
reduce the list to three or more consultants from which to interview, if that many 
consultants can demonstrate expertise for furnishing services. 

7). Ask each interviewee to submit, prior to the interview, a preliminary scope of services for 
the project, the company organization, and the name of the project coordinator/manager 
who will be utilized for this project. Request that the project coordinator/manager be 
present at the interview session. This consultant should also submit information 
concerning the availability of personnel to be assigned to the project, a typical form of 
contract that they have used on similar projects, and a sample of a written report, which 
they have developed on a similar assignment. Set a time for the interview and inform the 
consultant of the amount of time to be allowed for the consultant’s formal presentation. 

8). Interview Session: 

a. The selection team will conduct all interview sessions, which are to be held in private. 
The selection team should meet prior to conducting the interviews to develop a list of 
questions to ask the interviewees and to establish weighting criteria to evaluate the 
consultants. The weighting criteria should include both cost and quality factors such 
as those identified in (b) and (c) below: 

b. Ask each consultant to make a formal presentation within the predetermined time limit 
describing their credentials and how they would solve the needs of the City. 
Consultants should also indicate how they have solved similar assignments for other 

278

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 9 of 14 

communities. 

c. Following the formal presentation, interaction with the interviewee should take place 
with questions covering the following topics and others which may be appropriate: 

(a) Question the personal credentials if not properly identified during the formal 
presentation (license to practice, etc.). 

(b) Question the availability of the consultant to perform the work (particularly if their 
present work load appears to be substantial) and how successful they have been 
in completing other projects on time. Also ask if the work to be accomplished is 
with present staff or through additions to the consultant’s staff. 

(c) Ask each consultant to define how they see the problem and what they see as 
the City's goals and objectives in using their consultant's services. 

(d) Ask questions concerning the procedures and methods the consultant proposes 
to use to solve the problem and attempt to challenge the problem. Also, attempt 
to challenge the consultant to provide innovations they would use to solve this 
problem. Also, attempt to obtain the consultant's knowledge of the state-of-the-
art technology in this field. 

(e) Ask for a budget range, which the consultant expects to expend to conduct this 
project. 

(f) Ask the consultant about the facilities and equipment they either own or have 
access to for use on this project, including computer equipment, reproduction and 
communication equipment, laboratory and testing equipment, and other 
specialized equipment applicable to this project. 

(g) Ask each consultant if any of his or her professional services for this project are 
to be subcontracted. Also, ask if any of their services are to be performed as a 
joint venture with another firm. If the project is receiving federal aid, the consultant 
shall provide proof of adhering to federal aid guidelines for subcontractors.  

(h) Discuss the typical form of contract used for this service on this type of project or 
alternative forms of contract. 

9). Selection Process: 

a. The selection team should meet to evaluate each consultant, utilizing the team's 
previously established weighting criteria. Conduct phone interviews with references 
provided by the consultant to determine those entities' satisfaction with the 
consultant’s past performance. In addition, the selection team should attempt to 
contact other entities that have utilized the consultant other than those entities 
provided as references by the consultant. If desirable, conduct an on-site examination 
of the consultant's facilities and equipment to better determine the consultant's ability 
to perform the assignment. 

b. Cedar Falls and Iowa consultants should be given preference if equal proposals are 
279

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 10 of 14 

received from more than one consultant, unless prohibited by Federal Law. 

c. Make a selection. 

10).Negotiate with the consultant selected as first choice and develop a contract. The 
following (a) through (f) identify provisions, which should be included in consultant 
contracts. Examples of these and other contract provisions can be obtained by contacting 
the City Clerk's Office, which has actual City/consultant contracts on file. 

a. Agree to the details of each scope of service to be provided including initiation and 
completion dates for the entire project and major phases of the project as necessary. 

b. Determine the basis for charges, always including a maximum dollar limit not to be 
exceeded. 

c. Include a provision that the consultant will notify the City in writing if he/she feels that 
the City is directing the consultant to perform work beyond the scope of services. This 
notification will include an estimate of the cost, which the consultant proposes for the 
additional work. Any work to be performed by the consultant beyond the scope of 
services must be preceded by written authorization from the City requesting such 
work. 

d. If it is anticipated that this contract will result in additional phases of work, negotiate 
the method of payment to be employed for future contract(s). 

e. Include termination provisions in the contract. 

f. Include in the contract a provision that the City will assume possession of the final 
report, documents, and drawings/renditions produced in the course of the project, 
which are desired by the City. 

11).If the negotiations are unsatisfactory, terminate the negotiations and utilize the procedure 
outlined in item 10) above to negotiate a contract with the interview committee’s second 
choice. 

B. If a project is an extension of a current or prior contract, the same consultant may be selected 
without utilizing the procedures outlined above. Examples of an extension of a contract may 
include: projects where there are multiple phases and a consultant was selected for an earlier 
phase, a consultant was selected for a project whose geographical location and project 
components are contiguous to the upcoming project, or if on a joint private-public project a 
consultant was selected by the private party and it is cost-effective for the public party to 
utilize the same consultant. If the consultant work meets these contract extension criteria, 
staff may negotiate a fair and reasonable price with the consultant.  

C. If a consultant is needed for select studies that are legally confidential, a consultant may be 
selected by staff after council has directed the staff to proceed with the study. 

7. Special Evaluation Criteria. 

A. A.The City must make a good-faith effort to obtain bids, formal or informal, from at least two 
280

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 11 of 14 

contractors, regularly engaged in the required work before awarding the contract. In cases 
where two or more bids, formal or informal, are not received, Department must document to 
substantiate the effort to obtain two or more bids or document if re-bidding is not deemed 
necessary. 

A.B.Local Preference. 

1). In cases where two or more bids, formal or informal, are equal in all aspects, preference 
shall be given to the local (Cedar Falls business) bidder. 

2). In cases where two or more bids, formal or informal, are equal in all aspects, preference 
shall be given to the Iowa vendor if one of the equal bids is not a Cedar Falls business. 

3). A City department making a purchase request may recommend to the Director of Finance 
&and Business Operations purchase of an item from a Cedar Falls business if it is slightly 
higher than the lowest bid or quotation and if the item's total cost is within the constraints 
of the line- item budget. The selection of a slightly higher quotation must be supported 
with written documentation that maintenance, accessibility, or service benefits make the 
purchase financially advantageous in the long run. This policy should only apply to items, 
which may be purchased by quotation and does not apply to contract for professional 
services or construction projects, which require bids or other select processes. 

B.C.Total Cost of Ownership 

1). Life cycle cost formulas shall be used where applicable. 

2). Factors such as service, location and availability, warranty, maintenance records, etc. 
shall be considered where applicable. 

C.D.Vendor performance records shall be considered where applicable. 

D.E.In Resolution #8170 the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls supported the development 
of City-wide recycling projects and the effort of area recyclers, and the City also adopted a 
recycling policy to guide its own actions, which included the use of recyclable and recycled 
paper products whenever appropriate to the need and available at a reasonable rate. 

8. Change Order Policy – Formal Contracts.  

A. `Field Changes and Unit Changes: this type of change order consists of those items, which 
are necessary to carry out the intent of the original contract. 

1). The Department Director or designee serving as "project manager" shall have the 
authority to approve individual field and unit changes up to $200,000 and when the 
combined total of all field and unit changes does not exceed 15% of the original contract, 
subject to the budget provisions in 8.A.4). below. 

2). When an individual field and unit change exceeds $200,000 or the combined total of all 
field and unit changes exceeds 15% of the original contract, the "project manager” must 
submit a Change Order Expansion Request to the Department of Finance & Business 
Operations for approval of the City Council. Prior to City Council action the Department 

281

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 12 of 14 

of Finance &and Business Operations shall determine the potential sources of funding 
for the change order overage. 

3). It will be the responsibility of the "project manager" to keep a running total of change 
orders for each contract and ensure individual  change orders do not exceed $200,000 
or the combined total of all field and unit changes does not exceed 15% of the original 
contract. 

4). Total change orders when totaled with the original contract shall not exceed the projects 
budgeted appropriations previously approved by the City Council. 

B. Scope of Work or Project Boundary Change Orders: This type of change order consists of 
those items, which are outside the scope of the original contract. 

1). When a "project manager" requests a scope of work or project boundary change they 
must submit the proposal to the Department of Finance &and Business Operations for 
City Council endorsement. 

2). The Department of Finance &and Business Operations will determine if funds are 
available in the Capital Projects Fund, operating capital account, or Bond Fund.  

3). Once financial options are determined the Department of Finance &and Business 
Operations shall submit the change to the City Council for endorsement and amendment 
of the project budget. 

9. Appraisal Contracts. 

A. Through the course of purchasing or selling property, the City will need to obtain appraisals 
to determine the fair and reasonable value of a property.  

B. The City shall solicit Request for Proposals (RFPs) for appraisal services. 

1). The requests will be sent to at least three appraisal firms. 

2). The proposals shall be evaluated by the Departments of Community Development and 
Finance &and Business Operations and a selection made. 

C. As an alternative, the City may elect to do an annual RFP for appraisal services. The same 
procedures listed in 9.B above shall be used and then the firm will have a one-year contract 
to perform all appraisals for the City during that year. The City may elect, however, at any 
time during the year to seek new RFPs for select appraisals if advantageous to the City.  

10. Leases-Purchase and Rental Agreements.  

A. Lease-Purchase: 

1). A contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset (the 
underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or 
exchange-like transaction. An agreement that conveys the right to use property, plant or 
equipment, usually for a stated period of time, that meets one or more of the criteria set 
forth in SFAS No.13 for lease capitalization. The criteria are: 

282

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 13 of 14 

a. The lease transfers ownership by the end of the lease term. 

b. The lease contains a bargain purchase option. 

c. The lease term is equal to 75%  or more of the estimated economic life of the leased 
property. 

d. The present value of the minimum lease payments equal or exceed 90% of the fair 
value of the lease property. 

2). An evaluation shall be made by the department making the purchase to determine if 
lease-purchase or cash purchase of a piece of equipment is more cost effective. 

3). If a lease-purchase is considered the most cost effective method of obtaining property, 
the purchase shall be made in accordance with other provisions in this manual and shall 
be approved by Finance &and Business Operations 

B. Rental Agreement: 

1). A rental agreement is any lease agreement that does not meet the criteria for 
capitalization set forth in SFAS No.13 and described in Section 11.09 1a. 

2). An evaluation shall be made by the department making the purchase to determine if 
rental of equipment or a cash purchase is more cost effective. 

4). A LeaseRental agreement for all vehicles or for equipment with a fair market value greater 
than $5,000 requires prior approval of the Finance &and Business Operations 
Department. 

3).5).All leases entered into should be forwarded to Financial Services Division for review for 
GASB 87 reporting purposes. 

11. Payments and Retention from Payments on Formal Contracts.  

A. Department's responsibilities: 

1). Process the bills from contractors and withhold 5% of retainage on each contractor 
payment.  

2). Receive final acceptance of the project from the City Council. 

3). Process the bill that will pay the five percent retainage and notify the Financial Services 
Division that the payment must be held for thirty days. 

4). Provide to Financial Services the appropriate contractor information prior to the start of 
the project for registration of sales tax exemption certificates.  

B. Financial Services Responsibilities: 

1). Write and deliver the checks making monthly pay estimates to the contractors. 

283

Item 29.



CFD 3111.23:  Finance Policy – Quotations and Bids CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 14 of 14 

2). Hold the final payment for thirty days after final acceptance by Council. 

3). Register the project and contractors with the State on-line system at the beginning of the 
project for sales tax exemption certificates.  

C. Early Release of Retainage: 

1). At any time after all or any part of the work on the formal contract is substantially 
completed, the contractor may request the release of all, or part of the retained funds 
owed. The request by the contractor shall be accompanied by a sworn statement of the 
contractor that, ten calendar days prior to the filing of the request, notice was given to all 
known subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, and suppliers. 

2). A project is considered substantially complete if the project has been substantially 
completed in general accordance with the terms and provisions of contract; if the project 
is substantially complete so that the City can occupy or utilize the public improvement for 
its intended purpose; if the public improvement has been designated substantially 
complete by the architect or engineer on the project; or if the project is considered 
substantially complete because the City is occupying or utilizing the public improvement 
for its intended purpose.  

3). After receiving the request, if the contractor has met the requirements noted above, the 
City must release the retainage within thirty (30) days.  

4). The City does reserve the right to withhold 200% of the value of the uncompleted work 
as determined by the City.  

284

Item 29.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: June 5, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Merchant Card Processing Services Contract 
 
The City of Cedar Falls contracts with Professional Solutions Financial Services to 
provide merchant card processing services for 10 point of sale locations and five online 
gateways for City services. The current contract expires June 30, 2023. This contract has 
an extension agreement.  We can extend the agreement for two additional years and 
have chosen to extend the agreement.   
  
The recommendation is based on several factors. Professional Solutions Financial 
Services has a low fee schedule and we have been very happy with the service they 
provide the City. They also are able to provide on-line reporting for each merchant 
account.   
 
Attached please find an extended contract with Professional Solutions Financial 
Services for the period of July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2025, for your approval.   
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 
Cc:Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 

285

Item 30.



286

Item 30.



287

Item 30.



288

Item 30.



289

Item 30.



290

Item 30.



291

Item 30.



292

Item 30.



293

Item 30.



294

Item 30.



295

Item 30.



296

Item 30.



297

Item 30.



298

Item 30.



299

Item 30.



300

Item 30.



301

Item 30.



302

Item 30.



303

Item 30.



304

Item 30.



305

Item 30.



306

Item 30.



307

Item 30.



308

Item 30.



309

Item 30.



310

Item 30.



311

Item 30.



312

Item 30.



313

Item 30.



314

Item 30.



315

Item 30.



316

Item 30.



317

Item 30.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: June 12, 2023 

 SUBJECT:  Audit Engagement Letter 

 
We are just about to begin the audit process for FY2023. This is the third year of our 
contract with Eide Bailly, LLP to perform our audit engagement. 
 
At the beginning of the audit engagement each year, the auditors provide an engagement 
letter that they sign and the City signs that acknowledge both parties understand the work 
that is to be performed. Attached is that letter for your review and approval. 
 
 
Cc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 

318

Item 31.



What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
1545 Associates Dr., Ste. 101  |  Dubuque, IA 52002-2299  |  T 563.556.1790  |  F 563.557.7842  |  EOE

1 

May 23, 2023 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

This letter is provided in connection with our engagement to audit the financial statements and to audit 
compliance over major federal award programs of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (City) as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023. Professional standards require that we communicate with you certain items including our 
responsibilities with regard to the financial statement audit, the compliance audit, and the planned scope and 
timing of our audits, including significant risks we have identified.  

Our Responsibilities 

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 23, 2023, we are responsible for conducting our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS), Government 
Auditing Standards of the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the requirements of the Single 
Audit Act, as amended; and the provisions of the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 
(CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance), for the purpose of forming and expressing opinions on the financial statements and 
on major federal award program compliance. Our audits do not relieve you or management of your respective 
responsibilities. 

Our responsibility as it relates to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is to evaluate its presentation 
for the purpose of forming and expressing an opinion as to whether it is presented fairly in all material respects 
in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Our responsibility relating to other information, whether financial or nonfinancial information (other than 
financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon), included in the entity’s annual comprehensive financial 
report includes only the information identified in our report. We have no responsibility for determining whether 
the introductory section and statistical tables, are properly stated. We require that we receive the final version 
of the annual comprehensive financial report (including all the documents that, together, comprise the annual 
comprehensive financial report) in a timely manner prior to the date of the auditor’s report, or if that is not 
possible as soon as practicable and, in any case, prior to the entity’s issuance of such information 

Planned Scope of the Audit 

Our audits will include examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; therefore, our audit will involve judgment about the number of transactions to be 
examined and the areas to be tested. Our audit is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are free of material misstatement, whether due to error, 
fraudulent financial reporting, misappropriation of assets, or violations of laws or governmental regulations. 
Because of this concept of reasonable assurance and because we will not examine all transactions, there is a risk 
that material misstatements may exist and not be detected by us. 

319

Item 31.



2 

Our audit procedures will also include determining major federal programs and performing the applicable 
procedures described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget OMB Compliance Supplement for the types 
of compliance requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each of the entity’s major programs.  

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, an 
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements or material noncompliance may not be detected exists, even 
though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with U.S. GAAS, Government Auditing 
Standards of the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the requirements of the Single Audit Act, 
as amended; and the provisions of the Uniform Guidance. 

Our audits will include obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal 
control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, the risk of material 
noncompliance in the major federal award programs, and as a basis for designing the nature, timing, and extent 
of further audit procedures, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control over financial reporting. However, we will communicate to you at the conclusion of our audit, 
any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies identified. We will also communicate to you: 

 Any violation of laws or regulations that come to our attention;

 Our views related to qualitative aspects of the entity’s significant accounting practices, including
accounting policies, accounting estimates, and financial statement disclosures;

 Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;

 Significant unusual transactions, if any;

 The potential effects of uncorrected misstatements on future‐period financial statements; and

 Other significant matters that are relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting
process.

Professional standards require us to design our audit to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement whether caused by fraud or error. In designing our audit 
procedures, professional standards require us to evaluate the financial statements and assess the risk that a 
material misstatement could occur. Areas that are potentially more susceptible to misstatements, and thereby 
require special audit considerations, are designated as “significant risks.” Although we are currently in the 
planning stage of our audit, we have preliminarily identified the following significant risks that require special 
audit consideration. 

Management Override of Controls – Professional standards require auditors to address the possibility of 
management overriding controls. Accordingly, we considered as a significant risk that management of the City 
may have the ability to override controls that the City has implemented.  

Revenue Recognition – We considered revenue recognition as a significant risk due to potential complexities 
with accounting standards. 

The financial statements include the financial statements of Cedar Falls Utilities (Component Units), which we 
consider to be significant components of the financial statements. Consistent with the audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, our audit will include obtaining an understanding of Cedar Falls Utilities and their 
environment, including internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements of Cedar Falls Utilities and to design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures.  

We expect to begin our audit in June 2023 and issue our report in October 2023.  

320

Item 31.



3 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, City Council, and management of 
the City of Cedar Falls and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Respectfully, 

Dubuque, Iowa  

321

Item 31.



What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
1545 Associates Dr., Ste. 101  |  Dubuque, IA 52002-2299  |  T 563.556.1790  |  F 563.557.7842  |  EOE

1 

May 23, 2023 

Ms. Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

You have requested that we audit the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business‐type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (City) as of June 30, 2023, and for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  

In addition, we will audit the entity’s compliance over major federal award programs for the period ended June 
30, 2023. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this audit engagement by means 
of this letter.  

Our audits will be conducted with the objectives of our expressing an opinion on each opinion unit and an 
opinion on compliance regarding the entity’s major federal award programs. The objectives of our audit of the 
financial statements are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and in accordance with Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements, including omissions, can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

The objectives of our compliance audit are to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to form an opinion 
and report at the level specified in the governmental audit requirement about whether the entity complied in all 
material respects with the applicable compliance requirements and identify audit and reporting requirements 
specified in the governmental audit requirement that are supplementary to GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards , if any, and perform procedures to address those requirements. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), as promulgated by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), require that certain information be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. As part of our engagement, we will apply certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information (RSI) in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. These limited procedures will consist primarily of inquiries of management regarding their methods 
of measurement and presentation and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries. We will not express an opinion or provide any form of assurance on the RSI. The 
following RSI is required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. This RSI 
will be subjected to certain limited procedures but will not be audited:

322

Item 31.



2 

1. Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
2. Budgetary Comparison Schedule.
3. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability.
4. Schedule of City Contributions (Pension).
5. Schedule of Changes in the City’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios.

Supplementary information other than RSI will accompany the City’s basic financial statements. We will subject 
the following supplementary information to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling the supplementary 
information to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. We intend to provide an opinion on the following supplementary 
information in relation to the financial statements as a whole: 

1. Combining Fund Statements.
2. Capital Asset Schedules.
3. Financial Data Schedule (issued separately as part of required HUD report).

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

We will subject the schedule of expenditures of federal awards to the auditing procedures applied in our audit 
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling the 
schedule to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. We intend to provide an opinion on whether the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented fairly in all material respects in relation to the financial statements 
as a whole.  

Also, the document we submit to you will include the following other additional information that will not be 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the financial statements: 

1. Introductory Section – No opinion or any assurance provided.
2. Statistical Tables – No opinion or any assurance provided.

Data Collection Form 

Prior to the completion of our engagement, we will complete the sections of the Data Collection Form that are 
our responsibility. The form will summarize our audit findings, amounts and conclusions. It is management’s 
responsibility to submit a reporting package including financial statements, schedule of expenditure of federal 
awards, summary schedule of prior audit findings and corrective action plan along with the Data Collection Form 
to the federal audit clearinghouse. The financial reporting package must be text searchable, unencrypted, and 
unlocked. Otherwise, the reporting package will not be accepted by the federal audit clearinghouse. We will 
assist you in the electronic submission and certification. You may request from us copies of our report for you to 
include with the reporting package submitted to pass‐through entities.  

The Data Collection Form is required to be submitted within the earlier of 30 days after receipt of our auditors’ 
reports or nine months after the end of the audit period, unless specifically waived by a federal cognizant or 
oversight agency for audits. Data Collection Forms submitted untimely are one of the factors in assessing 
programs at a higher risk.

323

Item 31.



 

3 

Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
We will conduct our audits in accordance with GAAS, the standards appliable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). As part of an audit of financial 
statements in accordance with GAAS and in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, Uniform Guidance 
and/or any state or regulatory audit requirements we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. However, we will communicate to you in writing 
concerning any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control relevant to the audit of 
the financial statements that we have identified during the audit. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events, considered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, an 
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements or noncompliance may not be detected exists, even though 
the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards of 
the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Please note that the determination of abuse is 
subjective and Government Auditing Standards does not require auditors to detect abuse. 
 
Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and does not extend to any other 
periods. 
 
We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of the City’s basic financial statements. Our report 
will be addressed to the governing body of the City. Circumstances may arise in which our report may differ 
from its expected form and content based on the results of our audit. Depending on the nature of these 
circumstances, it may be necessary for us to modify our opinions, add an emphasis‐of‐matter or other‐matter 
paragraph(s) to our auditor’s report, or if necessary, withdraw from the engagement. If our opinions on the 
basic financial statements are other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in advance. If, for any 
reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not formed opinions, we may decline 
to express opinions or to issue a report as a result of this engagement. 
 

324

Item 31.



 

4 

In accordance with the requirements of Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue a written report 
describing the scope of our testing over internal control over financial reporting and over compliance with laws, 
regulations, and provisions of grants and contracts, including the results of that testing. However, providing an 
opinion on internal control and compliance over financial reporting will not be an objective of the audit and, 
therefore, no such opinion will be expressed. 
 
Audit of Major Program Compliance 
 
Our audit of the City ’s major federal award program(s) compliance will be conducted in accordance with the 
requirements of the Single Audit Act, as amended; and the Uniform Guidance and will include tests of 
accounting records, a determination of major programs in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, and other 
procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express such an opinion on major federal award program 
compliance and to render the required reports. We cannot provide assurance that an unmodified opinion on 
compliance will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it is necessary for us to modify our opinion or 
withdraw from the engagement. 
 
The Uniform Guidance requires that we also plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the material noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations, the provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements applicable to major federal award programs, and the applicable compliance requirements occurred, 
whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the entity’s compliance based on the audit. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance 
will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the 
entity’s compliance with the requirements of the federal programs as a whole. 
 
As part of a compliance audit in accordance with GAAS and in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also identify 
and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks.  
 
Our procedures will consist of determining major federal programs and performing the applicable procedures 
described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget OMB Compliance Supplement for the types of 
compliance requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each of the entity’s major programs, 
and performing such other procedures as we considers necessary in the circumstances The purpose of those 
procedures will be to express an opinion on the entity’s compliance with requirements applicable to each of its 
major programs in our report on compliance issued pursuant to the Uniform Guidance. 
 
Also, as required by the Uniform Guidance, we will obtain an understanding of the entity’s internal control over 
compliance relevant to the audit in order to design and perform tests of controls to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the design and operation of controls that we consider relevant to preventing or detecting material 
noncompliance with compliance requirements applicable to each of the entity’s major federal award programs. 
Our tests will be less in scope than would be necessary to render an opinion on these controls and, accordingly, 
no opinion will be expressed in our report. However, we will communicate to you, regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we have identified during the audit.

325

Item 31.



 

5 

We will issue a report on compliance that will include an opinion or disclaimer of opinion regarding the entity’s 
major federal award programs, and a report on internal controls over compliance that will report any significant 
deficiencies and material weaknesses identified; however, such report will not express an opinion on internal 
control. 
 
Management Responsibilities 
 
Our audit will be conducted on the basis that management and, when appropriate, those charged with 
governance, acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility: 
 

1. For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 

2. For the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; 

3. For identifying, in its accounts, all federal awards received and expended during the period and the 
federal programs under which they were received; 

4. For maintaining records that adequately identify the source and application of funds for federally 
funded activities; 

5. For preparing the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (including notes and noncash assistance 
received) in accordance with the Uniform Guidance; 

6. For designing, implementing, and maintaining effective internal control over federal awards that 
provides reasonable assurance that the entity is managing federal awards in compliance with federal 
statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the federal awards; 

7. For identifying and ensuring that the entity complies with federal laws, statutes, regulations, rules, 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, and the terms and conditions of federal award programs 
and implementing systems designed to achieve compliance with applicable federal statutes, regulations, 
and the terms and conditions of federal award programs; 

8. For disclosing accurately, currently, and completely, the financial results of each federal award in 
accordance with the requirements of the award; 

9. For identifying and providing report copies of previous audits, attestation engagements, or other studies 
that directly relate to the objectives of the audit, including whether related recommendations have 
been implemented; 

10. For taking prompt action when instances of noncompliance are identified; 
11. For addressing the findings and recommendations of auditors, for establishing and maintaining a 

process to track the status of such findings and recommendations and taking corrective action on 
reported audit findings from prior periods and preparing a summary schedule of prior audit findings; 

12. For following up and taking corrective action on current year audit findings and preparing a corrective 
action plan for such findings; 

13. For submitting the reporting package and data collection form to the appropriate parties;  
14. For making the auditor aware of any significant contractor relationships where the contractor is 

responsible for program compliance;  
15. To provide us with: 

a. Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements including disclosures, and relevant to federal award 
programs, such as records, documentation, and other matters; 

b. Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and 
c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity and others from whom we determine it 

necessary to obtain audit evidence.

326

Item 31.



 

6 

16. For including the auditor’s report in any document containing financial statements that indicates that 
such financial statements have been audited by us, including: 

i. A written acknowledgement of all the documents that management expects to issue 
that will be included in the annual report and the planned timing and method of 
issuance of that annual report; and 

ii. A final version of the annual report (including all the documents that, together, 
comprise the annual report) in a timely manner prior to the date of the auditor’s report; 

17. For adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements and confirming to us in the 
management representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected misstatements aggregated by us 
during the current engagement and pertaining to the current year period(s) under audit are immaterial, 
both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole;  

18. For acceptance of nonattest services, including identifying the proper party to oversee nonattest work; 
19. For maintaining adequate records, selecting and applying accounting principles, and safeguarding 

assets;  
20. For informing us of any known or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving management, 

employees with significant role in internal control and others where fraud could have a material effect 
on compliance; 

21. For the accuracy and completeness of all information provided; 
22. For taking reasonable measures to safeguard protected personally identifiable and other sensitive 

information; and 
23. For confirming your understanding of your responsibilities as defined in this letter to us in your 

management representation letter. 
 

With regard to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards referred to above, you acknowledge and 
understand your responsibility (a) for the preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, (b) to provide us with the appropriate written representations regarding 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, (c) to include our report on the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards in any document that contains the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and that indicates 
that we have reported on such schedule, and (d) to present the schedule of expenditures of federal awards with 
the audited financial statements, or if the schedule will not be presented with the audited financial statements, 
to make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the schedule of expenditures 
of federal awards no later than the date of issuance by you of the schedule and our report thereon.  
 
With regard to the supplementary information referred to above, you acknowledge and understand your 
responsibility (a) for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with the applicable 
criteria, (b) to provide us with the appropriate written representations regarding supplementary information, (c) 
to include our report on the supplementary information in any document that contains the supplementary 
information and that indicates that we have reported on such supplementary information, and (d) to present 
the supplementary information with the audited financial statements, or if the supplementary information will 
not be presented with the audited financial statements, to make the audited financial statements readily 
available to the intended users of the supplementary information no later than the date of issuance by you of 
the supplementary information and our report thereon.  
 
As part of our audit process, we will request from management and, when appropriate, those charged with 
governance, written confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the audit. 
 
We understand that your employees will prepare all confirmations we request and will locate any documents or 
invoices selected by us for testing.

327

Item 31.



 

7 

If you intend to publish or otherwise reproduce the financial statements and make reference to our firm, you 
agree to provide us with printers’ proofs or masters for our review and approval before printing. You also agree 
to provide us with a copy of the final reproduced material for our approval before it is distributed.  
 
Nonattest Services  
 
With respect to any nonattest services we perform, we agree to perform the following:  
 

 Complete the auditee’s portion of the Data Collection Form 
 
We will not assume management responsibilities on behalf of the City. The City’s management understands and 
agrees that any advice or recommendation we may provide in connection with our audit engagement are solely 
to assist management in performing its responsibilities.  
 
The City’s management is responsible for (a) making all management decisions and performing all management 
functions; (b) assigning a competent individual to oversee the services; (c) evaluating the adequacy of the 
services performed; (d) evaluating and accepting responsibility for the results of the services performed; and (e) 
establishing and maintaining internal controls, including monitoring ongoing activities. 
 
Our responsibilities and limitations of the nonattest services are as follows: 
 

 We will perform the services in accordance with applicable professional standards. 

 The nonattest services are limited to the services previously outlined above. Our firm, in its sole 
professional judgment, reserves the right to refuse to do any procedure or take any action that 
could be construed as making management decisions or assuming management responsibilities.  

 
Fees and Timing 
 
Brian Unsen is the engagement partner for the audit services specified in this letter. Responsibilities include 
supervising services performed as part of this engagement and signing or authorizing another qualified firm 
representative to sign the audit report. We expect to begin our audit in June 2023. 
 
Our fees are based on the amount of time required at various levels of responsibility, plus actual out‐of‐pocket 
expenses, including administrative charges. Invoices are payable upon presentation. We agree that our gross 
fee, including expenses, for the audit will not exceed $45,000 for the audit of the financial statements (assuming 
one major program), including the preparation of the REAC submission. Each additional major program will be a 
fee of $3,200. We will notify you immediately of any circumstances we encounter that could significantly affect 
this initial fee estimate. Whenever possible, we will attempt to use the City’s personnel to assist in the 
preparation of schedules and analyses of accounts. This effort could substantially reduce our time requirements 
and facilitate the timely conclusion of the audit. Further, we will be available during the year to consult with you 
on financial management and accounting matters of a routine nature. 
 
The ability to perform and complete our engagement consistent with the estimated fee included above depends 
upon the quality of your underlying accounting records and the timeliness of your personnel in providing 
information and responding to our requests. To assist with this process, we will provide you with a Prepared‐by‐
Client (PBC) request that identifies the information required to perform our engagement, as well as a planned 
timeline for the engagement. A failure to provide this information in an accurate and timely manner may result 
in an increase in our fees and/or a delay in the completion of our engagement.

328

Item 31.



 

8 

We may be requested to make certain audit documentation available to outside parties, including regulators, 
pursuant to authority provided by law or regulation or applicable professional standards. If requested, access to 
such audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of Eide Bailly LLP’s personnel. Furthermore, 
upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit documentation to the outside party, who may intend, or 
decide, to distribute the copies of information contained therein to others, including other governmental 
agencies. We will be compensated for any time and expenses, including time and expenses of legal counsel, we 
may incur in making such audit documentation available or in conducting or responding to discovery requests or 
participating as a witness or otherwise in any legal, regulatory, or other proceedings as a result of our Firm’s 
performance of these services. You and your attorney will receive, if lawful, a copy of every subpoena we are 
asked to respond to on your behalf and will have the ability to control the extent of the discovery process to 
control the costs you may incur. 
 
Should our relationship terminate before our audit procedures are completed and a report issued, you will be 
billed for services to the date of termination. All bills are payable upon receipt. A service charge of 5% per 
annum, will be added to all accounts unpaid 30 days after billing date. If collection action is necessary, expenses 
and reasonable attorney’s fees will be added to the amount due. 
 
Other Matters  
 
During the course of the engagement, we will only provide confidential engagement documentation to you via 
Eide Bailly’s secure portal or other secure methods, and request that you use the same or similar tools in 
providing information to us. Should you choose not to utilize secure communication applications, you 
acknowledge that such communication contains a risk of the information being made available to unintended 
third parties. Similarly, we may communicate with you or your personnel via e‐mail or other electronic methods, 
and you acknowledge that communication in those mediums contains a risk of misdirected or intercepted 
communications. 
 
Should you provide us with remote access to your information technology environment, including but not 
limited to your financial reporting system, you agree to (1) assign unique usernames and passwords for use by 
our personnel in accessing the system and to provide this information in a secure manner; (2) limit access to 
“read only” to prevent any unintentional deletion or alteration of your data; (3) limit access to the areas of your 
technology environment necessary to perform the procedures agreed upon; and (4) disable all usernames and 
passwords provided to us upon the completion of procedures for which access was provided. We agree to only 
access your technology environment to the extent necessary to perform the identified procedures. 
 
Regarding the electronic dissemination of audited financial statements, including financial statements published 
electronically on your website or elsewhere, you understand that electronic sites are a means to distribute 
information and, therefore, we are not required to read the information contained in these sites or to consider 
the consistency of other information in the electronic site with the original document.  
 
Professional standards prohibit us from being the sole host and/or the sole storage for your financial and non‐
financial data. As such, it is your responsibility to maintain your original data and records and we cannot be 
responsible to maintain such original information. By signing this engagement letter, you affirm that you have all 
the data and records required to make your books and records complete. 
 

329

Item 31.



 

9 

We may use third party service providers and/or affiliated entities (including Eide Bailly Shared Services Private 
Limited) (collectively, “service providers”) in order to facilitate delivering our services to you. Our use of service 
providers may require access to client information by the service provider. We will take reasonable precautions 
to determine that they have the appropriate procedures in place to prevent the unauthorized release of 
confidential information to others. We will remain responsible for the confidentiality of client information 
accessed by such service provider and any work performed by such service provider. You acknowledge that your 
information may be disclosed to such service providers, including those outside the United States. 
 
Neither of us may use or disclose the other’s confidential information for any purpose except as permitted 
under this engagement letter or as otherwise necessary for Eide Bailly to provide the services. Your confidential 
information is defined as any information you provide to us that is not available to the public. Eide Bailly’s 
confidential information includes our audit documentation for this engagement. Our audit documentation shall 
at all times remain the property of Eide Bailly LLP. The confidentiality obligations described in this paragraph 
shall supersede and replace any and all prior confidentiality and/or nondisclosure agreements (NDAs) between 
us. 
 
We agree to retain our audit documentation or work papers for a period of at least eight years from the date of 
our report.  
 
Further, we will be available during the year to consult with you on financial management and accounting 
matters of a routine nature.  
 
You agree to share all facts that may affect your financial statements, even if you first become aware of those 
facts after the date of the auditor’s report but before the date your financial statements are issued. 
 
At the conclusion of our audit engagement, we will communicate to the City Council the following significant 
findings from the audit: 
 

 Our view about the qualitative aspects of the entity’s significant accounting practices; 

 Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit; 

 Uncorrected misstatements, other than those we believe are trivial, if any; 

 Disagreements with management, if any; 

 Other findings or issues, if any, arising from the audit that are, in our professional judgment, significant 
and relevant to those charged with governance regarding their oversight of the financial reporting 
process; 

 Material, corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our 
audit procedures; 

 Representations we requested from management; 

 Management’s consultations with other accountants, if any; and 

 Significant issues, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed, or the subject of correspondence, 
with management. 

 
Government Auditing Standards require that we provide, upon request, a copy of our most recent external peer 
review report and any subsequent review reports to the party contracting for the audit. Accordingly, we will 
provide a copy of our most recent peer review report at your request. 

330

Item 31.



 

10 

MEDIATION 
 
Any disagreement, controversy or claim arising out of or related to any aspect of our services or relationship 
with you (hereafter a “Dispute”) shall, as a precondition to litigation in court, first be submitted to mediation. In 
mediation, the parties attempt to reach an amicable resolution of the Dispute with the aid of an impartial 
mediator. Mediation shall begin by service of a written demand. The mediator will be selected by mutual 
agreement. If we cannot agree on a mediator, one shall be designated by the American Arbitration Association 
(“AAA”). Mediation shall be conducted with the parties in person in Dubuque, Iowa. Each party will bear its own 
costs in the mediation. The fees and expenses of the mediator will be shared equally by the parties. Neither 
party may commence a lawsuit until the mediator declares an impasse.  
 
LIMITED INDEMNITY 
 
Eide Bailly LLP and its partners, affiliates, officers and employees (collectively “Eide Bailly”) shall not be 
responsible for any misstatements in your financial statements that we may fail to detect as a result of 
misrepresentations or concealment of information by any of your directors, officers or employees. You shall 
indemnify and hold Eide Bailly harmless from any claims, losses, settlements, judgments, awards, damages and 
attorneys’ fees arising from any such misstatement or concealment of information.  
 
Eide Bailly shall not be entitled to indemnification under this agreement unless the services were performed in 
accordance with professional standards in all material respects. 
 
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any agreement between us, in no event shall Eide Bailly’s 
aggregate liability to you exceed the greater of one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) or ten times fees paid under 
this agreement. 
 
TIME LIMITATION 
 
Any statute of limitations applicable to claims you may bring against us shall begin to run on the date when we 
delivered our report, return, or other deliverable under this agreement to you and begins to run even if you 
have not suffered any damage or loss, or have not become aware of a possible Dispute. 
 
ASSIGNMENTS PROHIBITED 
 
You shall not assign, sell, barter or transfer any legal rights, causes of actions, claims or Disputes you may have 
against Eide Bailly to any person. 
 
Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgment of, and agreement with, 
the arrangements for our audit of the financial statements including our respective responsibilities. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be your certified public accountants and look forward to working with you 
and your staff. 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
Brian Unsen, CPA 
Partner

331

Item 31.



 

11 

*************************************************************** 
 
RESPONSE: If any provision of this Engagement Letter conflicts with or is inconsistent with the provisions of the 
Service/Product Agreement between the parties dated July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2023, and approved by the 
City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, via Resolution No. 22,334, dated April 19, 2021 (the “Agreement”), the 
Agreement shall prevail in all cases. 
 
This letter correctly sets forth our understanding. 
 
Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa by:  
 
Name: _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Title: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

332

Item 31.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council  

 FROM: Kate Aguiar, Payroll/HR Technician 

 DATE: June 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT: FY24 Fee Schedule 

 

 

Attached is a copy of the proposed FY24 Fee Schedule.  The Fee Schedule establishes 
fees for all City operations except Enterprise Fund fees, which are established by 
ordinance (refuse, sanitary sewer collection and parking meter fees). 
 
It is recommended that the attached FY24 Fee Schedule be adopted as proposed.  
Following adoption, staff will schedule the fees for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 
2023.  If you have any questions regarding proposed fees, please contact the 
department director responsible for the fee in question.   
 

 

333

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATE

Civil Service Test No charge

Civil Service Promotional Test No charge

Video Duplication $15.00 Each DVD

COPY RECORDS / DIGITAL DATA

Police Incident Reports $15.00 Each report

Black & White Copy, six 
or more pages + staff time over 30 minutes $0.10

Color Copy, six or more pages  + staff time over 30 minutes $0.20

Add: DOT Accident Reports $15.00

Digital Media Duplication $15.00 Each Per media device + staff time over 30 minutes $15.00

Photo Reprints (4x6 in-house) $1.00 Each

Photo Reprints (larger/out-source) At Cost

Fire Incident Reports $10.00 Each report

Black & White Copy, six 
or more pages + staff time over 30 minutes $0.10

Color Copy, six or more pages  + staff time over 30 minutes $0.20

Fire Investigative Reports (Non-Criminal) $10.00 Each report

Black & White Copy, six 
or more pages + staff time over 30 minutes $0.10

Color Copy, six or more pages  + staff time over 30 minutes $0.20

  Copying of records – major project

Applicable fee 
above + staff 
time over 30 

minutes

Copying of records – major project, including but not 
limited to video footage

Applicable fee above + staff time over 
30 minutes

House/Garage Moving Permit $40.00/hr. 1/2 hr. min.

Funeral Escort $25.00

1 Hr. of Squad Car Usage $16.50

Applicant Fingerprinting $10.00 1-3 cards $15.00

  Additional cards $2.00 Per card

Junk Vehicle Certificate $10.00

Sale of City Code of Ordinances $200.00 Hard Cover
Includes cost of new book and mailing subsequent code 
supplements

Sale of City Zoning Ordinance $50.00 Paper Cover
Includes cost of new book and mailing subsequent code 
supplements

Sale of National/Uniform Code Books adopted by 
reference, i.e. Building, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Mechanical, Fire, Life Safety, Housing, etc.

Sold at cost

Sale of Official Financial Publications Sold at cost

Copying of City Records No Charge Five pages or less

$0.10
Black & White Copy, six 
or more pages

$0.20
Color Copy, six or more
 pages

  Copying of City Records - major projects $0.10
Black & White Copy, six 
or more pages + staff time over 30 
minutes

$0.20
Color Copy, six or more pages  + 
staff time over 30 minutes

Inspection and Design
Negotiated charges approved by 
City Council in Contract form

Copying of maps, drawings, etc. No Charge Five standard pages or less 

$0.10 Each, six or more pages

Copying of oversized maps, drawings, etc. $5.00 Each $25.00

Copy of Aerial Map per development $85.00 Remove Fee

Copy of Aerial Map entire City $425.00 Remove Fee

Sanitary Sewer Permit $100.00

City Banners - For "For Profit" Groups, 
Installation and removal $10.00 Each Banner

Electrical Panels For Special Events $50.00 Per Panel

$250.00 Deposit Fee

Add: Memorial Bench with Installation $1,200.00

Delivery of Picnic Tables for Special Events $10.00 Per Table

Salt/Sand Mix $20.00 Each Ton

For equipment rates utilize current Iowa DOT Schedule of 

Equipment Rates unless otherwise noted in this document. 

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates   

Aerial Lift Truck $125.00 Per hour

Traffic Control Devices Placement & Removal $100.00 Per placement

All equipment listed above:
1 Hour Minimum

Personnel:
1 Hour Minimum

Employee’s 
Effective Rate

Plus 20% Administrative Fee

Public Works/Code Enforcement - Bulk items left 
at the curb with no prearranged pick up

$200 flat fee
Plus disposal costs for ban items; 
tires, appliances, computers, 
televisions

Contaminated Solid Waste/Yard Waste Carts. 
When yard waste cart is contaminated with 
garbage, or garbage cart is contaminated with 
solid waste

$50.00

SEC. 3-1
LICENSE TO DISTRIBUTE/POST ADVERTISING 
MATERIALS

$20.00
$200.00

Daily or
Annually

SEC. 3-43
SIGN PERMITS $40.00 Minimum all signs and

ADOPTED RATE

SEC. 2-311
CIVIL SERVICE EXAMINATIONS

SEC. 2-511
CABLE TELEVSION DIVISION

SEC. 2-572
PUBLIC RECORDS DIVISION

SEC. 2-809
PUBLIC WORKS

SEC. 2-712
ENGINEERING SERVICES

PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES

POLICE SERVICES

Page 1

334

Item 32.

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates


City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

$1.00 Each additional sq. ft. of sign area > 
100 sq. ft.  $200.00 max.

Painter’s License $15.00 One year

Erector’s License $150.00 First year and

$35.00 For renewal

Dog or Cat Altered $6.00 Each year

Dog or Cat Not Altered $12.00 Each year

Late Licensing Doubles After March 31

Duplicate License & Tag $1.00

Tag & License Mailing Fee $1.00 Each Tag/License

SEC. 6-99
LICENSE FOR RIDING SCHOOLS OR STABLES $30.00 One year

BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS

International Building Code Plan Review.  (Base 
project value of $1,000 or more)

65% of Building Permit Fee

SEC. 7-19
BUILDING PERMITS

Valuation

$1.00 TO $500.00 $25.00

$500.01 TO $600.00 $28.00

$600.01 TO $700.00 $31.00

$700.01 TO $800.00 $34.00

$800.01 TO $900.00 $37.00

$900.01 TO $1,000.00 $41.00 $40.00

$1,001.01 TO $1,100.00 $44.00 $43.00

$1,100.01 TO $1,200.00 $47.00 $46.00

$1,200.01 TO $1,300.00 $50.00 $49.00

$1,300.01 TO $1,400.00 $53.00 $52.00

$1,400.01 TO $1,500.00 $56.00 $55.00

$1,500.01 TO $1,600.00 $59.00 $58.00

$1,600.01 TO $1,700.00 $62.00 $61.00

$1,700.01 TO $1,800.00 $65.00 $64.00

$1,800.01 TO $1,900.00 $68.00 $67.00

$1,900.01 TO $2,000.00 $71.00 $70.00

$2,000.01 TO $3,000.00 $86.00 $85.00

$3,000.01 TO $4,000.00 $100.00

$4,000.01 TO $5,000.00 $115.00

$5,000.01 TO $6,000.00 $129.00 $130.00

$6,000.01 TO $7,000.00 $144.00 $145.00

$7,000.01 TO $8,000.00 $158.00 $160.00

$8,000.01 TO $9,000.00 $172.00 $175.00

$9,000.01 TO $10,0000 $187.00 $189.00

$10,000.01 TO $11,000.00 $201.00 $203.00

$11,000.01 TO $12,000.00 $216.00 $217.00

$12,000.01 TO $13,000.00 $230.00 $231.00

$13,000.01 TO $14,000.00 $244.00 $245.00

$14,000.01 TO $15,000.00 $259.00

$15,000.01 TO $16,000.00 $273.00

$16,000.01 TO $17,000.00 $287.00

$17,000.01 TO $18,000.00 $302.00 $301.00

$18,000.01 TO $19,000.00 $316.00 $315.00

$19,000.01 TO $20,000.00 $331.00 $329.00

$20,000.01 TO $21,000.00 $345.00 $343.00

$21,000.01 TO $22,000.00 $360.00 $357.00

$22,000.01 TO $23,000.00 $374.00 $371.00

$23,000.01 TO $24,000.00 $389.00 $385.00

$24,000.01 TO $25,000.00 $403.00 $399.00

SEC. 3-46
SIGN PAINTER'S OR ERECTOR'S LICENSE

SEC. 6-46
DOG AND CAT LICENSE

Page 2

335

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

$25,000.01 TO $26,000.00 $413.00

$26,000.01 TO $27,000.00 $423.00

$27,000.01 TO $28,000.00 $434.00 $433.00

$28,000.01 TO $29,000.00 $444.00 $443.00

$29,000.01 TO $30,000.00 $455.00 $453.00

$30,000.01 TO $31,000.00 $465.00 $463.00

$31,000.01 TO $32,000.00 $475.00 $473.00

$32,000.01 TO $33,000.00 $486.00 $483.00

$33,000.01 TO $34,000.00 $496.00 $493.00

$34,000.01 TO $35,000.00 $506.00 $503.00

$35,000.01 TO $36,000.00 $516.00 $513.00

$36,000.01 TO $37,000.00 $527.00 $523.00

$37,000.01 TO $38,000.00 $537.00 $533.00

$38,000.01 TO $39,000.00 $547.00 $543.00

$39,000.01 TO $40,000.00 $558.00 $553.00

$40,000.01 TO $41,000.00 $568.00 $563.00

$41,000.01 TO $42,000.00 $578.00 $573.00

$42,000.01 TO $43,000.00 $589.00 $583.00

$43,000.01 TO $44,000.00 $599.00 $593.00

$44,000.01 TO $45,000.00 $609.00 $603.00

$45,000.01 TO $46,000.00 $619.00 $613.00

$46,000.01 TO $47,000.00 $630.00 $623.00

$47,000.01 TO $48,000.00 $640.00 $633.00

$48,000.01 TO $49,000.00 $650.00 $643.00

$49,000.01 TO $50,000.00 $661.00 $653.00

$50,000.01 TO $51,000.00 $668.00 $663.00

$51,000.01 TO $52,000.00 $675.00 $673.00

$52,000.01 TO $53,000.00 $682.00 $683.00

$53,000.01 TO $54,000.00 $689.00 $693.00

$54,000.01 TO $55,000.00 $697.00 $700.00

$55,000.01 TO $56,000.00 $704.00 $707.00

$56,000.01 TO $57,000.00 $711.00 $714.00

$57,000.01 TO $58,000.00 $718.00 $721.00

$58,000.01 TO $59,000.00 $725.00 $728.00

$59,000.01 TO $60,000.00 $734.00 $735.00

$60,000.01 TO$ 61,000.00 $740.00 $742.00

$61,000.01 TO $62,000.00 $747.00 $749.00

$62,000.01 TO $63,000.00 $754.00 $756.00

$63,000.01 TO $64,000.00 $762.00 $763.00

$64,000.01 TO $65,000.00 $769.00 $770.00

$65,000.01 TO $66,000.00 $776.00 $777.00

$66,000.01 TO $67,000.00 $783.00 $784.00

$67,000.01 TO $68,000.00 $790.00 $791.00

$68,000.01 TO $69,000.00 $798.00

$69,000.01 TO $70,000.00 $805.00

$70,000.01 TO $71,000.00 $812.00

$71,000.01 TO $72,000.00 $819.00

$72,000.01 TO $73,000.00 $826.00

$73,000.01 TO $74,000.00 $834.00 $833.00

$74,000.01 TO $75,000.00 $841.00 $840.00

$75,000.01 TO $76,000.00 $848.00 $847.00

$76,000.01 TO $77,000.00 $855.00 $854.00

Page 3

336

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

$77,000.01 TO $78,000.00 $862.00 $861.00

$78,000.01 TO $79,000.00 $870.00 $868.00

$79,000.01 TO $80,000.00 $877.00 $875.00

$80,000.01 TO $81,000.00 $884.00 $882.00

$81,000.01 TO $82,000.00 $891.00 $889.00

$82,000.01 TO $83,000.00 $899.00 $896.00

$83,000.01 TO $84,000.00 $905.00 $903.00

$84,000.01 TO $85,000.00 $913.00 $910.00

$85,000.01 TO $86,000.00 $920.00 $917.00

$86,000.01 TO $87,000.00 $927.00 $924.00

$87,000.01 TO $88,000.00 $935.00 $931.00

$88,000.01 TO $89,000.00 $942.00 $938.00

$89,000.01 TO $90,000.00 $949.00 $945.00

$90,000.01 TO $91,000.00 $956.00 $952.00

$91,000.01 TO $92,000.00 $963.00 $959.00

$92,000.01 TO $93,000.00 $971.00 $966.00

$93,000.01 TO $94,000.00 $978.00 $973.00

$94,000.01 TO $95,000.00 $985.00 $980.00

$95,000.01 TO $96,000.00 $992.00 $987.00

$96,000.01 TO $97,000.00 $999.00 $994.00

$97,000.01 TO $98,000.00 $1,007.00 $1,001.00

$98,000.01 TO $99,000.00 $1,014.00 $1,008.00

$99,000.01 TO $100,000.00 $1,021.00 $1,016.00

$100,000.01 TO $500,000.00

$1,021.00 + $6.20 

for each 

additional 

$1,000.00 Any fraction of $1,000.00 shall be 
counted as an additional $1,000.00

$500,000.01 TO $1,000,000.00

$3,493.00 + $5.15 

for each 

additional 

$1,000.00
Any fraction of $1,000.00 shall be 
counted as an additional $1,000.00

$1,000,000.01 AND UP

$6,068.00 + $4.15 

for each 

additional 

$1,000.00 Any fraction of $1,000.00 shall be 
counted as an additional $1,000.00

Reinspection Fee                        75.00 

Working without permit fee                      100.00 

Add: Expired Permit Fee
 $500 or 10% of original permit fee, 

whichever is higher 

Add: Condemnation Reinspection $75.00

SEC. 7-50
ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION $150.00 One year

SEC. 7-50
SPECIAL ELECTRICIAN REGISTRATION $150.00 One year

   Electrical Contractors
$100,000/

$300,000

 Special Electricians
$100,000/

$300,000

Base Rate $30.00

1-2 Bedrooms $170.00

3 Bedrooms $180.00

4 Bedrooms $200.00

5+ Bedrooms $210.00

Rough Wiring-Openings $10.00 1 to 14, inclusive

$7.00 15 to 30, inclusive, additional

$0.20 Over 30, Per additional opening

Lighting Fixtures:
Incandescent/Fluorescent/Porcelain Bases $10.00 1 to 14, inclusive

$7.00 15 to 30, inclusive, additional

Electrical Services:
Temporary/Permanent $15.00 Temporary Service

$20.00 To 225-ampere capacity

$30.00 Over 225-ampere capacity

$10.00 Additional replacement services

$7.00 Subpanels

Motors, Per Unit $8.00 0 to 10 HP

$10.00 Over 10 HP

Dishwasher, Disposal, Electric Dryer, Sump 
Pump, Door Opener, Water Heater, Cooking 
Equipment, Bath Fan, Etc. $5.00 Each unit

Central Heating & Cooling Unit $8.00 Each unit

 Supplemental Heating/Cooling $5.00 Each unit

Generators, Transfer Switch, Car Charging 
Station, Hot Tub, Feeder Panel, Etc. $10.00 Each Unit

Basement Finishing $75.00

Reinspection fee $75.00

SEC. 7-20
RESIDENTIAL ELECTRICAL INSPECTION PERMIT FEES

SEC. 7-20
CONDITIONS OF CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE

Page 4

337

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Working without permit fee $100.00

Certificate of Insurance
$100,000/

$300,000

Miscellaneous $30.00

Base Rate $30.00

Rough Wiring-Openings $30.00 1 to 14, inclusive

$15.00 15 to 30, inclusive, additional

$0.30 Over 30, Per additional opening

Lighting Fixtures: $30.00 1 to 14, inclusive

$15.00 15 to 30, inclusive, additional

$0.30 Over 30, per additional opening

Electrical Services:
Temporary/Permanent $20.00 Temporary Service

$40.00
Permanent Service up to 400 
ampere

$60.00
Permanent Service 401-800 
ampere

$80.00
Permanent Service over 800 
ampere

Add: Subpanels. Note: added for consistency between 
residential and commercial $7.00

$10.00 Additional replacement services

Motors, Per Unit $10.00 0 to 10 HP

$15.00 Over 10 HP

Transformers, Per Unit $20.00 0 to 75 KVA

$30.00 Over 75 KVA

Feeder Panels $15.00 Up to 225 A

$20.00 Above 225 A

Dishwasher, Disposal, Electric Dryer, Sump 
Pump, Door Opener, Water Heater, Cooking 
Equipment, Exhaust Fans $5.00 Each unit

Central Heating & Cooling Unit $8.00 Each unit

Supplemental Heating/Cooling $5.00 Each unit

Illuminated Signs and Outline Lighting $10.00 Each sign

Neon and All Signs Using Secondary Voltage of 
600 Volts or More $10.00 Each transformer

Special Equipment such as Generators, X-ray 
Equipment, Converters, Welders Etc. $15.00 Each Unit

Reinspection Fee $75.00

Working without permit fee $100.00

In-Ground Swimming Pool/Hot Tub Bonding 
Inspection $60.00

Specialized Systems such as Solar PV Systems, 
Wind Generated Systems, Etc. $30.00

Certificate of Insurance
$100,000/

$300,000

Miscellaneous $30.00

SEC. 7-170
ANNUAL PERMIT FOR PLUMBING WORK $100.00 One year

Base Rate $30.00

Water closet, urinals, bidets, tubs, showers, 
lavatories, sinks, hand sinks, floor sinks, grease 
trap, disposal, dishwasher, drinking fountain, 
laundry drain, laundry sink, sump, floor drains, 
roof drains, backwater valve, sewage eject, 
vacuum breakers, mop sinks. $8.50

Water softener, Water heater $15.00

Sewer Connections To/Or Continuation from 
Main $30.00

Multiple Sewer Stubs $15.00 Each

Additional Fixture, Trap or Trap Opening (To 
Apply Towards Minimum Fee) $8.50

Reinspection of Unapproved work $75.00

Water Treatment or Storage Units $20.00

Backflow Protective Devices-Water $8.50

Reconstruction or Alteration of Drains, Stacks or 
Vents $20.00

One bathroom house $135.00

Two bathroom house $161.00

Three or more bathroom house 
$161.00 for first 

two bathrooms + 

$40 per additional 

bathroom

Working w/o permit $100.00

Miscellaneous $30.00
SEC. 7-232

LICENSE FEE, MOVING A BUILDING $30.00 One Week

$60.00 One Month

$100.00 Six Months

$200.00 One Year

Structure Less than 200 sq. ft. $10.00

Structure More than 200 sq. ft. and Less than 500 
sq. ft. $50.00

Structure More than 500 sq. ft. $100.00

Base Rate $30.00

New House $150.00 Add: For houses with less than a total of 4,000 SF

Apartments $70.00 Per Unit

AC 0 to 3 Ton $20.00

AC 3.5 Ton – 5 Ton $40.00

AC 5.5 Ton – 30 Ton $50.00

AC 30.5 – 50 Ton $60.00

AC over 50 Ton $3.00 Per Ton

AH 0 to 10,000 CFM $20.00

AH over 10,000 CFM $30.00

Air-to-Air Heat Exchanger $15.00

SEC. 7-20
COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL ELECTRICAL INSPECTION PERMIT FEES

SEC. 7-170
PLUMBING FEES

SEC. 7-247
MOVING PERMIT FEE ACCORDING TO STRUCTURE

SEC. 7-414
MECHANICAL FEES

Page 5

338

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Bath Exhaust $5.00

Boiler – 0 to 100,000 $20.00

Boiler – 100,001 to 500,000 $30.00

Boiler – 500,001 to 1,000,000 $45.00

Boiler 1,000,001 to 1,750,000 $60.00

Boiler over 1,750,000 $100.00

Duct Alterations $20.00

Fireplace $25.00

Furnace – Electric $25.00

Furnace – Gas $25.00

Furnace Vents $15.00

In-floor Heat $20.00

VAV Boxes $10.00

Ventilation – Type 1 Hood $50.00

Ventilation – Type 2 Hood $25.00

Working w/o Permit $100.00

Miscellaneous $30.00

CSST Inspection up to $500 $35.00

CSST Inspection up to $501-$2,000 $60.00

CSST Inspection over $2,000 $85.00

Fuel gas piping $28.00

Reinspection Fee $75.00

Base Rate $20.00

1/6 hp – 1/3 hp $15.00

1/3 hp – 1 hp $20.00

1 hp or greater $30.00

Cooling Towers $20.00

Walk-in Coolers/Freezers $20.00

Unit Coolers $20.00

Industrial Refrigeration $8.00 Per hp

Condominium Conversion $400.00 Per Unit

Initial Inspection See Attached

First Re-inspection $100.00

Second Re-inspection $150.00

Third and Each Subsequent Re-inspection $200.00

Owner does not show $50.00
With verbal acknowledgement of 
appointment by owner/occupant

Inspection after normal business hours $50.00

Day Care Inspections $50.00

Temporary Structure Inspection $50.00 Initial structure

$25.00 each additional temp structure

FALSE ALARMS

1st  occurrence of year $0.00

2nd occurrence of year $0.00

3rd occurrence of year $200.00

4th occurrence of year $200.00

5th-9th occurrence of year $275.00 Each

10th and above occurrence of year $425.00 Each

Evidence of Repair in Lieu of Fee Fire Chief discretion

Alarm activation without notification $200.00 Each occurrence

   One & Two Single Family Home $100.00

0-4,999 square foot $80.00 Per Floor

5,000-7,499 square foot $160.00 Per Floor

7,500+ square foot $240.00 Per Floor

System Hydro Test (additional) $80.00

Re-inspections due to test failure $40.00 Per hour

Stand Pipe (additional) $150.00

Fire Pump (additional) $150.00

Kitchen Hood Permits $40.00

System installed without permit $160.00 Per system

System installed/operating w/o testing $320.00 Per system

0-4,999 square foot $80.00 Per Floor

5,000-7,499 square foot $160.00 Per Floor

7,500+ square foot $240.00 Per Floor

Acceptance testing of Newly installed and/or 
modified alarm systems $40.00 Per Hour, Per Inspector

Re-inspections due to test failure $40.00 Per hour

System installed without permit $160.00 Per system

System installed/operating w/o test $320.00 Per system

0-4,999 square foot $80.00

5,000-7,499 square foot $160.00

7,500+ square foot $240.00

Initial permits $100.00

Plan review and inspection $80.00

Re-inspection due to test failure $40.00

Inspection after normal hours $40.00

Passenger vehicle fire (<10,000 lbs) $150.00

Comm. vehicle fire (>10,000 lbs) $200.00

Extrication of victim from vehicle $250.00

Personnel without equipment $30.00 Per Hour, Per Person

Heavy Apparatus - up to 4 personnel $250.00

Light Apparatus - up to 2 personnel $200.00

Extrication of victim from vehicle $250.00

Heavy Apparatus - up to 4 personnel $250.00 Per Hour-1 hr. min.

Light Apparatus - up to 2 personnel $200.00 Per Hour-1 hr. min.

Additional response personnel $20.00 Each- Per hour

SEC. 9-25
COMMERCIAL FIRE INSPECTION

RESIDENTIAL FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

FIRE ALARM/SPRINKLER SYSTEM INSPECTIONS

   Fire Sprinkler System Construction Permits

   Fire Alarm Systems Construction Permits

   Clean Agent Fire Suppression System Construction Permits

VEHICLE FIRES & EXTRICATIONS

SPECIAL EVENT STANDBY

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL RESPONSE

   Solar Panel Fire Permit

REFRIGERATION FEES

SEC. 7-444
CONDOMINIUM CONVERSION

   Condensing Units:

Page 6

339

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Expended Materials Replacement cost

Equipment Repair/Cleaning Cost (parts,labor,s/h)

Damaged Equipment/Property Cost to replace/repair

Other (incl. Contracted svcs/equip) Cost

Heavy Apparatus - up to 4 personnel $250.00 Per Hour-1 hr. min.

Light Apparatus - up to 2 personnel $200.00 Per Hour-1 hr. min.

Specialized Technical Rescue Equip $400.00 Per incident

Expended Materials Replacement cost

Equipment Repair/Cleaning Cost (parts,labor,s/h)

Damaged Equipment/Property Cost to replace/repair

Other (incl. Contracted svcs/equip) Cost

New Location $150.00 Each Event

Repeat Location - Display Cost $1-$1,000 $50.00

Repeat Location – Display Cost $1,001 or greater $75.00

Permanent & Temporary Structure Inspection $100.00
Per inspection, per location, if not 
reimbursed by the state

Installation of new above or below ground tank
$200.00 Per Tank

Removal of above or below ground tanks $150.00 Per Tank

Modification of tanks, piping, valves and 
dispensing equipment to include reconstruction, 
tapping, tank cutting, vent pipe relocations, 
dispenser piping, repiping and tank repair of 
repiping. $75.00

Permanent LP Tank Installation $80.00 Per tank

Temporary LP Tank Installation $40.00 Per tank

32 Gallon Garbage Cart $9.23 Per month $9.46 

     32 Gallon Replacement Cart $35.00 $41.48 

68 Gallon Garbage Cart $17.43 Per month $17.86 

     68 Gallon Replacement Cart $41.50 $49.11 

95 Gallon Garbage Cart $27.16 Per month $27.84 

     95 Gallon Replacement Cart $48.00 $55.00 

95 Gallon Yard Waste Cart $10.00 Per dump

     April, October, November $5.00 Per dump

     Replacement Yard Waste Cart $58.00 $63.99 

     Additional Yard Waste Cart $50.00 (no more than 2)

Add: Cart Replacement (customer damage)
Current cart cost 

+ $25.00 delivery fee

Christmas Tree Tags $1.25 Each

Appliances $10.00 Each

Computers/Televisions $7.50 Each

Bicycle Tire $1.00 Each

Motorcycle Tire $2.00 Each

Automobile Tire $2.50 Each

     With Rim $5.00 Each

Truck/Tractor Tire $6.50 Each

     With Rim $9.00 Each

Sand Bags $0.50 Each

Extra Refuse Bag Tag $1.25 Each

Minimum tipping fees at the Transfer Station

     Solid Waste up to 260 pounds $7.00 Per dump

     Yard Waste up to 400 pounds $7.00 Per dump

Solid Waste/Demolition dumping $65.00 Per ton

Yard Waste $29.50 Per ton

Scale Charge $3.00

Leaf Vacuum Service $50.00 Per visit

Asphalt Shingles- free of contaminants $40.00 Per ton Remove Fee

Asphalt Shingles- with contaminants
$65.00 

Per ton + $10.00/ton service 
charge

Remove Fee

Commercial Cardboard Containers $10.00 Per dump

Commercial Bulk Recycling drop off $50.00 Per dump

For information only. Fees set by Code of 
Ordinances

Permit $300.00 Per Receptacle, Per Year

Initial Inspection $50.00 Each building and

$20.00 Each additional unit

First Re-inspection

*If violations are corrected at the time of first re-
inspection; fee will be waived.

Second Re-inspection $80.00 Each unit re-inspected

Third Re-inspection $160.00 Each unit re-inspected

Fourth Re-inspection $320.00 Each unit re-inspected

Inaccessible Unit $25.00 Each unit

Tri-Annual Registration Fee $75.00 Each building

Replacement of Occupancy Permit $5.00 Each unit

Permit Unavailable During Any Inspection $25.00 Each unit

Re-scheduling fee-

*If owner/agent canceled within 48 hrs of 
inspection or does not show for inspection $50.00* Each Unit

Requested inspection outside normal cycle $50.00 *if violations exist

0-25 Students $40.00

25-50 Students $80.00

More than 50 Students $120.00

Fire Extinguisher recharge $25.00 Per extinguisher

SEC. 13-35
MOBILE MERCHANT $50.00 Per month

$500.00 Each year

SEC. 13-63
PAWNBROKER LICENSE $65.00 Each year

If a Resident Merchant

SEC. 13-107
CLOSING - OUT SALE LICENSE

SEC. 10-13
TRASH DUMPSTERS OR RECEPTACLES IN CITY PARKING LOTS

$40.00* Each Unit

SEC. 11-84
MINIMUM RENTAL HOUSING INSPECTION

TECHNICAL RESCUE

FIREWORKS PERMIT

FLAMMABLE/COMBUSTIBLE LIQUID TANK PERMIT

FIRE EXTINGUISHER TRAINING

SEC. 10-5
GARBAGE AND REFUSE

Page 7

340

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

A.  The stock of goods on hand is valued at five 
thousand dollars or less. $35.00

B.  The stock of goods on hand is valued in excess 
of five thousand dollars, but not more than 
fifteen thousand dollars. $65.00

C.  The stock of goods on hand is valued in excess 
of fifteen thousand dollars. $110.00

If a Transient Merchant

A.  The stock of goods on hand is valued at five 
thousand dollars or less. $165.00

B.  The stock of goods on hand is valued in excess 
of five thousand dollars, but not in excess of 
fifteen thousand dollars. $330.00

C.  The stock of goods is valued in excess of 
fifteen thousand dollars. $550.00

SEC. 13-137
FALSE ALARM CALLS

$65.00
Per call after the 5th False Alarm 
per calendar year

$100.00
Per call after the 10th False Alarm 
per calendar year

Alarm Business Permit $0.00

Alarm Agent Permit $0.00

Alarm System Permit $0.00

SEC. 14-32
MOBILE HOME PARK PRELIMINARY PLAN FEE $150.00 And

$1.00 Each lot or space

Preliminary Plan Fee $150.00 And

$1.00 Each lot or space

Final Plan or Detailed Site Plan Fee $150.00 And

$1.00 Each lot or space

SEC. 15-5
ABATEMENT OF NUISANCES BY CITY AFTER 
NOTICE

1-Hour Minimum
Employee's 

Effective Rate

These costs shall be assessed 
against the property for collection 
in the same manner as a property 
tax.  Together with an 
administrative expense of $5.                          
I.C.A. § 364.12(3)(a), (h)                                                                            

For equipment rates utilize current Iowa DOT Schedule of 

Equipment Rates unless otherwise noted in this document.  

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates   

For Hire Contractor Labor & Equipment, plus 
processing

Amount 
Invoiced by 

Contractor + 5% 
of contractor 

invoice 

SEC. 15-41
JUNK VEHICLES (IMPOUNDMENT FEE)

As per Police Division Wrecker and 
Storage Contract

ADULT PROGRAMS

Basketball Leagues $370.00 Each Team 10 games (plus tax)

Basketball Call Your Own League $120.00 Each Team 10 games (plus tax)

Volleyball League $140.00 Each team 14 games (plus tax)

Spring Volleyball $80.00 Each team 6 games (plus tax)

Softball Leagues – 12 games

Registration $355.00 Each team (plus tax)

Player Fees $70.00 Each team (plus tax)

Mixed League Softball - Fall or Summer Plus $25.00 (plus tax)

Softball Call Your Own League 12 games $175.00 (plus tax)

Player Fees $50.00 (plus tax)

Ball Field Rental (field as is) $6.00 Per hour (plus tax)

      Week Day Evening $20.00 (plus tax)

      Multiple Rentals (Max. 75 per season) $500 Max (plus tax)

Fall Softball League – 10 games $255.00 (plus tax)

Player Fees $60.00 Each team (plus tax)

Fall Softball League (Call your own) – 10 games $160.00 (plus tax)

Player Fees $40.00 Each team (plus tax)

Softball Field Rental

  One Field - One Day (with lights or on weekend) $50.00 (plus tax)

Complex (weekend 1 & 2 day) $130.00 (plus tax)
Plus any additional staff cost over the initial field 
preparation

Pfeiffer (weekend 1 & 2 day) $130.00 (plus tax)
Plus any additional staff cost over the initial field 
preparation

Kickball League $75.00 (plus tax)

Player Fees $10.00 (plus tax)

Flag Football League – 4 on 4 $100.00 Each team

Player Fee $15.00 Each player

Dodgeball $80.00 (plus tax)

Tournaments Cost Plus $20.00

Beach House (all day) N/A

Weekend (Friday-Sunday, Holidays) N/A

     Full Facility $275.00

Weekday (Monday-Thursday)

     Full Facility $175.00

     Deposit $500.00

Shelter Rental - All Day $25.00

Up to 6 hours N/A

Over 6 hours N/A

Gateway Shelter (10am-10:30pm)

Monday - Thursday $70.00

Friday-Sunday & Holidays $110.00

     Deposit $75.00

Orchard Hill Pickleball Court

     Single Court Per Hour $10.00 (plus tax)

     Whole Complex Per Hour $80.00 (plus tax)

Racquetball League – 11 games

     Singles $35.00 (plus tax)

Racquetball Lessons – 6 lessons $33.00

RECREATION DIVISION PROGRAM FEES

SEC. 13-138
ALARM BUSINESS PERMITS OR ALARM AGENT PERMITS

CHAPTER 17, CEDAR FALLS PARKS AND RECREATION

SEC. 14-75
MOBILE HOME SUBDIVISIONS

Page 8

341

Item 32.

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates


City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Table Tennis League $16.00 (plus tax)

Bags League $45.00 (plus tax)

EXERCISE CLASSES

Specialty Classes
Instructor + 

$10.00

Exercise Tryouts N/A

Fitness Pass w/o Rec Membership

4 months unlimited N/A

1 month unlimited N/A

Fitness Pass w/ Rec Membership

4 months unlimited N/A

1 month unlimited N/A

Circuit Weight Training
w/o Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

2 x Per Week - Per Month $32.00

Circuit Weight Training
w/ Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

2 x Per Week - Per Month $16.00

Cardio Cycling - Per Month
w/o Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

3 x Per Week - Per Month $44.00

Cardio Cycling - Per Month
w/ Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

3 x Per Week - Per Month $22.00

Rec Xfit - Monthly
w/Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

3 x Per Week $29.00

Rec Xfit - Monthly
w/o Fitness Pass/Rec Membership

3 x Per Week $58.00

Special Fitness Classes (without FP or RCM)
2 x Per Week Per Month

$60.00

Special Fitness Classes (with FP or RCM)
2 x Per Week Per Month

$30.00

Teen Weight Lifting Training

(2) 2-hour classes $28.00
*RCM - Rec Center Membership Remove
*FP - Fitness Pass Remove

YOUTH PROGRAMS

Boys Baseball T-ball

Registration $40.00

Sponsor $250.00

Boys Baseball 1

Registration $45.00

Sponsor $250.00

Boys Baseball 2-3

Registration $50.00

Sponsor $500.00

Boys Baseball 4-5

Registration $50.00

Sponsor $600.00

Girls Softball T-ball

Registration $40.00

Sponsor $250.00

Girls Softball Kind. & 1

Registration $45.00

Sponsor $250.00

Girls Softball 2-3

Registration $45.00

Sponsor $500.00

Girls Softball 4-6

Registration $50.00

Sponsor $500.00

Kindergarten Basketball

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $200.00

Boys Basketball 5-6

Registration $44.00

Sponsor $500.00

Boys Basketball 3-4

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $300.00

Boys Basketball 1-2

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $300.00

Girls Basketball 5-6 (format change)

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $250.00

Girls Basketball 3-4

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $300.00

Girls Basketball 1-2

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $300.00

Summer Track

Registration $50.00

Sponsor $300.00

Volleyball 3-6 (format change) (8 weeks)

Registration $46.00

Sponsor $400.00

Flag Football K-2 (8 weeks)

Registration $51.00

Sponsor $200.00

Flag Football 3-4

Registration $51.00

Sponsor $300.00

Flag Football 5-6

Registration $51.00

Sponsor $500.00

Baseball Club - Wrecking Crew $60.00

Softball Club - Wrecking Crew $60.00

Baseball Shortstops $35.00

Softball Shortstops $35.00

Page 9

342

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Soccer K, 1 & 2

Registration $39.00

Sponsor $350.00

Golf Lessons N/A

Tennis Lessons N/A

Tot Lot 

One Week $32.00

Six Weeks $150.00

One Day $9.00

Open Gym in schools No Charge

Special Events Cost Plus $5.00

Tournaments Cost Plus 0-10%

Indoor Park, 1-5 years $28.00

Full Session (18- 22 times) $40.00

Mini Session $18.00

Daily $3.00

Chew & View – 2 hours $6.00

Parents Night Out – 2 hours $8.00

Birthday Party $125.00

Birthday Party - Theme Package $155.00

   Add Pizza $30.00

3 on 3 Basketball Tourney $30.00 Per Team

Soccer Tournament $20.00

Hot Shot Basketball $5.00

Free Throw Contest $5.00

Karate $32.00

New Sports & Active Programs Charge Comparable

Sack Lunch Days $28.00

Tumbling - 5 sessions $32.00

Hockey – Inline

Registration N/A

Sponsor N/A

Camp Cedar Falls

One Week $150.00

Full Summer 8 weeks (1 week free) $1,050.00

Full Summer 9 weeks (1 week free) $1,200.00

Whole Summer (weeks x $120)

Pre and Post Care

Daily $5.00

Weekly $20.00

Note: Sponsorship determined by cost of t-shirts 
adjusted up to the nearest $50.00 increment.

SWIM POOL FEES

Daily Admission – Indoor

Infant (under 2) $3.00

Youth (3-17) $5.00

Adult (18 & Up) $5.00

Daily Admission – The Falls

Infant (under 2) $3.00

Youth (3-17) $12.00 (sales tax included)

Adult (18 & Up) $10.00 (sales tax included)

Summer
Memorial Day-1st Day of School

Family Season Pass

Resident** N/A

Non-Resident** N/A

Child Care Provider Pool Pass - Mon-Fri $40.00 (plus tax) Remove Fee

Adult Season Pass

Resident $40.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $60.00 (plus tax)

Youth Season Pass 

Resident $50.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $60.00 (plus tax)

Lap Swim – Indoor

Resident $40.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $60.00 (plus tax)

Winter Indoor
1st Day of School-Memorial Day

Family Season Pass

Resident $135.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $145.00 (plus tax)

Adult Season Pass

Resident $100.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $105.00 (plus tax)

Youth Season Pass - 17 & Under

Resident $80.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident $85.00 (plus tax)

*RCM - Rec Center Membership Remove

Swim Lesson – Youth $36.00

Swim Lesson – Adult $38.00

WSI N/A

Aqua Trim $36.00

Deep Water Aqua Trim $36.00

Aqua Trim Tryout $5.00

Stretching Aqua Trim $36.00

Lap Swim – Daily Indoor $5.00 Or Pass

Life Guarding $135.00

Lifeguard Recertification $86.00

Scuba Diving Cost Plus $10.00

Pool Rental ID, 1-75 people $75/hr. (plus tax)

Pool Rental ID, 76 or more people $90/hr. (plus tax)

Pool Rental OD

Zero Depth – 2 hours $240.00 (plus tax)

Zero Depth / Lazy River /
2 Waterslides -- 2 hours

$465.00 (plus tax)

Lap Pool / Lazy River /
2 Waterslides – 2 hours

$565.00 (plus tax)

Lap Pool – 2 hours $365.00 (plus tax)

Entire Facility – 2 hours

No Concessions $665.00

Concessions Sold $45.00/hr.

Page 10

343

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

Cost - Programs that are listed, as cost will be 
charged on the basis of direct program costs 
excluding administration and office costs.

New programs will be charged a comparable 
fee to other similar activities

Sponsor fee may change in some cases 
depending on the registration, program 
changes or sponsor charge.

RECREATION CENTER

Admission

Daily Resident Note: modified ages to be consistent with age at the Falls. 

24 & Under $5.00 (sales tax included) Change: 17 & Under

Add: Student (18-23) $5.00 (Sales tax included)

Adult 25 & Over $10.00 (sales tax included)

Senior Citizen $5.00 (sales tax included)

Veteran $5.00 (sales tax included)

Holiday Special Event Admission $3.00 (sales tax included) Per person – Any age

Resident Yearly Memberships**

Individual

12 Grade & Under $115.00 (plus tax) Change: 17 & Under

Add: Student (18-23) $155.00 (plus tax)

Adult $175.00 (plus tax)

Senior Citizen $155.00 (plus tax)

Veteran $155.00 (plus tax)

Family $260.00 (plus tax)

Non-Resident Yearly Memberships**

Individual

12 Grade & Under $210.00 (plus tax) Change: 17 & Under

Adult $355.00 (plus tax)

Senior Citizen $290.00 (plus tax)

Veteran $290.00 (plus tax)

Family $465.00 (plus tax)

Monthly Membership - Resident

18 & Under $20.00 (plus tax) Change: 17 & Under

University Student (19-23) $25.00 (plus tax)

Adult 19 & Over $30.00 (plus tax) Change: 18 & Over

Family $45.00 (plus tax)

Senior Citizen $25.00 (plus tax)

Veteran $20.00 (plus tax)

Monthly Membership - Non-Resident

18 & Under $35.00 (plus tax) Change: 17 & Under

Adult 19 & Over $55.00 (plus tax) Change: 18 & Over

Family $70.00 (plus tax)

Senior Citizen $40.00 (plus tax)

Veteran $40.00 (plus tax)

Replace I.D. Card $9.00 (plus tax)

Corporate Rate

Individual $235.00 (plus tax)

Family $310.00 (plus tax)

Racquetball

Drop-in, per hour $0.00 Each

Reservation, per hour $2.00 Each

10 Punch Card $17.00 to $20.00 Value

Child Care

2-hour stay $3.00

20-Punch Card $40.00

Rentals

Resident Non-profit Organizations

Entire facility w/ adequate approved adult 
supervision 1:20 ratio

Per Hour $125.00 (plus tax)

Each additional hour N/A

Maximum cost (12 hr. max.) N/A

Meeting Room $10.00 Per hour + staff cost (plus tax)

Multi-Purpose Room $25.00 Per hour (plus tax)

Gym Rental

Fit Gym $40.00 Per hour + staff cost (plus tax)

Main Gym

     Half $40.00 Per hour + staff cost (plus tax)

     All $75.00 Per hour + staff cost (plus tax)

Activity Room $25.00 Per hour + staff cost (plus tax)

Add: Orchard Hill Pickleball Courts $4.00 per 1/2 hour (plus tax) per court

Locker Rental per Month $5.00

Locker Rental per Year $50.00

*s.c. - Staff Cost (if needed) $25.00 Remove fee

** Memberships include free towel usage and 
all drop-in fitness classes, as pandemic 
conditions allow.

CITY EMPLOYEE WELLNESS RATES

Recreation Center Membership

Individual $30.00 (plus tax)

Family $40.00 (plus tax)

Summer Swim Pass, purchased after May 1 Change: Summer Swim Pass

Individual $75.00 (plus tax) Change: Individual Youth $30.00 (plus tax)

Add: Individual Adult $30.00 (plus Tax)

Family $115.00 (plus tax) Remove fee

* adult & 4 or less children or 2 adults and 3 
or less children. Ea. Additional child in the 
family will be $10.00

Remove fee

Indoor Lap Swim Pass $45.00 (plus tax)-EE Retires, Veterans Change: Lap Swim/Water Walking Pass $30.00

Winter Swim Pass, purchased after August 14

Individual w/ RCM $12.50 (plus tax) Change: Individual  $40.00

Family w/ RCM $25.00 (plus tax) Change: Family $60.00

Individual w/o RCM $47.50 (plus tax) Remove fee

Family w/o RCM $65.00 (plus tax) Remove fee

A full list of drop in fitness classes now 
included under the membership can be found 
on the web at www.cedarfalls.com/fitness

   COMMUNITY CENTER RENTAL

Page 11

344

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

      Regular Hours:
        Monday-Friday 8am - 4pm

Change: Regular Hours:
        Monday 8am - 1pm, Tuesday-Friday 8am - 4 pm

 Seniors citizens (over 65) Events: Change: Senior Citizen Groups 

   Monday-Friday Non-Holidays 8am - 4pm Remove

      Non-Organized Clubs No Charge Remove

      Organized Clubs $8.00 Per hour Remove

   Outside Regular Community Center
      Hours

$10.00 Per hour $30.00

All Other Non-Profit Events: Remove

Non-Holiday weekdays 8am-4pm Remove

 Area of facility (Includes Staff Cost):
 Minimum 1 1/2 hour Rental

Remove

    Main Hall $50.00 Per hour Remove

    Dance Floor $25.00 Per hour Remove

    Main Hall and Dance Floor $60.00 Per hour Remove

Weekends, Holidays & Outside of Regular 
Hours - 
Minimum 1 1/2 hour Rental

Change: Non-holiday Evenings & Weekends - Minimum 2 
Hour Rental

 Area of facility (Includes Staff Cost):

    Main Hall $60.00 Per hour $100.00

    Dance Floor $30.00 Per hour $50.00

    Main Hall and Dance Floor $75.00 Per hour $140.00

Security Deposits for Weekends, Holidays & 
Outside of Regular Hours:

   Non-Beer and/or Wine Events $250.00

   Events with Beer and/or Wine $500.00

HEARST CENTER FOR THE ARTS:

Members of Friends of the Hearst receive 
10% off space rental

Qualifying nonprofit or educational groups 
receive 50% off space rental

Equipment and staffing fees are the same for 
everyone

Mae Latta Hall 45.00                      Per hour 50.00                                                                         

Hearst Reading Room 20.00                      Per hour Remove. Note: Room is no longer available

Nancy Price Meeting Room 15.00                      Per hour 20.00                                                                         

Rownd I & Rownd II Classrooms 35.00                      Per hour for one room 40.00                                                                         

50.00                      Per hour for both rooms

McElroy Classroom 35.00                      Per hour 40.00                                                                         

Corning Patio 40.00                      Per hour

20.00                      

Per hour if rented in addition to 
classroom

Sculpture Garden 350.00                   up to four hours

50.00                      each additional hour

Equipment Use and Service:

Piano 45.00                      

Room Set-Up 30.00                      for events fewer than 25 35.00                                                                         

45.00                      for groups 26-100

Additional Fees:

Staff member if event takes place outside 
center hours

$30.00 Per hour
$35.00

An additional fee will be deducted from the 
security deposit if the space requires 
cleaning.

A nonrefundable deposit of 50% of the rental 
fee is due at the time the reservation is made

All events during which food or beverages 
will be served require a security deposit of 
$250.00

Beer and wine may be served only 
in compliance with the Hearst Center's 
alcoholic beverage policy and will require a 
$500 security deposit. Hard liquor is not 
allowed

VISITOR CENTER RENTAL

During Regular Business Hours:

     Monday-Friday

         Half Day (4 hours) $150.00
Flat Fee - 30 people maximum.   
Use of conference room and patio 
only.

         Full Day (8 hours) $300.00
Flat Fee - 30 people maximum.   
Use of conference room and patio 
only.

Usage Fees

Annual

First Dog $15.00

Each Additional Dog $15.00

Daily $2.00 Per dog

Memorial Brick $75.00

Services

Adult Spaces, Flush Marker Section $750.00

     Perpetual Care $150.00 additional

Adult Spaces, Monument Section $850.00

     Perpetual Care $170.00 additional

Infant Spaces 2’ X 5’ $250.00

Infant Spaces 2.5’ X 5’ $260.00

Adult Open and Close – Weekday $800.00

Adult Open and Close – Saturday  a.m. $950.00

Adult Open and Close – Saturday p.m. $1,000.00

Adult Open and Close – Less than 8-hour 
Notice

$1,100.00

Infant Open and Close – Weekday

Without Tent $350.00

With Tent $400.00

Infant Open and Close – Saturday

Without Tent $425.00

With Tent $500.00

VETERANS PARK

PAW PARK

CEMETERY FEES

Page 12

345

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

PM - Add $50.00

Columbarium, 1 space (includes open to 
close, plaque, perpetual care)

$2,500.00

Cremains – Weekday

Without Tent $400.00

With Tent $450.00

Cremains – Saturday

Without Tent $500.00

With Tent $600.00

PM - Add $100.00

Winter Cremains – Weekday with Tent $650.00

Winter Cremains – Saturday a.m. with Tent $750.00

Winter Cremains – Saturday p.m. with Tent $800.00

Services before 9:00 a.m. $175.00 Additional

$400.00 Additional and

$150.00 Each hr after 3:00 p.m.

Disinterment – Adult $1,600.00

Disinterment – Infant/Cremains $550.00

Foundation and Marker Permit (Charged to 
Monument Company)

$80.00

Cemetery Lot Ownership and Deed Changes $80.00

NOTE: No Tent Service Available for Interments 
which Require a Vault

SEC. 16-99
HAZARDOUS WASTE SPILLS $50.00 Min. per Incident

SEC. 17-232
TREE TRIMMER’S LICENSE $55.00 Each year 

  Bond or Evidence of Insurance $5,000.00

  Certificate of Liability Insurance
$100,000/

$300,000

SEC. 17-247
FAILURE TO DESTROY NOXIOUS WEEDS & OTHER 
VEGETATION

1-Hour Minimum
Employee's 

Effective Rate

These costs shall be assessed 
against the property for collection 
in the same manner as a property 
tax.                          
I.C.A.§364.12(3)(g), (h)                                                                            

For equipment rates utilize current Iowa DOT Schedule of 

Equipment Rates unless otherwise noted in this document.  

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates   

For Hire Contractor Labor & Equipment, plus 
processing

Amount 
Invoiced by 

Contractor + 
10% of 

contractor 
invoice

SEC. 19-57
MAILBOX DAMAGE REPAIR

Up to/not to 
exceed $75.00

SEC. 19-176
SIDEWALK CONSTRUCTION OR REMOVAL PERMIT

$30.00

SEC. 19-183
REPAIR OF DEFECTIVE SIDEWALKS

For Hire Contractor Amount 
Invoiced by 
Contractor

These costs shall be assessed 
against the abutting property for 
collection in the same manner as a 
property tax.                          
I.C.A.§364.12(2)(b), (e)                                                                            

SEC. 19-185
REMOVAL OF SNOW & ICE FROM SIDEWALKS

1-Hour Minimum
Employee's 

Effective Rate

These costs shall be assessed 
against the property for collection 
in the same manner as a property 
tax.                          
I.C.A.§364.12(3)(g), (h)                                                                            

For equipment rates utilize current Iowa DOT Schedule of 

Equipment Rates unless otherwise noted in this document.  

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates   

For Hire Contractor Labor & Equipment
Amount 

Invoiced by 
Contractor

SEC. 19-214
DRIVEWAY ENTRANCE PERMIT

$30.00

SEC. 19-217
DRIVEWAY CONTRACTOR'S BOND

$5,000.00 Renewable annually

SEC. 19-2  
STREET MEETINGS

Use of barricades for block parties or street 
closures 

$25.00 Block - up to Maximum of $100.00

SEC. 19-74(d)
TABLES, CHAIRS AND/OR BENCHES PERMIT

$25.00 Annually

SEC. 19-74(e)
TEMPORARY SIGNS PERMIT FOR DOWNTOWN 
SIDEWALK $25.00 Annually

SEC. 19-96
SIDEWALK CAFÉ PERMIT

$50.00
$250.00

Annually
Cash deposit

SEC. 19-100
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY EASEMENT

$1.00
Per square foot of public sidewalk 
within sidewalk café area

SEC. 19-134
EXCAVATION PERMIT

$30.00

SEC. 20-34
APPROVAL OF MINOR PLAT

$150.00

SEC. 20-59
APPROVAL OF PRELIMINARY PLAT

$300.00 Plus $5.00 per acre

Resubmittal (two or more resubmittals) $100.00 per resubmittal

SEC. 20-104
APPROVAL OF FINAL PLAT

$300.00

Resubmittal (two or more resubmittals) $100.00 per resubmittal

SEC. 20-144
PROCESSING FEES FOR DEDICATION, VACATION 
OF CITY RIGHT-OF-WAY

$200.00
Note: State requirements have added several time-
consuming steps to the process to vacate ROW

250.00

UTILITY EASEMENT VACATION $200.00

Services entering Cemetery after 2:00 p.m.

Page 13

346

Item 32.

https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates
https://iowadot.gov/local_systems/Equipment-Rates


City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

PARKING METER Fees Covered By Ordinance

SEC. 23-359
IMMOBILIZATION OF VEHICLES

$50.00

SEC. 23-413
PARKING PERMITS

$35.00 per month

SEC. 23-413
PAID PARKING RATES

$0.50 per hour

SEC. 23-654
ISSUANCE OF BICYCLE REGISTRATION TAG

$2.00

Septic Tank Discharge Fee $13.00
per 1,000 gallons of tank truck 
capacity 25.00

Hydro-Cleaner $150.00 Per Hour

Sludge Truck $150.00 Per Hour

Sewer Televising  Apparatus $150.00 Per Hour

Utility Truck $75.00 Per Hour

Pump $50.00 Per Hour

All equipment listed above:
   1-Hour Minimum

Personnel:
   1-Hour Minimum

Employee's 
Effective Rate

Plus 20% administrative fee

Subdivision plat or initial land development $50.00 Per acre exposed

Subsequent development of lot or parcel of 
original tract of land

$100.00 Single family unit

$50.00
Per residential unit for multiple 
unit complex

$10.00
Per 1,000 sq. ft. of impervious 
surface

  SEC. 25-30 License Fee $110.00 Each year before March 31

$165.00 after March 31

$30.00 Each vehicle before March 31

$45.00 after March 31

Vehicle replacement/substitution $10.00
Each vehicle/
Each occurrence

SEC. 25-35
APPLICATION FOR DRIVER - VEHICLE FOR HIRE

$12.00 Each

SEC. 25-41 
Renewal of License $6.00 Each renewal before March 31

$12.00 Each renewal after March 31

Change: Zoning. Note: Revised title for consistency with 
other sections

Add: Zoning Verification
50.00

Rezoning Request $525.00

Comprehensive Plan/Future Land Use Map 
Amendment

$150.00

Board of Adjustment – Variances $375.00

Board of Adjustment – Special Exceptions $375.00

Land Use Permits $40.00 45.00

Master Plan Amendment $150.00

Signs, Minimum all signs and $40.00

Each additional sq. ft. of sign area > 100 sq. ft.  
$200.00 max.

$1.00

Site Plan Review
- Façade Review for commercial & minor 
residential improvements

$60.00

- Residential Review, Single Family & Two-
Family Residential

$115.00

- Commercial Review including multi-family 
residential facilities

$350.00

-Commercial and Multi-family (over 2 units), 
when no P&Z/CC review is applicable

$200.00

-Resubmittal (two or more resubmittals) $100.00 per resubmittal

Add: Working without a permit. Note: if required land use 
permit not obtained prior to project starting 50.00

SEC. 26-134    
Communication Towers $200.00

Small Wireless Facility 

Initial Application Fee
$500.00

5 or more, $500/first + $50/each 
additional

Annual Usage Fee $100.00 per year, per facility

SEC. 26-138
Wind Energy Facilities $200.00

SEC. 26
ZONING ORDINANCE FEES

COMMERCIAL FIRE INSPECTION FEE SCHEDULE

SEC. 25
VEHICLES FOR HIRE

SEC. 24-304
STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN APPLICATION 

CHAPER 24 UTILITIES

SEWERS AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL

CHAPTER 23
TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES

New Construction applications for permit shall comply with the adopted Codes of the City of Cedar Falls. 

The purpose of this ordinance is to provide minimum standards to safeguard life, health, property and public welfare by regulating and controlling the design, 
construction, quality of materials, use and occupancy, location and maintenance of all nonresidential businesses, buildings and structures within this jurisdiction and 
certain equipment specifically regulated by the adopted Fire Code of the City of Cedar Falls. 

ANNUAL LIFE SAFETY PERMITS, LICENSES, AND CERTIFICATIONS FEES 

The following fees shall be established for the permits, licenses, certificate's, approvals, life safety inspections and other functions performed under this Code and shall 
be payable by the Non-residential businesses to the City of Cedar Falls. Such fees shall accompany each application for such permit, approval, certificate, or other fee-
related Code provisions. 

(1) Non-residential businesses annual fee schedule for life safety inspection. 

Page 14

347

Item 32.



City of Cedar Falls  tmp63F6.tmp

SCHEDULE OF FEES ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROPOSED RATEADOPTED RATE

At the time of the initial inspection, the occupant and/or owner will receive a copy of the life safety inspection indicating which violations need to be corrected. Along 
with this will be a standard letter listing the date of reinspection as well as the schedule of fees, as listed in the fee schedule. Fees will be assessed if they do not comply 
at the time of the first, second, or third reinspection date. If the Fire Department is notified in writing, (by mail or hand delivered) in a timely manner, and repairs are 
scheduled, a reinspection date may be rescheduled to allow more time to complete repairs. Non-profit entities or governmental agencies are not exempt from the 
reinspection fees as listed in the fee schedule. 

The inspections, thus the fee schedule shall be based on occupancy, or individual business. Therefore, if there are more than one occupancy or businesses in a single 
building, each business, and the business owner/occupant thereof, will be responsible for the inspection and the fee. The actual payment of the fee between the 
occupant and the landlord is between those parties and the lease agreement; the City will not be involved in such agreements. If there is a common area, the inspection 
and fee for this common area will be the responsibility of the building/property owner. 

The fire chief has the authority to waive or negotiate a more appropriate service fee based on hardship, established self-insurance plans and larger deductibles.

FIRE RESPONSE INSURANCE RECOVERY FEE:  

Whereas a property owner’s insurance policy provides for a fire department response fee, a fee of $500 shall apply to the owner of a residential property and a fee of 
$1000 shall apply to the owner of a commercial property in which the fire department responds to suppress a building fire. 

Any building that is fully sprinkled will receive a credit of 50%, of the square footage relative hazard class fee. (This is to show the importance of sprinklers relative to 
life safety and the type of building construction.) 

REINSPECTION FEES DO NOT APPLY IF VIOLATIONS ARE CORRECTED PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED REINSPECTION DATE. IF DURING A REINSPECTION VIOLATIONS 
ARE STILL PRESENT, A REINSPECTION FEE WILL APPLY AS PER THIS FEE SCHEDULE.  (First - $100, Second - $150, Third - $200, Each after Third - $200)

REINSPECTION FEES: 

SQUARE FOOT      
Fee                       

1 - 2,000 $40        
2,001 - 10,000 $70        

10,001 - 20,000 $100        
20,001 - 50,000  $195      
50,001 - 100,000      $225      
over 100,000 $300      

Page 15

348

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: June 12, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Network Switch Replacement 

The current network switches are nearing end of vulnerability updates which means the 
manufacturer will not be pushing out any more security updates for the hardware.  The ability to 
be able to update the firmware on the switches is imperative to keeping the City’s network safe.  
Currently, the lead times for these switches have been averaging 90+ days, so we would like to 
order these and have them in place before the end of security updates dates arrives.  The costs 
were included in the 2024 CIP budget and the actual hardware should not arrive until the 2024 
fiscal year.  
 
We put a bid out to four vendors to replace the switches, including the Sourcewell state license 
contract holder.  We heard from three vendors and have included a summary of these bids 
below:  
Vendor Cost Notes 

IP Pathways $71,718.48  Support was 24X7 with 4 hours 
replacement.  

 Included all power supply and fans 
requested  

CDW-G $71,880.00  
 

 Didn’t include all power supplies 
and fans requested.  

 State of Iowa contract Cisco NVP 
price 

 Support was M-F 8-5, next 
business day replacement. 

Heartland Business Systems $63,865.52  Didn’t include dual power supply 
and port side fans like we 
requested. 

 Support was M-F 8-5, next 
business day replacement.  

  

Based on the solutions provided by the above vendors we recommend IP Pathways.  This bid 
included all power supplies, and accessories we requested.  It included a 24X7 hourly support 
with 4 hour lead time on replacement parts.  Something needed in order to support police and 
fire.      
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this purchase, please feel free to contact me at 
268-5111. 
 
 
Julie Sorensen 
Manager of Information Systems 

349

Item 33.



350

Item 34.



CONSOLIDATED PUBLIC SAFETY  
COMMUNICATIONS 28E AGREEMENT 

 
ARTICLES of 28E AGREEMENT made and entered into this ____ day of __, 2023, by and between the 

parties, Black Hawk County, hereafter referred to as "County"; the City of Waterloo, hereafter referred 

to as "Waterloo"; the City of Cedar Falls, hereafter referred to as "Cedar Falls"; the City of Evansdale, 

hereafter referred to as "Evansdale"; the City of Hudson, hereafter referred to as "Hudson"; the City of 

La Porte City, hereafter referred to as "La Porte"; the City of Dunkerton, hereafter referred to as 

"Dunkerton"; and the City of Gilbertville, hereafter referred to as "Gilbertville"; or such of them as may 

become signatories hereto. 

 

              IT IS HEREBY AGREED BY THE PARTIES HERETO AS FOLLOWS:  

ARTICLE 1: PURPOSE 

For the purpose of gaining economy of operations while maintaining improving, and coordinating the 

professional dispatching of public safety services in Black Hawk County, the Consolidated Public Safety 

Communications Center, hereafter referred to as the "Center" is hereby created. The Center shall be 

operated and maintained pursuant to this Agreement and shall provide dispatch and communications 

services to all participating government agencies in Black Hawk County. 

 
 
 ARTICLE 2: PLACE OF OPERATION 

 
The Center shall be housed at County expense in a facility provided by Black Hawk County. However, 

utilities.  Cleaning, remodeling and such other expense attributable to the Center operations will be 

prorated among the parties. 

 
 
ARTICLE 3: LEGAL STATUS 

 
No separate legal entity under Iowa law is created nor is any obligation incurred by the participating 

parties other than those specified in this Agreement or as may be added by amendment properly 

executed in the manner hereafter provided.  This Agreement is intended to obligate the participants 

pursuant to Chapter 28E of the Code of Iowa. 

 
 
ARTICLE 4. COMMENCEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

 
Center operations shall commence on a date determined by the Center Board.  Start-up costs and 

costs incurred in implementing this Agreement shall be advanced by the County and reimbursed 

according to the formula set out in this Agreement if some or all of the funding anticipated has not yet 

been received at time of commencement. The entities providing the funds shall be reimbursed 

proportionately. 

 

  

351

Item 34.



 

ARTICLE 5: DURATION 

 
The duration and existence of this Agreement shall be for a period of one year with automatic renewal 

unless terminated by the parties according to the terms of the Agreement hereafter provided.  The 

attached assessments shall be reviewed every three years. 

 

 

ARTICLE 6: CONSOLIDATED PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS CENTER BOARD 

 
SECTION 1: There is hereby created a Consolidated Public Safety Communications Center Board, 

herein referred to as the Center Board, which shall be operated pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 2: An eleven-member Public Safety Communications Center Board (hereafter referred to as 

the "Center Board") composed of: the Black Hawk County Sheriff, the City of Waterloo Fire Chief, the 

City of Waterloo Police Chief, the City of Cedar Falls Police Chief, the City of Cedar Falls Fire Chief, the 

City of Evansdale Police Chief, the City of Hudson Police Chief, the City of La Porte City Police Chief, 

the City of Dunkerton Police Chief, the City of Gilbertville Police Chief, and one Fire Chief representing 

the other fire departments "whose home base is within a city that is located in Black Hawk County, is 

hereby created. 

 
SECTION 3: The Center Board shall adopt, establish and approve all policies and procedures and be 

responsible for the operation of the Center subject to the limitations and dispute resolution procedures 

of this agreement, except that the Center Board shall adopt Black Hawk County Personnel Policies, 

which shall be applicable to all Center personnel. 

 
SECTION 4: The position of Chairperson of the Center Board shall be selected by the Center Board on 

a majority vote on an annual basis. The Chairperson, through the Center Administrative Supervisor, 

shall cause minutes of the Center Board meetings to be prepared and distributed to the Center Board 

members and the participating cities' Mayors and the County Board of Supervisors.  Each Center Board 

member shall be entitled to one vote. All meetings shall be governed by the parliamentary procedures 

set forth in Robert's Rules of Order. 

 
SECTION  5: The meetings of the Center Board shall be public proceedings subject to the Iowa Open 

Meetings Law.  To the extent allowed by the Iowa Open Records Law, the minutes and records of the 

Center shall be public. 

 
 

ARTICLE 7: CONSOLIDATED OVERSIGHT BOARD 

PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS BUDGET 
 

SECTION 1: A Consolidated Public Safety Communications Budget Oversight Board (herein after 

referred to as the Oversight Board) composed of the County Board of Supervisors (who collectively 

shall have only one vote) and the Mayors of the participating cities is hereby created. This Board shall 

be called together by the Chairperson of the County Board of Supervisors in November of each year for 

the purpose of discussing and approving the budget of the Communications Center as proposed by the 

Center Board for the coming fiscal year. The Chairperson shall cause minutes of the Oversight Board 

meetings to be prepared and distributed to the Oversight Board members. Each Oversight Board 

member shall be entitled to one vote, except the County Board of Supervisors, who collectively shall 

have only one vote. All meetings shall be governed by the parliamentary procedures set forth in 

Robert's Rules of Order. 

352

Item 34.



 
SECTION 2: The Chairperson of the County Board of Supervisors may call additional meetings from 

time to time to discuss concerns. In the event of the unavailability of the Chairperson of the County 

Board of Supervisors, any two Mayors of participating cities may call a special meeting. 

 
SECTION 3: The meetings of the Budget Oversight Board shall be public proceedings subject to the 

Iowa Open Meetings Law.  To the extent allowed by the Iowa Open Records Law, the minutes and the 

records of the Center shall be public. 

 
 

ARTICLE 8: COMMUNICATIONS CENTER MANAGEMENT 

 
SECTION 1: All the usual and customary administrative, personnel, civil service regulations, 

accounting, budgetary, and procurement policies of Black Hawk County shall govern the Center in its 

operations and activities unless they conflict with policies and procedures adopted pursuant to this 

Agreement. Established collective bargaining agreements shall also supersede any Center Board 

policies or procedures. In the event of a conflict, except with regard to collective bargaining matters, 

the conflict resolution procedures of Article 8 shall apply. 

 
SECTION 2: The day-to-day operation of the Center shall be under the direction, supervision and 

management of the Chairperson of the Board, who shall delegate such authority for the operation and 

management of the Center as he or she deems appropriate, with the consent of the Center Board.  

The power of delegation includes the power to direct and control all Center personnel and operations 

of the Center pursuant to the operating procedures established by the Center Board. 

 

SECTION 3: The management staff of the Center shall be appointed by the Center Board, which will 

also have the authority to remove an employee from a position with the Center for reasons deemed 

sufficient by the Center Board. The management staff of the Center shall be supervised by the 

Chairperson of the Center Board on behalf of the Center Board, subject to County policies as set out 

herein. Center management shall comply with all administrative, personnel, accounting, budgetary 

and procurement policies of Black Hawk County unless they conflict with policies and procedures 

contained in this agreement. 

 
SECTION 4: The Chairperson of the Center Board shall appoint a Personnel Committee from the 

members of the Center Board. The Board Personnel Committee shall be responsible for all hiring and 

termination of Center employees as well as the issuance of disciplinary actions to Center employees. 

All actions of the Personnel Committee regarding hiring and termination of Center employees shall be 

ratified by the Center Board. 

 
 

ARTICLE 9: COUNTY EMPLOYEES 
 

All Center employees, including the management staff, shall be employees of Black Hawk County. 

Payroll and terms of employment shall be administered by Black Hawk County. 

 

 
ARTICLE 10: FINANCING 

 
The costs shares of the participants, the method of payment. and special financing arrangements and 

ownership of property shall be as follows: All personnel, equipment, and operating costs shall be 

advanced by and billed through Black Hawk County. The participants shall reimburse Black Hawk 

353

Item 34.



County for same as set forth in the attached Exhibit A that represents each jurisdiction's share of the 

personnel, equipment, and operating costs for FY24 not reimbursed by the E911 Board. The E9ll board 

will pay for 100 percent of all E911 related costs that are eligible under Iowa Code Chapter 34A to be 

recovered from the subscriber access charge. Related E911 costs which are construed by this 

agreement to be included are, but are not limited to, the installation of all necessary communications 

equipment and on-going system maintenance. 

 

Reimbursement to Black Hawk County by the participants shall be determined as follows: Each 

participant's percentage of the reimbursable costs shall be based on the most recent assessed value 

for taxable property in the participant’s jurisdiction. Each year thereafter, the Board will determine if 

the amount of percentages will change. The Center's Board will apply these percentages and submit 

the calculations, along with their proposed budget, to member governmental bodies and the Budget 

Oversight Review Board by November of each year. This will provide sufficient time for review, work 

session and approval by each representative agency prior to the certification of their respective fiscal 

year budgets.   

 
 
ARTICLE 11: BUDGET PREPARATION 

 
SECTION 1: The annual operating budget shall be prepared by the Administrative Supervisor and 

submitted to the Center Board for preliminary approval in October of each year. 

 
SECTION 2: Copies of the projected costs for each agency for each fiscal year will be given to each 
representative agency as part of the budget process as stated in Article I. 

 
SECTION 3: By November of each year, the Chairperson of the Center Board will forward the 

preliminary budget, along with the assessment factor, to the Budget Oversight Board for their review 

and possible work session, as laid out in Article 7. 

 
SECTION 4: By December of each year, the Chairperson of the Black Hawk County Board of 

Supervisors shall forward the approved Center Budget to the County Finance Director for submission as 

part of the budget of Black Hawk County and to the County Auditor for billing. 

 
 
ARTICLE 12: INSURANCE 

 
The Center Board shall seek and maintain liability or comprehensive insurance coverage for Center 

operations and costs for same shall be divided and shared as provided for herein.  Any participant may 

elect to obtain its own coverage for any separate liability it may have for Center operations. 

 
 

ARTICLE 13: DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
In the event of a dispute between the Center Board, the County and the Cities, the dispute may be 

submitted to arbitration. In order to quality as a dispute, the matter must involve the center budget, 

center operation, or the terms of this agreement. At least four participants from the Center Board, 

County, or the Cities are required to request that the matter be submitted for arbitration. 

 
The parties hereto agree that such a dispute between them shall be resolved by arbitration pursuant to 

and as authorized by Chapter 679A, Code of Iowa, 2013.  In the event of such a dispute to be 

submitted for arbitration, the District Court shall be requested to appoint three (3) arbitrators to hear 

354

Item 34.



the matter. 

 

ARTICLE 14: TERMINATION 

 
SECTION  1: Any party to this agreement may terminate its participation herein by giving at least 

twelve (12) month's prior written notice to all the other parties.  Termination of the withdrawing party 

shall be effective at the beginning of the next fiscal year following the twelve (12) month notice. 

 

SECTION  2: Termination shall not relieve the County, Cities, or the E911 Board of any financial 

obligation incurred before the effective termination date under the terms of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION  3: Equipment and furniture owned solely by the County, Cities, or E911 Board shall be 

distributed according to the inventory of the Center Board.  Equipment and furniture owned jointly 

shall be distributed in a manner consistent with the basis of the member's contribution.  

Distribution shall be based upon a majority vote of all members eligible to vote on the Center 

Board.  Where full agreement is not reached, the equipment and furniture shall be liquidated and 

the proceeds distributed to the parties to the Agreement prorated upon the same basis that the 

parties contributed to the purchase of the equipment and furniture. 

 
SECTION 4: The Center Board shall not be dissolved when there remains any indebtedness 
incurred by the Center Board. 

 
 
ARTICLE 15: AMENDMENTS 

 
The terms of this Agreement shall be amended only upon approval of any proposed amendment by 

a simple majority resolution of the participants. 

 
 
ARTICLE 16: SEVERABILITY 

 
If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held 

invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions of application of this Agreement which can 

be given effect without the invalid provisions or application and to this end the provisions of this 

Agreement are declared to be severable. 

 

 

ARTICLE 17: ADOPTION 

 
This Agreement shall have full force and effect upon ratification by a majority of the participants.  

 

 
 

 
  

355

Item 34.



 

ATTACHMENT A 

 
ANNUAL ASSESSMENT 

 100% taxable property valuation  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CITY/COUNTY 

100% Property 

Valuations 

 

Waterloo 

 

$1,352,055 

 

Cedar Falls 

 

$1,168,017 

 

Black Hawk County 

 

$537,835 

 

Evansdale 

 

$77,200 

 

LA Porte City 

 

$36,023 

 

Hudson 

 

$58,309 

 

Elk Run Heights 

 

$27,075 

 

Raymond 

 

$19,181 

 

Dunkerton 

 

$18,588 

 

Gilbertville 

 

$13,164 

 

TOTAL: 

 

$3,307,447 

356

Item 34.



BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA CITY OF WATERLOO, IOWA 

 

BY:   BY:    
Signature Signature 

 

    Chairperson   Mayor 
Printed name Printed name 

 

Attest:   Attest:   

Signature Signature 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA CITY OF EVANSDALE, IOWA 

 

BY:   BY:    
Signature Signature 

 

    Mayor   Mayor 
Printed name Printed name 

 

Attest:   Attest:   

Signature Signature 
 

 

 

CITY OF HUDSON, IOWA CITY OF LAPORTE CITY, IOWA 

 

BY:   BY:    
Signature Signature 

 

    Mayor   Mayor 
Printed name Printed name 

 

Attest:   Attest:   

Signature Signature 
 

 

 

CITY OF DUNKERTON, IOWA CITY OF GILBERTVILLE, IOWA 

 

BY:   BY:    
Signature Signature 

 

    Mayor   Mayor 
Printed name Printed name 

 

Attest:   Attest:   

Signature Signature 

 

357

Item 34.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: June 12, 2023 

 SUBJECT: High School Pool 28E Agreement for Use, Operation and Maintenance 
and Resolution on Funding 

 
 
For several years, the City and Cedar Falls School District have collaborated in planning 
and identifying funding for a new pool at the new high school currently under 
construction on West 27th Street.  The existing indoor pools at the middle schools are 
both over 40 years old and becoming more and more unreliable.  They are not suitable 
to host events for our local swim team.  In addition, a separate entrance with secure 
access points allows the City potential to hold programs during the school day, which 
cannot happen now.  Recognizing the benefits the City receives in cost sharing on 
operations as well as offering a facility, this project has been identified in the City’s 
Capital Improvement Plan since January 4, 2021.  Due to recent escalation in costs, the 
School District split the project into two phases: 

 Phase 1 - building shell and associated site improvements of the sidewalks and 
parking lot (a contract has been signed, permit obtained, and work has started) 

 Phase 2 is the pool and infrastructure to open and operate a functional pool (next 
phase, pending grants are obtained anticipate bidding in early 2024) 

The total project cost is estimated to be $21,000,000. 
 
Two goals in the adopted Council Goals, Work Program and Financial Plan for FY24 
are achieved with this project:   

2.C.3)c. Coordinate with CFCSD on the completion of the new Cedar Falls 
High School; identify local, county and state facilities, programs and property 
which can minimize duplication of services and  
5.C.13) Continue collaboration CFCSD on the development of plans for a new 
indoor community pool, co-located with the new Cedar Falls High School.   

 
For over 40 years, the City has had a cooperative agreement with the School District for 
use of the pools at the two junior high schools.  This agreement would continue until 
such time that the new high school pool is open for use.  At that point, the attached and 
proposed 28E Agreement for Swimming Pool Use, Operation and Maintenance is 

358

Item 35.



proposed to take effect.  This new agreement is very similar to the cooperative 
agreement in the areas it addresses.  It increases the City’s operational support by 5% 
from our past agreement to be 50% of the operations.  It also provides that the City will 
be guaranteed use of the facility for at least 50% of the time, excluding times that are 
undesirable for recreational programming such as late night or Sunday mornings.  It 
provides the opportunity for daytime programming that has not been possible due to 
school security issues with the design of the junior high schools.  Finally, a committee 
will be established that will ensure good communication, planning and budgeting for the 
facility.  We have experienced a very good working relationship with the School District 
and wish to have the structure in place that will ensure that continues 20 years into the 
future.  This agreement would be effective for 20 years, to recognize the substantial City 
support of the project.  Amendments can be made upon mutual agreement.  After 20 
years, a new agreement would be needed to continue the partnership. 
 
The FY23-28 CIP identified $8,000,000 in City funds to support the overall total project 
cost of $21,000,000.  City funding would be through the Recreation Center Capital 
(RCCIP), Economic Development Fund (EDF), and General Fund Savings (GFS).  The 
approved FY24 budget reduced the capacity to provide the originally planned amount 
for FY24 of $5,500,000.  Staff has discussed this with school district staff and the 
project can stay on track with funding of $4,000,000 in FY24 and $4,000,000 in FY25. 
 
The School District and City will be partnering to apply for several grants.  A request for 
Community Attraction and Tourism (CAT) grant from the State of Iowa and to the Black 
Hawk County Gaming Commission are anticipated this calendar year.  Resolutions of 
support will be requested at the time each grant request is nearing submittal. 
 
Staff recommends approval of resolution that would approve both the 28E Agreement 
for Swimming Pool Use, Operation and Maintenance as well as the funding amounts 
and timelines to provide the funding. 
 
 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 Mike Soppe, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 
 Dr. Andy Pattee, Superintendent (School District) 
 Denelle Gonnerman, Chief Financial Officer (School District) 

359

Item 35.



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
28E AGREEMENT FOR SWIMMING POOL USE, OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE, 

AND CITY FUNDING TO THE PROJECT WITH THE 
CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  

 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has considered 

approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for Swimming Pool Use, 

Operation and Maintenance with the Cedar Falls Community School District for the new 

High School pool at 2701 West 27th Street, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City’s adopted FY23-28 Capital Improvements Plan outlines City 

funding will be provided to support a portion of the costs related to building the new 

facility that in total is $21,000,000 to complete, and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Swimming Pool facility will be built in two phases: Phase 1 is the 

building shell and associated site improvements of the sidewalks and parking lot, Phase 

2 is the pool and infrastructure to open and operate a functional pool, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Community School District and City plan to apply for 

grants to support a portion of the costs related to building the new facility, and 

  

 WHEREAS, the funding must be confirmed for grant application assurances, and  

  

 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls funding will be provided as follows: Phase 1 - 

$4,000,000 upon start of construction of Phase 1 or after July 1, 2023, whichever is 

later; and Phase 2 - $4,000,000 upon issuance of the permit for Phase 2 or after July 1, 

2024 whichever is later, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and authorize execution of said 

Agreement and funding. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
360

Item 35.



Iowa, that said Agreement and funding is hereby approved and the Mayor and City 

Clerk are hereby authorized to execute said Agreement on behalf of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa and issue funds in accordance with the terms as stated. 

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of June, 2022. 

 
                                                                                                                                              

_____________________________ 

                                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

361

Item 35.



1 
 

28E Agreement for Swimming Pool Use, Operation and Maintenance 

Between 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

And 

Cedar Falls Community School District 

 

Recitals 

This Agreement is made on the ________ day of __________________, 2023, by and between 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”), and the Cedar Falls Community School District (the 

“School District”). 

WHEREAS, the City is an Iowa local government existing under the provisions of Iowa Code 

Chapter 372; and 

WHEREAS, the School District is located in Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, is governed 

by the School Board of Directors, and pursuant to Iowa Code § 297.22, the board of directors of 

any school district is provided with the power to sell, lease, exchange, give or grant or accept 

any interest in real property to, with or from any municipal corporation if the real property is 

within the jurisdiction of both the grantor and the grantee; and 

WHEREAS, the City is responsible for providing recreational and athletic services to the Cedar 

Falls general public as part of its comprehensive recreational and leisure activities programs; 

and 

WHEREAS, the City’s financial contributions will total $8,000,000 to the construction of a new 

$21,000,000 swimming facility to be located on the campus of Cedar Falls High School (the 

“Swimming Pool”); and  

WHEREAS, the City and the School District will benefit from the joint use, operation and 

maintenance of the Swimming Pool to meet the needs of their respective constituencies; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the School District have determined that it is in their best interests and 

in the best interests of the students and patrons of the School District as well as the residents of 

Cedar Falls to establish rules and procedures for the cooperative use, operation and 

maintenance of the Swimming Pool. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and agreements set 

forth below, the City and School District mutually agree as follows. 

  

362

Item 35.



2 
 

Agreement 

1.     Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is for the City and the School District to jointly 

utilize the Swimming Pool to meet the athletic, recreational and other needs of the 

students and patrons of the School District as well as the residents of the City; and to 

share in the operation, repair, capital and maintenance costs of the Swimming Pool as set 

forth in this Agreement.   

2.     Effective Date; Duration.  This Agreement shall become effective as of the date it is filed 

with the Iowa Secretary of State.  The term of this Agreement shall be twenty years, unless 

terminated earlier as provided for in Paragraph 17.  This Agreement shall be automatically 

extended for additional terms of two years each unless written notice of non-renewal is 

provided by the City or the School District prior to the expiration of the initial term or any 

extension. 

3.     Governance.  No separate legal entity shall be created for the governance or 

administration of the terms or subject matter of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be 

administered by a Joint Pool Committee consisting of members of City staff and members 

of School District staff as more particularly set forth in Paragraph 6. 

4.     Description of Swimming Pool.  The facility that is subject to this Agreement is located at 

Cedar Falls High School, 2701 W. 27th St., Cedar Falls in the northeast area of the 

property.  It includes the pool and the parking lot to its northeast and is identified in Exhibit 

“A” attached.  The Swimming Pool shall be owned by the School District.  The City shall 

possess the right of usage of the Swimming Pool as set forth in this Agreement, and no 

additional approvals, permits or agreements are necessary except as set forth in this 

Agreement. 

5.     Approvals.  This Agreement is subject to approval by the City Council of the City and the 

Board of Directors of the School District, respectively. 

6.     Joint Pool Committee.  Upon approval of this Agreement there shall be appointed a Joint 

Pool Committee that shall govern operation of the Swimming Pool.  No compensation shall 

be paid to members of the Committee for such service.   

A. Composition.  The Joint Pool Committee shall consist of the persons holding the 

following positions: 

1. From the City:  Director of Community Development; Manager of Recreation and 

Community Programs; Recreation Program Supervisor (Aquatics). 

2. From the School District:  Chief Financial Officer; Building and Grounds Director; 

Activities Director. 

 

B. Meetings.  The Joint Pool Committee shall meet no less than four months prior to 

Swimming Pool opening and then quarterly thereafter through the first two years of 

Swimming Pool operation.  After two full years of operation the Joint Pool Committee 

363

Item 35.



3 
 

shall meet bi-annually.  After three full years of operation the Joint Pool Committee 

shall meet at least annually. 

  

C. Chair.  A chair of the Joint Pool Committee shall be elected by the other members to 

serve a two-year term.  The chair shall convene meetings according to the schedule 

set forth above, or more frequently as circumstances dictate, and shall preside over 

meetings.  The position of chair shall rotate between representatives of the City and 

the School District every term.  In the event that the Committee is at an impasse (i.e., 

3-3 vote) on any issue the Chair’s vote shall be determinative. 

 

D. Powers and Duties.  The Joint Pool Committee shall be responsible for budgeting, 

determining capital expenditures, establishing rental fees, scheduling, necessary 

repairs and maintenance, usage rules, use agreements, all as further delineated in 

this Agreement, as well as other items necessary for the safe and efficient operation 

of the Swimming Pool.    

7.    Budget.  The Joint Pool Committee shall develop and approve a budget for the Swimming 

Pool on an annual basis consisting of the following elements: 

A. Operating Costs and Payment.   

1. Operating costs shall consist of the expenses of providing a safe and clean 

natatorium facility for all users such as maintenance of the building, building 

insurance, lighting, heating/cooling, mechanical functions of the pool itself, locker 

rooms and all other related areas, as well as other costs by mutual agreement.  It 

also includes cleaning of the natatorium which shall include cleaning the locker 

rooms and changing rooms (toilets, urinals, sinks, floors, removing trash, etc.), 

the offices/meeting room (removing trash, floors, etc.), hosing the pool desk and 

cleaning seating areas, vacuuming the pool consistently, cleaning items such as 

scum rings that may occur, and snow removal of the parking lot.   Operating 

costs shall be shared by the City and the School District on a 50-50 basis. 

2. The School District shall pay operating costs as incurred, subject to fifty percent 

(50%) reimbursement by the City.  The School District will provide an estimate of 

the first six months’ operating expenses to the City on or about December 1st of 

every year.  On or about June 1st each year, the School District shall provide to 

the City an itemized statement of operating costs for the full fiscal year.  Payment 

by the City for its fifty percent (50%) share is due within thirty days of billing from 

the School District.   

 

B. Capital Costs and Funding.   

1. Capital costs shall consist of major repair or replacement items, including but not 

limited to, electrical panel, pumps, filters, interior and exterior repairs and 

upgrades, and other significant items.  The Joint Pool Committee shall determine 

at least annually capital costs for the next fiscal year so that each party is able to 

budget accordingly for each party's share of such upcoming capital costs. 

364

Item 35.



4 
 

8.     Operation of the Swimming Pool.  The Swimming Pool shall be managed and operated on 

a day-to-day basis by the School District in compliance with State of Iowa regulations 

related to pool operation and maintenance.  Swimming Pool operation shall be overseen 

by at least one State of Iowa recognized Certified Pool Operator who shall be available, 

either in person or immediately on call, when the pool is in use.  Such certified pool 

operator(s) shall be employed or contracted by the School District. 

9.     Rental Fee.  An event that is not sponsored by the City or by the School District shall be 

subject to a rental fee.  Such event must be scheduled at a time other than when the 

School District has priority (see Paragraph 10A).  The rental fees and deposit shall be 

established by the Joint Pool Committee on an annual basis.  The rental fee shall be 

itemized and cover the estimated additional costs to operate the Swimming Pool during 

the period of rental such as for utilities, cleaning, pool use, multi-purpose room, and staff 

for the event.  The rental fee shall entitle the user access to areas rented which may 

include the pools, multi-purpose room, locker rooms and public parking area during the 

period of the rental.  Rental users shall be expected to leave the areas rented in 

substantially the same condition as they were found and in a clean, safe and sanitary 

condition at the conclusion of the rental.  No permanent signs or fixtures may be placed at 

the Swimming Pool by rental users without advance written authorization by the School 

District.  The Joint Pool Committee shall have the authority to establish reasonable rules 

and regulations for rental users, participants and guests. 

10.    Scheduling.   

A. Use of the Swimming Pool shall be prioritized as follows: 

1. School District allocated pool time.  This includes, but is not necessarily limited 

to, School District sponsored classes or functions as well as School District 

programs. 

2. City allocated pool time.  This includes, but is not necessarily limited to, City 

sponsored programs, classes and trainings, as well as local swim team practices, 

rentals and public open swimming. 

 

B. The City shall be allocated a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of available pool time.  

Available pool time shall include all hours that the Swimming Pool is open for use but 

shall not include 10:00 p.m. – 5 a.m. each day and Sunday mornings from 5 a.m. – 

noon.  It is contemplated that City allocated pool time shall be generally used as 

follows: 

1. City sponsored programs, classes and trainings as well as the public open 

swimming are primarily to be held in the early morning, afternoon, and weekends 

when school is not in session. 

2. When school is in session, the City may hold City sponsored programs, classes 

or trainings by mutual agreement with the School District and as approved by the 

Joint Pool Committee. 

3. During the summer, the City may fully use the Swimming Pool during daytime 

hours.  The parties agree that for purposes of this Agreement the summer is 

365

Item 35.



5 
 

considered to be from the day after the last day of school until two weeks prior to 

the start of new school year. 

 

C. The School District shall develop and update on a weekly basis a calendar of 

Swimming Pool usage that shows the times of various usages with sufficient detail to 

determine if the usage falls within School District allocated pool time or City allocated 

pool time.  Said calendar shall be made available to the Joint Pool Committee, with 

read/write access. 

 

D. Each party is responsible for supervision over Swimming Pool use during its 

allocated pool time. 

E.  The parties agree that each will leave the Swimming Pool in substantially the same 

condition as it was found and in a safe, clean and sanitary condition at the 

conclusion of each party’s allocated pool time. 

11. Concessions.   Concessions shall not be available during City allocated pool time except 

as determined by the School District. 

12. Parking.  Users during City allocated pool time shall park vehicles in the area designated 

as “Pool Parking” in Exhibit “A” attached.  Other areas shall be available, if needed. 

13. Termination of Previous Agreement.  The Cooperative Agreement For Use of Swimming 

Pools dated June 8, 2021, executed by the parties, is deemed terminated without the 

necessity of further action upon opening of the Swimming Pool at 2701 W 27th St. 

14. Insurance, Indemnification and Hold Harmless.  By August 1st each year during the term of 

this Agreement, including any extensions, the parties shall furnish to each other, upon 

request, written evidence of applicable insurance or self-insurance coverage, covering the 

use of the Swimming Pool. 

 To the extent authorized by the Iowa Constitution and Code of Iowa, the City and the 

School District each shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other party, including 

the other party’s elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers, boards and 

commissions and/or authorities and their board members, administrators, agents and 

assigns, and their insurers, for all claims, damages or causes of action whatsoever for the 

negligence or intentional misconduct of the indemnifying party and the indemnifying party’s 

elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions and/or 

authorities and their board members, administrators, agents and assigns working on 

behalf of the indemnifying party, arising out of or in any way connected with the use of the 

Swimming Pool or the repair or maintenance of the Swimming Pool. 

 The City and the School District each hereby release the other party and the other party’s 

elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions and/or 

authorities and their board members, administrators, agents and assigns, and their 

insurers, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the other party by way of 

366

Item 35.



6 
 

subrogation or otherwise for loss or expense related to liability, property, and/or workers 

compensation, unless such loss or expense is due to the negligence or intentional 

misconduct of the other party, but then only to the extent that the other party and the other 

party’s elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions 

and/or authorities and their board members, administrators, agents and assigns working 

on behalf of the other party does not have governmental immunity from such loss or 

expense. 

15. Amendments.  This Agreement may be modified by written amendment approved by the 

parties.  Such amendment must be filed with the Iowa Secretary of State. 

16.     Termination.   

A. For Cause.  Prior to its expiration, a party may terminate this Agreement upon a 

material breach by the other party, provided that the party in breach is given a 

minimum of thirty days written notice of breach and the opportunity to cure such 

breach within the notice period.  If the breach is not cured within said period, or 

within any reasonable extension agreed upon by the parties, then this Agreement 

may be terminated immediately upon written notice by the non-breaching party. 

 

B. Destruction of the Swimming Pool.  In the event that the Swimming Pool is 

substantially damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty that makes Swimming 

Pool usage dangerous or otherwise inadvisable, and such damage or destruction 

cannot be repaired within 180 days of such damage or destruction, then this 

Agreement shall be terminated as of the date of such damage or destruction. All 

payments by the parties called for in this Agreement shall be suspended and not 

owed during the period that the Swimming Pool is unavailable. 

 

C. If this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than the School District’s 

uncured breach, the City shall pay a pro-rata share of operating expenses up to the 

date of termination. 

 

D. Because the Swimming Pool is owned by the School District there shall be no 

disposal of property upon termination of this Agreement.  

17.    Notice.  Notices required or allowed under this Agreement shall be in writing and may be 

personally delivered, sent by ordinary mail or delivery service, or emailed to: 

A. In the case of the City:    Director of Community Development 
       220 Clay St. 
       Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
       stephanie.sheetz@cedarfalls.com 

B. In the case of the School District: Director of Building & Grounds 
       Cedar Falls School District Administration Center 
       1002 W First St. 
       Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

367

Item 35.



7 
 

       rick.gersema@cfschools.org 

C. A party shall promptly provide written notice to the other of any changes to contact 

information above. 

D. Notice shall be deemed given when personally delivered, three days after deposited 

in the US Mail or with a delivery service with appropriate postage or charges paid, or 

the date when emailed. 

18.    No Assignment.  The rights, duties and obligations under this Agreement may not be 

transferred or assigned without the prior written consent of the non-transferring or non-

assigning party, which consent may be withheld in the absolute discretion of the non-

transferring or non-assigning party. 

19.    No Third-Party Beneficiary.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties and no 

other person has any right, benefit, or interest under or because of this Agreement. 

20.    Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties 

pertaining to the subject matter and supersedes all prior agreements understandings, 

negotiations and discussions of the parties pertaining to the subject matter, whether oral or 

written.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date set forth next to 

their signatures below. 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

By:  ______________________________   Date: ______________ 
          Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 

Attest: _______________________________  Date: ______________ 
           Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

Cedar Falls Community School District 

By: ____________________________   Date: _______________ 

Its: ____________________________ 

 

  

368

Item 35.



8 
 

Exhibit A 
Swimming Pool 

 
Cedar Falls High School, 2701 W. 27th St. 

 
 
 
  

Swimming Pool 

Public Parking for 
Swimming Pool 

369

Item 35.



9 
 

Exhibit B 
Swimming Pool Facility Diagram 

 
 
 
  

Main Pool 

Warmup/Cool down 

Pool 

Equipment/Mechanical 

Mechanical Storage 

Multi-
purpose 

Girls 
Locker 

Rm. 

Boys 
Locker 

Rm. 

Family 
Locker 

Rm. 

370

Item 35.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

RECREATION CENTER 
110 E 13TH STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-273-8636 
FAX: 319-273-8656 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Mike Soppe, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 

 DATE: June 6, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Vending Services, Atlantic Bottling Company 

 
 
Attached is a five-year agreement with Atlantic Bottling Company to provide vending services for The Falls 
Aquatic Center, Birdsall Park, Pfeiffer Park, and the Rec Center. This agreement is being recommended 
by the Recreation Division staff. 
 
The contract requires the contractor to deliver products, coolers, and/or vending machines onsite, in 
exchange for 45% of the revenue or the wholesale price of the product. The same as amount as in years 
past. The Recreation Division will provide an inventory list as well as receipts of sale.  
 
We continue to work with Atlantic Bottling Company to provide our patrons with refreshments through June 
30, 2028. 
 
 
Thank you. 
  

 
 

 

371

Item 36.



372

Item 36.



373

Item 36.



374

Item 36.



375

Item 36.



376

Item 36.



377

Item 36.



378

Item 36.



379

Item 36.



380

Item 36.



381

Item 36.



382

Item 36.



383

Item 36.



384

Item 36.



385

Item 36.



386

Item 36.



387

Item 36.



388

Item 36.



389

Item 36.



390

Item 36.



391

Item 36.



392

Item 36.



393

Item 36.



394

Item 36.



395

Item 36.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

RECREATION CENTER 
110 E 13TH STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-273-8636 
FAX: 319-273-8656 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Mike Soppe, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 

 DATE: June 9th, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Flooring Contract with Sherwin-Williams 

 
 
Attached is a contract for Sherwin-Williams to resurface the flooring in the Multi-Purpose room in the Cedar 
Falls Recreation and Fitness Center. This agreement is being recommended by the Recreation Division 
Manager. 
 
The contract requires the contractor to cover existing flooring with a Luxury Vinyl Tile. The contractor will 
also replace surrounding wall trim and replace or add thresholds as needed. The current flooring is original 
to the room. The new tile will not only give the room a fresh look it will add some needed comfort with 
temperature for the yoga classes.   
 
The project will be using funds from the Kathryn Ray Memorial Fund designated to the Cedar Falls Rec 
Center for facility enhancements. The project has been recommended by the Park & Rec Commission and 
approved by the Cedar Falls Community Foundation. 
 
 
Thank you. 
  

 
 

 

396

Item 37.



397

Item 37.



398

Item 37.



399

Item 37.



400

Item 37.



401

Item 37.



402

Item 37.



403

Item 37.



404

Item 37.



405

Item 37.



406

Item 37.



407

Item 37.



408

Item 37.



409

Item 37.



410

Item 37.



411

Item 37.



412

Item 37.



413

Item 37.



414

Item 37.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

  

 
 
 
 
 TO: The Honorable Mayor Green and City Council 
 FROM: Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

 DATE: June 10, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Red House Studios (224 West Seerley Boulevard) 

 
Please find attached three lease agreement extensions for use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard 
as artists’ studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst Center’s Visiting Artist Program. The 
extensions provide for continued use of the studios per the original lease agreements, with a 
new lease expiration date of June 30, 2024. 
 
The Red House Studio has space for four artists. A UNI Alumni artist will be selected by the Art 
& Culture Board to fill the fourth studio space in August. Agreements for the UNI space will be 
presented to council for approval at a future meeting. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 
   

415

Item 38.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
RED HOUSE STUDIO LEASE 

EXTENSION 

This Lease Extension is entered into on the tLJ-tk day of M!10( , 2� by the
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, (''Lessor"), whose address for purposes of this Lease Agreement is 
220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, and __ Angela Waseskuk ______ _ 
("Lessee"), whose address for purposes of this Lease Agreement is _ 
903 Walnut Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

----- - - --

1. Lessor and Lessee entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated June 20, 2022, a copy of 
which is attached as Exhibit "A". The term of the Lease Agreement is July 1, 2021, until June 
30, 2023.

2. Lessor and Lessee now wish to extend the term of the Lease Agreement until June 30, 2024, 
for the same rental amount, ie, $145 per month due in advance on the 1st day of each month 
during the term of the Lease.

3. The parties hereby confirm and ratify all of the terms and conditions of the Lease 
Agreement, except as expressly modified in this Lease Extension.

Lessee: 

y,w/4� 
NGEAW ASESKUK 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

BY 
- ---------- - -------

ROBERT M. GREEN, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

BY 
- ----------- -------

JACQUELINE DANIELSEN, CITY CLERK 

DATE 

DATE 

416

Item 38.



Exhibit A

417

Item 38.



418

Item 38.



419

Item 38.



420

Item 38.



421

Item 38.



422

Item 38.



423

Item 38.



424

Item 38.



425

Item 38.



426

Item 38.



427

Item 38.



428

Item 38.



Exhibit A

429

Item 38.



430

Item 38.



431

Item 38.



432

Item 38.



433

Item 38.



434

Item 38.



435

Item 38.



436

Item 38.



437

Item 38.



438

Item 38.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
RED HOUSE STUDIO LEASE 

EXTENSION 

This Lease Extension is entered into on the 2..1. day of /0- ().. 1 201:_f by the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ("Lessor"), whose address for purposes of this Lease Agreement is 
220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, and __ Noah Doely __________ _ 
("Lessee"), whose address for purposes of this Lease Agreement is _ 
122 Main Street, Apt.I Cedar Falls, IA 50613 _ _______ _ 

1. Lessor and Lessee entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated June 20, 2021, a copy of 
which is attached as Exhibit "A". The term of the Lease Agreement is July I, 2022, until June 
30, 2023.

2. Lessor and Lessee now wish to extend the term of the Lease Agreement until June 30, 2024, 
for the same rental amount, ie, $145 per month due in advance on the I st day of each month 
during the term of the Lease.

3. The parties hereby confirm and ratify all of the terms and conditions of the Lease 
Agreement, except as expressly modified in this Lease Extension.

Lessee:� 
NOAHDOELY 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

BY 
--------------------

ROBERT M. GREEN, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

BY 
- -------------------

JACQUELINE DANIELSEN, CITY CLERK 

DATE 

DATE 

DATE 

� l

439

Item 38.



Exhibit A

440

Item 38.



441

Item 38.



442

Item 38.



443

Item 38.



444

Item 38.



445

Item 38.



446

Item 38.



447

Item 38.



448

Item 38.



449

Item 38.



450

Item 38.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 MEMORANDUM 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 
 FROM: Jennifer Pickar 

 DATE: May 16, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Agreement with Moxie for FY24 Digital Advertising 
  
Attached please find a contract to work with Moxie to promote Cedar Falls via digital 
advertising. 
 
We intend to spend $40,000, and possibly up to $20,000 more if grants and budget 
allows throughout FY24 to promote the city via Facebook, Instagram, Remarketing and 
Native Display Advertising. We recently received six proposals for this project and 
Moxie was selected due to the quality of their work and excellent response.  
 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
Best regards.  
 
 
Cc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 

451

Item 39.



452

Item 39.



453

Item 39.



454

Item 39.



455

Item 39.



456

Item 39.



457

Item 39.



458

Item 39.



459

Item 39.



Moxie

Cedar Falls
Tourism & Visitors Bureau
Digital Advertising Plan Proposal

Prepared for

Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager

Prepared by

Michele Jensen, Vice President

Account Team

Michele Jensen, Vice President

Jenny Hughes, Account Manager

Matt Miller, Creative Strategy Director

Desiree Trimble, Client Strategy Director

Lori Stewart, Senior Designer

Jen Gilbert, Senior Copywriter

Nic Redmond, Marketing Insights Analyst

Jon Wheeler, Web Developer

Date

March 27, 2023

Scope of Services

460

Item 39.



18 | Moxie Proposal Template

Scope of Work

Services Subtotal

Web Content: SEO and Keywords Review and Recommendations

Since keywords are a critical component of driving traffic to your website and aid in reaching the

right audience at the right time and in the right place, Moxie recommends a review of your

current website content. We recommend doing this prior to the creation and launch of the

digital campaign to help maximize results and return on investment. Our analysis will help to

ensure the right keywords are incorporated into the campaign content. Moxie will provide a

summary of the keyword analysis and make recommendations on how keywords could be

incorporated within current site content.

$850

Campaign Concepts - Messaging and Strategy

Moxie will create four campaign concepts including messaging and imagery. Campaign

concepts will be used for four quarters and will incorporate keywords from initial analysis and

follow Cedar Falls Tourism & Visitors Bureau’s brand standards. Moxie recommends continued

use of the overall slogan of “We know how to weekend” however to help avoid creative fatigue

and to best reach the audiences outlined in the RFP, we want to evolve the creative and present

this concept under new themes. This will allow Cedar Falls to continue to brand itself as a

weekend destination in a relevant way to a variety of audiences including families and young

couples.

Once approved, the quarterly concepts will be applied to all tactics including paid search, native

advertising, and retargeting. Moxie will also provide files to you so you can use them in materials

you are creating beyond the digital campaign on Facebook and Instagram. This could include

your website, presentations, Pinterest, YouTube, and/or Twitter allowing you to follow a

consistent message and look that is being seen in the quarterly campaigns.

Moxie will work with you to create concepts for two quarters at a time. Q1 and Q2 and then we’ll

repeat the process for Q3 and Q4.

Includes: 6 hours of client revisions

$7,250

Initial Report Set Up and Benchmark Determination

Moxie will create a monthly report template to use throughout the life of the campaign to

provide monthly reporting of all tactics including analysis of key metrics, observations, and

recommendations for adjustments to help maximize your return on investment in your digital ad

campaign. Moxie will work with you to obtain all necessary benchmarks to help measure the

effectiveness of the various ad types including paid, native, and retargeting.

$1,100

461

Item 39.



Services Subtotal

Google Ad - Paid Search

To help drive traffic to your website and reach your target audiences, Moxie recommends the

use of paid search ads. Moxie will use the approved campaign concepts and ad strategy to

create and implement ads on Google Ads. Ads created will be in line with your brand standards

as well as the approved concepts for the quarter. Moxie will monitor ad performance and include

analysis and insights on a monthly report summary. We recommend considering 4 ads annually.

Includes: 2 hours of client revisions

$1,200/per ad

Social Media Ad - Native Advertising

In support of your goals to interact and engage with young couples and families, Moxie

recommends the use of native ads on two platforms - Facebook and Instagram. Moxie will use

your brand standards and the approved quarterly concepts to create and implement ads such as

Facebook and Instagram carousels. Moxie will monitor ad performance and include analysis and

insights on a monthly report summary. We recommend considering 4 ads annually.

Includes: 2 hours of client revisions

$1,200/per ad

Retargeting Ad

Retargeting your audience after they visit your website, www.cedarfallstourism.org is a great

way to continue to interact and engage with them and continue to build awareness of Cedar

Falls as a destination to explore. Moxie recommends the creation and implementation of

retargeting ads. These ads will follow your brand standards and the approved quarterly

concepts. Moxie will monitor your retargeting ads and include analysis and insights on a monthly

report summary. We recommend considering 3 ads annually.

Includes: 2 hours of client revisions

$1,200/per ad

Monthly Reporting

Moxie will use the report template to provide a monthly report of all tactics including analysis of

key metrics, observations, and recommendations for adjustments to help maximize your return

on investment in your digital ad campaign.

$475/per month,

$5,700 annual

investment

Digital Ad Placement

Based on the number of google, social and retargeting ads selected by the client, the remainder

of the $40,000 budget will be allocated to the media placement with a focus on Facebook and

Instagram.

TBD

This proposal is presented at a discounted Moxie hourly rate and includes an in-kind
contribution of $2,500 already deducted from the listed investments on page 18.

19 | Moxie Proposal Template 462

Item 39.

https://www.cedarfallstourism.org/


Additional Ideas for Consideration

Custom Photography – Family-focused

Upon our initial review of the RFP audiences and current materials, Moxie noticed there may be an

opportunity for a full day photo shoot. The purpose of the photo shoot would be to obtain photos

of families on location in Cedar Falls. These photos could be used within the digital ad campaign

but can also be used in other marketing efforts done by the Cedar Falls Tourism & Visitors Bureau.

Moxie would work with you to solidify a shot list, shoot on location, and provide edited photos

to you. Client will participate in talent coordination.

Includes: full day photo shoot and up to 50 edited photos

$3,325

:10-:15 Second Social Video

Moxie will create one short social video clip up to 15 seconds using existing photos and animated

text/graphics. Video clips can be used on various platforms. The video will follow your brand

guidelines and approved quarterly campaign concepts. These short clips are a great way to

encourage your audiences to engage with your brand, social platforms, and website. Moxie will

share final files to you for use. If this tactic is selected, Moxie will incorporate the social video into

the digital ad campaign.

Includes: 2 hours of client revisions

$1,650

One Minute Brand/Hype Video

Video remains one of the best ways to interact with and engage with your audience. A video is a

flexible marketing tool which can be used in presentations, on social platforms, and on your

website. Video is also a great way to help your audiences relate to your brand. Moxie recommends

the creation of a 60-second commercial style video to reinforce to your target audiences that

Cedar Falls is a great weekend destination for young people, young couples, and families. Moxie

will work with you to plan a video shoot on location in Cedar Falls.

Includes: full day video shoot and 7 hours of client revisions

$7,900

Blog Content

Since your site has a blog, an additional blog post each month would be a great way to maximize

your ROI on a digital marketing campaign. Moxie recommends the creation of one additional post

per month that is tied directly to the quarterly digital advertising campaign. Blog content not only

drives traffic to your website, but it can also be repurposed in other materials such as on social

platforms and in your newsletter. Moxie will provide approved content and an image for you to

post on your site.

Includes: 2.5 hours of client revisions

$1,150/per blog

20 | Moxie Proposal Template 463

Item 39.



Moxie's Recommended Timeline

22 | Moxie Proposal Template 464

Item 39.



Next Steps
To proceed, please review, sign, and return the signed estimate via email to michele.jensen@experiencemoxie.com. This

estimate is valid for 30 days following March 27, 2023.

Approval and Acknowledgement
By signing this estimate, Moxie acknowledges and agrees to scope of work and terms. Charges outlined above plus

applicable tax will be invoiced via email to Jennifer Pickar at jennifer.pickar@cedarfalls.com, unless otherwise advised by

client.

Michele Jensen

Vice President

michele.jensen@experiencemoxie.com

Jennifer Pickar

Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager | Cedar Falls Tourism

& Visitors Bureau

Thank you.

 SIGNATURE
Experience Moxie  SIGNATURE

Jennifer Pickar

23 | Moxie Proposal Template 465

Item 39.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE
BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

5/17/2023

AssuredPartners Great Plains, LLC
4200 University Ave., Suite 200
West Des Moines IA 50266-5945

Jodi Messer
515-237-0149 515-237-0149
jodi.messer@assuredpartners.com

License#: 1001000272 Landmark American Insurance Company 33138
VGMGROU-01

VGM Group Inc Dba MOXIE (FKA Hellman)
1111 West San Marnan Drive
Waterloo IA 50704

654342722

A Professional Liability LHR799738 11/17/2022 11/17/2023 Each Claim Limit
Aggregate Limit
Each Claim Deductible

$1,000,000
$2,000,000
$5,000

To Whom it May concern

466

Item 39.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

4/11/2023

Holmes Murphy & Associates
225 South Sixth Street
Suite 1900
Minneapolis MN 55402

Chris Sundstrom
612-349-2466

csundstrom@holmesmurphy.com

Hartford Fire Insurance Company 19682
VGMGROPC Twin City Fire Insurance Co 29459

VGM Group, Inc.
DBA: Strategic Imaging
4024 Alexandra Drive
Waterloo IA 50702

The Continental Insurance Company 35289

1043006981

A X 1,000,000
X 100,000

15,000

1,000,000

2,000,000
X

91UENOD2145 1/1/2023 1/1/2024

2,000,000

A 1,000,000

X
91UENOD2146 1/1/2023 1/1/2024

1,000,000

C X X 10,000,0007034752374 10/1/2022 1/1/2024

10,000,000
X 10,000

B X91WEOD2B1R 1/1/2023 1/1/2024

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is included as an additional insured with respect to General Liability, as required by written contract.

City of Cedar Falls
Inspection Services Division
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

467

Item 39.



EMPLOYEE BENEFITS LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM 

Page 4 of 7 Form HC 00 21 07 99 

b. Excess Insurance 

This insurance is excess over any other 
insurance, whether primary, excess, 
contingent or on any other basis, that is 
effective prior to the beginning of the policy 
period shown in the Declarations of this 
Coverage Part and applies to "damages" on 
other than a claims-made basis, if: 

(1) No retroactive date is shown in the 
Declarations of this Coverage Part; or 

(2) The other insurance has a policy period 
which continues after the Retroactive 
Date shown in the Declara-tions of this 
Coverage Part. 

When this insurance is excess, we will have 
no duty to defend any "claim" or "suit" that any 
other insurer has a duty to defend.  If no other 
insurer defends, we will undertake to do so, 
but we will be entitled to the insured's rights 
against all those other insurers. 

When this insurance is excess, we will pay 
only our share of the amount of the loss, if 
any, that exceeds the sum of: 

(1) The total amount that all such other 
insurance would pay for the loss in the 
absence of this insurance; and 

(2) The total of all deductible and self-insured 
amounts under all that other insurance. 

We will share the remaining loss, if any, with 
any other insurance that is not described in 
this Excess Insurance provision and was not 
bought specifically to apply in excess of the 
Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations 
of this Coverage Part. 

c. Method of Sharing 

If all of the other insurance permits 
contribution by equal shares, we will follow 
this method also.  Under this approach, each 
insurer contributes equal amounts until it has 
paid its applicable limit of insurance or none 
of the loss remains, whichever comes first. 

If any of the other insurance does not permit 
contribution by equal shares, we will 
contribute by limits.  Under this method, each 
insurer's share is based on the ratio of its 
applicable limit of insurance to the total 
applicable limits of insurance of all insurers. 

5. Premium Audit. 

a. We will compute all premiums for this 
Coverage Part in accordance with our rules 
and rates. 

b. Premium shown in this Coverage Part as 
advance premium is a deposit premium only.  
At the close of each audit period we will 
compute the earned premium for that period. 

Audit premiums are due and payable on 
notice to the first Named Insured.  If the sum 
of the advance and audit premiums paid for 
the policy term is greater than the earned 
premium, we will return the excess to the first 
Named Insured. 

c. The first Named Insured must keep records of 
the information we need for premium 
computation, and send us copies at such 
times as we may request. 

6. Representations. 

By accepting this policy, you agree: 

a. The statements in the Declarations are 
accurate and complete; 

b. Those statements are based upon represen-
tations you made to us; and 

c. We have issued this policy in reliance upon 
your representations. 

7. Separation of Insureds. 

Except with respect to the Limits of Insurance, 
and any rights or duties specifically assigned in 
this Coverage Part to the first Named Insured, this 
insurance applies: 

a. As if each Named Insured were the only 
Named Insured; and 

b. Separately to each insured against whom 
"claim" is made or "suit" is brought. 

8. Transfer Of Rights Of Recovery Against 
Others To Us. 

If the insured has rights to recover all or part of 
any payment we have made under this Coverage 
Part, those rights are transferred to us.  The 
insured must do nothing after loss to impair them.  
At our request, the insured will bring "suit" or 
transfer those rights to us and help us enforce 
them.

SECTION V - EXTENDED REPORTING 

PERIODS

1. We will provide one or more Extended Reporting 
Periods, as described below, if: 

a. This Coverage Part is cancelled or not 
renewed; or 

b. We renew or replace this Coverage Part with 
insurance that: 

468

Item 39.

CSundstrom
Typewritten text
Commercial Liability PolicyPolicy No. 91UENOD2145Effective 01/01/2023 to 01/01/2024

CSundstrom
Rectangle



 

 
Page 4 of 5 Form HA 99 16 12 21  

(1) Permanently installed in or upon the 
covered "auto" in a housing, opening or 
other location that is not normally used 
by the "auto" manufacturer for the 
installation of such equipment;  

(2) Removable from a permanently installed 
housing unit as described in Paragraph 
2.a. above or is an integral part of that 
equipment; or  

(3) An integral part of such equipment. 

c. For each covered "auto", should loss be 
limited to electronic equipment only, our 
obligation to pay for, repair, return or replace 
damaged or stolen electronic equipment will 
be reduced by the applicable deductible 
shown in the Declarations, or $250, 
whichever deductible is less.  

10. EXTRA EXPENSE - BROADENED 
COVERAGE 

Under Paragraph A. - COVERAGE - of SECTION 
III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, we will 
pay for the expense of returning a stolen covered 
"auto" to you. 

11. GLASS REPAIR - WAIVER OF DEDUCTIBLE 

Under Paragraph D. - DEDUCTIBLE - of 
SECTION III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, 
the following is added: 

No deductible applies to glass damage if the 
glass is repaired rather than replaced. 

12. TWO OR MORE DEDUCTIBLES 

Under Paragraph D. - DEDUCTIBLE - of 
SECTION III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, 
the following is added: 

If another Hartford Financial Services Group, 
Inc. company policy or coverage form that is not 
an automobile policy or coverage form applies to 
the same "accident", the following applies: 

(1) If the deductible under this Business Auto 
Coverage Form is the smaller (or smallest) 
deductible, it will be waived; 

(2) If the deductible under this Business Auto 
Coverage Form is not the smaller (or 
smallest) deductible, it will be reduced by 
the amount of the smaller (or smallest) 
deductible. 

13. AMENDED DUTIES IN THE EVENT OF 
ACCIDENT, CLAIM, SUIT OR LOSS 

The requirement in LOSS CONDITIONS 2.a. - 
DUTIES IN THE EVENT OF ACCIDENT, 
CLAIM, SUIT OR LOSS - of SECTION IV - 
BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS that you must 
notify us of an "accident" applies only when the 
"accident" is known to: 

(1) You, if you are an individual; 

(2) A partner, if you are a partnership; 

(3) A member, if you are a limited liability 
company; or 

(4) An executive officer or insurance manager, if 
you are a corporation. 

14. UNINTENTIONAL FAILURE TO DISCLOSE 
HAZARDS 

If you unintentionally fail to disclose any hazards 
existing at the inception date of your policy, we 
will not deny coverage under this Coverage 
Form because of such failure. 

15. HIRED AUTO - COVERAGE TERRITORY 

SECTION IV, BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS, 
PARAGRAPH B. GENERAL CONDITIONS, 7. - 
POLICY PERIOD, COVERAGE TERRITORY - 
is added to include the following: 

(6) For short-term hired "autos", the coverage 
territory with respect to Liability Coverage is 
anywhere in the world provided that if the 
"insured's" responsibility to pay damages for 
"bodily injury" or "property damage" is 
determined in a "suit," the "suit" is brought in 
the United States of America, the territories 
and possessions of the United States of 
America, Puerto Rico or Canada or in a 
settlement we agree to. 

16. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION 

Paragraph 5. TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF 
RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US - of 
SECTION IV - BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS 
A. Loss Conditions is amended by adding the 
following:  

We waive any right of recovery we may have 
against any person or organization with whom 
you have a written contract that requires such 
waiver because of payments we make for 
damages under this Coverage Form. 

17. RESULTANT MENTAL ANGUISH COVERAGE 

The definition of "bodily injury" in SECTION V- 
DEFINITIONS, C. is replaced by the following: 

"Bodily injury" means bodily injury, sickness or 
disease sustained by any person, including 
mental anguish or death resulting from any of 
these. 

18. EXTENDED CANCELLATION CONDITION 

Paragraph 2. of the COMMON POLICY 
CONDITIONS - CANCELLATION - applies 
except as follows: 

If we cancel for any reason other than 
nonpayment of premium, we will mail or deliver 
to the first Named Insured written notice of 
cancellation at least 60 days before the effective 
date of cancellation.  

469

Item 39.

CSundstrom
Typewritten text
Automobile Liability PolicyPolicy No. 91UENOD2146Effective 01/01/2023 to 01/01/2024

CSundstrom
Rectangle



 

 
Page 4 of 5 Form HA 99 16 12 21  

(1) Permanently installed in or upon the 
covered "auto" in a housing, opening or 
other location that is not normally used 
by the "auto" manufacturer for the 
installation of such equipment;  

(2) Removable from a permanently installed 
housing unit as described in Paragraph 
2.a. above or is an integral part of that 
equipment; or  

(3) An integral part of such equipment. 

c. For each covered "auto", should loss be 
limited to electronic equipment only, our 
obligation to pay for, repair, return or replace 
damaged or stolen electronic equipment will 
be reduced by the applicable deductible 
shown in the Declarations, or $250, 
whichever deductible is less.  

10. EXTRA EXPENSE - BROADENED 
COVERAGE 

Under Paragraph A. - COVERAGE - of SECTION 
III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, we will 
pay for the expense of returning a stolen covered 
"auto" to you. 

11. GLASS REPAIR - WAIVER OF DEDUCTIBLE 

Under Paragraph D. - DEDUCTIBLE - of 
SECTION III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, 
the following is added: 

No deductible applies to glass damage if the 
glass is repaired rather than replaced. 

12. TWO OR MORE DEDUCTIBLES 

Under Paragraph D. - DEDUCTIBLE - of 
SECTION III - PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE, 
the following is added: 

If another Hartford Financial Services Group, 
Inc. company policy or coverage form that is not 
an automobile policy or coverage form applies to 
the same "accident", the following applies: 

(1) If the deductible under this Business Auto 
Coverage Form is the smaller (or smallest) 
deductible, it will be waived; 

(2) If the deductible under this Business Auto 
Coverage Form is not the smaller (or 
smallest) deductible, it will be reduced by 
the amount of the smaller (or smallest) 
deductible. 

13. AMENDED DUTIES IN THE EVENT OF 
ACCIDENT, CLAIM, SUIT OR LOSS 

The requirement in LOSS CONDITIONS 2.a. - 
DUTIES IN THE EVENT OF ACCIDENT, 
CLAIM, SUIT OR LOSS - of SECTION IV - 
BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS that you must 
notify us of an "accident" applies only when the 
"accident" is known to: 

(1) You, if you are an individual; 

(2) A partner, if you are a partnership; 

(3) A member, if you are a limited liability 
company; or 

(4) An executive officer or insurance manager, if 
you are a corporation. 

14. UNINTENTIONAL FAILURE TO DISCLOSE 
HAZARDS 

If you unintentionally fail to disclose any hazards 
existing at the inception date of your policy, we 
will not deny coverage under this Coverage 
Form because of such failure. 

15. HIRED AUTO - COVERAGE TERRITORY 

SECTION IV, BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS, 
PARAGRAPH B. GENERAL CONDITIONS, 7. - 
POLICY PERIOD, COVERAGE TERRITORY - 
is added to include the following: 

(6) For short-term hired "autos", the coverage 
territory with respect to Liability Coverage is 
anywhere in the world provided that if the 
"insured's" responsibility to pay damages for 
"bodily injury" or "property damage" is 
determined in a "suit," the "suit" is brought in 
the United States of America, the territories 
and possessions of the United States of 
America, Puerto Rico or Canada or in a 
settlement we agree to. 

16. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION 

Paragraph 5. TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF 
RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US - of 
SECTION IV - BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS 
A. Loss Conditions is amended by adding the 
following:  

We waive any right of recovery we may have 
against any person or organization with whom 
you have a written contract that requires such 
waiver because of payments we make for 
damages under this Coverage Form. 

17. RESULTANT MENTAL ANGUISH COVERAGE 

The definition of "bodily injury" in SECTION V- 
DEFINITIONS, C. is replaced by the following: 

"Bodily injury" means bodily injury, sickness or 
disease sustained by any person, including 
mental anguish or death resulting from any of 
these. 

18. EXTENDED CANCELLATION CONDITION 

Paragraph 2. of the COMMON POLICY 
CONDITIONS - CANCELLATION - applies 
except as follows: 

If we cancel for any reason other than 
nonpayment of premium, we will mail or deliver 
to the first Named Insured written notice of 
cancellation at least 60 days before the effective 
date of cancellation.  

470

Item 39.

CSundstrom
Rectangle

CSundstrom
Typewritten text
Umbrella Liability PolicyPolicy No. CUE 7034752374Effective 10/01/2022 to 01/01/2024

CSundstrom
Rectangle



THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

Countersigned by

Authorized Representative

Form WC 00 03 13 Printed in U.S.A.

Process Date: 01/18/23 Policy Expiration Date: 01/01/24

WAIVER OF OUR RIGHT TO RECOVER

FROM OTHERS ENDORSEMENT

Policy Number: 91 WE OD2B1R Endorsement Number:
Effective Date: 01/01/23 Effective hour is the same as stated on the Information Page of the policy.
Named Insured and Address: VGM GROUP INC.

1111 W SAN MARNAN DRIVE
WATERLOO IA 50701

We have the right to recover our payments from anyone liable for an injury covered by this policy. We will not enforce our
right against the person or organization named in the Schedule.

This agreement shall not operate directly or indirectly to benefit anyone not named in the Schedule.

SCHEDULE

Any person or organization for whom you are required by contract or agreement to obtain this waiver from us.
Endorsement is not applicable in KY, NH, NJ or for any MO construction risk

471

Item 39.

CSundstrom
Typewritten text
Workers' Compensation PolicyPolicy No. 91WEOD2B1REffective 01/01/2023 to 01/01/2024

CSundstrom
Rectangle



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Tourism Activities & Economic Development Services Funding Agreement 

 
 
Attached is the FY24 Tourism Activities & Economic Development Services Funding agreement 
with College Hill Partnership (CHP).  This project meets the Tourism Activities & Economic 
Development Services Funding program criteria, and the agreement sets forth the requirements 
that must be met by CHP in order to receive $4,500 in funding for FY24. 

 

If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know.  

 

472

Item 40.



473

Item 40.



474

Item 40.



475

Item 40.



476

Item 40.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Tourism Activities & Economic Development Services Funding Agreement 

 
 
Attached is the FY24 Tourism Activities & Economic Development Services Funding agreement 
with Community Main Street (CMS).  This project meets the Tourism Activities & Economic 
Development Services Funding program criteria, and the agreement sets forth the requirements 
that must be met by CMS in order to receive $20,000 in funding for FY24. 

 

If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know.  

 

477

Item 41.



478

Item 41.



479

Item 41.



480

Item 41.



481

Item 41.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 1, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Property Acquisition: Patrick and Laura Finnegan 
 
 
At their April 17, 2023 meeting, City Council approved the execution of the Offer to Buy 
Real Estate and Acceptance for 2.35 acres of land located at 2603 S. Union Road, just 
west of the West Viking Road Industrial Park, from Patrick and Laura Finnegan. The 
purchase price was $346,000. City Legal staff completed the closing on the property on 
June 1, 2023.  
 
Now that the closing has been completed, City Council will need to accept the Warranty 
Deed that will be recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office. Staff 
recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 
 
 1. Resolution Approving and Accepting a Warranty Deed for the purchase of 

2.35 acres, more or less, of real estate located at 2603 S. Union Road, 
owned by Patrick and Laura Finnegan. 

 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 
 
         
        
 
 
 

482

Item 42.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160 

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A WARRANTY DEED FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF 2.35 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF REAL ESTATE LOCATED AT 

2603 SOUTH UNION ROAD OWNED BY PATRICK AND LAURA FINNEGAN 

 
 WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, previously approved execution of 

an Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Patrick and Laura 

Finnegan, for the purchase of 2.35 acres, more or less, of real estate located at 2603 S. Union Road owned 

by Patrick and Laura Finnegan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to said Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance, the real estate transaction 

recently closed, and Patrick and Laura Finnegan have tendered a Warranty Deed in fulfillment of said 

Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance, a copy of which Warranty Deed accompanies this Resolution, 

to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best interests of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and accept said Warranty Deed. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that said Warranty Deed conveying 2.35 acres, more or less, of real estate 

located at 2603 S. Union Road by Patrick and Laura Finnegan, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

approved and accepted, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to cause said Warranty Deed 

to be recorded with the Black Hawk County Recorder. 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of June, 2023. 

 
       

____________________________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 

____________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

483

Item 42.



 2 

CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the 

above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _____ duly and legally 

adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

484

Item 42.



485

Item 42.



PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
501 E. 4th Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
319-273-8633 MEMORANDUM 

Water Reclamation Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Tyler Griffin, Water Reclamation Manager 

 DATE: June 9th, 2023 

 SUBJECT: 17th St. Lift Station Makeup Air Unit Replacement  

 

This past winter, a Makeup Air Unit (MAU) failed at the 17th Street Lift Station. This 
critical piece of equipment both heats the building, and replaces potentially toxic air with 
fresh air, providing a safe work environment at our largest lift station.  
 
The MAU, which is original to the lift station, was heavily impacted by the corrosive 
nature of the air being removed from the lift station, likely reducing its operational 
lifespan. The recommended replacement MAU will have corrosion resistant coatings to 
reduce these impacts on the new equipment. 
 
Setpoint Mechanical proposed to supply a Xetex Outdoor Indirect Fired MAU for 
$179,200, and Plumb Tech Inc. provided a bid of up to $19,670 for installation. Neither 
Geisler Brothers Company, nor Young Plumbing & Heating returned a bid for this 
project.  
 
I am requesting authorization to expend the above funds to purchase and install a Xetex 
Makeup Air Unit at the 17th Street Lift Station. These costs will be covered by FY24 
Sewer Rental Funds. However, I am making the request now due to extended lead 
times. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 

 
 
 

CC: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 

486

Item 43.



 
Tuesday, February 21, 2023 www.setpointmech.com Page | 1 

                  

 

 

 

Setpoint Mechanical Solutions is pleased to offer the following products for your review and consideration: 

Item Qty. Model/Description      Tag 

 A1   1 Xetex / Outdoor Indirect-Fired MAU    MAU-2 

 

  Model: XAH-15000-RT-HI 

Outdoor Construction - 100% OA Unit  

  Horizontal Config. – Downflow Discharge 

Aluminum Casing – Exterior Painted Xetex Gray Acrylic  

Aluminum Checkerplate Floor  

Double Wall – 2” R-13 Foam Insulation 

2 x Direct Drive Plenum Supply Fans – Heresite Coated 

480V/3P – 7.5 HP TEFC Motors w/VFD 

Fans w/1” Spring Isolation 

OA Hood w/Birdscreen 

TAMCO Aluminum Intake Damper & Actuator (Fld. Installed) 

  2” MERV8 Outside Air Filter Section (Fld. Installed) 

409 SS Heat Exchanger (Natural Gas) 

 1929 MBH Input 

 90F Temp rise 

 Modulating Control  

Full Side Access w/Doors 

  Xetex DDC Controls (Panel Shipped Loose, Fld. Installed) 

  External NEMA 4 Electrical Panel  

ETL Label 

  Non-Fused Disconnect w/Single Point Power Connection 

  GFI Service Outlet & Lights (120V Power by Others) 

  Filter Pressure Switch 

  Floor Grates Over Access Openings 

  6” Structural Steel C-Beam w/Xetex Gray Acrylic 

  Adapter Curb 

  Start-up by Setpoint Mechanical 

  Estimated Lead Time: 32-36 Weeks 

   

  Unit Dimensions: 76”H x 174”L x 104”W 

  Weight: 8,000 lbs 

  Unit Shrink Wrapped 

 

Not Including 1) Control/power/sensor wiring, actuator install, BAS integration, explosion proof rating, gas venting, spare filters. 

                          2) Unit shipping splits, storage, rigging, installation, labor warranty. 

 

TOTAL NET PRICE (ITEMS A)………………………….…………………………………………….………………………….$179,200.00 

To: City of Cedar Falls                                  Date: 2/21/2023 
Attn: Chris Harrison               Delivery Terms: F.O.B. Factory F.A. 
Project: 17th St. MAU Replacement             Payment Terms: Net 30 
Engineer: NA                                   Tax: Less Tax 

Proposal 

487

Item 43.



Setpoint Mechanical Proposal - 17th St MAU Replacement - REV1 

 
Tuesday, February 21, 2023 www.setpointmech.com Page | 2 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Lucas Waage  

Setpoint Mechanical Solutions 

Cell (515)-577-8792 

lucas@setpointmech.com 

 

488

Item 43.

mailto:lucas@setpointmech.com


Plumb Tech Inc. 
3261 W. Airline Hwy. 

Waterloo, IA  50703 
Phone:  319-233-5616                 Fax:  319-233-5737 

 
Date: 3/9/23 
To: City of Cedar Falls  
Attn: Chris 
Re: MAU Change Out 
 
We propose to furnish the labor and miscellaneous materials to change out the 
existing MAU at the Cedar Falls Lift Station by the Panther Lounge.  We have 
included disconnecting and reconnecting the gas pipe, Removing and disposing 
of the exiting MAU, and setting a new owner provided Xetex MAU.  We have also 
included crane rental and an allowance of $10,000.00 for any electrical work or 
control work.  Note: Setpoint Mechanical said the unit is being shipped with 
factory installed controls in the unit.   
 
    Quote: $ 19,670.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plumb Tech Inc. 
Brett Behrends 

489

Item 43.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 20, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2023 Alley Reconstruction Project  
  Project No. RC-000-3298 
  Contract Documents 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, 
Payment, and Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with 
Vieth Construction Corp. for the 2023 Alley Reconstruction Project. 
 
This project involves the reconstruction of three (3) alleys, two (2) of which are concrete 
and one (1) of which is a permeable alley. Work shall include a combination of excavation 
and backfill of the alley areas; removal and replacement of driveway and sidewalk and of 
PCC curb and gutter; subdrain installation; placement of storage and filter aggregate; 
installation of permeable interlocking clay brick pavers, seeding, and concrete, asphalt, 
or gravel driveway replacement.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving and 
executing the contract with Vieth Construction Corp. for the 2023 Alley Reconstruction 
Project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

490

Item 44.



491

Item 44.



492

Item 44.



493

Item 44.



494

Item 44.



495

Item 44.



496

Item 44.



497

Item 44.



498

Item 44.



499

Item 44.



500

Item 44.



501

Item 44.



502

Item 44.



503

Item 44.



504

Item 44.



505

Item 44.



506

Item 44.



507

Item 44.



508

Item 44.



509

Item 44.



510

Item 44.



511

Item 44.



512

Item 44.



513

Item 44.



514

Item 44.



515

Item 44.



516

Item 44.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

SUBJECT: Request to Set Date of Public Hearing:  Community Development Block 
Grant and HOME Consortium Annual Action Plan FY24 (FFY23) 

   
 
The Community Development Department has developed FFY23 Annual Action Plan 
(AAP) outlining the use of HUD’s announcement that our CDBG entitlement grant is 
$261,652 in federal fiscal year 2023.  The plan allocates the funds in accordance with 
the adopted and HUD-approved 5-Year Consolidated Plan and is required to be 
submitted to HUD each year.  The City has until August 11, 2023 to submit the AAP to 
HUD.   
 
Staff anticipates that the Housing Commission will be reviewing the AAP at their June 
21st meeting.     
 
The public comment period is at least 30 days, per HUD requirements.  The public 
comment period started June 9, 2023, and will end on July 17, 2023.  The Community 
Development Department recommends setting the public hearing and considering 
adoption of the Annual Action Plan (FFY23) at the City Council’s July 17, 2023 meeting. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

517

Item 45.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 12, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Transfer of Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, 
City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more 
or less). 

 
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for July 17, 2023 to 
address the proposed transfer of the above referenced City owned real estate to Ryan 
Companies US, Inc. The proposed project would consist of an approximate 56,000 
square foot building to be constructed at the corner of Venture Way and Innovation 
Drive in the new West Viking Road Industrial Park expansion area. Additional 
information pertaining to the land transaction and the Agreement for Private 
Development will be provided to City Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
         
        
 
 
 

518

Item 46.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING (1) TO CONSIDER 

ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RYAN COMPANIES US, 

INC.; AND (2) TO CONSIDER CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN CITY-OWNED REAL 

ESTATE TO RYAN COMPANIES US, INC., PURSUANT TO SAID PROPOSED 

AGREEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from Ryan 

Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Ryan Companies US, 

Inc., on terms which include: 

 

(1) Conveyance of certain city-owned real estate legally described as consisting of all that 

certain parcel or parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of 

Black Hawk, State of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less); 

and  

 

(2) Entering into a Minimum Assessment Agreement whereby the minimum actual taxable 

value of the land and improvements to be constructed on the Development Property would 

be established at an amount not less than $7,747,000 for a period of ten (10) years after 

completion of the improvements; 

 

and  

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance 

of the Development Property to the Developer pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

  

519

Item 46.



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 17th day of July, 2023, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers 

of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consider entering 

into a proposed Agreement for Private Development between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Ryan 

Companies US, Inc., and to consider conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer on certain 

terms as set forth in the proposed agreement.  A copy of the proposed agreement is on file in the Office 

of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish said notice of said public 

hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

520

Item 46.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and legally 

adopted by the City Council of said City on the ____ day of _______________, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of _________________, 2023. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

521

Item 46.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: May 18, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Council Salary Ordinance 

 
Please find attached proposed changes to Section 2-47 of the Code of Ordinances 

relating to the Salary of Councilmembers.  These changes were discussed during the 

Committee of the Whole meeting on April 17, 2023. 

 

The effects of Section 2-47 changes are to establish $12,000 as the annual rate of pay 

beginning January 1, 2024, and to use October as the month of the federal consumer 

price index rate (CPI-U) to calculate the annual increase, which will be effective 

beginning January 1, 2025. 

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

  
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
       Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 
 
 
  

522

Item 47.



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE SALARY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS BY REPEALING 

SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, 

CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF 

A NEW SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

     Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division I, Generally, of Article II, City Council, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

           Sec. 2-47. - Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of $12,000.00$4,098.60 
as of January 1, 2024, and beginningafter January 1, 2025,2000 an annual salary 
adjustment shall be awarded equal to the latest calendar year annual federal 
consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the month of October that precedes the effective 
date of the annual salary adjustmentawarded at the start of each fiscal year. Said 
salary shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by motion direct. 

(Code 2017, § 2-43; Ord. No. 2085, § 1, 2-13-1995; Ord. No. 2250, § 1, 1-11-1999) 

      

INTRODUCED:         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

____________________________ 
                Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

523

Item 47.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Inspection Services Division 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green & City Council  
 
 FROM: Jamie Castle, AIA 
  Building Official   
 
 DATE: June 13, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  First Reading for amendments to Ordinance Sections 19-4 and 19-185 

Removal of Snow and Ice 
 
 
Attached are the proposed amendments to Ordinance Sections 19-4 and 19-185 
Removal of Snow and Ice.  These potential amendments were initially presented at the 
March 20, 2023 committee meeting. 

524

Item 48.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 19 STREETS AND SIDEWALKS 

 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 1 of 8 

Chapter 19 STREETS AND SIDEWALKS 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Sec. 19-1. Obedience to persons entrusted with care of streets. 

It shall be unlawful for any person within the city to disobey or disregard the lawful commands or directions 
of any person in charge of work or repair or connected with such work or repair on any street with respect to the 
care of the street, the removal of obstructions and the general convenience of traffic and travel.  

(Code 2017, § 23-1) 

Sec. 19-2. Right-of-way, public park, public area meetings; parades. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to hold public meetings of any character or description upon any public 
right-of-way of the city, or in any public park or area under the control of the city, without a permit being 
first secured as set forth in this section, or for any person to congregate about or upon any public right-of-
way of the city so as to obstruct public travel or city services, or for any person to parade or march upon any 
street or public right-of-way of the city without a permit being first secured as set forth in this section.  

(b) Public meetings may be held on public right-of-ways of the city and in public parks or other public areas, and 
parades or marches may be held in the city by a person first obtaining from the city a written permit as 
described in section 17-210. This section is not intended to apply to funeral processions, students engaged in 
educational activities under the direct supervision of proper school authorities, or governmental agencies 
acting within the scope of their functions.  

(c) Any person violating any provision of this section, or who holds, conducts, manages, directs or has charge of 
a public meeting, parade or march otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the written permit issued 
as provided in this section, shall be guilty of a municipal infraction, punishable as provided in section 1-9 of 
this Code.  

(Ord. No. 2949, § 4, 8-5-19) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 2949, § 4, adopted August 5, 2019, repealed the former § 19-2 and enacted a new § 19-
2 as set out herein. The former § 19-2 pertained to street meetings; parades and derived from Code 2017, § 
23-3.  

Sec. 19-3. Use of barbed wire on street. 

(a) The use of barbed wire on any property where such wire abuts any street or on the right-of-way of any street 
within the corporate limits of the city is hereby prohibited, and it is hereby made the duty of the operations 
and maintenance manager to remove any barbed wire so used on private property within the corporate 
limits of the city after first giving the owner or person occupying the premises 24 hours' notice to remove the 
same; provided, however, that, where such barbed wire is on the right-of-way of any street, the same may 
be removed by the manager without notice.  

525

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 2 of 8 

(b) Any person failing, refusing or neglecting to remove any such barbed wire, when notified to do so by the 
operations and maintenance manager within 24 hours after such notice, or any person who shall use barbed 
wire in violation of the provisions of this section, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.  

(Code 2017, § 23-4) 

Sec. 19-4. Clearing of snow and ice from sidewalks.Reserved 

It shall be the duty of the owner to keep sidewalks abutting the property clear of the natural accumulations 
of snow or ice. If the owner fails to do so within a reasonable time, the operations and maintenance manager may 
have the natural accumulations of snow or ice removed without notice to the property owner. The manager shall 
give the council an itemized and verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the property. The costs 
shall be assessed against the property as taxes.  

(Code 2017, § 23-5) 

Sec. 19-5. Depositing gasoline, oil, etc., on paved streets. 

No person shall allow any gasoline, kerosene or oil of any character to be deposited upon any pavement or 
to drip from any wagon, tank or vessel upon any pavement within the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-7) 

Sec. 19-6. Depositing dirt, ashes or rubbish on paved streets. 

No person shall deposit or cause to be deposited any dirt, ashes or rubbish of any kind or character on any 
paved street within the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-8) 

Sec. 19-7. Cleanup of glass and other material on removal of wrecked vehicle from street. 

Any person removing a wrecked or damaged vehicle from a street shall remove any glass or other injurious 
substance dropped upon the street from such vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 23-9) 

Sec. 19-8. Deposit of injurious material on street. 

(a) No person shall throw or deposit upon any street in the city any glass, bottle, nails, tacks, wire, cans, trash, 
garbage, rubbish, litter, offal or any other debris. No substance likely to injure any person, animal or vehicle 
upon a street shall be thrown or deposited by any person upon such street.  

(b) Any person who drops or permits to be dropped or thrown upon any street any destructive or injurious 
materials and other materials as defined in subsection (a) of this section shall immediately remove the 
material or cause it to be removed.  

(Code 2017, § 23-10) 

526

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 3 of 8 

Sec. 19-9. Sweeping refuse or waste into street. 

It shall be unlawful for any business house or firm to sweep refuse or waste material of any kind into the 
street.  

(Code 2017, § 23-11) 

Sec. 19-10. Animals on streets. 

(a) It shall be unlawful to drive any animal on the streets of the city, unless properly harnessed and ridden, 
driven or led so as to be under the full control of the person so riding, driving or leading such animal; 
provided, however, that this section shall not prevent the transporting of animals in vehicles over the public 
streets of the city.  

(b) It shall be unlawful to leave any horses or livestock unattended on the streets of the city.  

(c) All provisions of chapter 23 shall, when applicable, apply to animals ridden, driven or led on the streets of 
the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-12) 

Sec. 19-11. Depositing snow or ice upon streets, sidewalks or municipal parking lots. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit any accumulations of snow or ice upon the traveled portion of 
any street or highway, or upon any public sidewalk, or upon any municipally owned or leased parking lot, 
anywhere within the city. Any person violating this section shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-13; Ord. No. 2077, 11-14-1994) 

Sec. 19-12. Camping on public rights-of-way. 

(a) Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Camp or camping means residing in or using city-owned property for night-time living accommodation 
purposes such as sleeping activities, making preparations to sleep overnight, including the laying down of bedding 
for the purpose of sleeping; erecting, maintaining or occupying any structure with natural or artificial material, 
including a building or tent, or living in a parked camper, trailer, motor home, motor vehicle, or any other vehicle, 
or city-owned property.  

(b) Unlawful camping. Except as otherwise provided in section 17-201 with respect to city parks, it shall be 
unlawful for any person to camp on any city-owned property, including public street rights-of-way, public 
sidewalks, public parks, or any other publicly-owned or maintained area or facilities; and no person shall set 
up a tent, shack, or any other shelter or structure on, nor park a camper, trailer, motor home, or any other 
vehicle for the purpose of sleeping or camping on, any city-owned property, including public street rights-of-
way, public sidewalks, public parks, or any other publicly-owned or maintained area or facilities.  

(Code 2017, § 23-14; Ord. No. 2522, § 1, 6-13-2005) 

527

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 4 of 8 

Sec. 19-13. Penalty for violation of article. 

Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-15; Ord. No. 2522, § 2, 6-13-2005) 

ARTICLE V. SIDEWALK CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR 

Sec. 19-172. Purpose of article. 

The purpose of this article is to clarify the responsibilities of the city and the owners of abutting property for 
the maintenance, repair, replacement or reconstruction of sidewalks.  

(Code 2017, § 23-121) 

Sec. 19-173. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

City engineer means the city engineer or the officer designated by the city council to perform the duties 
prescribed for the engineer by this article.  

Defective sidewalk means any public sidewalk exhibiting deficient characteristics, as defined by the city 
engineer and approved by the city council. A list of the deficient characteristics shall be kept on file in the office of 
the city clerk.  

Owner means the person owning the fee title or the contract purchaser for purposes of notification required 
under this article. For all other purposes, the term "owner" shall include the lessee, if any.  

Sidewalk improvements means the reconstruction, repair, replacement or removal of a public sidewalk or the 
excavating, filling or depositing of material in the public right-of-way in connection therewith.  

(Code 2017, § 23-122) 

Sec. 19-174. Penalty for violation of article. 

Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-123) 

Sec. 19-175. Standard specifications; supervision by city engineer. 

(a) The city engineer shall prepare complete plans and specifications for the construction, reconstruction and 
repair of sidewalks and driveway crossings in the sidewalk, which, upon approval of the city council, shall be 
kept on file in the office of the city clerk. The specifications shall include descriptions and standards for 
location of barricades and warning lights.  

528

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 5 of 8 

(b) All sidewalk improvements on public property, whether performed by the owner of the abutting property or 
by the city, shall be performed under the supervision and inspection of the city engineer, and in accordance 
with the plans and specifications adopted in accordance with this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-124) 

Sec. 19-176. Permit required; issuance. 

No person shall make any sidewalk improvements unless such person shall obtain a permit from the city 
engineer. The permit shall state that the person will comply with the ordinances of the city and with the 
specifications for sidewalks adopted by the city. The permit also shall state that the work will be done under the 
direction and approval of the city engineer. A charge, in such amount as established by the council from time to 
time, shall be made for all such permits. A copy of the permit, with the application, shall be filed and preserved in 
the office of the city engineer. The permit shall state when the work is to be commenced and when the work is to 
be completed. The time of completion for the sidewalk improvements may be extended by the city engineer. All 
permits for sidewalk improvements not ordered by resolution of the city council shall be issued in compliance with 
this article. The city engineer may withhold the issuance of any permit for any sidewalk improvements for a 
sufficient period to determine the necessity for the proposed improvements, or when weather conditions will 
adversely affect the sidewalk improvements.  

(Code 2017, § 23-125) 

Sec. 19-177. Commencement of work without permit; failure to comply with specifications. 

Whenever any sidewalk improvements are made that do not conform to the provisions of this article and 
with the city specifications, or when any sidewalk improvements are made without a permit, the city engineer shall 
serve notice to obtain a permit upon the property owner and upon the contractor doing the work. If the sidewalk 
is in the course of construction, the notice shall order the work to stop until a permit is obtained and the work is 
corrected to comply with the specifications. If the sidewalk work has been completed, the owner shall obtain a 
permit immediately and perform any needed corrections within five days from receipt of the permit. If the owner 
fails to comply with this notice, the engineer shall have the work completed, and the costs shall be assessed to the 
property owner as provided in section 23-135(c).  

(Code 2017, § 23-126) 

Sec. 19-178. Bond; insurance. 

(a) Any person constructing or building sidewalks within the city must first file a bond with the city clerk, with a 
copy to the city engineer, in the sum of $5,000.00, or the estimated total cost of the construction work 
covered by the permit as determined by the city engineer, whichever is greater, conditioned on:  

(1) The faithful performance of all duties and regulations required by this article regulating the 
construction, reconstruction or repair of sidewalks within the city;  

(2) The prompt payment to the city of any sums that may become due by reason of this article; and  

(3) The payment of all fines imposed on said person for violation of this article when such violations occur 
during the life of the bond.  

(b) In addition, such person shall provide a certificate of liability insurance to the city clerk with a copy to the city 
engineer, which policy shall indemnify the city from all liability for damages arising from negligence in doing, 
protecting or completing the sidewalk work. Said insurance policy shall have limits in the aggregate of 

529

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 6 of 8 

$1,000,000.00, and shall include the city as an additional named insured. Said bond and liability insurance 
policy shall provide coverage on a calendar year basis. Owners doing only their own sidewalk work are not 
required to furnish a bond or liability insurance policy if the owners execute an agreement with the city to 
hold the city harmless from any and all claims that may arise out of the sidewalk work.  

(Code 2017, § 23-127; Ord. No. 2758, § 2, 1-23-2012) 

Sec. 19-179. Inspection and approval of work. 

Upon final completion of sidewalk improvements, the city engineer shall inspect the work. He may order 
corrections if the work does not meet specifications. When the work does meet all requirements of this article, the 
specifications and the permit, the engineer shall indicate this on both copies of the permit.  

(Code 2017, § 23-128) 

Sec. 19-180. Barricades and warning lights. 

Proper warning lights and barricades shall be placed at sidewalk improvements to protect persons from 
materials, equipment and dangerous conditions. Placement and maintenance of adequate warnings is the 
responsibility of the constructor, the owner and the lessee of the property.  

(Code 2017, § 23-129) 

Sec. 19-181. Interference with sidewalk improvements. 

No person shall knowingly or willfully drive any vehicle upon any portion of any sidewalk or approach thereto 
while it is in the process of being improved, or upon any portion of any completed sidewalk or approach thereto, 
or shall remove or destroy any part or all of any sidewalk or approach thereto, or shall remove, destroy, mar or 
deface any sidewalk at any time or destroy, mar, remove or deface any notice or warning device provided for by 
this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-130) 

Sec. 19-182. Authority to order sidewalk improvements. 

The city engineer may order the reconstruction, repair or replacement of permanent sidewalks upon any 
street or court. Notice of this order shall be sent to the owner by certified mail. The notice shall include the fact 
that the owner may request a hearing by the city council within 15 days of receipt of the notice.  

(Code 2017, § 23-131) 

Sec. 19-183. Duty of abutting property owner to repair defective sidewalk. 

It shall be the duty of the abutting property owner at any time, or upon receipt of 30 days' notice from the 
city, to repair, replace or reconstruct all broken or defective sidewalks in the street right-of-way abutting the 
property owner's property. The abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by the failure of the 
abutting property owner to use reasonable care in the repair, replacement or reconstruction of broken or 
defective sidewalks abutting the property owner's property. If, after the expiration of the 30 days as provided in 
the notice, the required work has not been done or is not in the process of completion, the city engineer shall 
proceed to repair, replace or reconstruct the sidewalk. Upon completion of the work, the city engineer shall 

530

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 7 of 8 

prepare and submit to the city council an itemized and verified statement of expenditures for material and labor, 
and the legal description of the property abutting the sidewalk on which work has been performed. These costs 
shall be assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a property tax. The 
assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of liability for damages 
imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to repair, replace or reconstruct broken or defective 
sidewalks.  

(Code 2017, § 23-132; Ord. No. 2410, § 1, 1-13-2003) 

Sec. 19-184. Notification of city in case of inability to repair or barricade sidewalk. 

It shall be the duty of the owner of the property abutting the sidewalk, or of the contractor or agent of the 
owner, to notify the city immediately if the owner is unable to make necessary sidewalk improvements or to install 
or erect warnings and barricades as required by this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-133) 

Sec. 19-185. Removal of snow and ice. 

The abutting property owner is responsible for the removal of the natural accumulations of snow and ice 
from for the full width of all sidewalks abutting the property owner's property within a reasonable amount of 
time48 hours of the end of a weather event. The abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by 
the failure of the abutting property owner to use reasonable care in the removal of the snow or ice. If the abutting 
property owner fails to remove the natural accumulations of snow or ice within a reasonable amount of time48 
hours of the end of the weather event, the public workscommunity development department may notify the 
property owner of violation of this section by posting notice in a conspicuous place on the property or in the right-
of-way adjacent to the property.  If the property owner fails to remove have the natural accumulations of snow or 
ice within 24 hours of the notice the City shall have the snow or ice removed without further notice to the 
property owner. Upon completion of the work, the public workscommunity development director shall prepare 
and submit to the city council an itemized and verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the 
property, and the costs shall be assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a 
property tax. The assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of 
liability for damages imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to remove natural accumulations of 
snow or ice from the sidewalks.  

If removal of snow and ice from an abutting sidewalk would create an unsafe condition or would be a 
hardship on the owner, as determined by the city, an alternate route may be approved by the director of 
community development if the following conditions are met. 

1.  A plan is submitted to the City for approval. 

2. The plan clearly demonstrates hardship and specifically identifies the proposed alternate route. 

3. The alternate route provides a safe and level path with a minimum clearance of four feet and which 
leads to another adjacent sidewalk or right-of-way within five feet of the uncleared sidewalk. 

1.4. The alternate route is no longer than fifteen feet in total distance. 

(Code 2017, § 23-134; Ord. No. 2410, § 2, 1-13-2003; Ord. No. 2941, § 6, 6-3-2019) 

531

Item 48.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 8 of 8 

Sec. 19-186. Assessment for repair or clearing cost. 

(a) Notice. When the city engineer submits a bill for sidewalk improvements or for removal of accumulations as 
provided in sections 19-177, 19-183 and 19-185, the city clerk shall send a notice of such facts to the owner 
of the abutting property. The notice may be given either by personal service or by certified mail to the last 
known address of the owner. The notice shall contain a statement of the work performed, the cost of the 
work that is being assessed and a description of the property affected, and shall state the fact that the 
person may pay the amount assessed by a certain date without interest or penalty. The notice also shall 
indicate that the person may object to such assessment and give the place and time at which the city council 
will hear such objections. The time set for hearing shall be at least 15 days after the service or mailing of the 
notice.  

(b) Hearing. At the time and place designated in the notice, the city council shall consider all objections to the 
assessment, correct all errors or omissions, and adopt a corrected list as the amounts to be assessed against 
the property.  

(c) Billing and certifying to county. Thirty days after the city council's decision, the city clerk shall certify any 
unpaid amounts to the county auditor. The unpaid assessments shall constitute a lien against the property 
and shall be collected by the county treasurer in the same manner as other taxes. Any assessment that 
exceeds $500.00 may be paid in installments as set by the city council, not exceeding 15, in the same manner 
and at the same interest rates as for special assessments under Iowa Code ch. 384, div. IV (Iowa Code § 
384.37 et seq.). No interest shall be charged for assessments, or parts thereof, paid within 30 days of the 
time the city council determines the final amounts.  

(Code 2017, § 23-135) 

Secs. 19-187—19-210. Reserved. 

 

532

Item 48.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: June 12, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets 
 
Parking is currently allowed on both sides of Bluebell Road from South Main Street to 
Coneflower Parkway. This area creates concerns of a congested corridor that can lead 
to single lane traffic and also potential vehicular movement conflicts into and out of area 
businesses along the corridor.   
 
The Engineering Division is recommending that the current parking that exists on 
Bluebell Road be modified to restrict parking on certain portions of the road and have 
these areas designated as permanently prohibited parking. This will make the street 
safer with regards to traffic activities and vehicular movements within the corridor.    
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking 
Prohibited on Specific Streets so the code will match the proposed limits of the no 
parking along Bluebell Road. Please see the attached changes to City Code Section 23-
374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approval to set 
the newly defined area to prohibit on-street parking. This area is shown on the attached 
exhibit.    
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
    

533

Item 49.



534

Item 49.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Bluebell Road  On both sides of Bluebell Road from Coneflower Parkway to 250 feet west of 
Coneflower Parkway.  

 On the south side of Bluebell Road from Coneflower Parkway to 410 feet south/east 
of Coneflower Parkway. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

535

Item 49.



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED ON 
SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION PROHIBITING 
PARKING ON SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF BLUEBELL ROAD.  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets, of Division 1, Generally, of 
Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by adding a 
new unnumbered subsection which shall read as follows: 

 

            Street                                    Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Bluebell Road On both sides of the Bluebell Road from Coneflower 
Parkway to 250 feet west of Coneflower Parkway. 

 
 On the south side of the Bluebell Road from Coneflower 

Parkway to 410 feet south/east of Coneflower Parkway.  
  
  

 
 

 
 

INTRODUCED:     ____________    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
ADOPTED:      ____________    
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                             Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

536

Item 49.



537

Item 50.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 6/20/23 COUNCIL MEETING



538

Item 50.



539

Item 50.



540

Item 50.



541

Item 50.



542

Item 50.



543

Item 50.



544

Item 50.



545

Item 50.



546

Item 50.



547

Item 50.



548

Item 50.



549

Item 50.



550

Item 50.



551

Item 50.



552

Item 50.



553

Item 50.



554

Item 50.



555

Item 50.



556

Item 50.



557

Item 50.



558

Item 50.



559

Item 50.



560

Item 50.



561

Item 50.



562

Item 50.



563

Item 50.



564

Item 50.



565

Item 50.



566

Item 50.



567

Item 50.



568

Item 50.



569

Item 50.



570

Item 50.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 6/20/23 MEETING



571

Item 50.



572

Item 50.



573

Item 50.



574

Item 50.



575

Item 50.



576

Item 50.



577

Item 50.



578

Item 50.



579

Item 50.



580

Item 50.



581

Item 50.



582

Item 50.



583

Item 50.



584

Item 50.



585

Item 50.



586

Item 50.



587

Item 50.



588

Item 50.



589

Item 50.



590

Item 50.



591

Item 50.



592

Item 50.



593

Item 50.



594

Item 50.



595

Item 50.



596

Item 50.



597

Item 50.



598

Item 50.



599

Item 50.



600

Item 50.



601

Item 50.



602

Item 50.



603

Item 50.



604

Item 50.



605

Item 50.



606

Item 50.



607

Item 50.



608

Item 50.



609

Item 50.



610

Item 50.



611

Item 50.



612

Item 50.



613

Item 50.



614

Item 50.



615

Item 50.



616

Item 50.



617

Item 50.



618

Item 50.



619

Item 50.



620

Item 50.



621

Item 50.



622

Item 50.



623

Item 50.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of June 5, 2023
	230605MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-LUMA & Rezoning-702 LeClair Street
	1. CC Staff Report Rezoning 702 Le Clair St.final
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. ZoningLocationMap LU23-001 Exhibit A
	4. 22-1188-2023-04-06-Master Plan
	5. Rezoning Plat
	6. PC-2 Howe Development Procedures Agreement 6-12-23
	7.  Building Concept Perspectives
	8. LOI
	9. Traffic Narrative
	10. Ord-Rezoning-702 LeClair St

	Item 3.	Ord-Rezoning-C-1 to PC-2-702 LeClair St
	Ord-Rezoning-702 LeClair St

	Item 4.	PH-Allowance for vinyl siding-6 or fewer in CD-DT
	1- CC ph.memo.vinyl siding referral.6.19.23
	4 - Ordinance - vinyl siding for residential buildings less than 7 units in CD-DT

	Item 5.	PH-Allowance for vinyl siding-single or two-unit in CD-DT
	3 - Ordinance - vinyl siding for SF and duplexes in CD-DT

	Item 6.	PH-Allowance for vinyl siding-single unit dwellings CD-DT
	2 - Ordinance - vinyl siding for SF in CD-DT

	Item 7.	3030-Vacate Hudson Rd ROW
	1 CC staff report for Hudson Road
	2. ZoningLocationMap (6)
	3. Vacation Map
	4 - Ordinance to Vacate ROW

	Item 8.	Committee Minutes - 06/05/23
	06-05-23 Standing Committees Minutes-Final

	Item 9.	Board Resignation-Anne Bonsall Hoekstra
	Anne Bonsall Hoekstra Resignation-Art & Culture Board

	Item 10.	Appointments
	2023-06-09_HRC_Appoint_Weekley-Seymour-Droste-Ingham
	Weekley
	Droste
	Seymour
	Ingham

	Item 11.	Proclamations
	2023-06-14_ProclamationsForCouncilApproval
	2023-06-19_Juneteenth
	2023-07_DisabilityPrideMonth
	2023-07-11_IronmanBattalionDay

	Item 12.	FY23 Biannual Report-CHP
	1_Memo to Council for CHP 2nd Half Payment 06-20-23
	2_CHP Biannual Report May 2023

	Item 13.	Settlement-Great Wall-2nd Violation
	Order Accepting Agreement
	Acknowledgement-Settlement Agreement - Signed
	Great Wall Complant-2nd Violation

	Item 14.	Tobacco Permits 6/20/2023
	06202023 Tobacco Applications

	Item 15.	Liquor Beer 6-20-23
	Retail alcohol 6-20-23

	Item 17.	Rescind Council Proclamation Policy
	Res-Rescind Proclamation Policy

	Item 18.	FY2024 Appropriations Resolution
	0587_001

	Item 19.	Sewer Fund
	1-sewer loan amendment 2023council memo.mem
	2-Capital Projects Loan to Sewer Fund 2023 Amend

	Item 20.	Sewer Enterprise Fund-#1
	1-Health Trust Loan to Sewer Fund 2023 Amend

	Item 21.	Sewer Enterprise Fund-#2
	Res-2-Health Trust Loan to Sewer Fund #2 2023 Amend

	Item 22.	Sewer Enterprise Fund-#3
	Res-3-Health Trust Loan to Sewer Fund #3 2023 Amend

	Item 23.	Sewer Enterprise Fund-#4
	Res-4-Health Trust Loan to Sewer Fund #4 2023 Amend

	Item 24.	FY24 payroll resolution
	1-council resolution.mem
	2-fy24 payroll resolution_001
	3-fy24 paybands_001
	4-fy24 seasonal pay plan_001
	5-fy24 pw pay schedule_001
	6-fy24 ps pay schedule_001

	Item 25.	Wellmark Administrative Services Agreement
	1. Administrative Services Agreement FY24 CouncilMemoFINAL
	City of Cedar Falls Admin Services Agreement

	Item 26.	Stop Loss Policy with Wellmark, Inc.
	1. Stop Loss Policy FY24 CouncilMemoFINAL
	City of Cedar Falls Stop Loss Policy

	Item 27.	Business Associate Agreement -PDCM Insurance
	PDCM Business Associate Agreement FY24 CouncilMemoFINAL
	PDCM Business Associate Agreement

	Item 28.	Public Entity Insurance Renewal FY24
	Public Entity 1
	Public Entity 2

	Item 29.	Amendments-Finance Policies CFD 3110 & 3111
	Finance Policies Council Memo 062023
	CFD 3110 Emergency Rapid Need Purch Redline
	CFD 3111 Quotations Bids Redline

	Item 30.	Merchant Card Processing Services Agreement
	Merchant Processing Services Council Memo 2023
	Merchant Card Processing Services Agreement 2024-2025

	Item 31.	FY2023 Audit Engagement Letter
	Audit Engagement letter Council Memo 06192023
	2City of Cedar Falls 2023 Planning Communication 61739 (002)
	City of Cedar Falls 2023 Engagement Letter 61739

	Item 32.	FY2024 Fee Schedule
	1 FY24FeeSchedCouncilMemo
	FY24 Fee Schedule Draft

	Item 33.	Expenditure-Network Switch Replacements
	Network Switch Replacement - 2023

	Item 34.	28E Consolidated Dispatch
	28E Memo
	28E Comm Agree January 2023 reflecting valuation OSB Action

	Item 35.	28E Agreement-Swimming Pool
	1. Council Memo HS pool 28E-funding 6-20-23
	2. Resolution draft 6-20-23
	3. Pool 28E final draft 6-12-23

	Item 36.	Atlantic Bottling Co Vending Agreement
	Coke cover memo 5-26-23
	Atlantic Final Draft

	Item 37.	Rec-Flooring Replacement
	Sherwin-Williams cover memo 6-9-23
	Multi Flooring

	Item 38.	Red House Studio Lease Extensions
	1-Red House Studios Extensions Memo_06102023
	2-RedHouse_2024LeaseExt_AngelaW
	3-RedHouse_2024LeaseExt_KendraW
	4-RedHouse_2024LeaseExt_NoahD

	Item 39.	Moxie - Digital Marketing - V&T
	1. Memo to Mayor and Council 06-20-23
	2. Contract_Moxie_DigitalAdvertising
	3. Exhibit A_Moxie_Scope
	4. Exhibit B_VGM-Group-Moxie Insurance

	Item 40.	FY24 Tourism Activities - College Hill Partnership
	1_CHP FY24 Contract Memo To CC 06-20-23
	2_FY24 ED Services Contract - College Hill Partnership

	Item 41.	FY24 Tourism Activities - Community Main Street
	1_CMS FY24 Contract Memo To CC 06-20-23
	2_FY24 ED Services Contract - Community Main Street

	Item 42.	Deed-Patrick and Laura Finnegan
	1_City Council Memo to Accept Deed 06-19-23
	2_Resolution Accepting Deed for Finnegan Property 06-19-23
	3_Warranty Deed - Finnegan

	Item 43.	Makeup Air Unit - 17th Street Lift Station
	1-CC Memo 17th St Lift Station MAU
	2-Setpoint Mechanical Proposal
	3-Plumb Tech Quote

	Item 44.	Contract-2023 Alley Reconstruction Project
	1. Memo Contracts - 2023 Alley
	2. Form of Contract
	3.Performance payment and maintenance bond
	4.COI - VEITH
	5.Form of Proposal - 2023 Alley

	Item 45.	Set PH-CDBG Annual Action Plan FY24 (FFY23)
	1. Council memo set  PH FY24f

	Item 46.	Set PH-DA & conveyance - Ryan Companies US, Inc.
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 06-20-23
	2_Res Setting Date of Public Hearing - Ryan Companies US, Inc.

	Item 47.	Ord-Salary of Councilmembers
	1. Council Salary Ord Amend Memo 2023
	Salary Increase Ordinances Sec 2-47

	Item 48.	Ord-Removal of Snow & Ice
	1 -First reading for snow ordinance amendments
	2 - Snow ordinance amendment - redlined

	Item 49.	Ord-Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets
	1. Memo - Parking Prohibited on Bluebell Road Ordinance
	2. Bluebell Parking Exhibit - Updates Page 001
	3. Redlined Sec._23_374 (1)
	3. Parking Ordinance for Bluebell Road

	Item 50.	Bills and Claims-06/20/23
	1 Daily Invoices 062023
	2 Council Invoices 062023

	Bottom

